
 

 

Am unrhyw ymholiad yn ymwneud â'r agenda hwn cysylltwch â  Emma Sullivan 
 (Rhif Ffôn: 01443 864420   Ebost: sullie@caerphilly.gov.uk) 

 
Dyddiad: Dydd Mercher, 11 Tachwedd 2020 

 
Bydd y cyfarfod hwn yn cael ei recordio a bydd ar gael i'w weld trwy wefan y Cyngor, ac eithrio trafodaethau sy'n 

ymwneud ag eitemau cyfrinachol neu eithriedig.  Felly, bydd delweddau/sain yr unigolion sy'n siarad yn ystod y 

Pwyllgor Cynllunio ar gael i'r cyhoedd trwy'r recordiad ar wefan y Cyngor: www.caerffiili.gov.uk 

Mae croeso i chi siarad Cymraeg yn y cyfarfod, mae angen rhybudd cyfnod lleiafswm o 3 diwrnod gwaith os 
ydych yn dymuno gwneud hynny.. 

 

 
Annwyl Syr/Fadam, 
 
Bydd cyfarfod y Cyngor yn cael ei gynnal trwy Microsoft Teams Dydd Mawrth, 17eg Tachwedd, 2020 
am 5.00 pm i ystyried materion a gynhwysir yn yr agenda canlynol. 
 
 

Yr eiddoch yn gywir, 

 
Christina Harrhy 

PRIF WEITHREDWR 
 
 

A G E N D A 
Tudalennau 

 
  

1  I dderbyn ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb 
  

 
2  Cyhoeddiadau’r Maer. 

  
 

3  I dderbyn deisebau o dan Reol Gweithdrefn 28(3). 
  

 

Pecyn Dogfennau Cyhoeddus



4  Cyflwyno Gwobrau. 
  

 
5  Datganiadau o Ddiddordeb. 

 
Atgoffi’r Cynghorwyr a Swyddogion o'u cyfrifoldeb personol i ddatgan unrhyw fuddiannau 
personol a/neu niweidiol mewn perthynas ag unrhyw eitem o fusnes ar yr agenda hwn yn unol â 
Deddf Llywodraeth Leol 2000, Cyfansoddiad y Cyngor a'r Cod Ymddygiad ar gyfer Cynghorwyr 
a Swyddogion. 

 
6  Datganiad gan Arweinydd y Cyngor. 

  
 

I gymeradwyo a llofnodi’r cofnodion canlynol:- 
 
7  Cynhaliwyd Cyngor Arbennig ar 10 Medi 2020. 

1 - 12  
 

8  Cynhaliwyd y Cyngor ar 6 Hydref 2020. 
13 - 24  

 
9  I dderbyn ac i ateb cwestiynau a dderbyniwyd o dan Reol Gweithdrefn 10(4).   

 
Cwestiwn i'r Aelod Cabinet dros Ddysgu a Chyflawniad y Cynghorydd R. Whiting gan y 
Cynghorydd K. Etheridge. 
 
Gofyn i'r Aelod Cabinet i roi'r newyddion diweddaraf ar fwriad y Cyngor ar gyfer Canolfan 
Hamdden Pontllan-fraith, gan gynnwys y swm llawn hyd yma o'r symiau a dalwyd mewn Costau 
Cyfreithiol fel y cyfeiriwyd ato mewn erthygl yn y cyfryngau lle dyfynnwyd yr Arweinydd, 
dyddiedig 15/10/20, “Er ein bod ni’n croesawu’r penderfyniad, rydyn ni hefyd yn difaru faint o 
arian y mae wedi’i gostio i’r Cyngor amddiffyn yr achos hwn.” 
 

I dderbyn ac ystyried yr adroddiad(au) canlynol:- 
 
10  Uwchgynllun Ardal Adfywio Blaenau’r Cymoedd. 

25 - 318  
 

11  Adolygiad Perfformiad Arolygiaeth Gofal Cymru. 
319 - 332  

 
12  Ddeddf Trwyddedu 2003 -  Ddatganiad y Polisi Trwyddedu. 

333 - 446  
 

13  Rhyddid y Fwrdeistref - y Lleng Brydeinig Frenhinol. 
447 - 454  

 
 
Cylchrediad: 
Pob Aelod a Swyddog Priodol 
 
SUT FYDDWN YN DEFNYDDIO EICH GWYBODAETH 

 
Bydd yr unigolion hynny sy’n mynychu cyfarfodydd pwyllgor i siarad/roi tystiolaeth yn cael eu henwi yng nghofnodion y cyfarfod 
hynny, weithiau bydd hyn yn cynnwys eu man gweithio neu fusnes a’r barnau a fynegir. Bydd cofnodion o’r cyfarfod gan gynnwys 
manylion y siaradwyr ar gael i’r cyhoedd ar wefan y Cyngor ar www.caerffili.gov.uk. ac eithrio am drafodaethau sy’n ymwneud ag 
eitemau cyfrinachol neu eithriedig.  
 
Mae gennych nifer o hawliau mewn perthynas â’r wybodaeth, gan gynnwys yr hawl i gael mynediad at wybodaeth sydd gennym 
amdanoch a’r hawl i gwyno os ydych yn anhapus gyda’r modd y mae eich gwybodaeth yn cael ei brosesu. 

http://www.caerffili.gov.uk/


 
Am wybodaeth bellach ar sut rydym yn prosesu eich gwybodaeth a’ch hawliau, ewch i’r Hysbysiad Preifatrwydd Cyfarfodydd 
Pwyllgor Llawn ar ein gwefan neu cysylltwch â Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol drwy e-bostio griffd2@caerffili.gov.uk  neu ffoniwch  
01443 863028. 
 

http://www.caerffili.gov.uk/Pwyllgor/Preifatrwydd
http://www.caerffili.gov.uk/Pwyllgor/Preifatrwydd
mailto:griffd2@caerffili.gov.uk


Gadewir y dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



 
 

 

Y CYNGOR  
 

COFNODION Y CYFARFOD ARBENNIG A GYNHALIWYD TRWY MICROSOFT 
TEAMS DDYDD IAU 10 MEDI AM 5.00PM 

 
  

YN BRESENNOL:  
 

Y Cynghorydd C. Andrews – Y Maer 
Y Cynghorydd J. Gale – Y Dirprwy Faer 

 
Cynghorwyr: 

 
  M. Adams, Mrs E.M. Aldworth, A.P. Angel, J. Bevan, P.J. Bevan, C. Bezzina, L.J. Binding, A. 

Collis, S. Cook, D. Cushing, C. Cuss, W. David, D.T. Davies, M. Davies, K. Dawson, N. Dix, 
C. Elsbury, K. Etheridge, M. Evans, A. Farina-Childs, Mrs C. Forehead, Miss E. Forehead, 
J.E. Fussell, A. Gair, N. George, C. Gordon, R.W. Gough, D.T. Hardacre, L. Harding, D. 
Harse, D. Havard, A.G. Higgs, A. Hussey, M.P. James, V. James, L. Jeremiah, G. Johnston, 
Mrs B.A. Jones, S. Kent, G. Kirby, Mrs A. Leonard, Ms P. Leonard, C.P. Mann, P. Marsden, 
B. Miles, S. Morgan, Mrs G.D. Oliver, B. Owen, Mrs T. Parry, Mrs L. Phipps, D.V. Poole, 
D.W.R. Preece, Mrs D. Price, J. Pritchard, J. Ridgewell, J.E. Roberts, R. Saralis, Mrs M.E. 
Sargent, J. Scriven, G. Simmonds, J. Simmonds, S. Skivens, Mrs E. Stenner, J. Taylor, C. 
Thomas, A. Whitcombe, R. Whiting, L G. Whittle, T. Williams, W. Williams, B. Zaplatynski  

 
 
 

Ynghyd â:- 
 

C. Harrhy (Prif Weithredwr), M.S. Williams (Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol Dros Dro – 
Cymunedau), D. Street (Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol), R. 
Edmunds (Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol Addysg a Gwasanaethau Corfforaethol), S. Harris 
(Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Ariannol a Swyddog Adran 151 Dros Dro) R. Hartshorn (Pennaeth 
Diogelu’r Cyhoedd), R. Tranter (Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol a Swyddog Monitro), L. 
Lane (Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Democrataidd a Dirprwy Swyddog Monitro), E. Sullivan 
(Uwch Swyddog Gwasanaethau Pwyllgor) a C. Evans (Swyddog Gwasanaethau Pwyllgor) 

 
 

TREFNIADAU RECORDIO A PHLEIDLEISIO 
 

Atgoffodd y Prif Weithredwr y rhai a oedd yn bresennol fod y cyfarfod yn cael ei recordio ac y 
byddai ar gael i’r cyhoedd yn fyw ac ar ffurf archif trwy wefan y Cyngor.  Dywedodd y byddai 
penderfyniadau’n cael eu gwneud trwy Microsoft Forms yn Teams.   

 
 

1. YMDDIHEURIADAU AM ABSENOLDEB 
 

Derbyniwyd ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb gan y Cynghorwyr J. Bevan, D. Hardacre, D. 
Harse, B. Jones, A. Leonard, G. Oliver, M. Sargent. 
 

 
2.  DATGANIADAU O FUDDIANT 

Page 1

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 7



 
 

 
Ni dderbyniwyd unrhyw ddatganiadau o fuddiant ar ddechrau nac yn ystod y cyfarfod. 
 
 

 DATGANIAD GAN ARWEINYDD Y CYNGOR 
  

Trwy ei datganiad, rhoddodd yr Arweinydd wybod i’r Aelodau ei bod hi, gyda thristwch, wedi 
derbyn ymddiswyddiad y Cynghorydd Carl Cuss brynhawn ddoe o swydd Aelod y Cabinet 
dros Ofal Cymdeithasol. 

 
Cydnabu’r Arweinydd y gwaith yr oedd y Cynghorydd Cuss wedi’i wneud yn y Cabinet yn 
ystod y blynyddoedd diwethaf, ynghyd â’i wasanaeth i’r gymuned, a’i fod wedi gweithredu 
gyda chryn uniondeb drwy ymddiswyddo. 

 
Cadarnhaodd yr Arweinydd fod angen iddi bellach ystyried llenwi’r rôl allweddol hon yn y 
Cabinet cyn gynted â phosibl er mwyn sicrhau bod y Cyngor hwn yn barod i wynebu’r agenda 
arwyddocaol a heriol sydd o’i flaen.  Teimlai ei bod yn hollbwysig bod Cabinet llawn ar waith i 
arwain yr awdurdod yn ystod y cyfnod digynsail hwn. 

 
Rhoddwyd sicrwydd i’r Aelodau y byddent yn cael y wybodaeth ddiweddaraf am y mater hwn. 
 
Mynegodd Arweinydd Grŵp Plaid ei siom yng ngweithredoedd y cyn Aelod y Cabinet, ond 
roedd yn parchu uniondeb ei benderfyniad i gydnabod y camgymeriadau a wnaed ac 
ymddiswyddo. 

 
 

 ADRODDIADAU SWYDDOGION 
 

 
4.  YMATEB Y CYNGOR I’R PANDEMIG CORONAFEIRWS 
 

Cyflwynodd Arweinydd y Cyngor a’r Prif Weithredwr adroddiad a chyflwyniad a oedd yn 
manylu ar ymateb y Cyngor i’r pandemig Coronafeirws.   
 
Yn gyntaf, talodd yr Arweinydd deyrnged i holl staff y Cyngor am eu gwaith caled a’u 
hymroddiad, a’r ffordd yr oeddent wedi ymateb i’r argyfwng.  Talwyd teyrnged i’r ffordd yr 
oedd staff wedi ymateb i ailffurfio ac ad-drefnu gwasanaethau i sicrhau bod yr awdurdod yn 
gallu ateb yr heriau niferus a gyflwynwyd gan y brigiad o achosion. 

 
Esboniodd yr Arweinydd sut oedd byddin o staff a gwirfoddolwyr wedi cael ei threfnu a sut 
oeddent oll wedi mynd gam ymhellach i helpu.  Crëwyd gwasanaeth prydau ysgol am ddim 
arloesol a phoblogaidd iawn sy’n parhau i arwain y ffordd yng Nghymru.  Trawsnewidiwyd 
safleoedd ysgolion yn hybiau gofal plant i weithwyr allweddol a datblygwyd tîm Ymateb 
Cymunedol newydd i gynorthwyo trigolion a oedd yn gwarchod.  Trefnwyd ‘cyfeillion’ i 
gynorthwyo’r henoed a phobl agored i niwed i wneud eu siopa a chael cyflenwadau meddygol, 
yn ogystal â darparu cysylltiad cymdeithasol yr oedd mawr angen amdano i’r rhai a oedd yn 
gaeth i’w cartrefi.  Roedd yn amlwg bod dyled enfawr o ddiolch i bawb dan sylw. 

 
Rhoddwyd gwybod i’r Aelodau hefyd am y gwaith caled a wnaed i ddiogelu cymunedau ers y 
cyfyngiadau symud.  Mae Swyddogion Gorfodi yn gweithio gyda busnesau lleol ar draws yr 
ardal i sicrhau eu bod yn cydymffurfio ac yn cydweithredu â chyfyngiadau’r coronafeirws. 
Tasg enfawr yw hon sy’n cael ei chyflawni gan grŵp o Swyddogion ymroddedig a 
chydwybodol. 

 
Er gwaethaf yr holl waith da hwn, roedd yr Arweinydd yn arbennig o siomedig ein bod yn 
wynebu cyfyngiadau unwaith eto o ganlyniad i frigiad mewn achosion yn y Fwrdeistref Sirol.  
Roedd yr Aelodau’n ymwybodol o’r rhesymau cymhleth ac amrywiol dros y lledaeniad newydd 

Page 2



 
 

hwn, yr oedd llawer ohono’n gysylltiedig ag ymddygiad rhai rhannau o’r gymuned.  Roedd ail 
don yn ymddangos yn debygol ac, yn anffodus, roedd yn ymddangos fel petai ardaloedd 
cyfagos yn symud i’r un cyfeiriad hefyd. 

 
Dywedwyd wrth yr Aelodau nad dyma’r adeg i laesu dwylo a bod angen edrych ar y sefyllfa yn 
Ewrop, lle y gwelwyd cynnydd mewn achosion ymhlith pobl ifanc a ddatblygodd yn gyflym i 
fod yn fwy difrifol mewn rhannau eraill o’r boblogaeth trwy drosglwyddo cymunedol, a bod 
derbyniadau i’r ysbyty a marwolaethau’n cynyddu bellach.  Mae’r mesurau a gymerwyd gan 
Lywodraeth Cymru yr wythnos hon yn ceisio ein hatal rhag dilyn yr un llwybr. 

 
Pwysleisiodd yr Arweinydd na ddylem feio neb am y cynnydd hwn mewn achosion, a chymryd 
cyfrifoldeb ar y cyd yn lle hynny.  Yr hyn oedd yn glir oedd y gwahaniaeth y gallem ei wneud 
o’r adeg hon ymlaen a’r rhan sydd gennym oll i’w chwarae i gyfyngu ar ledaeniad y clefyd 
marwol hwn. 

 
Dywedodd yr Arweinydd y bu galwadau i ni i gyd ddychwelyd i Siambr y Cyngor ac 
ailgychwyn cyfarfodydd arferol.  Fodd bynnag, mae’r neges yn glir, nid yw’r coronafeirws wedi 
diflannu ac mae’r digwyddiadau yn ystod yr ychydig ddiwrnodau diwethaf wedi cadarnhau ein 
hymagwedd hyd yma.  Mae’n rhaid i ni ddiogelu ein pobl a’n lle, a theimlai’n sicr bod yr 
Aelodau bellach yn cydnabod y bydd angen i’n trefniadau presennol barhau am beth amser 
eto.  Gofynnodd yr Arweinydd i bawb gydweithio fel ‘Tîm Caerffili’ i fynd i’r afael â’r clefyd 
ofnadwy hwn fel y gallwn godi’r cyfyngiadau hyn yn y ffordd gyflymaf a mwyaf diogel posibl. 
 
Galwodd y Maer ar Mrs Christina Harrhy, y Prif Weithredwr, i roi cyflwyniad. 
  
Esboniodd y Prif Weithredwr mai diben y cyflwyniad oedd rhoi trosolwg o ymateb y Cyngor i’r 
pandemig, esbonio’r camau a gymerwyd i liniaru a rheoli risgiau strategol, amlinellu heriau’r 
pandemig parhaus yn awr ac yn y dyfodol ac ailddatgan yr egwyddor ‘Tîm Caerffili – Yn Well 
Gyda’n Gilydd’. 
 
Er mwyn rhoi cefndir, dywedwyd wrth yr Aelodau mai yng Ngwent y bu’r gyfradd heintio a 
marwolaeth uchaf yng Nghymru i ddechrau, ac ychydig iawn o amser oedd gan y Cyngor i 
wneud trefniadau amgen ar gyfer gwasanaethau, ond ei fod wedi cydweithio gyda’r prif nod o 
‘ddiogelu ein pobl a’n lle’.   
 
O ran Cynllunio at Argyfwng, nodwyd bod Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Caerffili wedi cychwyn ei 
Gynllun Rheoli Argyfwng.  Prif elfen y cynllun hwn yw’r Tîm Arwain Argyfwng.  Ffurfiwyd 
cysylltiadau â sefydliadau allanol ar unwaith trwy’r Grŵp Cydlynu Strategol a oedd yn cyfarfod 
trwy’r Fforwm Cydnerthedd Lleol. Cafodd adroddiadau dyddiol i’r Grŵp Cydlynu Strategol eu 
hanfon ymlaen i Ganolfan Cydgysylltu Argyfyngau Cymru (ECCW), sy’n adrodd i Lywodraeth 
Cymru, sydd yna’n adrodd i Ystafell Friffio Swyddfa’r Cabinet (COBR).  O ran ymateb 
‘gwasanaethau’, nodwyd bod mwyafrif y 500 a mwy o wasanaethau a ddarperir gan y Cyngor 
yn parhau i weithredu, er bod rhai yn gweithredu gyda llai o staff.  Dywedwyd wrth yr Aelodau 
yr oedd 1064 o staff yn absennol o ganlyniad i’r feirws ar ei anterth.  Roedd angen dybryd i 
staff ddangos cryn hyblygrwydd ac roedd yr ymateb yn rhyfeddol.  Ail-leolwyd staff i feysydd 
gwasanaeth eraill, gweithiodd eraill o gartref, a chynorthwyodd llawer fentrau newydd fel 
hybiau gofal plant, grantiau busnes a chynlluniau cyfeillio, i enwi ond ychydig. 
 
Galwodd y Prif Weithredwr ar y Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol ar gyfer Gwasanaethau 
Cymdeithasol i roi gwybodaeth i’r Aelodau am yr ymateb gan y gyfarwyddiaeth honno.  
Cadarnhaodd Mr Street fod y rhan fwyaf o wasanaethau’n parhau i weithredu, er y bu 
rhywfaint o ostyngiad mewn Gofal Seibiant a Gofal Dydd.  Dywedwyd wrth yr Aelodau mai un 
o’r heriau cychwynnol mwyaf oedd y cyflenwad o gyfarpar diogelu personol, a thalodd 
deyrnged i ymdrechion staff caffael a chyflenwyr, gan ddweud bod y Cyngor mewn sefyllfa 
dda diolch i’w gwaith caled.  Cydnabu’r Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol yr heriau sy’n wynebu 
cartrefi gofal ac nad oedd Caerffili’n ddiogel rhag y rhain.  Un o’r gwasanaethau mwyaf 
cymhleth i barhau i’w ddarparu oedd Gwasanaethau Plant, gan fod rhaid i’r holl ddulliau 

Page 3



 
 

cysylltu arferol gael eu hwyluso’n electronig bellach.  Diogelwch plant a phobl ifanc y 
Fwrdeistref Sirol yw’r flaenoriaeth o hyd. 
 
O ran Tai, dywedodd y Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol wrth yr Aelodau fod holl waith Safonau 
Ansawdd Tai Cymru wedi cael ei atal dros dro ac nad oedd Llywodraeth Cymru wedi 
cadarnhau terfyn amser diwygiedig eto.  Roedd staff tai wedi cael eu hail-leoli i’r ‘Cynllun 
Cyfeillio’, ond rhoddwyd sicrwydd na chefnwyd ar denantiaid.  Cysylltodd Swyddogion 
Cymorth Tenantiaid â holl denantiaid y Cyngor trwy alwadau tawelu meddwl i sicrhau eu bod 
yn ddiogel ac yn iach a bod ganddynt yr hyn oedd arnynt ei angen.   
 
Gofynnwyd i’r Aelodau nodi mai un o’r meysydd mwyaf brys a amlygwyd yn ystod y pandemig 
oedd digartrefedd.  Cadarnhaodd Mr Street fod Llywodraeth Cymru wedi rhoi cyfarwyddyd clir 
i letya pobl fel blaenoriaeth, tra bod cyfleusterau gwesty a gwely a brecwast wedi cael eu cau 
ar yr un pryd.  Ychwanegwyd at hyn gan benderfyniad y Gweinidog Cyfiawnder i ryddhau rhai 
carcharorion yn gynnar, er nad oedd hyn wedi cael llawer o effaith ar Gaerffili.  Cafwyd llety 
brys yng Nghaerffili, Coed Duon, Rhymni, Rhisga a’r Barri.  Mae Llywodraeth Cymru yn 
parhau i gyfarwyddo’n glir na ddylai pobl ddychwelyd i’r strydoedd.  Dywedwyd wrth yr 
Aelodau bod trafodaethau’n parhau ynglŷn â ffynonellau cyllido i sicrhau y gellid parhau i ateb 
y galw hwn. 
 
O ran y Cynlluniau Cyfeillio, dywedwyd wrth yr Aelodau fod y Cyngor wedi ysgrifennu at 
76,620 o aelwydydd yn syth ar ôl y cyfyngiadau symud gan gynnig helpu pobl a oedd yn 
bodloni maen prawf penodol ac nad oedd cymorth arall ar gael iddynt.  Ymatebodd 1,550 o 
drigolion  gan ofyn am gymorth.  Cafwyd ymateb rhyfeddol gan staff, wrth i 590 o bobl 
wirfoddoli helpu, a’r mwyafrif ohonynt yn gwneud hynny yn eu hamser eu hunain.  Ffurfiwyd y 
‘cynllun cyfeillio’ o ganlyniad i hynny.  Roedd y cynllun hwn wedi cynorthwyo trigolion  agored i 
niwed a fyddai wedi’i chael hi’n anodd fel arall, ac roedd pobl yn cael eu hannog i wneud eu 
trefniadau eu hunain bellach wrth i’r cyfnod gwarchod ddod i ben. 
 
Gan droi at y Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol ar gyfer Addysg a Gwasanaethau Corfforaethol, 
amlinellodd Mr Richard Edmunds yr ymateb gan ei gyfarwyddiaeth ef, gan ddechrau gyda’r 
Hybiau Addysg a Gofal Plant.  Gofynnwyd i’r Aelodau nodi bod yr Hybiau cyntaf wedi cael eu 
creu ar 24 Mawrth 2020, yn syth ar ôl i’r cyfyngiadau symud gael eu cyhoeddi, er mwyn 
darparu gofal plant i weithwyr allweddol.  Crëwyd naw Hyb prif ffrwd, yr oedd un ohonynt yn 
canolbwyntio’n benodol ar Anghenion Dysgu â Chymorth cymhleth, a dau Hyb ar gyfer 
disgyblion agored i niwed.  Cynyddodd nifer y disgyblion a oedd yn defnyddio’r Hybiau i 362 y 
dydd ar gyfartaledd, ac fe’u cynorthwywyd gan fwy na 1700 o staff ysgolion gwirfoddol a staff 
o rannau eraill o’r Cyngor. 
 
Pan gaeodd ysgolion, roedd angen defnyddio dulliau eraill o fodloni anghenion y 5,500 o 
ddisgyblion sy’n derbyn prydau ysgol am ddim.  Er bod rhai awdurdodau lleol yn defnyddio 
talebau, aeth Caerffili ati i roi bwyd ar blatiau disgyblion, gan weithio mewn partneriaeth â 
chyflenwyr lleol i sefydlu canolfan becynnu a dosbarthu yn Nhŷ Penallta.  Mae 675,000 o 
brydau bwyd wedi cael eu danfon.  Mae’r cynllun wedi tyfu gyda llwybrau danfon ar gyfer 60 o 
gerbydau i fwy na 5000 o blant, ac mae’r defnydd o brydau ysgol am ddim wedi cynyddu o 
70% i 91%. 
 
Gan symud ymlaen i’r Blynyddoedd Cynnar a Dysgu o Bell yn ystod y pandemig, 
cadarnhaodd y Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol fod staff wedi darparu cymorth i 400 o deuluoedd 
agored i niwed a chanddynt blant 0-3 oed.  Roedd y cymorth hwn yn cynnwys cynllun 
gweithgareddau unigol wythnosol a galwad ffôn ddilynol, a symud mynediad at raglen rianta 
ar-lein.  O ran dysgu o bell, rhoddodd y Gwasanaeth Cyflawni Addysg arweiniad a strategaeth 
i ysgolion.  Y prif offeryn a ddefnyddiwyd oedd y platfform dysgu digidol ‘Hwb’.  Rhoddodd y 
Cyngor strategaeth Llywodraeth Cymru ar waith hefyd i gefnogi dysgwyr sydd wedi’u 
heithrio’n ddigidol.  Addaswyd offer at ddibenion gwahanol a danfonwyd dros 1000 o 
ddyfeisiau a oedd yn adlewyrchu’r system ‘chrome-book’ i ddisgyblion. 
 

Page 4



 
 

O ran Gwasanaethau Cwsmeriaid, nododd yr Aelodau sut oedd dulliau gweithio digidol 
newydd wedi cael eu cyflwyno a bod staff blaen tŷ wedi cael eu hail-leoli i’r ganolfan gyswllt.  
Gwnaethant ateb 205,000 o alwadau ac ymdrin â 68,000 o geisiadau am wasanaeth, 
cyhoeddi 3200 o Fathodynnau Glas dros y ffôn neu ar-lein, helpu 100 o drigolion  i gwblhau 
ceisiadau am dai dros y ffôn, ateb 8000 o negeseuon e-bost a chymryd 30,000 o daliadau ffôn 
a ddaeth i gyfanswm o £5,142,000.00. 
 
O ganlyniad i’r ffordd newydd hon o weithio, ffurfweddwyd a rhoddwyd 902 o liniaduron yn 
ystod y cyfyngiadau symud , ynghyd â 389 o ffonau symudol.  Cydnabu’r Cyfarwyddwr 
Corfforaethol y gwaith gwych a wnaed gan y Gwasanaethau Caffael ac amlinellodd y gwaith 
rhyfeddol a wnaed i sicrhau 2,382,780 o Fasgiau Gwrth-hylif, 3,000 o Arwyddion Llawr Cadw 
Pellter Cymdeithasol er mwyn ailagor ysgolion, 34,422 o Boteli o Hylif Diheintio Dwylo, 890 o 
Roliau o Dâp Llawr Cadw Pellter Cymdeithasol er mwyn ailagor ysgolion, 100,000 o 
Orchuddion Wyneb, 41,900 o Barau o Fenig a 3,000 o Ffedogau Tafladwy, 800 o Dybiau o 
Glytiau Alcohol, 1,577 o Finiau, 100 o Thermomedrau a 28,000 o Fagiau ar gyfer Masgiau. 
 
Wrth orffen ei ran ef o’r cyflwyniad, gofynnodd y Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol i’r Aelodau nodi’r 
ymdrechion a wnaed gan staff y Gwasanaethau Ariannol a’r gwaith a wnaed gyda thrigolion  
wrth brosesu’r 3,500 o geisiadau a gytunwyd i ohirio taliadau’r Dreth Gyngor ar gyfer trigolion  
tan fis Mehefin 2020, gan ddarparu cymorth parhaus.  O ran ceisiadau rhyddhad rhent gan 
denantiaid diwydiannol a Grantiau Cymorth Busnes, gwnaed taliadau i 2,953 o fusnesau a 
ddaeth i gyfanswm o £34.2m (perfformiad yn y chwartel uchaf yng Nghymru). 
 
Amlinellodd y Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol Dros Dro – Cymunedau, sef Mark S. Williams, y 
gwaith a wnaed gan y Gyfarwyddiaeth hon yn ystod y cyfyngiadau symud .  Gofynnwyd i’r 
Aelodau nodi bod yr holl gasgliadau gwastraff a sbwriel wedi gweithredu fel arfer drwy gydol y 
cyfnod.  Roedd casgliadau swmpus wedi cael eu hatal dros dro, ond gwnaethant ailgychwyn 
ar 5 Mai 2020, ac er bod Canolfannau Ailgylchu Gwastraff y Cartref wedi cael eu cau i atal 
teithio diangen, gwnaethant hwy ailagor hefyd ar 26 Mai 2020.  Roedd y Cyfarwyddwr 
Corfforaethol hefyd yn falch o gadarnhau bod glanhau strydoedd wedi cael ei ailgyflwyno’n 
llawn bellach ar ôl gweithredu gwasanaeth cyfyngedig i ddechrau. 
 
Roedd mynwentydd ar agor bellach ac roedd cyfyngiadau cychwynnol ar niferoedd angladdau 
wedi cael eu cynyddu’n ddiweddar i 30.  Roedd torri gwair yn cael ei ailgyflwyno’n raddol ac 
roedd meysydd parcio trefol a gwledig wedi ailagor ar 30 Mai 2020.  Gan droi at 
weithrediadau priffyrdd, nodwyd bod gwaith archwilio a brys wedi parhau, ac felly hefyd 
dylunio cynlluniau cyfalaf.  Gwnaed gwaith i sicrhau hyfywedd darparwyr trafnidiaeth ar gyfer 
Addysg a Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol, ac mae tasgau rheoleiddiol yn gysylltiedig â 
chynllunio wedi parhau hefyd. 
 
O ran y broses Gynllunio, nodwyd bod pwerau dirprwyedig wedi cael eu defnyddio i 
benderfynu ar y materion lleiaf dadleuol er mwyn sicrhau bod penderfyniadau’n cael eu 
gwneud o fewn graddfeydd amser statudol.  Fodd bynnag, cynhaliwyd y Pwyllgor Cynllunio 
digidol cyntaf ar 17 Mehefin 2020 ac mae wedi parhau’n ddigidol ers hynny. 
 
Gan symud ymlaen i’r ddarpariaeth Chwaraeon a Hamdden, er bod canolfannau hamdden 
wedi bod ar gau i’r cyhoedd, ail-leolwyd staff i’r cynllun cyfeilla ac i ddarparu’r gwasanaeth 
prydau ysgol am ddim.  Gofynnwyd i’r aelodau nodi bod pedair prif ganolfan hamdden wedi 
ailagor bellach a bod gwasanaethau “rheoledig” yn cael eu cynnig o 1 Medi 2020 ymlaen. 
 
Roedd Gwasanaethau Diogelu’r Cyhoedd wedi cymryd camau rhagweithiol i gynghori 1800 o 
safleoedd ynglŷn â chau/ailagor busnesau a chadw pellter cymdeithasol, gan wneud dros 
1200 o ymweliadau.  Roedd Swyddogion Iechyd yr Amgylchedd yn cynorthwyo 85 o gartrefi 
gofal gyda mesurau rheoli heintiau ac wedi gwneud dros 1200 o gysylltiadau dilynol.  
Cadarnhaodd y Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol fod y rhan fwyaf o wasanaethau wedi parhau ar 
ryw ffurf drwy gydol y cyfyngiadau symud .  Er enghraifft, roedd Rheoli Plâu wedi ymateb i fwy 
na 2800 o geisiadau am wasanaeth; mae Gorfodi wedi ymdrin â’r cynnydd mawr mewn tipio 

Page 5



 
 

anghyfreithlon, ac wedi derbyn dros 874 o gwynion ynghylch tipio anghyfreithlon ac ymateb i 
fwy na 1000 o gwynion ynghylch sŵn, sbwriel a chroniadau sbwriel mewn eiddo. 
 
Parhaodd cofrestryddion i weithredu a chofrestrwyd ddwywaith y nifer arferol o farwolaethau 
yn ystod y cyfnod cychwynnol rhwng mis Mawrth a mis Mai.  Mae’r gwasanaeth bellach yn 
ymdopi ag ôl-groniad o gofrestriadau yn ardal Gwent ers ailddechrau cofrestru genedigaethau 
ym mis Gorffennaf, ac mae wedi ymdopi ag ymhell dros 1000 o newidiadau i archebu 
seremonïau yn ystod y cyfnod o ganol mis Mawrth. 
 
Wrth ddod â’r diweddariadau amrywiol i ben, rhoddodd y Pennaeth Diogelu’r Cyhoedd, sef Mr 
Robert Hartshorn, wybod i’r Aelodau am yr hyn a fu’n digwydd o ran Cysylltu ac Olrhain.  
Nodwyd bod gan Gaerffili rôl arweiniol yn ardal Gwent a’i bod yn rhan o fframwaith olrhain a 
diogelu cenedlaethol, a arweinir gan Mr Hartshorn.  Mae timau wedi cael eu sefydlu ar draws 
yr ardal, gan gynnwys 300 o staff a secondiwyd o lywodraeth leol, a bydd angen yr aelodau 
staff hyn am sawl mis gan fod y gwasanaeth allweddol hwn yn gweithredu o 8am – 8pm, saith 
diwrnod yr wythnos. 
 
Cydnabu’r Prif Weithredwr y gwaith eithriadol a wnaed gan bob un o’r Cyfarwyddiaethau, a 
dywedodd wrth yr Aelodau fod y cyflwyniad yn rhoi amlinelliad yn unig o’r gwaith rhyfeddol a 
wnaed ac sy’n parhau i gael ei wneud.  Yn anffodus, mae digwyddiadau’r ychydig wythnosau 
diwethaf, o ran teithio dramor ac ymgynnull dan do, wedi achosi brigiad arwyddocaol o 
achosion COVID19 ac mae cyfyngiadau symud newydd yn y Fwrdeistref Sirol yn dangos yn 
glir bod y feirws a’i risgiau cysylltiedig gyda ni o hyd. 
 
Gan weithio gyda chydweithwyr yn Llywodraeth Cymru ac Iechyd Cyhoeddus Cymru, mae 
dull arloesol o hysbysu, rhybuddio a gorfodi yn cael ei hystyried.  Mae canolfan brofi symudol 
wedi cael ei sefydlu yn Nhŷ Penallta a bydd canolfan arall yn cael ei sefydlu yng ngogledd y 
Fwrdeistref Sirol.  Bydd trigolion  hefyd yn gallu defnyddio’r orsaf brofi yn Rodney Parade, 
Casnewydd.  Rhoddwyd sicrwydd bod data’n cael ei ystyried bob dydd a’i bod yn debygol y 
bydd y cyfyngiadau symud lleol hyn yn para sawl wythnos.  Mynegodd y Prif Weithredwr ei 
gobaith ynglŷn ag ymateb y cyhoedd i’r cyfyngiadau symud lleol, a gofynnodd i’r Aelodau 
gyfeirio trigolion  sydd â chwestiynau at wefan y Cyngor yn gyntaf ac yna cysylltu â’r 
Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol perthnasol os bydd angen cyngor neu gymorth ychwanegol.  
 
Byddai’r materion allweddol wrth symud ymlaen yn canolbwyntio ar ymateb i frigiadau pellach, 
cynnal ac addasu gwasanaethau newydd ac ystyried newid trefniadaethol i ddarparu 
hyblygrwydd, adferiad a thwf.  Mae angen deall ac ymateb i effaith ariannol y pandemig 
ynghyd â’r effaith emosiynol a chymdeithasol ar ein cymunedau a sut gallwn gofleidio’r 
cymunedau hynny wrth i ni weithio tuag at adfer. 
 
Byddai diogelwch y cyhoedd a staff yn parhau i fod yn flaenoriaeth wrth i ni symud ymlaen fel 
un Cyngor sy’n wynebu heriau parhaus gyda’n gilydd.  Mae dirwasgiad, effaith COVID-19, 
Brexit a’r newid yn yr hinsawdd yn parhau i fod yn rhannau allweddol o gynllunio at y dyfodol.  
Wrth orffen y cyflwyniad, mynegodd Mrs Harrhy ei hedmygedd at y ffordd y mae pawb wedi 
gweithio’n ddiflino drwy gydol y cyfnod hwn, a chredai ein bod wedi gweld gwir wasanaeth 
cyhoeddus gan weision cyhoeddus brwdfrydig. 
 
Mynegodd yr Aelodau eu diolch i bawb a oedd yn gysylltiedig â’r ymgymeriad enfawr hwn, a 
chydnabuont hefyd y rôl yr oedd Cynghorwyr wedi’i chwarae, na ddylid ei bychanu.  
Mynegodd yr Aelodau bryderon bod rhai diffygion cyfathrebu yn ystod y cyfyngiadau symud  
ac y bu’n anodd cysylltu â Swyddogion ac Adrannau yn aml. 
 
Rhoddodd yr Arweinydd sicrwydd i’r Aelodau ei bod wedi ceisio rhoi’r wybodaeth ddiweddaraf 
iddynt ond y byddai’n fodlon trafod unrhyw feysydd i’w gwella. 
 
Diolchodd Aelod i’r Cynghorydd Cuss am y gwaith a wnaeth yn ystod y cyfyngiadau symud  o 
ran gofal cymdeithasol, a disgrifiodd ei brofiad gwerth chweil ei hun o’r cynllun cyfeilla, gan 

Page 6



 
 

obeithio y byddai’n parhau ar ryw ffurf.  Cyfeiriodd yr Aelod hefyd at yr anawsterau 
cychwynnol o ran cymorth busnes, a chofnododd ei ddiolch am ymdrechion y Gwasanaethau 
Ariannol. 
 
Ymddiheurodd y Prif Weithredwr am beidio â chynnwys ymdrechion Aelodau Etholedig yn y 
cyflwyniad, ond byddai ganddynt rôl allweddol wrth symud ymlaen, a hwythau’n wyneb y 
sefydliad.  Cadarnhaodd y Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol ar gyfer Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol 
fod y Cynllun Cyfeilla wedi cael ei gwtogi wrth i gynlluniau symud ymlaen, ac y byddai trigolion  
yn cael eu hannog i ddychwelyd i siopa ac arferion blaenorol os oeddent yn gallu.  Fe’i 
calonogwyd hefyd gan arsylwadau ar y cynllun gan y rhai a oedd wedi cymryd rhan, ac 
adleisiodd llawer o bobl y sylwadau a wnaed yn gynharach.  Dywedodd fod y 300 o bobl wedi 
cytuno i barhau i wirfoddoli trwy’r Cynllun Gwirfoddoli Corfforaethol. 
 
Canmolodd y Dirprwy Arweinydd y Tîm Busnes Corfforaethol am ba mor gyflym yr ymatebodd 
i’r broses ymgeisio am grantiau, a oedd wedi achub llawer o fusnesau lleol.  Cyfeiriodd yr 
Aelod hefyd at y gwaith sy’n cael ei wneud i helpu canol trefi i adfer. 
 
Diolchodd Aelod i’r Arweinydd am ei gwaith caled yn ystod y cyfyngiadau symud , a cheisiodd 
eglurhad ynglŷn â nifer yr hysbysiadau a roddwyd ynglŷn â grwpiau’n casglu yn ystod y 
cyfyngiadau symud pan oedd parciau ar gau.  Cadarnhaodd y Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol ar 
gyfer Cymunedau nad oedd ganddo’r wybodaeth wrth law ond y byddai’n ei hanfon ymlaen ar 
ôl y cyfarfod. 
 
Mynegodd Aelod bryderon ynglŷn â chydnerthedd economaidd y Fwrdeistref Sirol o ganlyniad 
i’r pandemig, yn enwedig wrth i gyfnodau ffyrlo ddod i ben a risg cynnydd mewn cyfraddau 
heintio, a gofynnodd a fyddai unrhyw gyllid ychwanegol ar gael.  Mynegwyd pryderon hefyd 
ynglŷn â thrafnidiaeth gyhoeddus ac a fyddai llwybrau a ataliwyd dros dro yn ystod y 
cyfyngiadau symud yn cael eu hadfer. 
 
Rhoddwyd sicrwydd bod llwybrau bysiau wedi cael eu gwarchod cyn belled ag y bo’n bosibl.  
O ran y rhagolwg ariannol, er bod y sefyllfa’n symud yn gyflym, cysylltwyd â Llywodraeth 
Cymru ynglŷn â chyllid ychwanegol ar gyfer y broses adfer.  Byddai manylion hynny’n destun 
adroddiadau ychwanegol a fyddai’n cael eu cyflwyno maes o law. 
 
Diolchodd Aelod i’r Prif Weithredwr a’r Arweinydd yn ystod y pandemig a hefyd i staff y GIG 
am eu gwaith rhyfeddol ac ysbrydoledig.  Yna, holodd ynghylch y pwysau ar Wasanaethau 
Iechyd yr Amgylchedd ac a oedd digon o staff i ateb y galw.  Esboniodd yr Aelod o’r Cabinet y 
pwysau ar staff a’r rôl allweddol yr oeddent yn ei chwarae o ran cysylltu ac olrhain, a 
rhoddwyd sicrwydd bod proses recriwtio’n mynd rhagddi ar gyfer y gwasanaeth hwn.  Roedd 
Safonau Masnach wedi bod yn rhagweithiol iawn yn ystod y cyfyngiadau symud  hefyd, gan 
ymateb i gwynion penodol ar yr un pryd â chydbwyso gofynion ymweld ag archfarchnadoedd 
a thafarndai ac ati.  Nodwyd bod trafodaethau’n mynd rhagddynt gyda Llywodraeth Cymru 
ynglŷn ag adnoddau ychwanegol.  Ailadroddodd yr Arweinydd ei balchder yn y ffordd yr oedd 
staff wedi ymateb i’r gofynion hyn, a chyfeiriodd at y cysylltiad rhwng tafarndai, ymgynnull dan 
do a throsglwyddo cymunedol a’r cynnydd mewn niferoedd heintio.  Cyfeiriodd Arweinydd 
Grŵp Plaid at y fenter Prydau Ysgol am Ddim a’r Cynllun Cyfeilla a gwaith rhyfeddol 
gwirfoddolwyr.  Cyfeiriwyd hefyd at y gwaith a wnaed gan y Cynghorydd Cymuned Judith 
Pritchard i gynyddu ymwybyddiaeth a chyfeirio busnesau a thrigolion  at y grantiau sydd ar 
gael.  Fodd bynnag, mynegodd pryder ynglŷn â’r diffyg craffu yn ystod y cyfnod hwn a’r 
problemau â gwasanaethau teleffoni a chyfathrebu, a cheisiodd sicrwydd bod cyllid yn 
cyrraedd gwasanaethau rheng flaen. 
 
Diolchodd Aelod i’r rhai a fu’n ymwneud â’r gwasanaethau cysylltu ac olrhain, a holodd 
ynghylch gosod uned brofi symudol yng ngogledd y Fwrdeistref Sirol ac a oedd hyn yn golygu 
bod brigiad o achosion yn yr ardal hon.  Cadarnhaodd y Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol ar gyfer 
Cymunedau fod patrwm yr achosion a welwyd ym Masn Caerffili bellach yn cael ei weld mewn 
ardaloedd eraill, a dyna’r rheswm dros sefydlu uned brofi symudol arall. 

Page 7



 
 

 
O ran diffyg craffu yn ystod y cyfyngiadau symud , rhoddodd y Prif Weithredwr sicrwydd i’r 
Aelodau fod proses dirprwyo penderfyniadau wedi cael ei chychwyn i ymateb i’r sefyllfa frys 
ac i sicrhau bod penderfyniadau’n cael eu gwneud yn amserol.  Fodd bynnag, roedd pob 
penderfyniad wedi cael ei wneud ar y cyd â’r Arweinydd a’r Weithrediaeth ac roedd yr holl 
benderfyniadau wedi cael eu postio.  Byddai craffu’n ailgychwyn yn fuan, a byddai’r Aelodau’n 
cael gwybod am bob cam.  O ran dyrannu cyllid, rhoddodd y Swyddog Adran 151 sicrwydd i’r 
Aelodau fod cyllid yn cyrraedd y meysydd lle’r oedd ei angen, a bod gwariant yn cael ei 
ddyrannu i godau cyllideb penodol ac yn destun craffu gan Lywodraeth Cymru. 
 
Cyfeiriodd Aelod arall at y rôl yr oedd Cynghorwyr wedi’i chwarae yn ystod yr argyfwng a’r 
ffordd yr oeddent wedi lledaenu gwybodaeth hollbwysig i drigolion , busnesau a phartneriaid.  
Mynegodd ei siom ynglŷn â llwybrau cyfathrebu yn ystod yr adeg hon ac anogodd 
Swyddogion i beidio â bychanu’r rhan y gall Cynghorwyr ei chwarae trwy eu cysylltiadau â’r 
gymuned.  Esboniodd yr Arweinydd fod rhoi’r offer angenrheidiol i bawb allu gweithio ar 
blatfform o bell wedi bod yn dasg enfawr, ac y bu’n anodd cydlynu oherwydd bod gwybodaeth 
wedi bod yn newid mor gyflym, ond ei bod wedi ceisio rhoi cymaint o wybodaeth â phosibl i 
bawb trwy ddiweddariadau wythnosol.  Fodd bynnag, roedd yn agored i unrhyw awgrymiadau 
neu newidiadau i ddulliau y gellid eu defnyddio i wella ymatebion a byddai’n croesawu sgwrs 
bellach ynglŷn â hyn. 
 
Teimlai’r Aelod y byddai unigolyn cyswllt uniongyrchol penodol yn helpu i ledaenu 
gwybodaeth ac yn darparu un pwynt cyswllt i Aelodau.  
 
Canmolodd Aelod yr Arweinydd am ei hymateb i’r brigiad diweddaraf o achosion, a gofynnodd 
ynglŷn â chanllawiau i gartrefi gofal a gwarchod pobl agored i niwed, ac a fyddai hyn yn cael 
ei ailgychwyn yn ystod y brigiad diweddaraf hwn o achosion.  Dywedwyd wrth yr Aelod nad 
oedd Llywodraeth Cymru yn bwriadu ailgychwyn gwarchod ar hyn o bryd, ond y gallai hyn 
newid pe byddai nifer yr achosion yn parhau i gynyddu. 
 
Cyfeiriodd Aelod at y ddogfen Tîm Caerffili – Yn Well Gyda’n Gilydd, a soniodd am adrannau 
ynddi ar ymgysylltu a gweithio gyda chymunedau, cyfathrebu â Chynghorwyr, Ysgolion a 
Chyrff Llywodraethu, gan ddweud ei fod yn teimlo nad oedd eu safbwyntiau’n derbyn sylw o 
hyd.  Amlinellodd y Prif Weithredwr werthoedd craidd y Strategaeth Drawsnewid ac esboniodd 
na fyddai’r newid diwylliannol enfawr hwn yn cael ei gyflawni dros nos.  Gofynnodd i Aelodau 
a oedd yn wynebu unrhyw rwystrau roi gwybod i Benaethiaid Gwasanaethau a 
Chyfarwyddwyr Corfforaethol am unrhyw faterion. 
 
Yna, mynegodd Aelodau bryderon ynglŷn â’r amser yr oedd yn ei gymryd i gael canlyniadau 
profion COVID-19 a gofynnwyd am eglurhad o’r graddfeydd amser.  Cadarnhaodd y 
Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol ei bod yn cymryd rhwng 6 ac 8 
diwrnod i gael canlyniadau, ac er nad oedd hyn yn ddelfrydol, ei fod yn gwella.  Rhoddodd Mr 
Hartshorn sicrwydd i’r Aelodau fod Llywodraeth Cymru ac Iechyd Cyhoeddus Cymru yn 
ymwybodol o’r oedi o ran profion ac wedi cymryd camau i liniaru hyn. 
 
Diolchodd y Maer i’r Prif Weithredwr, y Cyfarwyddwyr Corfforaethol a’r Penaethiaid 
Gwasanaethau am y cyflwyniad ac am ateb cwestiynau’r Aelodau, a nodwyd y cyflwyniad. 

 
4. RHAGOLWG ARIANNOL 
 

Cyflwynodd yr Aelod o’r Cabinet dros Gyllid, Perfformiad a Gwasanaethau Cwsmeriaid yr 
adroddiad, a roddodd fanylion i’r Aelodau am y sefyllfa alldro dros dro ar gyfer blwyddyn 
ariannol 2019/20, amlinelliad o effaith ariannol ddisgwyliedig y pandemig COVID-19 ar 
gyllideb refeniw 2020/21, ac asesiad lefel uchel cychwynnol o’r rhagolwg ariannol tymor 
canolig i dymor hwy. 

 
Yn ei gyfarfod ar 1 Gorffennaf 2020, cyflwynwyd manylion yr alldro cyllideb refeniw dros dro ar 

Page 8



 
 

gyfer blwyddyn ariannol 2019/20 i’r Cabinet.  Dangosodd hyn sefyllfa gadarnhaol yn 
gyffredinol a chefnogodd y Cabinet yr argymhellion ynglŷn â’r Gronfa Gyffredinol, y gofynnir i’r 
Cyngor eu cymeradwyo bellach.  Yr argymhellion hyn yw cynnal balans y Gronfa Gyffredinol 
ar £10.684m, fel y cymeradwywyd gan y Cyngor ar 20 Chwefror 2020; a defnyddio’r balans 
dros ben o £3.288m ar ddiwedd blwyddyn 2019/20 i ariannu diffyg £575k yng Nghronfa Wrth 
Gefn y Gyfarwyddiaeth Gymunedau a throsglwyddo £2.713m i gronfa wrth gefn wedi’i 
chlustnodi i dalu am gostau ychwanegol posibl heb eu hariannu yn deillio o’r pandemig 
COVID-19.   
 

Gan droi at y coronafeirws, roedd yr Aelodau eisoes wedi cael manylion heno am ymateb yr 
Awdurdod i’r pandemig a’r cyfyngiadau symud .  Rydym wedi pennu ffocws newydd ar gyfer 
ein blaenoriaethau a’n ffyrdd o weithio, eu haddasu at ddibenion gwahanol a’u hailffurfio o 
fewn amser byr iawn.  Arweiniodd hyn yn anochel at gostau ychwanegol sylweddol ac rydym 
hefyd wedi colli incwm ar draws ystod o feysydd gwasanaeth.  Yn ogystal â heriau ariannol y 
cam ymateb cychwynnol, mae’n anochel y byddwn yn parhau i brofi pwysau ariannol 
arwyddocaol yn deillio o’r pandemig am y dyfodol rhagweladwy. 

 
Gofynnwyd i’r Aelodau nodi y cafwyd costau ychwanegol o £5.315m eisoes ar gyfer y cyfnod 
rhwng mis Mawrth a mis Gorffennaf 2020 mewn meysydd allweddol fel Gofal Cymdeithasol, 
darparu Cyfarpar Diogelu Personol (PPE), Technoleg Gwybodaeth, sefydlu Hybiau 
Cymunedol ar gyfer darparu gofal plant a Phrydau Ysgol am Ddim.  Collwyd cyfanswm o 
£1.819m o incwm rhwng mis Mawrth a mis Mehefin 2020 mewn meysydd allweddol, sef 
Canolfannau Hamdden, Lleoliadau Twristiaeth ac Arlwyo Ysgolion. 

 
Wrth ymateb i’r pandemig, lansiodd Llywodraeth Cymru Gronfa Galedi COVID-19 gwerth 
£110m i ddechrau er mwyn i awdurdodau lleol hawlio costau ychwanegol a gafwyd yn 
uniongyrchol o ganlyniad i’r pandemig, a chyhoeddwyd £22.7m arall wedi hynny ar gyfer 
Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol i Oedolion.  Yn ogystal â’r Gronfa Galedi, mae Llywodraeth 
Cymru hefyd wedi sicrhau bod £78m o gyllid ar gael ar gyfer colli incwm yn ystod chwarter 
cyntaf y flwyddyn ariannol. 

 
Dywedwyd wrth yr Aelodau er bod y pecyn cychwynnol hwn o gyllid Llywodraeth Cymru yn 
dderbyniol iawn, bod cryn ansicrwydd yn parhau ynglŷn â chyllid ychwanegol ar gyfer gweddill 
blwyddyn ariannol 2020/21.  Fodd bynnag, ar 17 Awst 2020, gwnaeth Llywodraeth Cymru 
gyhoeddiad i’w groesawu ynghylch pecyn cyllid COVID-19 ychwanegol o £264m, sy’n rhoi 
hyder i awdurdodau lleol baratoi eu cyllidebau ar gyfer gweddill y flwyddyn.  Yn ystod mis 
Gorffennaf ac yn gynnar ym mis Awst, paratowyd adroddiadau monitro cyllideb yn seiliedig ar 
y wybodaeth ariannol a oedd ar gael ar gyfer chwarter cyntaf y flwyddyn ariannol.  Mae’n 
bwysig pwysleisio bod yr adroddiadau hyn a’r amcanestyniadau diwedd blwyddyn cysylltiedig 
wedi cael eu paratoi cyn i Lywodraeth Cymru gyhoeddi’r £264m o gyllid ychwanegol ar 17 
Awst 2020. 

 
Gofynnwyd i’r Aelodau nodi bod yr amcanestyniadau 3 mis yn dangos gorwariant posibl o 
£4.597m ar ddiwedd y flwyddyn, ac mae manylion yr amrywiadau mwyaf arwyddocaol yn 
erbyn cyllidebau wedi’u cynnwys yn yr adroddiad.  Dyma’r sefyllfa achos gwaethaf yn seiliedig 
ar wybodaeth a oedd ar gael ar y pryd.  Mae staff cyllid bellach yn gweithio ar baratoi 
amcanestyniadau wedi’u seilio ar wybodaeth mis 5.  Bydd yr amcanestyniadau hyn sydd 
wedi’u diweddaru yn adlewyrchu cyhoeddiad Llywodraeth Cymru ynghylch cyllid newydd, a 
fydd yn arwain at sefyllfa well.  Bydd adroddiadau monitro cyllideb manwl Mis 3 ar gyfer pob 
Cyfarwyddiaeth ar gael i Bwyllgorau Craffu fel eitemau gwybodaeth.  Wrth symud ymlaen, 
bydd yr adroddiadau monitro ar gyfer misoedd 5, 7 a 9 yn cael eu cynnwys ar agendâu 
Pwyllgorau Craffu i’w cyflwyno a’u trafod. 

 
O ran y rhagolwg ariannol ar gyfer blynyddoedd y dyfodol, roedd yn rhy gynnar deall effaith 
ariannol COVID-19 yn y tymor canolig i’r tymor hir, ac roedd cryn ansicrwydd ynglŷn â faint o 
gyllid y bydd awdurdodau lleol yn ei dderbyn ar gyfer 2021/22 a thu hwnt.  Mae Llywodraeth y 
Deyrnas Unedig wrthi’n cynnal Adolygiad Cynhwysfawr o Wariant ar hyn o bryd, y bydd ei 

Page 9



 
 

fanylion yn cael eu cyhoeddi yn yr hydref.  Oherwydd hyn, nid ydym yn debygol o gael y 
Setliad Ariannol Llywodraeth Leol Dros Dro ar gyfer 2021/22 tan fis Rhagfyr 2020.  Byddai 
hwn yn cael ei dderbyn ym mis Hydref mewn blwyddyn arferol.  Mae hefyd yn debygol y bydd 
yr Adolygiad Cynhwysfawr o Wariant yn canolbwyntio ar un flwyddyn yn unig ac na fydd yn 
darparu cyllidebau dangosol ar gyfer blynyddoedd y dyfodol.    

 
Dywedwyd wrth yr Aelodau bod yr heriau ariannol sy’n ein hwynebu yn ddigynsail a’n bod yn 
camu i dir dieithr.  Hyd yn oed cyn i COVID-19 ymddangos, derbyniwyd yn gyffredinol na all y 
Cyngor barhau fel y mae, a gofynnwyd i’r Aelodau gofio mai elfen bwysig o ymateb i hyn oedd 
Strategaeth Drawsnewid Caerffili yn y Dyfodol, Tîm Caerffili – Yn Well Gyda’n Gilydd, a 
gymeradwywyd gan y Cabinet ar 12 Mehefin 2019.  Roedd ymddangosiad COVID-19 a’r 
ymateb gofynnol wedi cyflymu newid mewn rhai meysydd, a byddwn bellach yn ceisio 
ychwanegu at hyn wrth symud ymlaen i sicrhau y gallwn gynnig gwasanaethau cydnerth a 
chost-effeithiol sy’n bodloni anghenion ein cymunedau trwy’r cyfnod heriol hwn ac yn y tymor 
canolig i’r tymor hwy. 

 
Mae’r hyn y mae’r Cyngor wedi’i ddysgu trwy ei ymateb i COVID-19 wedi helpu i ailffurfio ac 
ymestyn y rhaglen drawsnewid.  Yn ei gyfarfod ar 16 Gorffennaf, cefnogodd y Cabinet 
gynnwys deg adolygiad corfforaethol yn rhaglen Tîm Caerffili, sydd oll yn ymestyn neu’n 
ymsefydlu ymhellach llawer o’r newidiadau cadarnhaol a weithredwyd wrth ymateb i COVID-
19.  

 
Wrth orffen, ailadroddodd yr Aelod o’r Cabinet fod y sefyllfa ariannol wedi cael ei rheoli’n dda 
yn ystod 2019/20, er gwaethaf yr heriau parhaus sy’n wynebu’r Cyngor.  Mae’r pandemig 
presennol yn cyflwyno heriau ariannol newydd arwyddocaol ar gyfer blwyddyn ariannol 
2020/21 a thu hwnt, ac mae hyn yn cael ei fonitro’n ofalus.  Bydd adroddiadau monitro 
cyllideb rheolaidd yn cael eu paratoi ar gyfer Pwyllgorau Craffu ochr yn ochr ag adroddiadau 
trosfwaol a baratoir ar gyfer y Cabinet a’r Cyngor.  Bydd adroddiad ar wahân hefyd yn cael ei 
gyflwyno i’r Cabinet a’r Cyngor maes o law, yn rhoi manylion Cynllun Ariannol Tymor Canolig 
(MTFP) wedi’i ddiweddaru.  

 
Mynegodd Aelod bryderon ynglŷn â cholli incwm o bron £2m oherwydd y bu’n rhaid i 
Ganolfannau Hamdden, Twristiaeth ac Arlwyo Ysgolion gau ac, ar ben hynny, y bu gostyngiad 
dealladwy mewn cyfraddau casglu’r Dreth Gyngor.  Ceisiodd yr Aelod eglurhad ynglŷn â sut 
gallai’r Cyngor fantoli’r cyfrifon bellach yng ngoleuni’r effaith negyddol ar y gyllideb flynyddol.  
Dywedwyd wrth yr Aelod bod yr incwm a gollwyd yn chwarter cyntaf y flwyddyn ariannol wedi 
cael ei ariannu gan grant a gafwyd gan Lywodraeth Cymru.  Nid oedd yr amcanestyniadau a 
baratowyd ym mis 3 wedi tybio unrhyw gyllid ychwanegol bryd hynny ar gyfer colli incwm.  
Fodd bynnag, mae’r cyhoeddiad dilynol ynglŷn â £264m arall o gyllid gan Lywodraeth Cymru 
yn rhoi’r hyder sydd ei angen ar awdurdodau lleol i reoli eu cyllidebau ar gyfer gweddill y 
flwyddyn ariannol.  Mae amcanestyniadau mis 5 wrthi’n cael eu paratoi ar hyn o bryd a 
byddai’r rhain yn dangos sefyllfa fwy cadarnhaol na honno a adroddwyd ym mis 3.  
 
Cyfeiriodd Aelod at Dudalen 44, adran 5.4.28 o’r adroddiad, a gofynnodd ai ffigur blwyddyn 
gyfan oedd yr amcanestyniad hwn.  Cadarnhaodd y Swyddog Adran 151 fod hynny’n wir, a 
dywedodd er bod buddsoddiadau a gynlluniwyd wedi cael eu hatal dros dro o ganlyniad i 
effaith economaidd y pandemig, fod opsiynau amgen yn cael eu hystyried gyda Chynghorwyr 
Rheoli Trysorlys y Cyngor.  Yna, aeth yr Aelod ymlaen i holi ynghylch yr effaith ar 
fuddsoddiadau cyffredinol a Chronfeydd Pensiwn.  Cadarnhaodd y Swyddog Adran 151 fod 
buddsoddiadau pensiwn yn cael eu rheoli gan Gronfa Bensiynau Gwent Fwyaf, ac felly ni allai 
wneud sylwadau ar eu dewisiadau buddsoddi.  
 
Mynegodd Aelod bryder bod arian yn cael ei roi o’r neilltu yng nghronfeydd wrth gefn y 
Cyngor, yn ei dyb ef, ac y disgwylir i’r Cyngor hwn gynnal balans y Gronfa Gyffredinol ar 
£10.684m unwaith eto.  Rhoddodd y Swyddog Adran 151 sicrwydd i’r Aelodau fod agwedd 
ochelgar y Cyngor at reolaeth ariannol yn golygu ei fod yn y sefyllfa orau posibl i ymateb i 
heriau’r dyfodol, ac fe’u hatgoffodd nad oedd unrhyw sicrwydd y byddai Llywodraeth Cymru 

Page 10



 
 

yn darparu cyllid yn y dyfodol.  Byddai adroddiadau ychwanegol ar Gronfeydd Wrth Gefn yn 
cael eu cyflwyno i’r Pwyllgor Craffu ar Bolisïau ac Adnoddau yn ystod y misoedd i ddod, a 
byddai Aelodau’n parhau i gael gwybodaeth lawn. 
 
Gwrthbrofodd y Dirprwy Arweinydd y sylwadau a wnaed a’r defnydd o’r term ‘rhoi o’r neilltu’, a 
oedd fel petai’n awgrymu bod arian yn cael ei guddio’n amhriodol neu’n ddirgel, a 
phwysleisiodd i’r Aelodau fod agwedd ochelgar y Cyngor hwn wedi sicrhau ei sefydlogrwydd 
ariannol drwy gydol yr argyfwng hwn ac yn cael ei chanmol flwyddyn ar ôl blwyddyn gan 
Swyddfa Archwilio Cymru.  Ailadroddodd yr Aelod ei fod. 
 
Nododd yr Arweinydd y sylwadau a wnaed a diolchodd i’r Swyddog Adran 151 a’r 
Gwasanaethau Ariannol am eu gwaith caled a’u hymrwymiad.  Gofynnodd i’r Aelodau nodi 
bod yr ymagwedd ochelgar hon yn golygu bod prosiectau fel yr Agenda Ffurfio Lleoedd yn 
gallu symud ymlaen, y byddai mwy o fanylion amdani’n cael eu darparu yn ystod y misoedd i 
ddod. 
 
Cynigiwyd ac eiliwyd bod yr argymhellion yn adroddiad y Swyddog yn cael eu cymeradwyo, a 
thrwy bleidleisio trwy Microsoft Forms a chadarnhad ar lafar (gan nodi bod 1 yn erbyn ac 1 
ymataliad), cytunwyd ar hyn gan y mwyafrif a oedd yn bresennol. 
 
 PENDERFYNWYD: 
 
 (i) nodi’r adroddiad; 
 

(ii) bod balans y Gronfa Gyffredinol o £10.684m yn cael ei gynnal fel y cytunwyd 
yn flaenorol gan y Cyngor ar 20 Chwefror 2020; 

 
(iii) bod balans dros ben y Gronfa Gyffredinol o £3.288m yn cael ei ddyrannu fel a 

ganlyn:  
 

£575k i ariannu’r diffyg presennol yng Nghronfa Wrth Gefn y Gyfarwyddiaeth 
Gymunedau, a throsglwyddo £2.713m i gronfa wrth gefn wedi’i chlustnodi i 
dalu am gostau ychwanegol posibl heb eu hariannu yn deillio o’r pandemig 
COVID -19; 

 
(iv)  bod y trefniadau monitro cyllideb ar gyfer blwyddyn ariannol 2020/21, fel y’u 

hamlinellir ym mharagraffau 5.5.8 a 5.5.9 yr adroddiad, yn cael eu nodi. 

   
 
 

 
 

 Daeth y cyfarfod i ben am 7.30pm 
 
 
 

Cymeradwywyd bod y cofnodion yn gofnod cywir, yn amodol ar unrhyw ddiwygiadau neu 
gywiriadau y cytunir arnynt ac a gofnodir yng nghofnodion y cyfarfod a gynhelir ar 17 
Tachwedd 2020, ac fe’u llofnodwyd gan y Maer. 
 

_______________________ 
      Y MAER 
 

Page 11



Gadewir y dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol

Page 12



 
 

 

Y CYNGOR 
 

COFNODION Y CYFARFOD A GYNHALIWYD TRWY MICROSOFT TEAMS 
DDYDD MAWRTH, 6 HYDREF 2020 AM 5.00PM 

 
  

YN BRESENNOL:  
 

Y Cynghorydd C. Andrews – Y Maer 
Y Cynghorydd J. Gale – Y Dirprwy Faer 

 
Cynghorwyr: 

 
 M. Adams, Mrs E.M. Aldworth, A.P. Angel, J. Bevan, P.J. Bevan, C. Bezzina, L.J. Binding, A. 

Collis, S. Cook, C. Cuss, W. David, D.T. Davies, M. Davies, N. Dix, C. Elsbury, K. Etheridge, 
M. Evans, A. Farina-Childs, Mrs C. Forehead, Miss E. Forehead, J.E. Fussell, A. Gair, N. 
George, C. Gordon, R.W. Gig, D.T. Hardacre, L. Harding, D. Havard, A.G. Higgs, A. Hussey, 
M.P. James, L. Jeremiah, G. Johnston, Mrs B.A. Jones, S. Kent, G. Kirby, C.P. Mann, P. 
Marsden, B. Miles, S. Morgan, B. Owen, Mrs T. Parry, Mrs L. Phipps, D.V. Poole, D.W.R. 
Preece, J. Pritchard, J. Ridgewell, J.E. Roberts, R. Saralis, Mrs M.E. Sargent, J. Scriven, G. 
Simmonds, J. Simmonds, S. Skivens, Mrs E. Stenner, J. Taylor, C. Thomas, A. Whitcombe, 
R. Whiting, L G. Whittle, T. Williams, W. Williams, B. Zaplatynski. 

 
 
 

Ynghyd â:- 
 

C. Harrhy (Prif Weithredwr Dros Dro), R. Tranter (Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol a 
Swyddog Monitro), M.S. Williams (Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol Dros Dro - Cymunedau), D. 
Street (Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol), S. Harris (Pennaeth 
Gwasanaethau Ariannol a Swyddog Adran 151), R. Edmunds (Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol 
Addysg a Gwasanaethau Corfforaethol), R. Hartshorn (Pennaeth Diogelu’r Cyhoedd), K. 
Peters (Rheolwr Polisi), A. Cullinane (Uwch Swyddog Polisi - Cydraddoldeb, y Gymraeg ac 
Ymgynghori), C. Forbes-Thompson (Rheolwr Craffu), S. Couzens (Rheolwr Tai), E. Sullivan 
(Uwch Swyddog Gwasanaethau Pwyllgor). 

 
 

TREFNIADAU RECORDIO A PHLEIDLEISIO 
 

Atgoffodd y Prif Weithredwr y rhai a oedd yn bresennol fod y cyfarfod yn cael ei recordio ac y 
byddai ar gael i’r cyhoedd trwy wefan y Cyngor.  Dywedodd y byddai pleidleisiau’n cael eu 
cofnodi trwy Microsoft Teams Forms.   

 
 

1. YMDDIHEURIADAU AM ABSENOLDEB 
 

Derbyniwyd ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb gan y Cynghorwyr D. Cushing, K. Dawson, C. 
Forehead, E. Forehead, J. Fussell, D. Hardacre, D. Harse, V. James, A. Leonard, P. Leonard, 
G. Oliver a D. Price. 
 
 

Page 13

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 8



 
 

2. CYHOEDDIADAU’R MAER  
 

Dywedodd y Maer, oherwydd y cyfyngiadau symud lleol parhaus, mai dim ond un digwyddiad 
dinesig a gynhaliwyd, sef neges wedi’i recordio a danfon blodau i ddathlu Pen-blwydd Priodas 
Aur. 

 
   

3.  DERBYN DEISEBAU O DAN REOL TREFNIADAETH 28(03) 
 
 Cadarnhaodd y Maer nad oedd unrhyw ddeisebau wedi’u derbyn. 
 
  
4.  CYFLWYNO GWOBRAU  
 
 Cadarnhaodd y Maer nad oedd unrhyw wobrau i’w cyflwyno. 
 
 
5.  DATGANIADAU O FUDDIANT 
 

Ni dderbyniwyd unrhyw ddatganiadau o fuddiant ar ddechrau nac yn ystod y cyfarfod. 
 
 
DATGANIAD GAN AELOD Y CABINET DROS OFAL CYMDEITHASOL – Y CYNGHORYDD 
SHAYNE COOK 
 
Dywedodd y Maer wrth y Cyngor, gyda’i chytundeb, y byddai Aelod y Cabinet dros Ofal 
Cymdeithasol yn gwneud datganiad byr, ac ni fyddai cwestiynau ar ei ôl. 
 
Cyfeiriodd yr Aelod o’r Cabinet at erthygl a gyhoeddwyd ar y wefan Wales Online a oedd yn 
cyfeirio at nifer uchel o achosion o’r coronafeirws mewn cartrefi gofal ym Mwrdeistref Sirol 
Caerffili.  Roedd yr erthygl yn cynnwys gwybodaeth a sylwadau a ddarparwyd gan un o 
Aelodau Cynulliad Rhanbarthol Plaid Cymru ac roedd yn cynnwys nifer o anghywirdebau 
difrifol.  Y prif anghywirdeb oedd honiad bod achosion COVID-19 mewn dros draean o’n 
cartrefi gofal. 
  
Dywedodd yr erthygl fod achosion parhaus o’r Coronafeirws mewn 10 o 27 o gartrefi gofal yn 
y Fwrdeistref Sirol.  Mae hyn yn anghywir gan fod 11 o achosion COVID-19 ar draws 121 o 
gyfleusterau gofal, nid 27 o gyfleusterau fel y nodwyd yn yr erthygl. 
  
Aeth yr erthygl ymlaen i ddweud “nad oes cytundeb terfynol ynglŷn â ph’un a fyddai pobl sy’n 
cael eu rhyddhau o’r ysbyty i gartrefi gofal yng Nghymru yn cael eu profi mewn gwirionedd”. 
Mae hyn yn anghywir hefyd ac yn gamarweiniol.  
  
Mae gan Gyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Caerffili gytundeb gyda’r holl awdurdodau lleol eraill yng 
Ngwent a Bwrdd Iechyd Prifysgol Aneurin Bevan y mae pawb yn glynu wrtho o ran profion 
negyddol cyn derbyn neu ddychwelyd i gartref.  Nid oes neb yn cael ei dderbyn i gartref o’r 
ysbyty neu’r gymuned heb gael prawf negyddol am y feirws yn gyntaf. 
  
Mynegodd yr Aelod o’r Cabinet ei syndod bod Aelod Cynulliad Rhanbarthol wedi rhoi 
gwybodaeth mor gamarweiniol ar adeg pan na ddylai unrhyw un fod yn ceisio manteisio’n 
wleidyddol ar sefyllfa heriol iawn.  Ar ôl darllen yr erthygl yn Wales Online, roedd llawer o 
drigolion yn bryderus iawn ac yn ofni bod eu perthnasau mewn perygl.  Roedd yr Aelod o’r 
Cabinet eisiau tawelu meddwl trigolion Caerffili ein bod yn gwneud ein gorau glas i atal 
COVID-19 rhag lledaenu, a diolchodd i’r holl staff yn ein cartrefi gofal sydd wedi gwneud mwy 
na’r disgwyl i ddiogelu trigolion rhag COVID-19. 
 
 
 

Page 14



 
 

6.  COFNODION – CYFARFOD Y CYNGOR ARBENNIG A GYNHALIWYD AR 20 CHWEFROR 
2020 

 
PENDERFYNWYD cymeradwyo bod cofnodion cyfarfod y Cyngor Arbennig a 
gynhaliwyd ar 20 Chwefror 2020 yn gofnod cywir. 

 
 
7.  COFNODION – CYFARFOD Y CYNGOR A GYNHALIWYD AR 3 MAWRTH 2020 
 

 PENDERFYNWYD cymeradwyo bod cofnodion cyfarfod y Cyngor a gynhaliwyd ar 3 
Mawrth 2020 yn gofnod cywir. 

 
8. COFNODION – CYFARFOD Y CYNGOR ARBENNIG A GYNHALIWYD AR 10 MAWRTH 

2020 
 

PENDERFYNWYD cymeradwyo bod cofnodion cyfarfod y Cyngor Arbennig a 
gynhaliwyd ar 20 Mawrth 2020 yn gofnod cywir. 

  
 
9.  COFNODION – CYFARFOD BLYNYDDOL Y CYNGOR A GYNHALIWYD AR 3 MEDI 2020 
 

 PENDERFYNWYD cymeradwyo bod cofnodion Cyfarfod Blynyddol y Cyngor a 
gynhaliwyd ar 3 Medi 2020 yn gofnod cywir. 

 
 
10.  DERBYN AC ATEB CWESTIYNAU A DDERBYNIWYD O DAN REOL TREFNIADAETH 10 

(2) 
 
 At Arweinydd y Cyngor gan y Cynghorydd Graham Simmonds. 
 
 Sicrhau bod asesiadau/adroddiadau perfformiad ar gael i Aelodau Cabinet gwybodus a 

phrofiadol Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Caerffili ar gyfer yr ychydig flynyddoedd diwethaf? 
 
 Yr ymateb gan Arweinydd y Cyngor, y Cynghorydd P. Marsden. 
 

Diolch am y cwestiwn, Gynghorydd Simmonds.  Mae’n ymddangos o’r ffordd yr ysgrifennoch 
eich cwestiwn yr hoffech i mi sicrhau bod asesiadau perfformiad ‘ar gael’ i’m cydweithwyr yn y 
Cabinet ar gyfer yr ychydig flynyddoedd diwethaf.  Y geiriau ‘ar gael’ yw’r rhai sy’n peri 
trafferth i mi. Gadewch i mi esbonio. Mae’r wybodaeth ganlynol eisoes ar gael i’r cyhoedd trwy 
wefan y Cyngor, a hynny ers blynyddoedd lawer. 

 
Adroddiadau Blynyddol ar gyfer Aelodau Unigol sydd, ar gyfer Aelodau’r Cabinet, yn cynnwys 
adran benodol ar Weithgarwch Aelod y Cabinet yn ogystal â Gweithgarwch y Ward, 
Presenoldeb ac yn y blaen.  Adroddiad Blynyddol ar Berfformiad i’r Cyngor sy’n ymdrin â 
pherfformiad ar draws holl Bortffolios y Cabinet.  Mae’r Cyngor yn disgwyl derbyn yr un nesaf 
ar 29 Hydref. Mae’r adroddiad hwn yn crynhoi perfformiad y Cyngor yn erbyn ein hamcanion 
llesiant; ein perfformiad ariannol; ein perfformiad yn erbyn y Mesurau Atebolrwydd 
Cyhoeddus; safbwyntiau ein Rheoleiddwyr ar ein gwasanaethau a diweddariad ar ein 
cynnydd yn erbyn Deddf Llesiant 2015.  Mae pob Pwyllgor Craffu yn cael adroddiadau 
blynyddol ar berfformiad sy’n gysylltiedig â chynnydd y Cyngor yn erbyn pob un o’r Amcanion 
Llesiant a fabwysiadwyd.  Mae Pwyllgorau Craffu hefyd yn derbyn adroddiadau penodol ar 
faterion perfformiad allweddol wrth iddynt godi drwy gydol y flwyddyn, fel perfformiad Cyfnod 
Allweddol 4 ar draws Ysgolion.  Mae Archwilio Cymru yn cyflwyno Adroddiad Gwella 
Blynyddol i’r Cabinet a’r Cyngor llawn sy’n rhoi safbwynt yr Archwilydd Cyffredinol i ni ynglŷn â 
ph’un a yw Caerffili yn bodloni ei gofynion statudol o ran gwelliant parhaus, ac mae’r Cyngor 
yn derbyn ac yn rhoi cyhoeddusrwydd i Adroddiadau rheolaidd gan Reoleiddwyr sy’n asesu 
ac yn gwneud sylwadau ar ein perfformiad. 

Page 15



 
 

 
Dylai’r Cynghorydd Simmonds hefyd fod yn ymwybodol bod y Cabinet wedi cymeradwyo 
fframwaith perfformiad newydd yn ei gyfarfod ar 26 Chwefror 2020.  Cyflwynodd y fframwaith 
Ddangosfwrdd Asesu Perfformiad Corfforaethol (CPA) sydd i’w dderbyn ddwywaith y flwyddyn 
gan y Cabinet, yn ogystal ag Asesiadau Perfformiad Cyfarwyddiaeth, y bydd Pwyllgorau 
Craffu’n derbyn data ohonynt ddwywaith y flwyddyn. Bydd y rhain yn cael eu derbyn am y tro 
cyntaf yn ystod yr hydref a’r gaeaf. 

 
Gan fod hyn i gyd ar gael i’r cyhoedd, a bod cyfleoedd niferus a rheolaidd ar gael i Bwyllgorau 
Craffu a’r Cyngor Llawn ystyried pob agwedd ar Berfformiad y Cyngor, nid wyf yn siŵr beth 
arall yr hoffai’r Cynghorydd Simmonds i mi sicrhau ei fod ar gael. 
 
Trwy gyfrwng cwestiwn atodol, cyfeiriodd y Cynghorydd Simmonds at sylwadau blaenorol a 
wnaed gan Arweinydd y Cyngor ynglŷn â dechreuadau newydd a thaith a rennir tuag at 
drawsnewid, a mynegodd ei farn bod amryw elfennau o’r ymrwymiad hwn wedi methu’r nod. 
Atgoffodd y Maer yr Aelod fod ganddo hawl i ofyn un cwestiwn atodol a’i fod yn mynd y tu 
hwnt i hyn yn ei anerchiad.  Felly, dywedodd yr Aelod y byddai’n tynnu’r cwestiwn yn ôl ac yn 
anfon neges e-bost at yr holl Aelodau ar ôl y cyfarfod. 

 
 
11. DERBYN AC ATEB CWESTIYNAU A DDERBYNIWYD O DAN REOL TREFNIADAETH 

10(4) 
 
 At Aelod y Cabinet dros Gyllid, Perfformiad a Gwasanaeth Cwsmeriaid gan y Cynghorydd 

Kevin Etheridge. 
 
 Gofyn i Aelod y Cabinet dros Gyllid, Perfformiad a Gwasanaeth Cwsmeriaid a yw hi’n credu yr 

oedd digon o adnoddau ar gael yn yr Uned Wybodaeth i ymdopi â cheisiadau o fewn y raddfa 
amser benodol a ganiateir o dan y ddeddfwriaeth yn ystod y 4 mis diwethaf, ac a ellir diffinio’r 
adnoddau hyn wrth fodloni terfynau amser. 

 
 Yr ymateb gan Aelod y Cabinet dros Gyllid, Perfformiad a Gwasanaeth Cwsmeriaid. 
 

Ers mis Mawrth, mae’r Cyngor wedi bod yn ymateb i’r pandemig COVID-19, a bu’n rhaid i 
staff o bob maes gwasanaeth, gan gynnwys yr Uned Llywodraethu Gwybodaeth Gorfforaethol 
(CIGU), ymgymryd â thasgau hanfodol eraill.  Yn ystod wythnosau cyntaf y cyfyngiadau 
symud, gostyngodd nifer y ceisiadau am wybodaeth yn sylweddol, a threuliodd staff y CIGU 
amser yn cefnogi’r Ymateb Cymunedol.  Fodd bynnag, mae nifer y ceisiadau wedi cynyddu’n 
ôl i’w swm arferol dros amser. 

 
Roedd y graddfeydd amser ar gyfer ymateb i geisiadau am wybodaeth yn hirach nag arfer yn 
ystod y cyfnod hwn, sy’n adlewyrchu’r ffaith nad oedd meysydd gwasanaeth a’r CIGU yn gallu 
prosesu ceisiadau mor brydlon ag arfer, gan fod staff ar draws y Cyngor wedi cael eu 
dargyfeirio i ymateb i’r pandemig.  Fodd bynnag, cyhoeddodd y Comisiynydd Gwybodaeth, 
sef y rheoleiddiwr ar gyfer rhyddid gwybodaeth a diogelu data, ei hymagwedd bragmatig ac 
empathetig at reoleiddio yn ystod y pandemig, yn sgil y gofyniad i sefydliadau ailgyfeirio 
adnoddau i gefnogi eu cymunedau. 

 
Mae staff y CIGU yn ôl yn eu rolau parhaol, ond mae staff ar draws meysydd gwasanaeth yn 
parhau i weithio ar yr ymateb i COVID-19.  Rydym wrthi ar hyn o bryd yn monitro graddfeydd 
amser cydymffurfio ac yn mynd i’r afael â’r ôl-groniad ceisiadau sydd wedi cronni, ac os bydd 
angen gwella graddfeydd amser cydymffurfio, bydd hyn yn cael ei ystyried ochr yn ochr â’r 
ymateb i’r pandemig. 
 

  
 

Page 16



 
 

 
ADRODDIADAU SWYDDOGION 

 
 
12. HYSBYSIAD O GYNNIG I ADOLYGU’R PENDERFYNIAD I DDIFFODD GOLEUADAU 

STRYD  
  
 Rhoddwyd ystyriaeth i’r hysbysiad o gynnig a gyflwynwyd gan y Cynghorydd Kevin Etheridge. 
 

I gefnogi ei hysbysiad o gynnig, dywedodd y Cynghorydd Etheridge ei fod wedi cael ei 
ysgrifennu ym mis Ionawr ac y disgwyliwyd iddo gael ei drafod gan y Pwyllgor Craffu ym mis 
Mawrth, ond ei fod wedi cael ei ohirio oherwydd COVID-19.  Esboniodd fod y cynnig yn 
edrych ar sawl ardal a’i fod wedi cael ei ysgrifennu ar ôl iddo gael rhwng 40 a 60 o gwynion 
gan drigolion yn y Coed-duon.  Roedd hefyd o’r farn bod yr ymateb i’r ymgynghoriad wedi bod 
yn ganran rhy isel i fesur teimladau’r cyhoedd ynglŷn â’r mater yn gywir, gyda 1488 o 
ymatebion yn unig o boblogaeth o 173,000, sy’n cyfateb i ymateb gan 0.83% o’r gymuned yn 
unig.  Roedd ei ail bwynt yn ymwneud â’r adroddiad o 2018 a oedd yn nodi efallai y byddai 
angen cynnal ymgynghoriad arall cyn gweithredu; nid yw’n credu bod hyn wedi digwydd. 

 
Roedd ei drydydd pwynt yn ymwneud â diffyg asesu nodweddion gwarchodedig yn yr asesiad 
o’r effaith ar gydraddoldeb wrth wneud y penderfyniad.  Daethpwyd i gasgliadau goddrychol 
ynglŷn â’r effaith bosibl ar bobl â nam ar y golwg a’r henoed, ac roedd yn ymddangos eu bod 
wedi’u defnyddio’n bennaf i hyrwyddo’r achos dros leihau carbon a gwarchod ystlumod, nad 
oeddent yn berthnasol i’r cynigion yn ei farn ef.  Teimlai hefyd fod y mater hwn yn ymwneud â 
mynd i’r afael ag ofn troseddau, yn ogystal â chyflawni troseddau, a chyfeiriodd at sut mae 
goleuadau stryd wedi bod yn rhan allweddol o ddiogelwch cymunedol ers dros 6 degawd.  
Wrth orffen ei gynnig, dywedodd fod y pwyllgor craffu wedi ystyried 2 adroddiad ar y mater 
hwn, a’r unig wahaniaeth rhwng y ddau oedd yr effaith ar y gyllideb briffyrdd.  Gan nad oedd 
yr adroddiad cyntaf wedi cael ei gefnogi, yr unig gasgliad y gallai ddod iddo oedd bod y mater 
hwn yn ymwneud mwy â’r diffyg yn y gyllideb na thrigolion. 

 
Ceisiodd yr Aelod eglurhad hefyd ynglŷn â pha asesiadau risg a gwblhawyd cyn i’r 
penderfyniad gael ei wneud, a pha asesiadau risg eraill sydd wedi cael eu gwneud ers hynny, 
a chynigiodd fod y penderfyniad ar y cynnig yn cael ei wneud trwy gyfrwng pleidlais wedi’i 
chofnodi. 

 
Eiliwyd y cynnig a’r alwad am bleidlais wedi’i chofnodi gan Aelod. 
 
Wrth gefnogi’r cynnig, cadarnhaodd yr Aelod nad oedd yn gwrthwynebu arbed arian a lleihau 
carbon, ond teimlai fod rhaid i ddiogelwch y cyhoedd gael ei ailystyried gan fod y rhaglen ar 
waith ac y gellid mesur ei heffaith ar drigolion yn iawn.  Cyfeiriodd yr Aelod at wybodaeth a 
ddarparwyd gan yr Arolygydd Aled George o Heddlu Gwent, lle y soniodd am gynnydd mewn 
byrgleriaethau annedd, yr oedd yr Aelod yn credu eu bod o ganlyniad i oleuadau rhannol yn y 
nos.  Yna, cyfeiriodd yr Aelod at lefelau troseddau yn ardal Parc Lansbury a bod y goleuadau 
yno wedi cael eu troi ymlaen eto oherwydd hynny, a gofynnodd i Swyddogion egluro’r pwynt 
hwn. 

 
Cadarnhaodd y Swyddog fod y wybodaeth ynglŷn â Pharc Lansbury yn anghywir ac nad oedd 
y goleuadau wedi cael eu troi ymlaen eto.  Esboniodd fod sicrwydd wedi’i roi mai canfyddiad 
oedd hwn yn deillio o ddiffodd y goleuadau, ond nad oedd troseddau wedi cynyddu mewn 
gwirionedd, fel y cadarnhawyd gan Heddlu Gwent.  Cadarnhaodd y Swyddog hefyd er na 
chynhaliwyd asesiad risg cyn i’r penderfyniad gael ei wneud, bod dadansoddiad o risg wedi 
cael ei gynnal ar gyfer pob ardal ac y gellir dosbarthu’r data ar bob un i’r Aelodau ar ôl y 
cyfarfod. 

 
Mynegodd Aelod ei bryder ynglŷn â’r cais am adolygiad yn y cynnig, gan ei fod yn credu bod 
holl bolisïau’r Cyngor yn cael eu hadolygu’n rheolaidd sut bynnag, ac yn cael eu hadolygu’n 

Page 17



 
 

gyson wrth i amser fynd heibio, gan olygu bod y cais yn ddiangen.  Yna, ceisiodd yr Aelod 
eglurhad ynglŷn â faint o dunelli o garbon fydd yn cael eu harbed trwy oleuadau rhan-amser 
yn y nos. Cadarnhaodd y Swyddog, pan fyddai’n gwbl weithredol ar ddiwedd mis Rhagfyr, y 
byddai 2840 o dunelli o garbon yn cael eu harbed y flwyddyn yn sgil goleuadau rhannol yn y 
nos a newid i oleuadau LED. 

 
Ceisiodd Aelod eglurhad ynglŷn â chost tynnu’r gosodion presennol, a dywedwyd wrtho fod 
£4.5m eisoes wedi cael ei fuddsoddi, y byddai’r broses dynnu’n costio oddeutu £300k ond y 
byddai cynnydd sylweddol mewn costau ar gyfer cyflenwadau ynni hefyd trwy symud i ffwrdd, 
yn ogystal â mwy o allyriadau carbon.  Nododd yr Aelodau fod goleuadau rhannol yn y nos a 
newid i oleuadau LED yn arbed £940k y flwyddyn. 

 
Cyfeiriodd Aelod at broblemau â diffodd goleuadau’n raddol yn ei ward ei hun, gan nad oedd 
yn ymddangos eu bod yn troi ymlaen ac yn diffodd yn iawn.  Cadarnhaodd y Swyddog fod y 
ffotogelloedd yn ceisio cyfrifo’r pwynt canol nos yn barhaus, a bod hyn yn gallu amrywio, ond 
y dylent ganfod y pwynt hwnnw bellach gan ein bod yn nesáu at fisoedd y gaeaf. 

 
Cyfeiriodd Aelod at ddatganiad o ‘Fuddsoddi mewn Dyfodol Mwy Disglair’ gan Fanc y Byd, a 
nododd ystod o fuddion economaidd-gymdeithasol sy’n gysylltiedig â strydoedd wedi’u 
goleuo’n dda.  Cyfeiriodd hefyd at y Ganolfan Biotechnoleg Genedlaethol o ran yr esgeulustod 
canfyddedig sy’n gysylltiedig â dileu gwasanaethau anstatudol fel goleuadau stryd, ac 
anogodd yr Aelodau i ystyried hyn pan gyflwynir y rownd nesaf o gynigion arbed yn y gyllideb.  

 
Yna, mynegodd Aelod arall bryder bod y Cyngor, yn ei farn ef, wedi methu ag ymchwilio’n 
gywir i oleuadau rhannol yn y nos ac nad oedd asesiadau risg ehangach wedi cael eu 
cwblhau ar yr opsiynau.  Cyfeiriodd at ran o’r adroddiad cynharach a oedd yn datgan y gallai 
asesiadau risg ehangach gael eu hystyried cyn gweithredu.  Credai nad oedd y rhain wedi 
cael eu cynnal, a oedd yn groes i Safonau Prydeinig yn ei farn ef.  Holodd hefyd pam nad 
oedd opsiynau fel pylu wedi cael eu hystyried cyn gweithredu.   

 
Cadarnhaodd y Swyddog fod asesiadau risg wedi cael eu cynnal ym mhob ardal cyn y gwaith 
gosod, a derbyniodd nad oedd hyn wedi cael ei wneud cyn i’r penderfyniad gael ei wneud.  
Fodd bynnag, roedd pob ardal wedi cael ei hasesu cyn y newid, ond nid oedd yr Aelod wedi 
ystyried y buddsoddiad ymlaen llaw o £1.4m mewn technoleg system reoli ganolog a’r ffaith 
nad oedd yr hen system LED yn gydnaws ac y byddai wedi costio £1.5m arall i’w 
huwchraddio.  Wrth ymateb i gwestiynau ynglŷn ag iechyd a diogelwch, dywedodd fod 
ystadegau damweiniau wedi dangos gostyngiad bach. 

 
Derbyniodd yr Aelod gostau ychwanegol y system reoli, ond teimlai y byddai hyn wedi bod yn 
llai drud pe byddai wedi cael ei weithredu ar y dechrau.  Fodd bynnag, credai fod angen i hyn 
gael ei adolygu o hyd. 

 
Rhoddodd y Swyddog gyngor pellach i’r Aelodau ar y Safon Brydeinig a ddyfynnwyd, a 
chadarnhaodd mai arweiniad i’r diwydiant oedd y cod ymarfer hwn, ac nid deddfwriaeth. Y 
ddeddfwriaeth berthnasol yw’r Ddeddf Priffyrdd, sy’n rhoi’r grym i Awdurdodau Lleol (yn eu rôl 
fel Awdurdodau Priffyrdd) droi ymlaen, diffodd, diwygio a dileu goleuadau stryd, a 
phwysleisiodd nad oes rhaid i ni ddarparu goleuadau stryd.  At hynny, mae’r Ddeddf yn rhoi’r 
grym i Awdurdodau Priffyrdd ddiffodd a/neu ddileu goleuadau stryd presennol heb ofyniad i’w 
hamnewid, fel y gwêl orau.  O ran y neges e-bost gan yr Aelod ynglŷn â’r system reoli ganolog 
a’r arbedion bras a gynhwysir ynddi, cadarnhaodd y Swyddog ymhellach fod goleuadau LED 
y Cyngor yn rhai 20w, sef watedd isel iawn, ac na fyddent yn cyflawni’r arbedion a 
amcangyfrifwyd gan fod y rheiny wedi’u seilio ar 60w. 

 
Yna, mynegodd Aelod bryderon ynglŷn â’r ystadegau damweiniau a ddyfynnwyd a ph’un a 
ydynt yn ymwneud â damweiniau cerddwyr neu gerbydau.  Yn ei ward ef, roedd wedi cael 
cwynion gan bobl sy’n byw ar strydoedd nad oes iddynt ffryntiad ac y mae’n rhaid iddynt adael 
biniau sbwriel ar balmentydd dros nos y mae pobl yn cerdded i mewn iddynt.  

Page 18



 
 

 
Cadarnhaodd y Swyddog y gallai ddosbarthu’r ystadegau damweiniau ar ôl y cyfarfod.  
Newydd gyrraedd oedd y wybodaeth, felly nid oedd wedi gallu cwblhau dadansoddiad llawn.  
Fodd bynnag, roedd y data lefel uchel yr oedd wedi edrych arno’n ymwneud â cherbydau neu 
gerbydau/cerddwyr, ac ni fyddai’n cofnodi achosion o lithro, baglu a chwympo.  Nid oedd yn 
ymwybodol o unrhyw gwynion am finiau.  O’r rhai hynny a dderbyniwyd, esboniodd fod 74 yn 
cwyno bod y goleuadau LED newydd yn rhy lachar, roedd 57 yn cwyno nad oedd unrhyw 
olau’n gorlifo ac roedd 96 yn ymwneud â darparu goleuadau rhannol yn y nos.  O’r rheiny, 
roedd y mwyafrif yn gysylltiadau anffurfiol a dim ond 2 ohonynt a symudodd ymlaen i gwynion 
cam 2.  Os oedd unrhyw feysydd pryder penodol, byddai’n fwy na pharod i drafod y rhain 
ymhellach gydag Aelodau ar ôl y cyfarfod. 

 
Atgoffodd Aelod y rhai a oedd yn bresennol o’r statws argyfwng hinsawdd a’r angen i’w 
gwarchod ar gyfer cenedlaethau’r dyfodol, a gwelodd hyn fel man cychwyn ar y trywydd 
hwnnw.  Fodd bynnag, gofynnwyd iddo’n aml ynglŷn â goleuadau swyddfa’r Cyngor a Thŷ 
Penallta, a holodd p’un a fyddai hyn yn rhan o raglen leihau debyg.  

 
Cadarnhaodd y Dirprwy Arweinydd y byddai’r goleuadau hyn yn dod o dan y gyllideb rheoli 
cyfleusterau yn hytrach na phriffyrdd, ac felly ni fyddent yn rhan o’r adroddiad.  Fodd bynnag, 
gallai roi sicrwydd bod hyn yn rhan o broses debyg o adolygu, lleihau a diffodd, a’i fod eisoes 
wedi cael ei gweithredu mewn rhai ardaloedd.   

 
Cyfeiriodd Aelod at sylwadau a wnaed mewn cyfarfod blaenorol ynglŷn â pharchu 
safbwyntiau’r pwyllgor craffu, ac atgoffodd y rhai a oedd yn bresennol nad oedd y cynnig hwn 
wedi cael ei gefnogi gan y pwyllgor craffu, gan ei fod yn crybwyll gweithdrefnau hanesyddol yn 
unig ac nid oedd yn ceisio symud materion ymlaen.  Nododd na chyfeiriwyd at y ddadl 
fioamrywiaeth, a darllenodd neges e-bost gan un o drigolion y Fwrdeistref Sirol a oedd yn 
annog yr Aelodau i ystyried eu dyletswydd i groesawu’r buddion i’r amgylchedd naturiol.  Yna, 
cyfeiriodd yr Aelod at waith Dr C McGreggor ar yr effaith amgylcheddol a bywyd nosol.  
Teimlai y byddai’n well petai’r arian i ddiwygio yn cael ei wario ar rywbeth arall, neu pe byddai 
cefnogwyr y cynnig yn dymuno diwygio’r polisi hwn, eu bod yn dychwelyd gyda safbwyntiau ar 
sut i ddiwygio’r gyllideb i dalu am y costau ychwanegol.  Cyfeiriwyd hefyd at yr effaith 
gadarnhaol ar gymuned awyr dywyllach. 

 
Ceisiwyd eglurhad ynglŷn â ph’un a oedd y system newydd yn caniatáu ar gyfer troi’r 
goleuadau ymlaen pe byddai angen.  Cadarnhaodd swyddogion y gellid gwneud hyn pe 
byddai angen a’u bod yn gweithio’n agos gyda’r heddlu yn hyn o beth.  O ran y cynnydd 
mewn byrgleriaethau, nodwyd bod y mwyafrif yn digwydd yn ystod y dydd.  Tawelwyd meddwl 
yr Aelod bod modd i ymateb pe byddai’r heddlu’n mynegi pryderon. 
 
Roedd Aelod wedi annog y Cyngor i ailystyried y penderfyniad hwn a chefnogi’r cynnig er 
mwyn cyflawni ei ddyletswydd i’r rhai hynny sy’n byw ar eu pen eu hunain, yr henoed a 
gweithwyr sifft, a gwrando ar y rhai hynny a oedd wedi llofnodi deisebau a chwyno.  Gan 
gefnogi sylwadau’r siaradwr blaenorol, roedd Aelod o’r farn ei bod yn bwysig gwrando ar 
drigolion a oedd yn mynegi pryderon a bod y rhaglen yn cael ei hadolygu. 

 
Cyfeiriwyd at sylwadau cynharach ar oleuadau Tŷ Penallta a gweithredu camerâu teledu cylch 
cyfyng (CCTV), a holwyd a oedd goleuadau’n cael eu gadael ymlaen er mwyn i gamerâu 
CCTV weithredu yng nghanol tref Ystrad Mynach.  Cadarnhaodd y Swyddog fod goleuadau 
canol y dref yn aros ymlaen at ddibenion CCTV ac er mwyn diogelwch canol trefi. 

 
Atgoffwyd yr Aelodau o’r gefnogaeth unfrydol i’r datganiad ynghylch Argyfwng Hinsawdd a 
chanlyniadau ofnadwy’r stormydd a brofwyd eleni, a oedd yn dangos effaith a chostau’r newid 
yn yr hinsawdd yn glir.  Roedd dyletswydd i wneud y penderfyniadau iawn er mwyn 
cenedlaethau’r dyfodol.  Derbyniwyd na fyddai’r rhain yn benderfyniadau rhwydd, ond roedd 
goleuadau rhannol yn y nos yn newid cymedrol i fywydau pob dydd a fyddai’n cael effaith fawr 

Page 19



 
 

ar yr amgylchedd.  Trwy beidio â chefnogi’r penderfyniad hwn nawr, teimlai ein bod yn 
condemnio cenedlaethau’r dyfodol i ddinistr y newid yn yr hinsawdd. 

 
Cofiodd Aelod am y gefnogaeth drawsbleidiol i’r newid i oleuadau LED ac yna’r gefnogaeth 
ddiweddarach i’r newid i oleuadau rhannol yn y nos, sef camau yr oedd yr un Aelodau bellach 
yn argymell eu gwrthdroi, a theimlai na allai unrhyw un gefnogi hynny.  Anogodd yr Aelodau i 
ystyried y goblygiadau ariannol a’r goblygiadau seilwaith.  Cydnabu’r pryderon ynglŷn â 
diogelwch gartref, ond nid oedd yr ystadegau’n cefnogi hyn.  Yn hytrach, ceir canfyddiad o fwy 
o droseddau, ac mae angen tawelu meddwl trigolion ynglŷn â’r canfyddiad hwn.  Mae 
astudiaethau wedi dangos nad oes cysylltiad rhwng diffodd goleuadau a mwy o droseddau.  
Ni chafwyd unrhyw geisiadau gan yr Heddlu yn gofyn i’r polisi hwn gael ei newid.  Petai 
ceisiadau o’r fath wedi dod i law, byddent wedi derbyn sylw.  Mae’r rhan fwyaf o achosion o 
dorri i mewn i gartrefi yn digwydd yn y prynhawn ac yn gynnar gyda’r nos, nid yn ystod oriau 
goleuadau rhannol yn y nos.  Cyfeiriodd eto at yr effaith ar yr amgylchedd a dinistr y newid yn 
yr hinsawdd, a’r pwysigrwydd ein bod yn gweithredu ar hyn nawr neu wynebu niwed 
anwrthdroadwy i’r byd naturiol. 

 
Ac yntau’n gynigiwr y cynnig, daeth y Cynghorydd Etheridge â’r ddadl i ben a phwysleisiodd 
fod y cynnig ond yn gofyn am adolygu’r penderfyniad ar Oleuadau Rhannol yn y Nos, a 
hynny’n unig.  Gofynnodd i’r Aelodau ystyried hyn a’r effaith ar gymunedau wrth wneud eu 
penderfyniad. 

 
Gan fod pleidlais wedi’i chofnodi wedi cael ei chynnig a’i heilio, cadarnhaodd y Swyddog 
Monitro fod 10 Aelod wedi cefnogi’r cynnig a chynhaliwyd pleidlais wedi’i chofnodi. 

 
 O blaid y Cynnig: 

Cynghorwyr: A. Angel, B. Bevan, L. Binding, N. Dix, K. Etheridge, A. Farina Childs, R. Gough, 
M. James, S. Kent, C. Mann, B. Owen, T. Parry, J. Roberts, M.E. Sargent, J. Scriven, G. 
Simmonds, S. Skivens, J. Taylor, L. Whittle (19) 
 
Yn erbyn y Cynnig: 
Cynghorwyr: M. Adams, E.M. Aldworth, C. Andrews, J. Bevan, C. Bezzina, A. Collis, S. Cook, 
C. Cuss, W. David, M. Davies, D.T. Davies, M. Evans, A. Gair, J. Gale, N. George, C. Gordon, 
L. Harding, D. Havard, A. Higgs, A. Hussey, L. Jeremiah, G. Johnston, G. Kirby, P. Marsden, 
B. Miles, S. Morgan, L. Phipps, D. Poole, D. Preece, J. Pritchard, J. Ridgewell, R. Saralis, J. 
Simmonds, E. Stenner, C. Thomas, A. Whitcombe, R. Whiting, T. Williams, W. Williams, B. 
Zaplatynski (41) 
 
Cyhoeddwyd bod y cynnig wedi’i golli. 
 
 PENDERFYNWYD na fyddai’r cynnig yn cael ei gefnogi. 

 
 
13. HYSBYSIAD O GYNNIG – SIARTER UNDOD DROS YMRANIAD 
 

Rhoddwyd ystyriaeth i’r hysbysiad o gynnig a gyflwynwyd gan y Cynghorydd Philippa 
Marsden. 

 
I gefnogi ei hysbysiad o gynnig, cyfeiriodd y Cynghorydd Marsden at y newidiadau 
cymdeithasol a gwleidyddol enfawr a welwyd yn y wlad yn ystod yr ychydig flynyddoedd 
diwethaf a’r ffaith bod hyn wedi arwain at ymraniadau cymdeithasol mawr, yn enwedig ar sail 
hil, ethnigrwydd, crefydd a chenedligrwydd.  Un o’r canlyniadau sy’n achosi’r pryder mwyaf 
yw’r cynnydd mawr mewn troseddau casineb yr adroddwyd amdanynt, sydd wedi cynyddu 
bron 30% ers 2016.  Byddai’r Siarter Undod dros Ymraniad yn ymrwymiad gan y Cyngor hwn i 
ddileu gwahaniaethu hiliol ac anoddefgarwch o bob math. 
 

Page 20



 
 

Diolchodd y Cynghorydd Marsden i’r rhai a oedd wedi cefnogi’r cynnig a dywedodd yr hoffai 
hefyd ychwanegu at y cynigion trwy gynnig bod gweminar yn cael ei chynnal i’r Aelodau ar 
Ymwybyddiaeth o Droseddau Casineb.  
 
Mynegodd yr Aelodau eu cefnogaeth i’r cynnig a’r weminar. 
 
Ar ôl cael ei gynnig a’i eilio, a thrwy gyfrwng cadarnhad trwy Microsoft Forms ac ar lafar, 
cefnogwyd y cynnig yn unfrydol. 
 
 PENDERFYNWYD: 
  
 (i)   Bod yr hysbysiad o gynnig yn cael ei gefnogi; 
 

(ii) Bod Hyrwyddwr Cynhwysiant yn cael ei benodi, a fydd yn unigolyn arweiniol ar 

gyfer agenda’r Siarter Undod dros Ymraniad, gyda chymorth Undebau Llafur 

a’r Cyngor, i gydweithredu, monitro, hwyluso a hyrwyddo cynhwysiant yn y 

gweithle lle bynnag y bo’n bosibl. 

 
(iii) Sicrhau bod pob aelod o staff, gan gynnwys ysgolion, yn cael hyfforddiant 

gorfodol ar sut i lynu wrth Bolisi Cydraddoldeb ac Amrywiaeth y Cyngor, a 

sicrhau bod y ddogfen hon yn cael ei hadolygu’n flynyddol. 

 
(iv) Ynghyd ag Undebau Llafur, darparu deunyddiau cyfredol a llawn gwybodaeth i 

helpu i hyrwyddo cydraddoldeb a chytgord yn y gweithle. 

 
(v) Sefyll gydag Undebau Llafur i gondemnio digwyddiadau lle y ceir enghreifftiau 

lleol a chenedlaethol o droseddau casineb a gwahaniaethu. 

(vi) Gweithio gyda’r holl asiantaethau a sefydliadau eraill priodol i hyrwyddo 

cydlyniant y tu mewn a’r tu allan i’r gweithle. 

 

(vii) Cynnal gweminar i’r Aelodau ar Ymwybyddiaeth o Droseddau Casineb a’r 

Siarter Undod dros Ymraniad. 

 
14. CYNLLUN CYDRADDOLDEB STRATEGOL, AMCANION A CHAMAU GWEITHREDU 

2020-2024 
 

Rhoddwyd ystyriaeth i’r adroddiad a gyflwynwyd yn flaenorol i’r Pwyllgor Craffu Polisi ac 
Adnoddau ar 25 Chwefror 2020 a’r Cabinet ar 11 Mawrth 2020.  Roedd yr adroddiad bellach 
yn ceisio cymeradwyaeth y Cyngor i’r Cynllun Cydraddoldeb Strategol drafft. 

 
Mae Dyletswydd Cydraddoldeb y Sector Cyhoeddus yng Nghymru yn mynnu bod pob 
awdurdod cyhoeddus yn datblygu a chyhoeddi Cynllun Cydraddoldeb Strategol bob pedair 
blynedd.  Mae Cynllun Cydraddoldeb Strategol 2020-2024 wedi cael ei adolygu’n llawn i 
adlewyrchu newidiadau i arfer gorau ac amcanion, ac i ddarparu gwybodaeth ychwanegol.  
Mae’r Amcanion a’r Cynllun Gweithredu cyfunol wedi cael eu datblygu i ystyried cyflawniadau 
a chynnydd, ac wedi’u huno’n un ddogfen weithredol. 
 
Nodwyd bod y Cynllun wedi cael ei ddatblygu fel bod y Cyngor yn gallu amlinellu sut mae’n 
bwriadu bodloni ei ymrwymiad i gydraddoldeb a sut y bydd yn cyflawni ei rwymedigaethau 
cyfreithiol sydd wedi’u cynnwys yn Neddf Cydraddoldeb 2010. Rydym wedi defnyddio 
dogfennau allweddol i helpu i ddatblygu’r cynllun diwygiedig, fel Cynllun Corfforaethol 2018-
2023 a Strategaeth Uchelgeisiau a Rennir yr Adran Addysg, yn ogystal â gwybodaeth a 
ddarparwyd gan Reolwyr Gwasanaeth. 

Page 21



 
 

   
Nododd yr Aelodau fod yr adborth o’r broses ymgynghori yn gefnogol iawn o’r amcanion drafft 
yn gyffredinol.  Roedd meysydd i’w gwella a rhwystrau a amlygwyd wedi’u cynnwys fel camau 
gweithredu o dan bob Amcan Cydraddoldeb perthnasol.  Bydd Cynllun Cydraddoldeb 
Strategol 2020-2024 a’r camau gweithredu cysylltiedig yn sicrhau bod gan y Cyngor ddogfen 
sy’n addas i’r diben sy’n cydymffurfio â’r dyletswyddau statudol diweddaraf yn ymwneud â 
chydraddoldeb a’r Gymraeg.  Fe’i datblygwyd yn unol â gofynion deddfwriaethol a chanllawiau 
a gynhyrchwyd gan y Comisiwn Cydraddoldeb a Hawliau Dynol. 
 
Ar ôl cael ei gynnig a’i eilio, ac am y rhesymau a roddwyd yn adroddiad y Swyddog a thrwy 
gyfrwng cadarnhad trwy Microsoft Forms ac ar lafar, cytunwyd ar yr argymhelliad a 
gynhwyswyd ynddo yn unfrydol. 
 

PENDERFYNWYD mabwysiadu Cynllun Cydraddoldeb Strategol Drafft 2020-2024 fel 
polisi’r Cyngor. 

 
 
15. NIFER Y PWYLLGORAU CRAFFU 
 

Rhoddwyd ystyriaeth i’r adroddiad a oedd yn amlinellu canfyddiadau’r arolwg Aelodau a 
gynhaliwyd ddeuddeg mis ar ôl gweithredu’r strwythur pwyllgorau craffu presennol, ac a 
ystyriwyd hefyd gan y Grŵp Arweinyddiaeth Craffu yn ei gyfarfod ar 15 Medi 2020. 
 
Gofynnwyd i’r Aelodau nodi bod rhai o’r sylwadau a gododd o’r arolwg yn cynnwys gwell 
presenoldeb mewn cyfarfodydd ffurfiol a chyn-gyfarfodydd, a bod adolygiad llawn o’r 
swyddogaethau craffu yn cael ei gynnal maes o law. 
 
Cyfeiriodd yr Aelod o’r Cabinet at y pwyntiau a godwyd yn yr arolwg ynglŷn â lefelau 
presenoldeb mewn cyfarfodydd craffu a chyfranogiad llawn Aelodau, a phwysleisiodd pa mor 
bwysig oedd hyn.  Adleisiwyd y farn honno gan Arweinydd Grŵp Plaid Cymru a Chadeirydd y 
Grŵp Arweinyddiaeth Craffu. 
 
Ar ôl ystyried yr adroddiad a’i gynnwys yn llawn, ac am y rhesymau a gynhwyswyd ynddo, 
cynigiwyd ac eiliwyd bod yr argymhelliad yn yr adroddiad yn cael ei gymeradwyo, a thrwy 
gyfrwng cadarnhad trwy Microsoft Forms ac ar lafar (gan nodi bod 50 o blaid ac 1 ymataliad), 
cytunwyd ar hyn gan y mwyafrif a oedd yn bresennol. 
 
 PENDERFYNWYD: - 
 
 (i) nodi’r adroddiad; 
 
 (ii) cadw nifer bresennol y pwyllgorau craffu (5). 

 
 
16. PENDERFYNIADAU A WNAED GAN Y PRIF WEITHREDWR YN YSTOD Y PANDEMIG  
 

Cadarnhaodd y Maer fod yr adroddiad wedi’i gyflwyno i’r Cyngor er gwybodaeth yn unig, a’i 
fod yn rhestru’r penderfyniadau a wnaed gan y Prif Weithredwr o dan bwerau dirprwyedig yn 
ystod y cyfyngiadau symud.  Oni bai bod cwestiynau gan Aelodau, byddai’r cyfarfod yn symud 
ymlaen i’r eitem nesaf.  Nid oedd unrhyw gwestiynau, a nodwyd yr adroddiad er gwybodaeth. 
 

 
17. GWASANAETH OLRHAIN CYSYLLTIADAU GWENT 
 

Cadarnhaodd y Maer fod yr adroddiad wedi cael ei ystyried fel eitem frys gan y Cabinet ar 30 
Gorffennaf 2020 ac, yn unol â gofynion y Cyfansoddiad, mae’n rhaid i unrhyw benderfyniad a 
wneir fel mater o frys gael ei adrodd i gyfarfod nesaf y Cyngor, gan roi’r rhesymau dros ei 

Page 22



 
 

natur frys.  Felly, gofynnwyd i’r Cyngor nodi’r rhesymau dros natur frys yr adroddiad a 
Phenderfyniad y Cabinet. 
 
Nodwyd yr adroddiad felly. 

 
 
18. CYNNIG DATBLYGIAD ARLOESOL CARTREFI CAERFFILI – LLANFABON DRIVE, 

TRETOMAS, THE CRESCENT, TRECENYDD AC YSGOL GYFUN OAKDALE 
 
 Cadarnhaodd y Maer fod yr adroddiad wedi cael ei ystyried fel eitem frys gan y Cabinet ar 9 

Medi 2020 ac, yn unol â gofynion y Cyfansoddiad, mae’n rhaid i unrhyw benderfyniad a wneir 
fel mater o frys gael ei adrodd i gyfarfod nesaf y Cyngor, gan roi’r rhesymau dros ei natur frys.  
Felly, gofynnwyd i’r Cyngor nodi’r rhesymau dros natur frys yr adroddiad a Phenderfyniad y 
Cabinet. 
 
Mynegodd Aelod ei siom ynglŷn â dyluniad y datblygiad arfaethedig yn The Crescent, 
Trecenydd, gan ei fod o’r farn ei fod yn anniddorol, yn ddiflas ac yn dangos diffyg dychymyg.  
Gwrthbrofodd Aelod y Cabinet dros Dai ac Eiddo y pryderon a godwyd, a oedd o’r farn bod y 
cynnig, mewn gwirionedd, yn gyffrous, yn feiddgar ac yn llawn dychymyg.  Atgoffwyd yr Aelod 
nad oedd y mater hwn wedi cael ei ystyried gan y Pwyllgor Cynllunio eto, ac mai dyna fyddai’r 
lle iawn i fynd i’r afael ag unrhyw faterion neu bryderon ynglŷn â’r cynigion dylunio. 
 
Nodwyd yr adroddiad felly. 

 
 
 Daeth y cyfarfod i ben am pm 
 
 

Cymeradwywyd bod y cofnodion yn gofnod cywir, yn amodol ar unrhyw ddiwygiadau neu 
gywiriadau y cytunir arnynt ac a gofnodir yng nghofnodion y cyfarfod a gynhelir ar 17 
Tachwedd 2020, ac fe’u llofnodwyd gan y Maer. 
 

_______________________ 
      Y MAER 
 

Page 23



Gadewir y dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol

Page 24



 
 
 

COUNCIL – 17TH NOVEMBER 2020 
 
 

SUBJECT: HEADS OF THE VALLEYS REGENERATION AREA 
MASTERPLAN 

 

REPORT BY: INTERIM CORPORATE DIRECTOR - COMMUNITIES  
 

 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 To advise members on the main issues identified by respondents during the public 

consultation exercise carried out between 17 February and 30 March 2020 on the Draft 
Heads of the Valleys Regeneration Area Masterplan. 

 
1.2 To approve the amended Heads of the Valleys Masterplan Regeneration Area  (as 

Supplementary Planning Guidance to the Adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local 
Development Plan) as a tool for guiding regeneration activity in the Heads of the 
Valleys Regeneration Area. 

 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 On 2 January 2020, Cabinet approved the publication of the Draft Heads of the Valleys 

Regeneration Area Masterplan (Masterplan) for the purposes of a formal, six-week 
public consultation process.  The consultation period began on 17 February 2020 and 
ended on 30 March 2020. 

 
2.2 In total, ten responses were received during this period.  A Report of Consultation has 

been prepared that addresses the responses to the Masterplan.  The Report considers 
the issues that have been raised, provides officer responses to those issues and 
makes recommendations on the proposed course of action.  The Report of 
Consultation is included as Appendix 1 to this report. 

 
2.3 The main issues raised in the consultation responses are as follows: 
 

 Greater flexibility in terms of potential redevelopment options for Capital Valley; 

 Greater alignment of housing and employment delivery; 

 Expansion of the Tech Valleys initiative to include the entire Masterplan area; 

 The role of Heolddu Comprehensive School and Leisure Centre; 

 The need for improvements to Gilfach Fargoed Station; 

 Empty shops and lack of on-street parking in Bargoed town centre. 
 

Page 25

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 10



2.4 These issues have been addressed in the Report of Consultation.  As a result of the 
responses received, a small number of changes are proposed to the Masterplan and 
are indicated as track changes in the amended document. 

 
2.5 Minor typographical changes and updates are also included in the amended document 

that is appended to the report as Appendix 2, although these are not set out in the 
Report of Consultation. 

 
3. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 That the Council considers the representations received as part of the public 

consultation exercise and endorses the officer recommendations set out in the Report 
of Consultation. 

 
3.2 That the Council formally adopts the Heads of the Valleys Regeneration Area 

Masterplan as Supplementary Planning Guidance to the Adopted Caerphilly County 
Borough Local Development Plan and as a tool for guiding regeneration activity in the 
Heads of the Valleys Regeneration Area. 

 
4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 To provide a policy basis for the future development and regeneration of the Heads of 

the Valleys Regeneration Area. 
 
5. THE REPORT 
 
 Background 
 
5.1 The signing of the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal signals the intention of the 10 South 

East Wales local authorities to increasingly work together through joint enterprise, on 
issues of long term development, infrastructure, land use, economic development and 
employment.  It marks unprecedented investment from the UK and Welsh 
Governments, as well as local authorities, and offers the possibility of an integrated 
long term approach to investment within the region.  The City Deal agreement sets out 
a series of priorities and recommendations for the future growth and investment within 
the Cardiff Capital Region, of which Caerphilly County Borough is part. 

 
5.2 The County Borough’s regeneration strategy, ‘A Foundation for Success’, was 

approved in July 2018 and provides the strategic framework for regeneration activity 
over the next five years.  In addition to this, masterplans for Caerphilly Basin and 
Ystrad Mynach, the first two in a suite of five masterplans designed to complement this 
strategy, were approved by the Council in July 2018 and April 2019 respectively.  
These documents provide more detailed proposals for the regeneration and 
revitalisation of their respective areas. 

 
5.3 The Valleys Taskforce Delivery Plan, ‘Our Valleys, Our Future’, identifies several 

priorities which are relevant to the Heads of the Valleys.  These include: 
 

 Creating 7,000 new jobs; 

 Supporting entrepreneurship and helping businesses to grow; 

 Ensuring people have the right skills for employment; 

 Maximise the potential of the A465 dualling; 

 More integrated community services; 

 Creation of a Valleys Regional Park, linking green spaces and visitor attractions 

Page 26



and increasing tourism. 
 
5.4 In addition, Phase 2 of the Metro will have a positive impact in terms of connectivity, 

both through increased journey frequency and the provision of enhanced facilities.  
Regionally significant interventions such as the A465 dualling and the Ebbw Vale 
Enterprise Zone requires the Masterplan to take a strategic perspective, and to ensure 
that proposals for economic development in the Heads of the Valleys take advantage 
of these initiatives. 

 
5.5 The Masterplan will form part of the implementation plan for ‘A Foundation for 

Success’, with the latter to be reviewed every five years.  Whilst the Masterplan 
identifies investment and development opportunities within the Heads of the Valleys 
Regeneration Area, the Regeneration Project Board will prioritise projects and 
proposals for consideration by Cabinet and, therefore, delivery will be dependent on 
decisions made by Cabinet. 

 
5.6 Council resolved to commence a full review of the Local Development Plan on 23 

October 2019.  Decisions taken with regard to investment and development 
opportunities set out within the Masterplan will inform the evidence base of the 2nd 
Replacement Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan. 

 
 Public Consultation Exercise 
 
5.7 A public consultation exercise was held in respect of the Masterplan between 17 

February 2020 and 30 March 2020. 
 
5.8 Consultation emails were sent to all elected members, community councils within the 

Masterplan area, AMs and MPs. 
 
5.9 Posters advertising the dates of the consultation, dates and times of consultation 

events and the locations of the associated documentation were displayed in libraries 
across the County Borough.  The consultation was also advertised on the Council’s 
website and social media channels. 

 
5.10 Consultation material was also placed in all libraries across the County Borough, and 

staffed consultation events were held in Bargoed Library (Saturday 29 February 2020 
and Tuesday 3 March 2020) and Rhymney Library (Wednesday 4 and Thursday 5 
March 2020) to allow members of the public to discuss the Masterplan with officers. 

 
 Key Issues Raised 
 
5.11 In total, ten responses were received during the consultation period.  A Report of 

Consultation has been prepared that addresses the responses to the Masterplan.  The 
Report considers the issues that have been raised, provides officer responses to those 
issues and makes recommendations on the proposed course of action.  The Report of 
Consultation is included as Appendix 1 to this report. 

 
5.12 Respondents were asked to comment on the Vision, Strategic Objectives, 

Development Strategy and site-specific proposals, and the responses have been 
grouped in the Report of Consultation to reflect this. 

 
5.13 The main issues raised in the responses are as follows: 
 

 Greater flexibility in terms of potential redevelopment options for Capital Valley; 

 Greater alignment of housing and employment delivery; 

Page 27



 Expansion of the Tech Valleys initiative to include the entire Masterplan area; 

 The role of Heolddu Comprehensive School and Leisure Centre; 

 The need for improvements to Gilfach Fargoed Station; 

 Empty shops and lack of on-street parking in Bargoed town centre. 
 
5.14 Additional representations concerned the present condition of the A4048 between 

Blackwood and Tredegar, and the potential for provision of a lake in New Tredegar to 
increase leisure activity, employment in associated areas and electricity generation. 

 
5.15 Representations for support were forthcoming for the Vision, the Strategic Objectives 

and the Development Strategy, as well as the proposals generally.  The redevelopment 
of Capital Valley is also supported. 
 

Conclusion   

5.16 The Report of Consultation sets out each of the issues with an officer response and a 
recommendation for any amendments or action.  The Report of Consultation sets out 
some proposed amendments to the Masterplan.  There are also a small number of 
changes arising from typographical errors and factual updating proposed.  All of the 
proposed amendments have been included as track changes in the amended 
Masterplan which is appended to this report as Appendix 2. 

 
6. ASSUMPTIONS 

6.1 Delivery of individual proposals contained within the Masterplan will be dependent on 
financial constraints and the implementation of related initiatives e.g. South Wales 
Metro, Active Travel Fund.  Funding sources identified to date are set out in Section 7 
of the Masterplan document. 

 
6.2 It is assumed that additional funding sources, including private sector investment, will 

be required for the implementation of some proposals, and for facilitating the delivery 
of schemes involving key sites.  

 
6.3 All representations have been considered through the appended Report of 

Consultation. 
 
7.  LINKS TO RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES 
 
7.1       The following Council policies are relevant to the Masterplan:  
 

A Foundation for Success 2018-2023  
 

7.2 ‘A Foundation for Success’ is the over-arching regeneration strategy which seeks to 
provide the strategic framework for the future regeneration of the County Borough.  
This strategy will be supported by a suite of action plans and strategies aimed at 
bringing forward regeneration opportunities and developing key sites and premises.   

 
7.3 The Heads of the Valleys Masterplan is the third of the suite of masterplans. 
 
 Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 2021 
 
7.4 The Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 2021 (LDP) was 

adopted on 23 November 2010.  It sets out the Council's land use policies and proposals 

Page 28



to control development in the County Borough up to 2021 and provides the basis by which 
planning applications will be determined, consistently and appropriately. 

 
Corporate Plan 2018-2023 
 

7.5 Appendix 3 of the Masterplan sets out how each priority within the document relates 
to the Corporate Plan objectives. 
 

7.6 The following Masterplan objectives assist in delivering the six Corporate Plan 
objectives:  

 
 Objective 1 - Improve education opportunities for all 
  

Objective B - Improve social and economic resilience through education, training and 
careers advice, and foster the development of the foundational economy within this 
area to ensure that economic growth accrues more equitably; 
 
Objective E - Maximise the impact of the Valleys Regional Park, protecting and 
enhancing important green spaces and built heritage and promoting tourism; 
 
Objective F - Supporting proposals for renewable energy generation and community 
benefit through utility infrastructure; 
 
Objective G - Supporting the development and diversification of housing in sustainable 
locations to complement economic growth and resilience; 
 
Objective H - Providing a suitable level of community, leisure and education facilities, 
aligning with national and local initiatives including 21st Century Schools and the 
CCBC Sport and Active Recreation Strategy where applicable, and establishing 
Integrated Well-Being Networks in order to connect communities’ strengths and assets 
 
Objective 2 - Enabling employment 
 
Objective A - Complement, and integrate with, nearby initiatives such as the Ebbw Vale 
Enterprise Zone (EZ) in order to develop a strategic employment function for Rhymney, 
establishing it as a gateway to the Valleys; 
 
Objective B - Improve social and economic resilience through education, training and 
careers advice, and foster the development of the foundational economy within this 
area to ensure that economic growth accrues more equitably; 
 
Objective C - Expand the area’s sphere of influence and improve connectivity; 
 
Objective D - Reinforcing the role of Bargoed as a service centre for the north of the 
County Borough 
 
Objective E - Maximise the impact of the Valleys Regional Park, protecting and 
enhancing important green spaces and built heritage and promoting tourism; 
 
Objective F - Supporting proposals for renewable energy generation and community 
benefit through utility infrastructure 
 

Page 29



Objective 3 - Address the availability, condition and sustainability of homes 

throughout the County Borough and provide advice, assistance or support to 

help improve people’s well-being 

 

Objective F - Supporting proposals for renewable energy generation and community 

benefit through utility infrastructure; 

 

Objective G - Support the development and diversification of housing in sustainable 

locations to complement economic growth and resilience; 

 

Objective J - Ensuring all communities within the Heads of the Valleys Regeneration 

Area are able to engage and benefit from the Masterplan 

 

Objective 4 - Promote a modern, integrated and sustainable transport system 

that increases opportunity, promotes prosperity and minimises the adverse 

impacts on the environment 

 

Objective C - Expand the area’s sphere of influence and improve connectivity; 

 

Objective D - Reinforcing the role of Bargoed as a service centre for the north of the 

County Borough; 

 

Objective I - Ensuring that accessibility for all is embedded in all improvement 

schemes; 

 

Objective J - Ensure all communities within the Heads of the Valleys Regeneration 

Area are able to engage and benefit from the Masterplan 

 

Objective 5 - Creating a County Borough that supports a healthy lifestyle in 

accordance with the sustainable development principle within the Wellbeing of 

Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

 

Objective E - Maximise the impact of the Valleys Regional Park, protecting and 

enhancing important green spaces and built heritage and promoting tourism; 

 

Objective H - Providing a suitable level of community, leisure and education facilities, 
aligning with national and local initiatives including 21st Century Schools and the 
CCBC Sport and Active Recreation Strategy where applicable, and establishing 
Integrated Well-Being Networks in order to connect communities’ strengths and assets 
 

Objective 6 - Support citizens to remain independent and improve their well-
being 
 
Objectives A-J 

 

8. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS 
 
8.1 Led by ‘A Foundation for Success’, the Masterplan takes a systematic approach to 

dealing with distinct, yet interrelated, aspects of social and economic inequality, with 

Page 30



the result that each of the seven Well-Being Goals are addressed by the objectives 
and priorities for intervention identified within it: 

 

 A prosperous Wales; 

 A resilient Wales; 

 A healthier Wales; 

 A more equal Wales; 

 A Wales of cohesive communities; 

 A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh Language; 

 A globally responsible Wales. 
 
8.2 Appendix 3 of the Masterplan sets out how each priority within the document relates 

to the Well-Being Goals. 
 
8.3 The development of the Masterplan has been informed by the five ways of working: 
 

Involvement – The proposals contained within the Masterplan were subject to 
consultation with the local community, and have been developed through engagement 
with stakeholders such as landowners, partner organisations including the Local 
Health Board and Idris Davies School, and local authority ward members and 
community councillors representing the various communities within the Masterplan 
area; 
 
Collaboration – The development of the Masterplan has drawn upon the expertise 
from key representatives across local authority departments, including Planning, 
Regeneration, Housing, Engineering and Countryside.  The delivery of the projects 
identified within the Masterplan will involve collaboration between the public, private 
and third sectors, and the Council will work closely with these partners to deliver 
schemes in a collaborative manner; 

 
Long term – The objectives identified, and the projects that will deliver these 
objectives, are part of a longer-term vision of enhancing the role of the wider Heads of 
the Valleys corridor as a sub-regional economic hub capable of supporting local 
communities.  The Masterplan recognises the need for development in order to support 
economic growth, but recognises that this development should be of a sustainable 
nature, both in terms of its purpose and its location; 
 
Integration – The projects identified in the Masterplan will help deliver the objectives 
set out in the Council’s regeneration strategy A Foundation for Success (as set out 
within Section 7 of this document), as well as proposals contained within the adopted 
LDP.  They will also deliver against the Council’s own well-being objectives by 
identifying projects that will lead to job creation and training opportunities, promote 
more healthy and active lifestyles and reduce the carbon footprint through improved 
Active Travel routes and facilities locally; 

 
Prevention – The Masterplan recognises that there are a number of challenges within 
the Heads of the Valleys Regeneration Area that need to be addressed, in order to 
realise the vision.  The proposals identified will respond to these key concerns and will 
raise the profile of the area, developing the economy within the context of the A465 
corridor, increasing and improving the tourism offer and enhancing town centres – all 
from the basis of improved connectivity, infrastructural investment and an 
advantageous strategic location in regional terms – thereby improving quality of life for 
those visiting, living and working in the Masterplan area. 

Page 31



 
9. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1  An equality impact assessment was undertaken as part of the process of formulating 

the Masterplan, which has been updated following the public consultation.  It is not 
considered that there are any potential equalities implications for those groups 
identified under Section 6 of the Council’s Strategic Equality Plan. 

 
9.2 The EqIA is included as Appendix 3 to this report.  No representations were received 

in relation to equalities impacts during the consultation. 
 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 Funding sources (where known) for specific projects are identified in Section 7 of the 

Masterplan.  Decisions on the funding and delivery of specific projects will be made by 
Cabinet, on the basis of the Council’s Corporate Priorities and recommendations of 
the Regeneration Project Board. 

 
11. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 There are no personnel implications.  
 
12. CONSULTATIONS 
 
12.1 The consultees listed below have been consulted on the report and their views have 

been incorporated accordingly. 
 
13. STATUTORY POWER  
 
13.1 Local Government Act 2000  
  
Author:        Ian Mullis, Planning Officer  
 
Consultees: Cllr. Sean Morgan, Cabinet Member for Regeneration, Transport and 

Sustainability 
Cllr. Eluned Stenner, Cabinet Member for Finance, Performance and 
Planning 
Cllr. John Ridgewell, Chair, Housing & Regeneration Scrutiny Committee 
Cllr. Christine Forehead, Vice Chair, Housing & Regeneration Scrutiny 
Committee 
Cllr. Alan Higgs, Aberbargoed 
Cllr. Alan Collis, Aberbargoed 
Cllr. Walter Williams, Argoed 
Cllr. Carol Andrews, Bargoed 
Cllr. Tudor Davies, Bargoed 
Cllr. Diane Price, Bargoed 
Cllr. David Hardacre, Darren Valley 
Cllr. Lindsey Harding, Gilfach 
Cllr. David Harse, Moriah 
Cllr. John Bevan, Moriah 
Cllr. Mark Evans, New Tredegar 
Cllr. Gaynor Oliver, Pontlottyn 
Cllr. Carl Cuss, Twyn Carno 
 
 

Page 32



Christina Harrhy, Chief Executive 
 Mark S Williams, Interim Corporate Director, Communities 

Steve Harris, Interim Head of Business Improvement Services & Acting 
S.151 Officer 

 Robert Tranter, Head of Legal Services & Monitoring Officer 
 Lynne Donovan, Head of People Services 
 Rhian Kyte, Head of Regeneration & Planning 
 Marcus Lloyd, Head of Infrastructure 
 Mark Williams, Interim Head of Property Services 
 Robert Hartshorn, Head of Public Protection, Community & Leisure 

Services 
 Keri Cole, Chief Education Officer 
 Mike Headington, Green Spaces and Transport Services Manager 
 Jeff Reynolds, Sport & Leisure Facilities Manager 
 Shaun Couzens, Chief Housing Officer 

Sue Richards, Head of Education Planning & Strategy 
Ryan Thomas, Planning Services Manager 
Allan Dallimore, Regeneration Services Manager 
Phil Griffiths, Green Space Strategy and Cemeteries Manager 
Clive Campbell, Transportation Engineering Manager 
Claire Davies, Private Sector Housing Manager 
Jared Lougher, Sport and Leisure Development Manager 

 
 
 
Appendices 
Appendix 1 Report of Consultation 
Appendix 2 Amended Heads of the Valleys Masterplan 
Appendix 3 Equality Impact Assessment 

Page 33



Gadewir y dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol

Page 34



1 
 

APPENDIX 1 

Draft Heads of the Valleys Regeneration Area Masterplan 

 

Report of Public Consultation 

 

Introduction 

 

This report has been prepared following public consultation on the Draft Heads of the 

Valleys Masterplan (Masterplan) held in early 2020.  It summarises the key issues that were 

raised as part of the consultation, together with the officer response to the issues raised and 

any proposed changes to the Masterplan. 

 

Public Consultation 

 

The Masterplan was published for consultation on 17 February 2020, for a period of six 

weeks.  Comments were invited on the document, which were required to be submitted to 

the Council by no later than Monday 30 March, the closing date. 

 

Consultation emails were sent to all elected members, community councils within the 

Masterplan area, AMs and MPs. 

 

Posters advertising the dates of the consultation, dates and times of consultation events and 

the locations of the associated documentation were displayed in libraries across the County 

Borough.  The consultation was also advertised on the Council’s website and social media 

channels. 

 

Consultation material was also placed in all libraries across the County Borough, and staffed 

consultation events were held in Bargoed Library (Saturday 29 February and Tuesday 3 

March) and Rhymney Library (Wednesday 4 and Thursday 5 March) to allow members of 

the public to discuss the Draft Masterplan with officers. 

 

A total of ten responses were received.  One was submitted using the paper representation 

form, one was sent via email (using the structure of the form as a basis for their response) 

and the remainder used the online representation form on the website.  Respondents were 

asked to provide a postcode in order to determine the broad geographical area of 

responses.  The analysis of this information indicated that seven respondents live in the 

Masterplan area, two live outside and one respondent declined to provide this information. 

 

Respondents completing the online survey, together with those who filled out a paper 

representation form, were asked for their views on the Vision, Strategic Objectives and 

Development Strategy of the Masterplan.  Respondents were also able to comment on site-

specific proposals and identify any additional proposals that they considered should be 

included within the Masterplan. 

 

The report sets out the responses in relation to the questions asked on the Vision, Strategic 

Objectives and Development Strategy.  Representations made in respect of site-specific 

proposals are included under the relevant Strategic Objective.  Only those that have been 

the subject of representations (either of support, comment or objection) have been included 

within the report. 

 

 

Page 35



2 
 

 

Equalities Impact Assessment 

 

In line with the Council’s Equalities Monitoring procedures, respondents were asked (Q11) 

whether any of their answers to questions in the survey were impacted by any of the 

following: age; disability; ethnic origin; gender or gender reassignment; marital status; 

religious belief or non-belief; use of Welsh language, BSL or other languages; nationality; or 

responsibility for any dependents. 

 

One response was received under Q11 concerning the regeneration of historic buildings and 

using the regeneration of Tredegar town centre as an exemplar.  However, the relationship 

between this and any of the protected characteristics listed was not stated.  It is therefore 

believed that this part of the form was completed erroneously, and that this response does 

not concern equalities implications.  This response will instead be considered under Q7 (Do 

you have additional comments?). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 36



3 
 

 

Page 37



4 
 

Q2 Is the Vision for the Heads of the Valleys Regeneration Area fit for purpose? 

 
The Masterplan sets out the following Vision: 

 

“The Heads of the Valleys will capitalise upon the major public investment in the A465 and its strategic location along this corridor, 

complementing and strengthening employment opportunities and creating an exciting, vibrant place where businesses will want to locate and 

where people will choose to live and work. 

 

It will strengthen and diversify communities by improving connectivity, supporting the role of the foundational economy and developing its role 

as a visitor and tourism destination by utilising its distinctive industrial heritage and natural attractions and spaces. 

 

It will enable the provision of, and promote accessibility to, those commercial, leisure and community services that will equip people to lead 

more healthy and prosperous lives.” 

 

Respondents completing the paper and online survey were asked whether they considered that the Vision was fit for purpose.  The following 

representations were made: 

 

Issues Raised Officer Response Recommendation 

Support for the Vision.  It is based upon an 
understanding of local need and wellbeing, 
demand and supply factors and economic 
and market conditions 

Support is noted No amendment recommended 

General agreement that the Vision is fit for 
purpose, but no mention of Heolddu 
Comprehensive School or the adjacent 
Leisure Centre 

This relates to a site-specific proposal and 
should be considered as a response to Q6 

No amendment recommended 

Prevention of parking in Bargoed town 
centre, charging for parking in War Memorial 
Car Park, no provision of a bus bay outside 
the former Spar are causing problems.  New 
bus station is too big and badly sited.  
Council should buy empty shops and offer 
‘peppercorn’ rents for the first year 

These relate to site-specific proposals and 
should be considered as a response to Q6 

No amendment recommended 

P
age 38



5 
 

Does not focus enough on education in 
Bargoed 

The role and importance of education 
throughout the Masterplan area is implicitly 
recognised in the Vision (enable provision of, 
and promote accessibility to, community 
services) 

No amendment recommended 

Decent transport links are necessary for HoV 
residents to travel to work.  Ignores the state 
of the road between Blackwood and 
Tredegar (A4048) 

Connectivity and transport links are central to 
the Vision and are referred to.  The A4048 is 
a site-specific proposal and should be 
considered as a response to Q6 

No amendment recommended 

New Tredegar is in need of regeneration.  
Provision of a lake would generate electricity 
and allow for leisure activities such as fishing 
and boating, also creating employment in 
associated areas 

This relates to a site-specific proposal and 
should be considered as a response to Q6 

No amendment recommended 

 

Representations submitted under Q2 concerning specific projects not explicitly referred to in the Masterplan are treated as new site-specific 

proposals and considered as responses to Q6 (Are there any additional proposals that should be considered?). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 39



6 
 

Q3 Do you agree or disagree with the Strategic Objectives? 
 

The following representations were made: 

 

Issues Raised Officer Response Recommendation 

Strategic Objective C (Expanding the area’s 
sphere of influence and improving 
connectivity) will enable more people to 
benefit from the redevelopment of Capital 
Valley, bringing direct economic benefits 
through improved public transport access, 
enabling more jobs to be created 

Support noted No amendment recommended 

General agreement with the Strategic 
Objectives, but no mention of Heolddu 
Comprehensive School or the adjacent 
Leisure Centre 

Education and leisure are explicitly referred 
to in Objectives B (Improving social and 
economic resilience through education, 
training and careers advice) and H (Providing 
a suitable level of community, leisure and 
education facilities).  However, as the 
response mentions, the CCBC Sport and 
Active Recreation Strategy is seeking to 
retain a leisure centre within the area, and it 
may be helpful for Objective H to mention 
national and local initiatives which have a 
crucial role in delivery of such facilities 
 
This relates to a site-specific proposal and 
should be considered as a response to Q6 

Amend Objective H to read “Providing a 
suitable level of community, leisure and 
education facilities, aligning with national and 
local initiatives including 21st Century 
Schools and the CCBC Sport and Active 
Recreation Strategy where applicable, and 
establishing Integrated Well-Being Networks 
in order to connect communities’ strengths 
and assets” 

Broad agreement with the Strategic 
Objectives, though Objective A 
(Complementing, and integrating with, 
nearby initiatives such as the Ebbw Vale 
Enterprise Zone in order to develop a 
strategic employment function for Rhymney) 
could be more ambitious by designating the 

It is agreed that the approaches taken by 
local authorities in respect of the Heads of 
the Valleys need to complement each other 
and have regard to the context set by WG, 
City Deal and the Valleys Taskforce, as well 
as existing initiatives e.g. Tech Valleys.   
 

No amendment recommended 
 
Tech Valleys is to be piloted in the north of 
the County Borough – opportunities are to be 
explored with Welsh Government 

P
age 40



7 
 

entire Heads of the Valleys as a ‘business 
development zone’, in cooperation with WG 
and other local authorities 

It is understood that Tech Valleys is to be 
piloted across the north of the County 
Borough, and the Council will work with 
Welsh Government to identify opportunities 
for its implementation. 
 
Objective A seeks to increase the spread of 
economic growth by optimising its proximity 
to the Ebbw Vale EZ, thereby expanding the 
benefit of local programmes such as this.  
However, whilst an overarching context is 
important for the whole HoV, especially with 
regard to programmes such as Metro and 
elements such as the A465 which are 
universally applicable, it should be accepted 
that there are differences in terms of local 
economic specialism, the position of 
particular markets based on geographical 
orientation and the proximity of particular 
neighbours.  Therefore, it is important that 
solutions are employed which are best able 
to utilise local strengths and characteristics, 
whilst ensuring that this is done in a 
coordinated fashion and that economic 
growth accrues which offers comprehensive 
and sustainable benefit to the HoV as a 
whole. 

If implemented, a lake in New Tredegar 
would make a good eco project and improve 
the area as a place in which to live and to 
visit 

This relates to a site-specific proposal and 
should be considered as a response to Q6 

No amendment recommended 

 

As with Q2, representations submitted under Q3 concerning specific projects not explicitly referred to in the Masterplan are treated as new site-

specific proposals and considered as responses to Q6 (Are there any additional proposals that should be considered?). 

 

P
age 41



8 
 

Q4 Do you agree with the Development Strategy? 
 

The following representations were made: 

 

Issues Raised Officer Response Recommendation 

Capital Valley is located in a sustainable 
location for further employment development 
having regard to the Metro and the A465 
which will increase connectivity.  Further 
development of this site for employment 
development complies with the Key Planning 
Principles and Section 5 of Planning Policy 
Wales (PPW) 

Adherence to national planning policy is 
noted 

No amendment recommended 

No mention of Heolddu Comprehensive 
School or the adjacent Leisure Centre 

The Draft Masterplan, including the 
Development Strategy, seeks to reflect the 
position taken by other, complementary 
initiatives where applicable.  The Leisure and 
Tourism section of the Development Strategy 
focuses on those elements considered 
integral to the establishment and operation of 
the Valleys Regional Park.  However, 
amending Objective H, as noted previously, 
would be helpful in terms of acknowledging 
the role of complementary strategies in the 
delivery of such facilities 

No amendment recommended to the 
Development Strategy, but amendment 
recommended regarding the wording of 
Objective H (see previous table) 

Broad agreement with the Development 
Strategy, but would like to see a greater 
commitment to aligning housing delivery 
across the HoV with sustainable job creation 
and improved transport links, in cooperation 
with neighbouring local authorities.  The SDP 
should provide a framework for this 

It is agreed that housing delivery should be 
aligned to job creation and improvements to 
infrastructure, and that local authorities 
should cooperate in delivery of this.  Indeed, 
this is enshrined in national planning policy 
through PPW, and the newly published 
Development Plans Manual adds further 
detail in terms of how development plans 
(including SDPs) are to address some of 

No amendment recommended 

P
age 42



9 
 

these issues, particularly housing and 
employment. 
 
How this approach is to be applied in a site-
specific way going forward will be a matter 
for the emerging LDP, and the Masterplan 
cannot create new policy or put forward 
proposals that run counter to policies or 
proposals contained within the adopted LDP.  
The Delivery Strategy mentions the 
importance of the SME sector towards 
housing delivery in the area and it is 
anticipated that the document will act as a 
lever for bringing in additional investment that 
can help realise the delivery of housing in 
sustainable locations 

No imagination has been given to 
environmental issues, outdoor leisure 
activities and general wellbeing 

The Development Strategy seeks to address 
these areas through sustainably located job 
creation allied to infrastructural improvement, 
an emphasis on education, training and 
upskilling, and – in relation to the 
environment, leisure and wellbeing – 
developing the Valleys Regional Park 
concept, supporting proposals for renewable 
energy generation and associated 
community benefit and the establishment of 
Integrated Well-Being Networks alongside 
the provision of community, leisure and 
education facilities 

No amendment recommended 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 43



10 
 

Q5 Do you have any comments to make on specific proposals? 
 

A Complementing, and integrating with, nearby initiatives such as the Ebbw Vale Enterprise Zone (EZ) in order to develop a 

strategic employment function for Rhymney, establishing it as a gateway to the Valleys 

 

Issues Raised Officer Response Recommendation 

A-1 Redevelopment of Capital Valley is 
supported.  The Masterplan should support a 
range of wider uses than those identified, in 
order to maximise flexibility, its economic 
prospects and the close proximity of the 
station.  The site is key to the regional 
economy. 
 
Much of the site is within a C2 flood risk area 
and PPW states that local authorities should 
take a “de-risking” approach to unlocking the 
development potential of such sites.  The 
Council should therefore work with the site 
owner to develop its potential, and engage in 
dialogue in respect of potential funding that 
may be forthcoming. 

Support is noted. 
 
It is agreed that Capital Valley is a key site 
within a regional economic context, and the 
Masterplan notes its infrastructural attributes 
in terms of its strategic position close to the 
A465 and Rhymney Station, as well as the 
existence of a railhead. 
 
The response mentions the site in terms of 
its status as a secondary employment site 
within the LDP, which permits B1/B2/B8 
development.  It is envisaged that any 
redevelopment would focus on increasing the 
presence of one or more of these uses, 
thereby giving it significant flexibility within its 
continued role as an employment site.  The 
uses cited in the response, and mentioned in 
the document (manufacturing [potentially 
advanced manufacturing in relation to 
automotive], processing, energy and 
institutional) are provided as examples of 
how the site’s role may develop within the 
context of the EVEZ/Tech Valleys, which 
must be taken into account as a significant, 
local influence and are intended to be neither 
exhaustive nor restrictive.  Whilst the position 
taken by PPW is noted in respect of C2 land, 

Addition of new bullet point under 
‘Development Principles’ to read “Potential 
mixed-use development including housing or 
commercial uses” 
 
Amend fourth bullet point under 
‘Development Principles’ to read “Optimise 
the site’s strategically advantageous position 
through a range of economic uses, including 
potentially targeting complementary uses to 
those forming the basis of the existing 
EZ/Tech Valleys” 
 
Continue to engage with site owner and WG 
regarding redevelopment options, site 
constraints and funding opportunities 

P
age 44



11 
 

opportunities for other commercial uses, 
housing or mixed-use schemes should be 
considered.   
 
The Council welcomes the opportunity to 
continue to engage and work with the site 
owner with respect to bringing a positive 
redevelopment of the site forward, and to 
utilise this approach as a means of taking 
advantage of funding sources through City 
Deal which can help realise this. 

A-3 Heads of the Valleys Industrial Estate.  
The whole of the north of the County 
Borough, including Bargoed and Gilfach, 
should be incorporated within the Tech 
Valleys initiative.  This would need to involve 
WG, adjoining local authorities, Valleys 
Taskforce, employers and H/FE 

It is agreed that a coordinated approach is 
required to achieve social and economic 
benefit across the whole of the HoV, and 
whilst the majority of the wider HoV is outside 
the scope of this document, it does seek to 
help facilitate economic development where 
it can through an adherence to regional and 
sub-regional approaches that apply, notably 
Metro, City Deal, Valleys Taskforce and the 
Ebbw Vale EZ.  Rhymney is immediately 
adjacent to the EZ, has a large supply of 
existing, operational (though, in some 
instances, high vacancy) employment land 
and therefore there is an obvious synergy in 
taking these areas forward under a common 
approach, especially where sites are in need 
of redevelopment. 
 
The Council is presently exploring 
opportunities to expand the Tech Valleys 
initiative into the north of the County Borough 
in partnership with Welsh Government.  
Tying in certain components of this approach 
(public sector intervention potentially 

Tech Valleys is to be piloted in the north of 
the County Borough – opportunities are to be 
explored with Welsh Government 

P
age 45



12 
 

including business support and financial 
incentive) to activities that the VTF and 
others are engaged with across the whole 
sub-region, such as training and education, 
can assist in building up particular attributes 
that will, with the addition of locally specific 
economic interventions in specific locations, 
have social and economic benefit for the 
wider area, particularly as EZ-based 
operations become self-sustaining and reach 
a ‘critical mass’ from which certain sectors 
can further develop. 
 
Central to this is the role and function of 
settlements within the Heads of the Valleys 
going forward, which will be work undertaken 
as part of the review of the LDP (and, 
regionally, by the SDP).  Allied to this will be 
the need to align housing and employment 
with each other and with infrastructure, and 
to consider how this process allows for an 
equitable and sustainable distribution of 
economic growth across the north of the 
County Borough. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 46



13 
 

C Expanding the area’s sphere of influence and improve connectivity 

 

Issues Raised Officer Response Recommendation 

C-2 Other Stations (Bargoed, Pontlottyn, 
Brithdir, Tirphil).  Improvements should be 
made to Gilfach Fargoed Station.  If more 
trains stopped here, it would be better used.  
Additionally, it provides a gateway (without 
using a car) to Parc Coetir Bargoed 

Proposals within the Masterplan concerning 
station improvements are ‘led’ by the 
priorities of Transport for Wales and actions 
that have been identified under the Metro 
programme.  Gilfach Fargoed Station has 
not, as yet, been identified by TfW in this 
category and, therefore, it would not be 
prudent to include it 

No amendment recommended 

 

H Providing a suitable level of community, leisure and education facilities, and establish Integrated Well-Being Networks in 

order to connect communities’ strengths and assets 

 

Issues Raised Officer Response Recommendation 

H – Providing a suitable level of community, 
leisure and education facilities, and establish 
Integrated Well-Being Networks in order to 
connect communities’ strengths and assets.  
Heolddu Comprehensive School and the 
Leisure Centre should be included here, as 
both are important to residents of Bargoed 
and the surrounding area 

Proposals within the Masterplan concerning 
education reflect the Council’s proposals 
outlined to date under Band B of the 21st 
Century Schools programme, which 
represents the key mechanism for delivering 
investment in schools 
 
The CCBC Sport and Active Recreation 
Strategy is seeking to retain a leisure centre 
within the area, and it may be helpful for 
Objective H to mention national and local 
initiatives which have a crucial role in delivery 
of such facilities.  However, Heolddu Leisure 
Centre is an existing facility, rather than a 
Masterplan proposal 

No amendment recommended, but 
amendment recommended regarding the 
wording of Objective H (Q3) 

 

 

 

P
age 47



14 
 

Q6 Are there any additional proposals that should be included within the Masterplan? 
 

Issues Raised Officer Response Recommendation 

Prevention of parking in Bargoed town 
centre, charging for parking in War Memorial 
Car Park, no provision of a bus bay outside 
the former Spar are causing problems.  New 
bus station is too big and badly sited.  
Council should buy empty shops and offer 
‘peppercorn’ rents for the first year 

It would not be feasible for the Council to buy 
empty shops and offer them at ‘peppercorn’ 
rents.  However, it does, and will continue to, 
engage with owners of retail units in an effort 
to bring them back into beneficial, and 
commercially viable, town centre uses. 
 
It is hoped that some of the measures 
contained within the Masterplan i.e. the 
potential for redevelopment at the bottom 
end of the town centre for a more sustainable 
mix of uses, increased journey frequency via 
the Metro can help increase footfall and 
revitalise Bargoed as a commercial location.  
Town Centre Management are aware of the 
issue of limited car parking in terms of its 
impact on local businesses, and it is 
understood that this is being looked at 

No amendment recommended 

No mention of Heolddu Comprehensive 
School or the adjacent Leisure Centre 

The Draft Masterplan, including the 
Development Strategy, seeks to reflect the 
position taken by other, complementary 
initiatives where applicable.   
 
Proposals within the Masterplan concerning 
education reflect the Council’s proposals 
outlined to date under Band B of the 21st 
Century Schools programme, which 
represents the key mechanism for delivering 
investment in schools and, as the response 
mentions, the CCBC Sport and Active 
Recreation Strategy is seeking to retain a 
leisure centre within the area.  Consequently, 

No amendment recommended, but 
amendment recommended regarding the 
wording of Objective H (Q3) 

P
age 48



15 
 

it may be helpful for Objective H to mention 
national and local initiatives which have a 
crucial role in delivery of such facilities 

Ignores the state of the road between 
Blackwood and Tredegar (A4048) 

Whilst strategic connectivity and 
infrastructure issues are vital to the success 
of the Heads of the Valleys, these are 
addressed within the Masterplan, both 
conceptually and in terms of specific 
proposals.  The A4048 is an important route 
in terms of linking communities such as 
Argoed (within the Masterplan area) to those 
outside.  However, whilst issues of practical 
maintenance are important, these are more 
effectively addressed through other means 

No amendment recommended 

New Tredegar is in need of regeneration.  
Provision of a lake would generate electricity 
and allow for leisure activities such as fishing 
and boating, also creating employment in 
associated areas 

It is envisaged that development and 
implementation of the Valleys Regional Park 
(VRP) will have a positive impact across the 
whole Masterplan area and beyond in terms 
of increasing and broadening the scope of 
individual leisure attractions, particularly 
those that exist within the natural 
environment, thereby having a widespread 
benefit in terms of sustainability and well-
being through the creation of a legible, sub-
regional network 
 
It is not clear whether any work has been 
undertaken by the respondent in terms of 
feasibility for the proposed lake or the 
difficulties it would present to surrounding 
properties.  The plan submitted would appear 
to involve the loss of the access from White 
Rose Way to New Tredegar Business Park, 
and possibly the units themselves, and this is 
not something which could be entertained 

No amendment recommended 

P
age 49



16 
 

Q7 Do you have additional comments? 
 

Issues Raised Officer Response Recommendation 

An introduction should be included to 
emphasise that the document concerns the 
Darren and Upper Rhymney Valleys 

The area to which the document refers is the 
Heads of the Valleys Regeneration Area, 
which covers a wider area than the Darren 
and Upper Rhymney Valleys and whose 
boundaries are delineated by the adopted 
LDP.  Due to the intention that the document 
be approved as supplementary planning 
guidance for this area, it would be 
inconsistent to depart from this 
 
The first paragraph of Section 2 (The Study 
Area) sets out the extent of the area, 
although it is accepted that it does not 
presently refer to the Darren Valley, 
alongside the Upper Rhymney and Sirhowy 
Valleys 

Amend first paragraph of Section 2 to read 
“The Heads of the Valleys Regeneration 
Area is located in the northern part of 
Caerphilly County Borough, and comprises 
the Darren, Upper Rhymney and Upper 
Sirhowy Valleys, including the principal town 
of Bargoed and the local centre of 
Rhymney.  It incorporates the wards of Twyn 
Carno, Moriah, Pontlottyn, Darren Valley, 
New Tredegar, Aberbargoed, Bargoed, 
Gilfach and Argoed” 

A diagram should be included setting out the 
extent of the area concerned, indicating each 
settlement therein 

A map of the study area in its entirety is 
presently set out on page 12 of the 
document, on which each settlement is 
clearly labelled, as well as transport links and 
ward boundaries.  It is proposed that this 
map be moved to the start of Section 2 in 
order to sit alongside the above description 
and more clearly assist readers’ 
understanding of the area to which the 
document relates 

Move map on page 12 to page 5 

Markham Colliery, Aberbargoed Plateau, 
Bedwellty School and the Bargoed 21st 
Century Schools proposals are not in the 
Upper Rhymney Valley and should not be 
included 

These sites all fall within the Heads of the 
Valleys Regeneration Area, therefore their 
inclusion within the document is appropriate 

No amendment recommended 

P
age 50



17 
 

No mention is made of a potential new road 
between New Tredegar and Abertysswg, due 
to issues of instability concerning the A469 

The document recognises the importance of 
increased accessibility in the Upper 
Rhymney Valley and explicitly mentions the 
aspiration for a new route between New 
Tredegar and Rhymney (proposal C-4, A469 
Resilience Route, p.34).  No specific route is 
identified in the document, as the feasibility 
work undertaken to date has only made a 
preliminary assessment of potential options 

No amendment recommended 

The Council should look at the regeneration 
of Tredegar, where lots of historic buildings 
are being regenerated 

It is agreed that historic buildings, where 
work to maintain/bring them back into use is 
undertaken positively and sensitively, 
continue to play a valuable role in the 
settlements in which they are located 
 
Where there are opportunities for 
regenerating historic buildings, the Council 
will continue to work with land owners, Cadw 
and others in terms of bringing forward 
schemes that retain a practical purpose, 
maintain the character of the building in 
heritage terms and enhance local 
distinctiveness, legibility and sense of place 

Amend Objective E to read “Maximising the 
impact of the Valleys Regional Park, 
protecting and enhancing important green 
spaces and built heritage and promoting 
tourism” 

 

P
age 51



G
adew

ir y dudalen hon yn w
ag yn fw

riadol

P
age 52



Section 1: Introduction 

 

This Masterplan sets out the future development and regeneration opportunities proposed for the Heads of the Valleys.  It seeks to facilitate significant 

change in order to enhance the role of communities, enabling them to diversify, allowing industries to rise and demographics to alter for the better. 

 

There is an exciting opportunity to facilitate significant change through the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal (CCRCD), which will provide resources to unlock 

significant economic growth in the region, delivering jobs and private sector investment.  Whilst CCRCD seeks to relieve pressure on Cardiff as its regional 

city it also seeks to promote growth in smaller towns and industrial communities in order to rebalance social justice and prosperity.  This Masterplan seeks 

to provide a direction of travel to ensure a transition towards economic and social success. 

 

The City Deal Investment Fund will also facilitate the delivery of the South East Wales Metro, which will make substantial improvements to connectivity by 

public transport across the region.  This investment will improve frequency of services to Rhymney Station from Cardiff, improving north–south connectivity 

and the Masterplan sets out how this opportunity can be maximised. 

 

The Valleys Taskforce also sets out an ambitious programme for change, identifying actions and programmes designed to make a positive change to the 

South Wales Valleys through the ‘Our Valleys Our Future’ Delivery Plan.  Whilst the Delivery Plan sets out a number of actions, most pertinent to this 

Masterplan is the focus on making more land available in order to maximise economic development opportunities, harnessing the potential of the local 

foundational economy, taking advantage of improved connectivity and the role of the Valleys Regional Park. 

 

The role of this Masterplan is therefore to provide a comprehensive framework for the future of the Heads of the Valleys Regeneration Area.  This 

Masterplan is flexible and has the ability to adapt to changing economic and market conditions and meet the requirements and aspirations of both the 

private and public sector over this period through regular review.  It is recognised that there are some projects that can be delivered within the short to 

medium term.  However, in order to deliver long term regeneration goals, there is an aspiration to redevelop a number of key sites within the Masterplan 

area. 

 

The Masterplan has been prepared within the context of the adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan (LDP), which sets out the 

Council’s land use objectives for the County Borough in the period up to 2021, but it also sets out longer term goals to ensure that the momentum of 

change also extends well into the next decade. 

 

Appendix 2

P
age 53



Many of the projects identified in the Masterplan are aligned to proposals contained within the adopted LDP.  The adopted LDP plan period ends in 2021 

and the plan will need to be reviewed to provide the policy framework to control development for the period beyond 2021.  Furthermore, relevant 

proposals may also be included within a Strategic Development Plan for the Cardiff Capital Region.  The Masterplan will therefore need to be reviewed to 

take into account the relevant policies and proposals contained within the different tiers of development plans as they emerge. 

 

The Masterplan has been prepared in the context of the overarching regeneration strategy for the County Borough, “A Foundation for Success” as well as 

the economic development strategy “Delivering Prosperity”.  “A Foundation for Success” sets out four key themes that need to be addressed: 

 

 Supporting Business 

 Connecting People and Places 

 Supporting People; and 

 Supporting Quality of Life. 

 

The Heads of the Valleys Masterplan is the third area-specific strategy, in a series of five, which will identify projects that will help address key issues and 

objectives set out within the wider Regeneration Strategy.  It forms part of the implementation plan for ‘A Foundation for Success’ and the Economic 

Development Strategy ‘Delivering Prosperity’ which will be reviewed every 5 years.  The Masterplan identifies investment and development opportunities 

within the Heads of the Valleys Area. 

 

In order to capture regeneration opportunities throughout the County Borough, two further Masterplans will be produced for Greater Blackwood and the 

Newbridge to Risca Corridor. 

 

Section 2: The Study Area 

 

The Heads of the Valleys Regeneration Area is located in the northern part of Caerphilly County Borough, and comprises the Darren, Upper Rhymney and 

Upper Sirhowy Valleys, including the Principal Town of Bargoed, and the Local Centre of Rhymney, and the Upper Rhymney and Sirhowy Valleys.  It 

incorporates the wards of Twyn Carno, Moriah, Pontlottyn, Darren Valley, New Tredegar, Aberbargoed, Bargoed, Gilfach and Argoed. 

 

 

 

P
age 54



Study Area 

 

 

P
age 55



 

This area suffers from significant challenges, as underlined by the Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation (WIMD) 2019.  Of the 20 lower super output areas 

(LSOAs) that constitute the nine wards, six of them are within the 10% most deprived in Wales in overall terms, with a further five in the 10-20% most 

deprived category.  In addition, all nine wards are above average in terms of economic inactivity and unemployment, and the proportion of lower-skilled, 

lower-paying jobs is higher in the Heads of the Valleys Regeneration Area than for the England and Wales average.  Relevant data is presented as an 

appendix to this document. 

 

The Heads of the Valleys Regeneration Area lies on the A465 at its northernmost point.  This is a key transport artery for the South Wales economy, 

connecting the M4 at Neath to Abergavenny and Hereford, and providing links between West Wales and the Midlands.  It is the only strategic east-west link 

that connects the Valleys communities providing access to employment, retail, leisure and other facilities.  Significant levels of public funding has been 

already been spent on improving the A465 and further investment is being provided to complete the dualling of the route. 

 

This Masterplan seeks to put into context the role that the Heads of the Valleys Regeneration Area plays within the wider A465 corridor and looks to 

complement, exploit and strengthen the opportunities that exist.  To the west is Merthyr, a sub-regional centre, major retail destination and service centre 

and home to Welsh Government offices and major tourism attractions such as Bike Park Wales.  Immediately to the east is Blaenau Gwent, home to the 

Ebbw Vale Enterprise Zone (EZ) which is utilising publicly available finance to develop its automotive sector through the Tech Valleys initiative. 

 

Whilst the study area of the Masterplan only relates to that part of the Heads of the Valleys within Caerphilly County Borough’s administrative boundary, it 

has regard to the wider A465 corridor and identifies development and investment opportunities that will strengthen the Borough’s position within this 

context. 

 

Section 3: The Context 

 

In providing the context to the Masterplan it is important to understand the strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and threats that currently exist within the 

Heads of the Valleys. 

 

Strengths 

 

 Excellent connectivity by road via the A465 Heads of the Valleys Road to the West Midlands, West Wales and Ireland; 

P
age 56



 Located within a dramatic natural and semi natural environment; 

 Improved public transport infrastructure in recent years including the provision of the new park & ride facilities and a new bus/rail interchange at 

Bargoed, Rhymney park and ride and frequency enhancements; 

 Significant life-science companies are located in the HOVRA including Richards and Appleby, Williams Medical and Convatec; 

 Provision of a new 3-18 teaching facility in Rhymney (Idris Davies School); 

 A number of Welsh medium schools are located in the area, helping to promote and grow the Welsh language; 

 The Integrated Health and Social Care Resource Centre for the north is  located in Rhymney together with Hafod Deg Resource Centre, both of 

which provide vital cross cutting services to residents in the area; 

 The existence of key community hubs e.g. local libraries, community centres, GP surgeries; 

 The area contains two country parks within its boundary: Parc Coetir Bargod and Parc Cwm Darran; with Parc Bryn Bach straddling the boundary 

with Blaenau Gwent, providing excellent recreation, leisure and lifelong learning opportunities; 

 A leisure centre at New Tredegar providing significant leisure opportunities; 

 New house building is ongoing helping to diversify the housing stock in this area, e.g. the former Bedwellty School Site; 

 Significant investment has been targeted at the council house stock throughout the area, improving the condition and quality of the stock and its 
energy efficiency; 

 The Cadw-designated Historic Landscape of Gelligaer and Merthyr Common is located within the area, providing a significant cultural and historical 
resource for the County Borough; 

 A number of heritage sites are based in the area e.g. Butetown and the Elliott Colliery Winding House; 

 The Greater Bargoed Regeneration Scheme has improved the southern end of Bargoed town centre; 

 A positive attitude towards community cohesion. 

 

Challenges 

 

 The Masterplan area and the Upper Rhymney Valley in particular has the highest concentration of deprivation within the County Borough;  

 The Twyn Carno 1 LSOA is currently ranked as the 8th most deprived LSOA in Wales (WIMD, 2019); 

 The area has high levels of economic inactivity, unemployment and long-term illness; 

 The area has low levels of attainment with regard to education and formal qualifications; 

 The general topography of the area, consisting of valleys and steep hillsides, hinders accessibility and has contributed to the problem of poor 
transport links and general physical isolation; 

P
age 57



 Bus transport in the area is infrequent and unreliable as a means of accessing employment opportunities; 

 Bargoed town centre has the  highest  vacancy rate of all of the principal town centres;  

 There is low diversity in the range of housing in the area; 

 Many of the communities in the area are isolated and there is limited provision of facilities and services. 
 
Opportunities 

 

 The City Deal for the region will provide an unprecedented level of funding for projects with the aim of promoting economic growth and job 

creation throughout the region, including addressing skills gaps and shortages; 

 The decision by the First Minister not to progress with the M4 Relief Road has a potentially positive impact on the perception of the A465 as a 

strategically important and unencumbered transport route; 

 Potential for the integration of the Rhymney employment land with the Ebbw Vale Enterprise Zone, in order to create a Heads of the Valleys 

Enterprise Zone focussed on complementary and beneficial economic development along the A465; 

 The natural and semi-natural environment in the area provides excellent recreational opportunities; 

 The potential to enhance the benefits of its location adjacent to the Brecon Beacons National Park; 

 The Upper Rhymney Valley offers significant potential in terms of renewable energy production; 

 The area is the subject of major infrastructure improvements, including the dualling of the A465, Metro improvements and the Dwr Cymru Welsh 

Water Rhymney to Bargoed works, all of which have the ability to provide training and apprenticeship schemes for the area as well as facilitating 

employment growth – the Dwr Cymru Welsh Water scheme also offers investment in community projects as part of scheduled works; 

 The delivery of new industrial units at The Lawns will provide modern, affordable units for business start-ups and expansions; 

 A significant level of employment land is available; although investment is needed to bring some of it back into beneficial use; 

 The development of Angel Way and Lowry Plaza provides an excellent opportunity to act as a catalyst to regenerate and diversify Bargoed town 
centre; 

 Capitalising on the improvements to the rail line and the increases in the frequency of services post 2023; 

 Provision of a bus interchange on the A465 to improve east-west links by public transport, and to connect to the A469; 

 Target training opportunities at Rhymney, New Tredegar and Bargoed and throughout the area, looking at the potential of delivering community 
transport through the RDP and Transport for Wales; 

 Pilot improved use of digital technology for promoting green infrastructure and facilities and integrated digital technology training with employers 

and young people;  

P
age 58



 Expansion of the area’s leisure and tourism offer through the Valleys Regional Park would beneficial both the local economy and people’s quality of 

life; 

 Maximise the potential for heritage to be used as a tool for increasing tourism in the area; 

 Potential to establish the Masterplan area as a visitor destination through increased tourist accommodation provision given its proximity to the 

National Park and other leisure and tourism facilities; 

 The natural and semi-natural environment, including the country parks and the Historic Landscape of Gelligaer Common, provides excellent 
opportunities for local communities and visitors alike, including recreation, improved health and wellbeing and lifelong learning; 

 Sections of cycle routes have already been implemented and there are further opportunities to create a network of routes and paths integrated 
into a wider regional network; 

 RDP funding is available which could be used to facilitate a number of developments in the area. 
 

Threats 

 

 Merthyr and Ebbw Vale are identified as strategic hubs in the VTF Delivery Plan.  The northern part of the Masterplan area therefore needs to 

ensure that it is able to develop its complementary employment role; 

 No VTF ‘hubs’ are identified within the Masterplan area; 

 The current vogue for experiential shopping and the growth in online retail are challenging for the existing town centres; 

 Population decline is a significant threat to the Heads of the Valleys, potentially leading to the loss of local services and community sustainability; 

 Socio-economic factors need to be addressed or they are likely to continue to have a significant impact on the Masterplan area; 

 Levels of car ownership are low and IT infrastructure within the area is poor;  

 Low land values and historic land conditions associated with the area’s industrial past make many sites unviable and therefore unattractive to the 
private sector; 

 Available financial resources may be insufficient to effectively address the challenges, especially as a result of the loss of EU funding; 

 Low aspirations, low educational achievement and health issues may hinder the ability of residents to access employment opportunities; 

 Negative perceptions of the area can undermine attempts at regenerating the area. 
 

Section 4: The Vision for the Heads of the Valleys Regeneration Area 

 

The Heads of the Valleys Regeneration Area comprises the towns of Bargoed, Rhymney and the Upper Rhymney and Sirhowy Valleys, and lies alongside the 

A465 at its northernmost point.  Development in this area needs to capitalise upon the major public investment in the A465, in order to help address 

P
age 59



deprivation within this area.  A Vision and a series of Strategic Objectives have been identified, based on the findings set out in Section 3 – these seek to 

address the HOVRA’s threats and weaknesses, by maximising the positive impact of its strengths and taking advantage of its opportunities. 

 

The Vision is as follows: 

 

“The Heads of the Valleys will capitalise upon the major public investment in the A465 and its strategic location along this corridor, complementing and 

strengthening employment opportunities and creating an exciting, vibrant place where businesses will want to locate and where people will choose to live 

and work. 

 

It will strengthen and diversify communities by improving connectivity, supporting the role of the foundational economy and developing its role as a visitor 

and tourism destination by utilising its distinctive industrial heritage and natural attractions and spaces. 

 

It will enable the provision of, and promote accessibility to, those commercial, leisure and community services that will equip people to lead more healthy 

and prosperous lives.” 

 

The Vision has been prepared having regard for the seven well-being goals set out within the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 

The Vision for the Masterplan will be supported by a series of Strategic Objectives outlined below that will drive its delivery and translate directly into a 

series of projects and actions that: 

 

A. Complementing, and integrate with, nearby initiatives such as the Ebbw Vale Enterprise Zone (EZ) in order to develop a strategic employment 

function for Rhymney, establishing it as a gateway to the Valleys - Identifying redevelopment proposals for Rhymney’s employment sites that link 

into Metro improvements, the role of Rhymney Station and the close proximity of the A465.  Establishing strong infrastructural and sectoral links 

with the EZ is central to this; 

B. Improving social and economic resilience through education, training and careers advice, and foster the development of the foundational 

economy within this area to ensure that economic growth accrues more equitably - Tackling deprivation and improving access to economic 

opportunities through development of skills and integration of training initiatives with business.  In terms of the foundational economy, ensuring 

that resources are more usefully spent shoring up indigenous businesses where profit and spend is more likely to remain or recirculate within the 

local economy.  Central to this is building capacity within communities and establishing networks of collaboration;  

P
age 60



C. Expanding the area’s sphere of influence and improve connectivity - Using the A465 and public transport infrastructure improvements to enable 

the population within the north of the County Borough to benefit from opportunities within the wider A465 corridor, including those that are 

presented in adjacent authorities; 

D. Reinforcing the role of Bargoed as a service centre for the north of the County Borough - Promoting its diversification for alternative uses and 

taking full advantage of its bus/rail connectivity, whilst retaining and consolidating a strong retail core; 

E. Maximising the impact of the Valleys Regional Park, protecting and enhancing important green spaces and built heritage and promoting tourism 

- Establishing a vibrant network of tourism, visitor and leisure attractions and promoting the natural heritage of the area in order to encourage the 

use of green spaces and create a vibrant and accessible visitor destination; 

F. Supporting proposals for renewable energy generation and community benefit through utility infrastructure - Encouraging the development of 

renewable energy proposals in sustainable locations, including through the operation of community co-operatives, and ensure that community 

benefit can be derived from upgrades to public utilities; 

G. Supporting the development and diversification of housing in sustainable locations to complement economic growth and resilience - Unlock 

stalled housing sites in locations less favourable to volume builders and trial initiatives for innovative housing and self builds; 

H. Providing a suitable level of community, leisure and education facilities, aligning with national and local initiatives including 21st Century 

Schools and the CCBC Sport and Active Recreation Strategy where applicable, and establishing Integrated Well-Being Networks in order to 

connect communities’ strengths and assets - Acknowledge that such facilities are important to the population and ensure that these facilities meet 

future needs.  Collaboration delivered through networks of community hubs and people who deliver services and support can build community 

relationships and have a positive impact on well-being and social capital, especially in conjunction with other community schemes; 

I. Ensuring that accessibility for all is embedded in all improvement schemes - A cross-cutting objective that recognises that people are disabled 

more by poor design, inaccessible services and other people’s attitudes than by their own impairment;  

J. Ensuring all communities within the Heads of the Valleys Regeneration Area are able to engage with, and benefit from, the Masterplan - Ensure 

that the proposals identified in the Masterplan have positive outputs for those that are living in those communities. 

 

Section 5: The Development Strategy 

 

In order to deliver the Vision and Strategic Objectives, it is important to set out the development strategy in relation to the key land uses within the 

Masterplan area, having regard for the strategy of the adopted LDP, regional aspirations and the opportunities and challenges that form the context.  The 

site specific delivery of the Masterplan is set out in Section 6. 

 

P
age 61



Employment and Skills 

 

City Deal presents a significant opportunity to revitalise the economy of the A465 corridor, providing funds to develop growth in key sectors, establish a 

network of redeveloped and reconfigured employment sites and improve linkages with the rest of the region and beyond.  Work has been undertaken to 

determine a sectoral breakdown of the HOVRA’s economy, identify those areas of sectoral strength that may exist and to establish where opportunities for 

economic growth may arise on the basis of this.  This work is presented as an appendix to this document and its findings set out in Section 6. 

 

The adopted LDP protects the following six sites within the Heads of the Valleys Regeneration Area for employment use and these should continue to be 

protected (additional land at Heads of the Valleys Industrial Estate is allocated for new development): 

 

 Heads of the Valleys, Rhymney; 

 Capital Valley, Rhymney; 

 Maerdy, Rhymney; 

 New Tredegar Business Park; 

 Bowen, Aberbargoed; 

 Angel Lane, Aberbargoed. 

 

The Masterplan seeks to take advantage of the three Rhymney sites listed above plus The Lawns Industrial Estate by identifying them as potential 

redevelopment opportunities, in order to provide new business space, to complement the role of the nearby Ebbw Vale Enterprise Zone (EZ) and maximise 

the potential offered by increased connectivity through the Metro initiative. 

 

It is envisaged that this will involve the provision of new starter units suitable for small business start-ups, and some larger units that cater for businesses 

who wish to take advantage of existing and growth sectors.  The area, along with Blaenau Gwent, does have a life sciences presence, and the automotive 

focus of the nearby EZ may present opportunities for complementary development in associated supply chains and service sectors. 

 

Alongside physical improvements to land and premises, there is a need for this process to link to the development of direct recruitment schemes being 

implemented by the Council’s Business Liaison Officer. 

 

Foundational Economy 

P
age 62



 

The foundational economy provides essential goods and services for everyday life and includes infrastructure; utilities; food processing, retailing and 

distribution; and health, education and welfare.  In Wales, it supports four out of every 10 jobs, and £1 in every £3 spent. 

 

Common interventions utilised in relation to the foundational economy include those related to public sector procurement processes, ensuring that more 

of the revenue moving through it can be harnessed and retained in the local area.  Other schemes include a pilot project in Blaenau Gwent, involving the 

collaboration of locally-active housing associations to support the development of SMEs. 

 

Welsh Government has launched a £3m Foundational Economy Challenge Fund, offering support to organisations and businesses to introduce innovative 

ways of working.  This is open to any organisation working within the foundational economy, and projects must be for its benefit. 

 

Education and Training 

 

Educational attainment and skills acquisition, along with other social and economic factors in respect of deprivation are key issues in respect of addressing 

inequalities in the Masterplan area.  Data from the Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation (WIMD) 2019 indicates that of the twenty SOAs that constitute the 

HOVRA, six are in the most 10% deprived of all Welsh SOAs in terms of education (details are set out in Appendix 5). 

 

Working in partnership with Careers Wales, Business Support Wales and business and industry, the Council will seek to increase the availability of quality 
jobs and identify opportunities to enhance access for residents to those jobs.  The availability of a workforce with the appropriate range of skills is essential, 
and the focus should be concentrated on the following areas: 
 

 Providing appropriate career support to aid people’s understanding of the type of employment available to them and help them make the right 
choices to lead them into work; 

 Ensuring that the appropriate soft skills and technical skills are provided, and engendering a culture of enterprise and entrepreneurship; 

 Addressing the mismatch between the skills needed to access jobs (digital, technical and soft) and the training provided through the educational 
curriculum and by training providers; 

 Ensuring that there are opportunities for upskilling in the current workforce, including the closing of skills ‘gaps’ in relation to potential growth 
sectors; 

 Improving links between schools, further education and local businesses; 

P
age 63



 Integration with the Community Regeneration-led Gateway to Employment model, providing key relevant training opportunities for existing 
workforces and unemployed participants. 

 

Connectivity 

 

The A465 is the key strategic east-west route between West Wales and the Midlands and the ongoing dualling programme will increase its capability in this 

regard, as well as providing a vital link with nearby centres such as Merthyr and Ebbw Vale.  The increased accessibility offered by Metro will have similar 

benefits in respect of accessibility to the south, aiding access to external markets for businesses, jobs and other facilities for residents.  Increases in journey 

frequency and the provision of earlier and later services will allow more people to travel in a manner which is conducive to labour market requirements, 

taking account of shift patterns. 

 

It will also have the potential to bring employees and visitors in, and therefore ‘gateway’ sites such as the Bargoed and Rhymney Stations and their environs 

are important, both in their own right and as a means of signposting to nearby facilities.  There is therefore the potential for land around local rail stations 

to be configured to have a positive impact on the local economy i.e. through the provision of business space and associated development, and to convey a 

positive image of the area by providing links to town centres and other facilities that exist elsewhere within the Heads of the Valleys Regeneration Area. 

 

Leisure and Tourism 

 

The Heads of the Valleys is synonymous with both a strong industrial legacy and a series of distinctive landscapes, and the combination of these is a rich 

natural and cultural heritage.  The Valleys Regional Park (VRP) initiative seeks to establish a model for the management of a network of a highly-visible, high 

quality country parks, other natural assets, heritage sites and attractions across the Valleys, linked with towns and villages and the Metro and maximising 

the opportunities for walking, cycling and riding. 

 

There are three existing country parks and one proposed country park in the HOVRA that will contribute to the VRP, namely: 

 

Parc Bryn Bach (Blaenau Gwent/Caerphilly); 

Parc Cwm Darran; 

Parc Coetir Bargod; 

Markham Colliery. 

P
age 64



 

Other important heritage assets which will contribute to the VRP include: 

 

the Winding House museum, New Tredegar; 

Bute Town Conservation Area; 

Hanbury Chapel and Library, Bargoed. 

 

Town Centres 

 

Retailing remains fundamental to the role and function of town centres.  The Masterplan area comprises the Principal Town of Bargoed, the Local Centre of 

Rhymney and the smaller settlements of New Tredegar, Aberbargoed, Markham, Argoed, Hollybush, Deri, Fochriw, Pontlottyn and Abertysswg. 

 

 Bargoed – the town centre includes one national supermarket (Morrisons), a number of smaller national stores and over 100 largely independent 

commercial units and key services; 

 Rhymney – comprises a range of local shops and services; 

 Neighbourhood retailing – in accordance with national and local planning policy, the Masterplan does not promote the provision of major retail 

development outside of designated retail areas, but the development of some retail to support local needs is a key part of promoting sustainable 

development. 

 

Both Bargoed and Rhymney town centres have vacant units, and there is potential to diversify the range of uses within both towns, whilst ensuring that 

they expand on their roles as service centres with a viable and vibrant retail and commercial basis. 

 

Housing 

 

The strategy for the adopted LDP seeks to exploit appropriate development opportunities where they exist, with a view to creating a viable future for all 

communities in the Heads of the Valleys.  It also seeks to accommodate new housing in villages where there is a need to diversify stock and in order to 

retain the existing population. 

 

P
age 65



The Heads of the Valleys has experienced less development pressure over the lifetime of the LDP due to the perceptions of volume housebuilders regarding 

profitability.  Whilst some small-scale development has taken place, many of the sites allocated for housing in the LDP remain undeveloped, despite their 

sustainable locations.  However, there is significant potential for the development of sites by SME builders and self-build plots, as well as new housing 

association sites, to provide new sustainably located housing development in order to increase the amount and quality of housing stock in this area. 

 

Community Facilities 

 

The provision and location of community facilities are of crucial importance to the sustainability of settlements and to the well-being of their populations.  

In addition to existing facilities in the HOVRA, a number of new facilities have opened, or existing ones improved, since the adoption of the LDP: 

 

 Bargoed Library and Customer First Centre (Hanbury Chapel); 

 Rhymney Integrated Health and Social Care Centre; 

 Hafod Deg Resource Centre, Rhymney; 

 Idris Davies School, Abertysswg – the first English medium school in the authority that offers a through school education for pupils between the 

ages of 3 and 18; this provision also incorporates Flying Start and wraparound childcare. 

 Rhymney Library. 

 

The rationalisation and sharing of facilities to fulfil several community purposes can provide benefits in the form of community ‘hubs’, allowing people and 

groups to use them for a variety of uses.  This can have a positive impact in terms of social capital, engendering networking opportunities, knowledge 

sharing and the development of transferable skills which are of invaluable importance in a modern social and economic context. 

 

Section 6: The Masterplan Framework 

 

This section sets out the site specific projects and proposals that will collectively deliver the Vision and Objectives.  Many of the projects are interrelated, 

and therefore implementation of some projects may be reliant on other proposals progressing sequentially or concurrently. 

 

A – Complement, and integrate with, nearby initiatives such as the Ebbw Vale Enterprise Zone (EZ) in order to develop a strategic employment function 

for Rhymney, establishing it as a gateway to the Valleys 

 

P
age 66



City Deal presents an opportunity for the A465 corridor to develop its economy in an integrated way, exploiting improvements in connectivity to bring 

about sectoral growth on the basis of existing strengths, and in a manner which is complementary to other parts of the region, through the development of 

modern business premises. 

 

Ebbw Vale Enterprise Zone comprises eight sites which are intended to deliver the objective of the Tech Valleys initiative – supporting the improvement of 

infrastructure links and development of 450,000 sq ft of new industrial/commercial floorspace, generating up to £20 million of private investment and 

potentially 1,000 permanent jobs. 

 

The five ‘key’ sites within the Enterprise Zone (EZ) are as follows: 

 

 Bryn Serth (20.2 ha); 

 Rassau Industrial Estate (7.1 ha); 

 Rhyd-y-Blew (29.2 ha) – development of a technology park at this location in lieu of the Circuit of Wales scheme, including a 50,000 sq ft advanced 

manufacturing unit; 

 The Works (6.2 ha) – development of 22,000 sq ft of B1/B2 starter units; 

 Tredegar Business Park (2.1 ha) 

 

All of these sites benefit from close proximity to the A465, allocation within the Blaenau Gwent LDP for class B uses, a simplified planning regime via a local 

development order (LDO) and financial support from Finance Wales and the Welsh Business Rates Scheme.  An opportunity exists to extend the EZ to 

incorporate employment sites in Rhymney to provide ancillary, complementary and service employment opportunities. 

 

Establishment of an A465 Innovation Chain 

 

Work undertaken by the University of South Wales for the Valleys Taskforce recommends the establishment of an ‘innovation chain’ to maximise the 

impact of the A465 dualling.  The aim of this is to provide a series of strong innovation clusters in order to boost the regional economy and attract external 

investment.  Three zones are identified, based on existing characteristics: 

 

 Zone 1 (Glynneath area, Neath Port Talbot): energy/environment cluster; 

 Zone 2 (Hirwaun-Aberdare area, Rhondda Cynon Taf): IT/digital cluster; 

P
age 67



 Zone 3 (Dowlais, Merthyr - Bute Town, Caerphilly): extension of Tech Valleys and Merthyr industrial sites. 

 

 

 

A465 Innovation Chain 

 

 
 

The main focus of Zone 3 is to provide greater connectivity between the automotive presence in Ebbw Vale and those additional facilities that exist in 

Merthyr – some industrial as well as retail and leisure.  The USW work envisages the addition of R&D facilities, support for business start-ups and 

conferencing and hospitality facilities for business and investors along this corridor.  The Masterplan seeks to build on this approach by developing the role 

of Rhymney’s existing employment sites, in order to complement the focus on automotive and advanced manufacturing within the Ebbw Vale Enterprise 

Zone. 

P
age 68



 

Rhymney is situated between Ebbw Vale and Merthyr on the A465 and, although it has no designated role as set out within the VTF delivery plan, it 
possesses a ‘critical mass’ of existing employment land and premises which is a comparative strength in the HOVRA, which illustrated that Rhymney can 
compete with neighbouring areas to attract and retain business.  The Rhymney employment cluster comprises the following sites: 
 

 Heads of the Valleys (19.5 ha) – 5.2 ha of undeveloped land remains available for development; 

 Capital Valley (14.8 ha) – 3.3 ha at the southern end is undeveloped; 

 Maerdy Industrial Estate (12.5 ha); 

 The Lawns Industrial Estate (7.3 ha) – there is planning consent to develop 15 new units on the residual land available. 
 
This cluster of industrial estates is situated either side of the A469 north-south link road, in very close proximity to the A465, offering excellent vehicular 
and freight access to Merthyr Tydfil to the west and the Ebbw Vale Enterprise Zone to the east.  Rhymney Station provides excellent rail access through the 
County Borough to Cardiff, whilst there is the capability to transport freight from the Capital Valley railhead, which is unique in the Heads of the Valleys 
area. 
 
The following map identifies the EZ sites as well as the Rhymney cluster, and the key transport routes that exist in the local vicinity: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 69



 

Ebbw Vale Enterprise Zone and Rhymney Employment Sites 

 

P
age 70



 
 

P
age 71



Given Rhymney’s proximity to the EZ and the need for mutually complementary employment growth in order to deliver economic benefits to this part of 

the A465 corridor, it is proposed that the scope of the existing Ebbw Vale EZ be expanded to create a Heads of the Valleys Enterprise Zone, complementing 

the planned growth in the automotive sector at Ebbw Vale and the retail/leisure offer at Merthyr (including the forthcoming Rhydycar West scheme).  

Collectively, these proposals will build on the benefits of the A465 dualling and the newly developed Metro hub at Rhymney Station. 

 

In terms of the sectoral analysis undertaken in respect of existing sectors operating within the area, the Rhymney area does accommodate companies 

which are active in the area of healthcare more generally, be it manufacturing or supply.  This part of the HOVRA, encompassing Rhymney and the broad 

cluster of related firms in Blaenau Gwent (including PCI Pharma at Tafarnaubach), therefore has the potential to build on this specialism, provided that a) a 

suitable workforce can be retained and expanded upon; and b) the customer base is sufficiently accessible. 

 

An enlarged Heads of the Valleys Enterprise Zone may also present opportunities for the HOVRA more generally.  Whilst the growth of the automotive 

sector has reportedly been slow, there are examples of firms operating within the sector and, should a critical mass be reached whereby the sector exhibits 

clustering characteristics in the area (technical expertise and social capital locally inherent to that particular field), opportunities for expansion will arise, 

either in the form of additional automotive or other, complementary sectors.  Whilst this process is heavily reliant on the development of technical 

expertise and skills, the Rhymney area does have sites that could accommodate such development in the form of Capital Valley (which requires 

redevelopment) and Heads of the Valleys Industrial Estate (which has undeveloped land). 

 

Work undertaken by JLL/Sutton Consulting on behalf of the Cardiff Capital Region has presented findings in terms of take-up and demand for the different 

categories of employment premises and recommendations as to how these should be addressed spatially across the region.  Those pertinent to the Heads 

of the Valleys Regeneration Area are: 

 

Traditional Small B1/B2/B8 Industrial Units 

Studies across the CCR have identified very high occupancy rates for such units.  It is recommended that the average site offered should be 1,500–2,000 sq 

ft.  Focus on provision of these units should be on those parts of the CCR outside Cardiff and Newport where new private sector development of such 

floorspace is viable.  Potential locations in Caerphilly County Borough include Caerphilly/Bedwas, mid Valleys locations (Ystrad Mynach, Blackwood) and 

Rhymney.  Further development of such premises will benefit local enterprise, including – potentially – some elements of the foundational economy. 

 

Large B2 Industrial and Manufacturing Units 

P
age 72



There has been a steady take-up of floorspace across the CCR since the 2007-10 economic downturn and there is now a near historic low in terms of supply, 

particularly regarding modern floorspace.  There is little speculative development but the flow of foreign direct investment remains slow but steady.  

Recommended locations for intervention include the provision of large manufacturing units at Oakdale and Rhymney (1 x 50,000 sq ft and 1 x 25,000). 

 

Metro Stations as Business Hubs 

A pilot programme is suggested to explore the feasibility of converting stations into well-connected business hubs as part of a sustainable regeneration 

masterplan, with the local station at the centre.  It is anticipated that Metro will generate sufficient commuter traffic to justify commercial development at 

key locations and, in time, facilitate investment beyond the immediate station environs.  Public sector intervention will be required in the first instance to 

bring forward sites of sufficient quality and scale.  Three pathfinder schemes are recommended as an exemplar (10,000 sq ft employment floorspace) with 

potential locations including Rhymney. 

 

Other 

With the growth in prominence of electric vehicles, the lack of charging infrastructure across the CCR is highlighted.  With the ongoing A465 dualling 

programme, there is potential to create an EV-friendly service station on the A465 which could also provide tourism and visitor services. 

 

Rhymney is identified as being a location that would benefit from the development of small business start-up units, demand for which is strong a) across 
the region due to prevailing high occupancy rates; and b) locally due to a low proportion of suitable stock.  Its location just outside the Ebbw Vale EZ, as well 
as good transport links provided by the A465 and A469 southbound would enhance its attractiveness as an area for developing complementary activities to 
those in the EZ with the provision of suitable premises.  Other factors could also work in its favour, if public funding is utilised to develop the potential of 
these attributes: 
 

 Potential for increased economic integration with the rest of the region due to the increase in journey frequency at Rhymney Station and the 
potential role of the Station as an economic hub for the HOVRA; 

 The existence of a railhead at Capital Valley gives the area freight transfer capability, which is unique in the wider EZ area; 

 The collaborative aspect of the proximity of existing commercial/industrial uses elsewhere in Rhymney, particularly the adjacent Lawn and Maerdy 
Industrial Estates; 

 Opportunities to encourage all industrial estate owners to re-brand their premises as a single business location, pooling resources and encouraging 
a partnership approach to development in this sector (possibly with those in the EZ); 

 Rhymney does have an existing life sciences presence, and the provision of modern business stock could develop this further. 
 

P
age 73



A-1 Capital Valley 

 

Capital Valley is an existing industrial estate, comprising older, low quality industrial and warehouse accommodation.  Land in the south is in use for open 
storage while there are multiple derelict/demolished buildings in the north.  Much of it is within TAN 15 flood zone C2. 
 
There is concern that the existing stock is not fit for purpose in places, specifically that there is a shortage of smaller, modern units suitable for new business 
start-ups.  Vacancy rates on Capital Valley as of 2018 were 52.6% in terms of numbers of units; 37.2% in terms of floorspace.  Notwithstanding this, the 
existing businesses on the site employ circa 200 people. 
 

Redevelopment of the site to tailor it (at least in part) to the needs of specific sectors, complemented by investment in the development of a range of 
particular skill sets, would allow such businesses to take advantage of an appropriately trained and upskilled workforce.  Key areas that could be targeted 
are manufacturing (potentially advanced manufacturing in relation to automotive), processing, energy and institutional, potentially involving mixed-use 
schemes including housing or commercial uses. 
 
Development Principles 
 

 Redevelopment of the site for small, start-up units, and larger B2 development; 

 Potential mixed-use development including housing or commercial uses; 

 Maximising the existence of a railhead; 

 Integration with Rhymney Station and the town centre, especially due to increased journey frequency; 

 Optimising the site’s strategically advantageous position through a range of economic uses, including potentially targeting complementary uses to 
those forming the basis of the existing EZ/Tech ValleysTargeting of complementary uses to those forming the basis of the existing EZ/Tech Valleys; 

 Integration with the Community Regeneration-led Gateway to Employment model, providing key relevant training opportunities for existing 
workforces and unemployed participants. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 74



Capital Valley 

 

 

P
age 75



A-2 The Lawns Industrial Estate 

 

The Lawns Industrial Estate (lying immediately adjacent to The Maerdy Industrial Estate) is centrally located in Rhymney on the north eastern side of the 

cluster of estates and is the smallest of the four.  Existing units are of moderate quality, and the majority of them are used for storage, office space or other 

less industrial facilities/use, also on site is a civic amenity centre.  Access to the Lawns estate is only possible from the southern end via a link road off the 

B4257.  There is a strong and ever increasing demand for expansion and enhancement of the estate for light industrial, high quality ‘starter units’.  As well as 

potential, additional opportunities for expansion of the estate in the future, the Council aims to bring into beneficial economic use a parcel of prime 

underutilised land (approx. 0.65Ha in size) adjacent to the existing estate to significantly expand the site’s employment offer.  This will result in the design 

and construction of new high quality light industrial factory units and associated infrastructure, to be delivered in 2020.  The scheme will consist of the 

following key elements: 

 New access highway infrastructure & parking areas; 

 New single storey employment buildings (x3) – with internal units ranging in size between 50, 70 & 100 sq.m; 

 Associated soft and hard landscaping features. 
 

Development Principles 
 

 Development of new start units to satisfy demand; 

 Better integration of business space within the sites, enhanced legibility of access; 

 Reduced commuting out of the area through increased provision of local jobs; 

 Maximise opportunities brought about by Metro, due to proximity to Rhymney Station. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 76



The Lawns and Maerdy Industrial Estates 
 

 

P
age 77



 
A-3 Heads of the Valleys Industrial Estate 
 
Located off the A469 and divided into two parts, the northern part of the estate together with a portion of the southern part is protected for employment 
use in the LDP.  The remainder is allocated for new employment development.  The northern section comprises mid-sized industrial premises, the southern 
section comprises a row of smaller units, one large property and vacant land. 
 
Sharp Clinical Services, part of UDG Healthcare plc, has recently invested £9m to fund a new multiple–phase pharmaceutical manufacturing, packaging and 
distribution facility at this location adding to the range of life science manufacturing facilities on the estate (Convatec Ltd is also located here) 
demonstrating the attractiveness of the area to multi-national life science companies. 
 
The site’s extremely good transport links in relation to the A465, as well as the availability of undeveloped land, enhance its status as a candidate for the 
location of life science facilities and for business conferencing provision to serve the wider A465 corridor. 
 
Development Principles 
 

 Good strategic location on the A469 and very close to the A465; 

 Availability of undeveloped land; 

 Build on collaborative aspect of the proximity of existing commercial/industrial uses elsewhere in Rhymney, particularly Capital Valley and the 
Lawns and Maerdy Industrial Estates; 

 Opportunity to develop role of existing sectors e.g. life sciences; 

 Potential location for sub-regional business conferencing facility, to be developed as part of an overall improvement to the site’s environment; 

 Integration with the Community Regeneration led Gateway to Employment model, providing key relevant training opportunities for existing 
workforces and unemployed participants. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 78



Heads of the Valleys Industrial Estate 
 

 

P
age 79



 
B - Improve social and economic resilience through education, training and careers advice, and foster the development of the foundational economy 
within this area to ensure that economic growth accrues more equitably 
 
B-1 Education, Training and Skills 
 
In order to combat the economic deprivation that is present in much of the HOVRA and in conjunction with the physical proposals set out under Objective 
A, there is a need to ensure the provision of suitable education and training initiatives, programmes to reduce worklessness and the development of 
transferable skills.   
 
This will provide several opportunities in relation to economic prosperity: 
 

 To provide local people with the necessary skills required for employment, generally bringing about an increase in skill levels and improving 
people’s access to good quality jobs; 

 To foster a renewed spirit of confidence and entrepreneurship and increase the likelihood of higher levels of indigenous business formation and 
economic growth; 

 To attract key employers, particularly those operating in higher value-added sectors, as part of an overall ‘package’ including modern, fit-for-
purpose employment premises and good sub and inter-regional connectivity. 

 
Having regard to the role of the HOVRA within the context of the wider Heads of the Valleys region, such an approach needs to be appropriately tailored to 
the economic aspirations set out by the Valleys Taskforce and the Tech Valleys initiative.  In practice, this means the propagation of skills tailored to the 
area’s key growth areas. 
 
As outlined in A Foundation for Success and its supporting document Delivering Prosperity, there is a need for co-ordinated delivery between relevant 
organisations in order to ensure a comprehensive approach regarding the following: 
 

 The provision of appropriate career support for children and adults; 

 Addressing the mismatch between the skills needed to access jobs and the training provided through the curriculum and by training providers; 

 Ensuring that there are opportunities for upskilling among the current workforce; 

 Improve links between educational institutions, including schools, and local businesses; 

 Integration with the Community Regeneration led Gateway to Employment model, providing key relevant training opportunities for existing 
workforces and unemployed participants. 

 

P
age 80



As part of this, Valleys Taskforce is piloting a project across its area which seeks to connect social and economic challenges with crowdsourced 
entrepreneurial solutions, utilising a cloud-based, open innovation platform to establish links with local educational institutions.  Essentially, the project will 
connect local SMEs with a wealth of intelligence contained in Universities and Colleges to offer solutions to everyday business problems. 
 
Specific actions in relation to education, training and skills are set out within A Foundation for Success.  In addition, the Council is preparing a Skills, Training 
and Employment Strategy which will further develop ways of improving skills attainment. 
 
B-2 Foundational Economy 
 
The foundational economy has been defined as the “social consumption of essential goods and services”.  It includes things such as healthcare, education, 
food processing and retail, utilities and infrastructure.  By its very nature, it exists where demand is localised and permanent and, therefore, the 
foundational economy exists across the whole of the HOVRA. 
 
For this reason, this is a cross-cutting objective that covers the whole area, rather than particular sites.  Resilience can be improved through investing in 
firms and organisations within the foundational economy, and the Welsh Government Foundational Economy Challenge Fund will offer support to 
organisations and businesses to introduce innovative ways of working.  The Council’s Business Support service can assist organisations who may wish to 
access this funding. 
 
Business Support also has a role in terms of working with businesses to establish networks of collaboration, ensuring that local supply chains can be 
established where they don’t already exist, serving to keep money within the local economy.  Related to this is the provision of suitable business stock – the 
delivery of modern start-up units on estates such as Capital Valley and The Lawns will assist in adding to existing premises in places such as New Tredegar 
and providing fit-for-purpose business space for local firms.  The Community Regeneration-led Gateway to Employment model will provide key relevant 
training opportunities for existing workforces and unemployed participants (specifically relating in work support and upskilling existing workforces). 
 
Council procurement processes can also assist by investing in Heads of the Valleys organisations on locally specific contracts where possible.  This will 
ensure that contracts are socially beneficial, ensuring that infrastructure projects deliver community benefit.  This needs to be done in such a way that 
builds capacity in local businesses, offering long-term employment and training. 
 
Education and training providers will be important in building the relevant skills required to enable organisations to maintain networks of collaboration, and 
in accessing Welsh Government funding opportunities.  Integrated Well-Being Networks, which seek to connect the strengths and assets of communities, 
will also be relevant, and these will be discussed more fully under Objective H. 
 
 

P
age 81



C - Expand the area’s sphere of influence and improve connectivity 
 
The HOVRA lies within the wider A465 corridor, which stretches from Neath in the west to Abergavenny in the east (in a Welsh context) before crossing into 
the Midlands, with settlements in the northern part of the area in particular operating within the sphere of influence of nearby centres such as Merthyr and 
Ebbw Vale.  Notably it now takes the same time by road from Rhymney to travel to the Midlands or London as it does from Cardiff.  However the A465 
route has the added benefit of avoiding the congestion of the Brynglas Tunnels and the Severn Bridge making the HOVRA an attractive proposition for 
businesses to locate. 
 
A465 Dualling 
 
Dualling of the A465 Heads of the Valleys trunk road continues with Section 3 (Brynmawr to Tredegar) finished in 2015.  Section 2, from Gilwern to 
Brynmawr, is now well underway although is more technically challenging.  Sections 5 and 6, from Dowlais Top to Hirwaun, will then follow and complete 
the project.  Whilst the A465 provides opportunities in terms of increasing accessibility between settlements within the corridor, it risks concentrating 
development and its associated benefits in those that are regarded as being of strategic importance in a regional context i.e. Merthyr.  The creation of a 
Heads of the Valleys Enterprise Zone will provide the basis for realising comprehensive economic benefits along the entirety of the A465 corridor, by 
matching investment in transport infrastructure with investment in the physical fabric of local economies and also in terms of the educational and skills 
requirements that are vital to support economic growth sectors. 
 
The A469 resilience route remains a key aspiration in terms of improving connectivity between the northern and southern ends of the HOVRA, and 
improving resilience in terms of the area’s highways infrastructure. 
 
South Wales Metro 
 
The South Wales Metro initiative will provide an opportunity to build on existing provision within the HOVRA: 
 

 The creation  of a multi-modal and integrated transport network, involving traditional rail, light rail and bus rapid transit (BRT); 

 £77 million investment in a package of Phase 1 infrastructure improvements across the region; 

 Phase 2, which will involve the major transformation of the existing rail network across the region, delivering faster and more frequent services 
(four trains per hour), new stations, enhanced integration and the introduction of a new and improved rolling stock.  This will deliver increased 
accessibility, improving access to employment and other services and facilities across the wider region and especially to communities on the core 
valley lines north of Cardiff and, specifically, the Rhymney Valley Line. 

 
In terms of timescales, the implementation of Phase 2 is anticipated up to 2023, with further phases (beyond the core valley lines) to follow. 

P
age 82



 
Metro is intended to act as a catalyst for transforming the economic and social prospects of the Cardiff Capital Region (CCR).  Increased connectivity will 
bring about the following: 
 

 Direct economic benefits through easier access to employment across the region; 

 Agglomerative benefits; 

 Development and regeneration benefits on key corridors and around key stations; 

 Environmental and sustainability benefits; 

 Ensuring the community is fully engaged and has valued input into proposed works.  The use of existing Community Regeneration hubs can be 
developed upon to ensure all elements of work are integrated alongside existing community benefit related contracts. 

 
Locally, the Rhymney Valley Line operational enhancements to enable more frequent and faster services will be delivered through Phase 2.  Potential bus 
rapid transit routes between Rhymney and Ebbw Vale, and Rhymney and Merthyr, are also options for the future. 
 
A pilot programme is suggested to explore the feasibility of converting stations into well-connected business hubs as part of a sustainable regeneration 
masterplan, with the local station at the centre.  It is anticipated that Metro will generate sufficient commuter traffic to justify commercial development at 
key locations and, in time, facilitate investment beyond the immediate station environs.  Public sector intervention will be required in the first instance to 
bring forward sites of sufficient quality and scale.  The Council will work with Welsh Government and Transport for Wales to pursue a pilot at Rhymney 
Station. 
 
Electric Vehicles 
 
The Council is currently exploring the feasibility of providing electric vehicle charging points, following a commitment to increasing the use of electric 
vehicles and creating an all-electric public transport network.  Funding has been obtained through the OLEV scheme for charging points in car parks near 
residential areas without off-street parking and a scheme is envisaged at Dyffryn Terrace, Eliot’s Town, with the potential for additional locations to benefit 
including Pontlottyn Station and Parc Cwm Darran. 
 
Digital Connectivity 
 
Digital Connectivity is critical if the economy of the HOVRA is to improve.  Welsh Government established the Superfast Cymru initiative in order to extend 
the coverage of superfast broadband to those areas across Wales not covered by commercial rollout.  This programme concluded in 2016 and has had 
substantial success in rolling out superfast broadband provision across the country. 
 

P
age 83



The quality and speed of such digital connectivity is of great importance for the business community, in terms of being able to address new market 
opportunities, the scaling up of operations and impacting positively on profitability.  However, the success that can be delivered through the provision of 
such infrastructure is dependent on take-up rates, and therefore businesses throughout the HOVRA will be encouraged to unlock their full potential 
through the use of digital technology. 
 
In some parts of the HOVRA, areas of poorer connectivity may persist, and therefore opportunities to address this should be pursued, both through: 
 

 Extended provision of enhanced digital infrastructure, where necessary; and 

 The linking of enhanced infrastructure to businesses and homes, through redevelopment and adaptation; 

 Use of existing services such as Digital Fridays, local libraries and local outreach venues to improve digital literacy and provide access to broadband 
in deprived areas where people would not be able to access ICT provision; 

 Link to the Gateway to Employment model to improve basic skills in the most deprived and isolated communities. 
 
C-1 Land around Rhymney Station 
 
Within 100m of Rhymney Station lies the Whitbread Enterprise Centre and the former Rhymney College.  There is potential for part of this land to be 
redeveloped as a multi-functional business hub, offering business units, live-work space and a commercial element including meeting facilities.  In 
conjunction with the increased journey frequency brought about by Metro, this would allow the station and its immediate environs to maximise the 
economic advantage offered by increased connectivity to external markets, as well as to create a multi-purpose focal point in close proximity to Rhymney 
town centre and to additional, new business premises at The Lawns. 
 
As part of the investments being made in Metro, the Council is working with Transport for Wales to secure station improvements at Rhymney Station.  The 
improvements will include enhanced stabling facilities, platform extension and remodelling, additional parking, a new toilet block and waiting rooms, cycle 
racks and ticketing and wifi upgrades. 
 
Development Principles 
 

 Economically advantageous due to proximity to rail station, as well as existing firms located on nearby industrial estates; 

 Optimisation of vacant/underused land; 

 Provision of start-up/incubator units suitable for firms requiring access to transport infrastructure; 

 Development of multi-functional element; 

 Further enhancements to Rhymney Station as part of Metro; 

 Increase in journey frequency. 

P
age 84



 
 

Land around Rhymney Station 
 

P
age 85



 
C-2 Other Stations (Bargoed, Pontlottyn, Brithdir, Tirphil) 
 

P
age 86



General improvements are planned by Transport for Wales under the Metro proposals for Bargoed Pontlottyn, Brithdir and Tirphil Stations, including level 
boarding, lighting and cycle racks, ticketing and wifi.  There is also an aspiration for additional parking at Bargoed Station, which will be covered further on. 
 
The possibility of installing electric vehicle (EV) charging infrastructure at Pontlottyn Station is also being considered under the OLEV grant scheme. 
 
C-3 A465/A469 Transport Hub 
 
There is the potential to explore the development of a transport interchange close to the intersection of the A465 and A469, linking the major east-west 
and north-south routes in this part of the Heads of the Valleys corridor.  This scheme would be likely to come forward under a later phase of investment 
(post Phase 2 of Metro) under Metro Plus, and financed through City Deal. 
 
Development Principles 
 

 Provision of park and ride between the A465 and Rhymney Station; 

 Development of links with planned and existing active travel routes (C-7); 

 Close to tourism and leisure amenities – Bute Town heritage offer, Bute Town Reservoir, Parc Bryn Bach; 

 Creation of sustainable transport links between the A465 and new employment provision at the proposed Heads of the Valleys Enterprise Zone. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A465/A469 Transport Hub 
 

P
age 87



 
C-4 A469 Resilience Route 
 

P
age 88



Whilst Metro and the increasing role of public transport is of key importance to the sustainable development of the HOVRA, the integration of different 
modes is of key importance in terms of ensuring that communities are well-connected.  The closure of the A469 between New Tredegar and Rhymney, due 
to a landslip in February 2014, has demonstrated the importance of this route to the accessibility of the Masterplan area. Investment is required to ensure 
greater resilience for the route to maintain accessibility to this part of the county borough.   Greater levels of connectivity is essential to the development of 
sustainable communities and increasing the area’s attractiveness as a business and visitor destination. 
 
Feasibility work has previously been undertaken regarding the development of a new highway route between New Tredegar and Abertysswg, and currently 
ground investigations are underway at the existing route.  An assessment can then inform the best option to secure the route for the future.  Once all 
avenues and cost benefits have been examined, funding options will be explored. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A469 Resilience Route 
 

P
age 89



 
 
C-5 Former Skinner’s Site, Rhymney 

P
age 90



 
The site forms a vacant strip of land to the north of Heads of the Valleys Industrial Estate, which formerly accommodated the Ron Skinner car dealership.  
The site is approximately 0.8ha and is situated immediately adjacent to the A469 and in very close proximity (within 1 km) to the A465, although lies wholly 
within a C2 flood risk area. 
 
The site’s location, ideally situated along major transport arteries, provides an opportunity to tackle two issues: 
 

 The need for a service location on this stretch of the A465, in order to act as an ‘attractor’ to traffic passing between Merthyr and Blaenau Gwent; 

 The shortage of electric vehicle charging points in this part of the County Borough and along this stretch of the A465 – there are none between 
Merthyr and Brynmawr. 

 
Development Principles 
 

 The site has flood risk and, due to previous uses, potential contamination issues which need to be addressed; 

 Highly accessible, cleared, developable brownfield site; 

 Opportunity to realise some form of commercial/service-related development just off the A465; 

 Development at this location would act as an ‘attractor’ to the area, increasing levels of consumer spending; 

 Very close to Heads of the Valleys Industrial Estate – development of a regional business conferencing facility at this location could enhance the 
economic attraction of such a development; 

 Integration with the Community Regeneration-led Gateway to Employment model, providing key relevant training opportunities for existing 
workforces and unemployed participants. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Former Skinner’s Site 
 

P
age 91



 
 
C-6 Dyffryn Terrace, Elliots Town 
 

P
age 92



Funding has been obtained under the OLEV grant scheme for the installation of electric vehicle charging points at Dyffryn Terrace, Elliots Town.  This will 
enable the provision of two charging posts serving four parking bays for residents without off-street parking. 
 
Dyffryn Terrace, Elliots Town 
 

 
C-7 Active Travel Routes 
 

P
age 93



Active travel covers walking and cycling routes for everyday journeys, including to school, to work, to shops and to access services, such as health or leisure 
centres.  Active travel routes are important for promoting healthier lifestyles and for increasing connectivity and accessibility. 
 
The Active Travel (Wales) Act 2013 specifies designated locations for provision of active travel routes.  Whilst not all locations within the Masterplan Area 
fall within such designation, a number of schemes have been identified in the Masterplan area.  These are based on the Existing Routes Map (approved by 
Welsh Government in 2018) and the Integrated Network Map, which sets out the Council’s proposals for the next 15 years.  These schemes incorporate a 
combination of cycle routes and footpaths as well as shared routes and are set out below: 
 

Community Description Status Type of Use 

Rhymney New link from Ty Coch to existing route and the Heads of the Valleys Industrial Estate New Shared use 

Rhymney New link from existing route to the primary school, town centre and leisure facilities New  Shared use 

Rhymney New link from existing route to Twyn Carno residential area New Shared use 

Rhymney Alternative traffic free link from existing route direct to Rhymney Station New Shared use 

Rhymney Improvements to an existing link from Brynawel Primary School via recreational area to Mount 
Batten 

Upgrade Shared use 

Pontlottyn New traffic free link from Brynhyfryd housing estate to Pontlottyn village centre via school site New/upgrade Shared use 

New Tredegar Improved shared use link from White Rose Primary School to Phillipstown via School Street New Shared use 

Aberbargoed New shared use traffic free link from Aberbargoed to Bargoed Station.  Links to existing Active 
Travel route 

New Shared use 

Gilfach New link from Gilfach Fargoed/Ysgol Gymraeg Gilfach Fargoed  to leisure facilities New Shared use 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Rhymney Active Travel Routes  
       

P
age 94



    
       
 
 
 
Rhymney & Abertysswg 
 

P
age 95



 
 
 
 
New Tredegar 
 

P
age 96



 
 
 
 
 
Bargoed 
 

P
age 97



 
 
D - Reinforce the role of Bargoed as a service centre for the north of the County Borough 
 

P
age 98



Bargoed serves as the principal town for the north of the County Borough and therefore has a role as its main retail, commercial and service location.  In 
recent years, there have been positive developments in Bargoed town centre with the completion of Angel Way which has improved accessibility, the 
development of Morrison’s and Lowry Plaza and the relocation of Bargoed Library and Customer First Centre into the former Hanbury Chapel.  However, 
challenges remain in the form of high vacancy rates (22.9% in 2018), particularly at the northern end of the town centre close to the bus and rail stations. 
 
The close proximity of the stations, coupled with the planned network improvements as part of the Metro proposals, provides an opportunity for Bargoed 
to diversify its role and increase other uses (service provision, offices, residential) in addition to consolidating its retail offer.  There remains a need for 
further commercial development on the remainder of the retail plateau, and the creation of a ‘business quarter’ at the northern end of the town centre 
involving redevelopment of the vacant retail units, maximising the proximity to the bus/rail/road network. 
 
D-1 Land at Bargoed Station 
 
An aspiration exists through the Metro initiative to expand car parking provision at Bargoed, in line with the planned increases in journey frequency, 
although land has not yet been specifically identified.  As part of this, there is the potential for provision of EV charging infrastructure, in line with the 
Council’s commitment to creating an all-electric public transport network.  General station improvements, including a new toilet block, are also planned by 
Transport for Wales. 
 
Development Principles 
 

 Increasing the capability of Bargoed to serve as a park and ride location, enhancing the facility’s sustainability; 

 Site’s location adjacent to the bus station strengthens its potential as a multi-modal interchange;  

 Greater utilisation of the station could increase footfall in the town centre; 

 Optimisation of the role of the northern end of the town centre through the ‘business quarter’ concept (D-2). 
 
D-2 Business Quarter and Bargoed High Street 
 
The area of the town centre in question consists of a number of largely vacant retail units, the Emporium building, the Council’s Ty Bargoed office and the 
associated car park. 
 
Metro has the potential to expand Bargoed’s sphere of influence within a regional context.  The rail and bus stations are situated at the northern end of the 
town centre and can therefore act as a linkage with this area.  The integration of these elements provides an opportunity for redevelopment of this part of 
the town centre and the attraction of additional, non-retail uses such as service provision or offices, possibly incorporating housing as mixed-use 
development, diversifying the town centre’s role and increasing the viability of existing retail and service uses.  However, in order to achieve this, facilities 

P
age 99



such as the station need to be presented in a positive light in terms of their appearance, functionality and the links that exist with the area in its immediate 
vicinity, including the northern end of the town centre.  
 
The distinctive quality of the Emporium building should be maximised as a focal point within the town, possibly as a location for independent retail, building 
on an increase in footfall brought about by the redevelopment of the northern part of the town centre. 
 
Development Principles 
 

 Redevelopment of vacant premises for services/offices/residential; 

 Opportunity for redevelopment in close proximity to station, to take advantage of Metro links; 

 Emporium building as a potential location for independent/artisan retail; 

 Addition of uses that complement existing ones e.g. offices, thereby consolidating the viability of existing retail and service uses and increasing 
footfall. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Business Quarter and Bargoed Station 

P
age 100



 

 
 
D-3 Bargoed Retail Plateau 

P
age 101



 
The development of Bargoed Retail Plateau has helped to transform the southern end of the town centre, with the development of a new Morrison’s 
supermarket, Lowry Plaza and public realm improvements.  However, land remains at the southern end of the plateau which is ideally situated for 
additional commercial development, given its proximity to Angel Way.  Permission was granted in 2019 for a family/pub restaurant, indicating market 
interest. 
 
Development Principles 
 

 Development for commercial use, complementing existing retail uses at Lowry Plaza and Hanbury Road/High Street; 

 Good access to town centre and Angel Way; 

 Diversification of the town centre offer through additional commercial use e.g. pub/restaurant; 

 Potential for increased footfall, benefiting existing uses. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 102



Bargoed Retail Plateau and Former Cinema, Hanbury Square 
 

 
 

P
age 103



D-4 Former Cinema, Hanbury Square 
 
The site comprises the former cinema on Hanbury Square, which is presently vacant and allocated for commercial development in the adopted LDP.  
Planning permission had been granted for office development in 2007.  The site lies in close proximity to the new development at Lowry Plaza and Bargoed 
Retail Plateau.  It is anticipated that development of the remainder of the retail plateau for commercial use will increase footfall at this end of the town 
centre and heighten developer interest.  Consequently, there is an opportunity to redevelop the cinema for an alternative use, including mixed-use or 
residential. 
 
Development Principles 
 

 Reutilisation of existing stock; 

 Opportunity to bring cinema back into a beneficial, town centre use; 

 Potential for increased developer interest and diversification of town centre uses. 
 
E - Maximise the impact of the Valleys Regional Park, protect and enhance important green spaces and built heritage and promote tourism 
 
The Valleys Regional Park (VRP) initiative seeks to establish a model for the management of a network of country parks, other natural assets, heritage sites 

and attractions across the Valleys, linking with towns and villages.  It seeks to do this through three interlinked delivery themes: 

 

 Conserve and enhance the area’s distinctive landscape qualities; 

 Promote well-being through the enjoyment and understanding of its landscapes; 

 Promote sustainable natural resource management and economic and community development that support its cultural heritage. 
 
Welsh Government has identified four sites within the wider A465 corridor as VRP ‘Discovery Gateways’: 
 

 Blaenavon World Heritage Visitor Centre (Torfaen); 

 Dare Valley Country Park (Rhondda Cynon Taf); 

 Cyfartha Park (Merthyr); 

 Parc Bryn Bach (Blaenau Gwent/Caerphilly). 
 

P
age 104



Work is ongoing to assess the attributes of these sites with a view to putting in place development plans, which aim to provide consistently high quality 
facilities to act as a framework for the development of a network across the Valleys.  In the HOVRA this will include opportunities for facilities that can 
complement the existing offer within the County Borough and further afield at: 
 

 Parc Cwm Darran; 

 Parc Bryn Bach; 

 Bute Town Conservation Area, Bute Town Reservoir; 

 Winding House, New Tredegar; 

 Markham Colliery; 

 Parc Coetir Bargod; 

 Common land. 
 
Activity needs to focus on maximising visitor demand, as well as establishing networks between facilities, having regard for the Discovery Gateways in the 
area and the additional attractions that are interlinked.  In the context of the wider A465 corridor, these include: 
 

 Brecon Beacons National Park; 

 Bike Park Wales, Merthyr; 

 Rhydycar West, Merthyr (potentially); 

 Zip World facility, Hirwaun (potentially); 

 Rock UK outdoor activity centre, Treharris. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 105



 

 

 

Discovery Gateways, Country Parks and Existing Attractions 

 

P
age 106



 
Accommodation 

 

P
age 107



Accommodation is one aspect that, along with the wider themes of economic development and the growth of the tourism and visitor sectors, can 

contribute to economic growth in more general terms.  The Heads of the Valleys Regeneration Area is presently lacking in terms of good quality 

accommodation and this correlates with a need to increase the value of its local economy and to maximise its offer as a location for visitors with the 

attractions and facilities to match. 

 

The increased connectivity brought about by Metro and the A465 dualling will be beneficial in terms of providing stronger links between visitor attractions, 

but also between the Heads of the Valleys, the remainder of the Cardiff Capital Region, and elsewhere.  This can therefore aid the area in terms of 

marketing itself as a destination based on three aspects: 

 

 Its natural environment, including the opportunities that this provides as an activity destination; 

 Its social and cultural heritage; 

 Its developing and strengthening economic base, which offers new business opportunities. 

 

Experience from elsewhere demonstrates that the accommodation sector develops on the back of increased demand as a destination e.g. accommodation 
has been developed in Merthyr on the back of Bike Park Wales.  In the HOVRA, the focus of this needs to be twofold, concentrating on accommodation 
provision for employment/business purposes as well as for leisure visitors. 
 
E-1 Parc Cwm Darran 
 
Parc Cwm Darran is one of the County Borough’s five country parks and is situated two miles north of Bargoed.  It offers the following facilities: 
 

 Walking routes; 

 Waymarked trails; 

 Cycle route; 

 Lake, including angling facilities; 

 Picnic areas; 

 Campsite; 

 Visitor centre and café. 
 
There are opportunities for Parc Cwm Darran to expand its role as a visitor attraction and community resource, within the remit of the Valleys Regional Park 
(VRP) initiative.  It is already regarded as being a ‘centre of excellence’ for the provision of environmental training with the Probation Service, and this 

P
age 108



aspect of the park’s role could be utilised to increase social capital within the community through the provision of training and education, and the 
development of community woodland projects in conjunction with the work being done by Community Regeneration. 
 
From a visitor perspective, there is an intention to optimise the use and offer of the park’s facilities.  A visioning exercise has been undertaken which seeks 
to create ‘two parks in one’ in order to make it a regionally attractive destination: 
 

 Core area – shop, appropriately located micro businesses, more welcome information, extension of campsite with a wider range of 
accommodation, installation of electric vehicle charging points; 

 Wetland area – centred around the southern car park, retention of fishing area and creation of additional ponds and wilder areas to add interest; 

 Potential for use of NRW land within the park as a ‘peripheral area’, with development of wild camping and activities such as Nordic walking.  The 
foundational economy could be assisted by supporting local contractors to access felling contracts, and ensure that wood is used by local firms and 
organisations – social contracts could be utilised to secure possible placement opportunities, in this regard. 

 
Work is also ongoing in relation to the reclamation of Fochriw Tips to the north of the park, which could help facilitate the extension of the cycle route and 
provide a link to the Brecon Beacons National Park, thereby opening the site up to a wider network. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Parc Cwm Darran Visioning 
 

P
age 109



 
Source: HLC Ltd 
 
Development Principles 
 

P
age 110



 Extension of cycle route to provide better linkages; 

 Maximising visitor facilities to a wider market; 

 Development of an improved range of facilities, marketing the park to a wider audience; 

 Development of social capital through education, training and working in partnership with the community; 

 Increased visitor accommodation through expansion of the campsite. 
 
E-2 Parc Bryn Bach, Bute Town and Relevant Links 
 
Parc Bryn Bach 
 
Parc Bryn Bach is a 340 acre country park straddling the boundary between Blaenau Gwent and Caerphilly, and forms one of the two VRP ‘Discovery 
Gateways’ situated in the A465 corridor.  It offers a range of outdoor activities and opportunities for skills development and contains within it a: 
 

 36 acre lake; 

 Visitor centre; 

 Caravan and campsite. 
 
Bute Town 
 
Bute Town is a good example of a 19th century model village built to house workers at the nearby ironworks.  The three rows of houses are listed and, along 
with the pub and church which remain in operation, they lie within the Bute Town Conservation Area.  The village lies in close proximity to the Rhymney 
Valley Riverside Walk and Rhymney Upper Furnace, the site of the first ironworks to be built in the Rhymney Valley which survives as a scheduled ancient 
monument (SAM). 
 
Interpretation work in respect of the SAM remains an aspiration and would better highlight this historically and culturally important site.  The proximity of 
Bute Town and Rhymney Upper Furnace to Parc Bryn Bach and the upper stretch of the Rhymney Valley Riverside Walk presents an opportunity for co-
ordination of these elements as visitor attractions under the VRP initiative. 
 
Bute Town Reservoir 
 
Bute Town Reservoir, located across the road from the village, is a popular local destination for activities such as walking and angling and is served by the 
existing Rhymney Valley Cycle Route.  There is potential to develop the role of this facility through the extension of the cycle route network to link it to Parc 
Bryn Bach.  The route of this potential extension is set out in the adopted LDP. 

P
age 111



 
Development Principles 
 

 Co-ordination of Parc Bryn Bach, Bute Town and the Bute Town Reservoir as a network of attractions with an  extension of the cycle route and 
utilisation of existing public rights of way to improve connectivity between them; 

 Interpretation work in relation to Rhymney Upper Furnace, providing a link to the area’s heritage; 

 Extension of links to attractions elsewhere in the area – Bryn Oer Tramroad in Brecon Beacons National Park, Parc Cwm Darran. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Parc Bryn Bach, Bute Town, Reservoir, Cycle Routes 
 

P
age 112



 
E-3 Winding House, New Tredegar 
 

P
age 113



The Winding House in New Tredegar was developed on land formerly occupied by Elliot Colliery and offers extensive exhibition space, a gallery, and 
catering and office/meeting facilities.  The museum seeks to act as a mechanism for economic regeneration where the impact of visitor revenue is likely to 
be greatest.  There is an aspiration to widen the appeal of the exhibitions, in order to bring in an audience from further afield. 
 
The 5 to 9 Club has been successful in terms of offering assistance to new start-ups, whilst future activity seeks to build on this by using part of the facility 
for developing local business activity.  In addition, office space will be utilised on a temporary basis by Dwr Cymru Welsh Water when they roll out 
infrastructure improvement to the HOVRA.  This presents an opportunity to integrate tourism, educational and economic activity as well as to increase 
interaction between these areas and the role of public institutions such as utility providers, leading to the potential sharing and broadening of skills and 
widening the scope of future business models.  Building on the success of the 5 to 9 Club and Welsh ICE in Caerphilly, the Council aspires to utilise some of 
this space to allow new businesses to innovate and grow, based on a culture of knowledge sharing and collaboration. 
 
Whilst utilisation of office space within the facility will increase the supply of business space available locally, it will also help to broaden its base as a 
valuable community asset, serving as a hub from which the local community can build social and business-related networks. 
 
Development Principles 
 

 Maximise potential as a visitor attraction e.g. exhibition space; 

 Providing assistance to local business start-ups; 

 Broadening the area’s supply of business space; 

 Role as a community hub, and development of social capital through integration of visitor, educational and economic activity; 

 Links with Community Regeneration employment programmes. 
 
E-4 Markham Colliery 
 
This site has been vacant since the closure of the colliery in the mid 1980s and is allocated in the adopted LDP as a new country park to establish a key, local 
component of the Valleys Regional Park.  An extension of the Sirhowy Valley Cycle Route between Hollybush and Argoed passes through the site.  Options 
include utilising the attractive, parkland landscape for leisure activities that will increase dwell time through expanding the site’s visitor offer, and exploring 
the potential for development that can link into the rural economy. 
 
A visioning exercise has been undertaken which seeks to maximise the potential of the site as a visitor destination, based on its woodland and riparian 
characteristics, and for contributing to the local economy.  Other than forestry operations in the east of the area, the only interventions to date have been 
the development of the site entrance and the cycle route.  Proposals include: 
 

P
age 114



 Developing the site as a ‘gateway’ to the north and east over an extended period, once the function has been established, including: 
 Links to Penyfan Pond and the caravan park and equestrian centre; 
 Extension of the cycle route; 
 Creation of a circuit of tracks and paths, extending into NRW land for uses such as horse riding, building on the accessibility offered by the 

existing network of routes; 
 Woodland management, allowing for camping, and providing a visual connection between the tips and the cycle route; 
 Sculpting of the tips and maximisation of the site’s cultural heritage for positive interpretation and activities such as low-level adventure play. 
 

 Around the core area, developing the car park as a focal point, including: 
 A potential visitor centre; 
 Fishing ponds; 
 Small café; 
 Site information; 
 Sale of local firewood; 
 Live-work units. 
 

Development Principles 
 

 Development and extension of existing routes, to facilitate a wider range of activities and provide links to additional facilities; 

 Developing the function of the site to widen visitor appeal; 

 Diversification of the local economy into appropriate uses, based within the park; 

 Maximisation of the area’s industrial and cultural heritage. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Markham Colliery Visioning 
 

P
age 115



 
Source: HLC Ltd 
 
E-5 Gelligaer and Merthyr Common 
 

P
age 116



Gelligaer Common is an expanse of open moorland situated between the Taf and Rhymney Valleys straddling the boundary between Caerphilly and 
Merthyr County Boroughs, and occupies much of the Upper Rhymney Valley west of the A469.  It is designated by Cadw as a Historic Landscape. 
 
On the Caerphilly side, the ridgetop occupied by the Common rises up 470m at Mynydd Fochriw, and slopes eastwards towards the Nant Bargod Rhymney.  
The landscape is diverse in form and in its archaeological and historical content. 
 
Tourism 
 
In terms of tourism, the Common could serve as an integral element of the HOVRA’s offer.  The characteristics of the landscape raise the potential for: 
 

 Utilising the area’s archaeological and historical context; 

 Providing a linkage to other facilities within the HOVRA e.g. Parc Cwm Darran; Bute Town as well as those outside – the Common’s close proximity 
to the National Park could enable it to attract visitors southwards; 

 Maximising the attractiveness of features such as Rhaslas Pond for tourism and leisure purposes; 

 Provision of accommodation and the hospitality sector in settlements such as Rhymney, Fochriw and Deri – this will be dependent on sufficient 
demand being created in the first instance. 

 
Community Development 
 
The Common provides important economic, social and environmental value to the communities that surround it.  However, the landscape is threatened by 
anti-social behaviour including fly-tipping, littering, off-road vehicles and environmental damage.  A pilot project, Tirwedd y Comin (Common Landscape) is 
being launched and will be led by the Commoners’ Association, the two local authorities and others in order to work with the local community and restore, 
maintain and protect the Common.  This will ensure custodianship of it can be passed on to future generations. 
 
Tirwedd y Digidol (Digital Landscape) seeks to work with local communities to establish a virtual digital centre for the landscapes of Caerphilly and Blaenau 
Gwent, which will provide an information platform for residents and visitors alike.   
 
These schemes, within the context of the Common and other landscapes, will: 
 

 Enable the development of new skills locally in relation to landscape stewardship and digital technology, linking with Community Regeneration 
programmes; 

 Facilitate community cohesion and development; 

 Provide an information platform for local residents from which they can engage with local natural resources; 

P
age 117



 More effectively utilise technology to highlight the attributes of the Common, and other important local landscapes, to potential visitors. 
 
Gelligaer Common 
 

 
E-6 Parc Coetir Bargod 
 

P
age 118



Parc Coetir Bargod is the County Borough’s newest country park, created on land formerly occupied by Gilfach, Bargoed and Britannia Collieries, and 
provides a route along the Rhymney River in attractive surroundings which can be accessed from 11 different gateways. 
 
New Active Travel routes are planned which will improve connections between the park and the following surrounding communities: 
 

 Pengam; 

 Fleur-de-Lis; 

 Gilfach; 

 Aberbargoed 
 
It is anticipated that this will increase the park’s accessibility as a local visitor destination, and have benefits in terms of health and well-being. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Parc Coetir Bargod 
 

P
age 119



 
E-7 Bargoed Park 
 

P
age 120



Bargoed Park is the largest park in the County Borough at over 19 ha and contains a number of facilities: 
 

 Formal gardens; 

 Children’s playground; 

 Multi-use games area; 

 Skateboarding area; 

 Football and rugby pitches. 
 
The Council will look for opportunities to optimise the role of the park in terms of the sustainability of the town, including: 
 

 Ensuring that facilities maximise the number of visitors; 

 Reinforcing the vitality of the town centre, and maintaining links. 
 
F - Support proposals for renewable energy generation and community benefit through utility infrastructure 
 
The HOVRA is well-placed to deliver structural benefits through energy schemes.  Whilst climate change is a challenge, it can also present opportunities.  
Welsh Government is embracing the transition to a low-carbon economy through Planning Policy Wales and the Well-Being of Future Generations Act, and 
has set out a commitment to delivering the following outcomes in Energy Wales: A Low Carbon Transition: 
 

 Reducing the amount of energy we use; 

 Reducing our reliance on energy generated from fossil fuels; 

 Actively managing the transition to a low-carbon economy; 

 Utilising existing services provided by Groundwork Wales around energy efficiency within homes – connecting with communities and schools to 
capitalise on global warming awareness, recycling and food waste initiatives. 

 
Renewable energy can be a way of meeting some of these objectives, as well as providing a means of building economic resilience, providing clean growth 
and contributing to improved health.  Suitable renewable energy schemes will therefore be supported, in appropriate locations. 
 
F-1 North of the A465 
 
Land immediately north of the A465 consists of upland, greenfield land in close proximity to the boundary with the Brecon Beacons National Park and is 
located within a Special Landscape Area (SLA) designation identified through the adopted LDP.  Part of the site is a SINC designation. 
 

P
age 121



Given the upland nature of the site and its location north of the A465, this area has the potential to accommodate  a renewable energy generation scheme, 
although work will need to be undertaken to determine its feasibility and environmental impact, particularly in respect of the visual impact on the Common 
and the Brecon Beacons National Park.  Any energy generated on this site can be fed back into the grid, giving the proposal an economic, as well as a 
sustainability, benefit and would also generate potential community benefits. 
 
There is the potential for a scheme to be developed in conjunction with adjoining land in Blaenau Gwent, complementing schemes already operating along 
this corridor and forming part of a Heads of the Valleys ‘Energy Belt’, thereby increasing the sustainability credentials of the wider A465 corridor. 
 
Development Principles 
 

 Creation of a sustainable energy generation scheme; 

 Less reliance on non-local, non-sustainable forms of energy; 

 Economic advantages of supplying energy to the grid; 

 Community benefits derived for local community groups; 

 Potential local job creation. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Operational and Planned Windfarm Developments in the A465 Corridor 
 

P
age 122



 
 

P
age 123



In terms of energy generation and public utilities schemes, the upgrading of infrastructure can deliver community benefit, not only in terms of improved 
provision to people’s homes but through greater community interaction with utility providers, the development of social capital and the extension and 
creation of community networks, training opportunities and skills. 
 
There is also an economic benefit, as such schemes operate within the context of some degree of community ownership.  Examples exist from elsewhere of 
utility providers and renewable energy companies investing in community development with the help of a community fund established for that very 
purpose.  Where such organisations are involved in the development of proposals within a particular locality, they should be encouraged to: 
 

 Engage with the community to establish its needs and aspirations; 

 Make funding available for the benefit of that community as part of a community fund, possibly as match funding in conjunction with other 
initiatives; 

 Allow community representatives to take a lead in terms of how such funds are spent. 
 
F-2 Markham Renewable Energy Scheme 
 
The Council, in partnership with Argoed Community Council and Renew Wales, is investigating the potential for a community-focused renewable energy 
generation scheme on land at Markham Colliery, and is also considering the options for hydro, solar and wind generation.  Initial scoping work has been 
undertaken and has determined that such a scheme could supply enough electricity for 1,500 homes. 
 
Development Principles 
 

 Creation of a sustainable energy generation scheme; 

 Increased community resilience; 

 Integration with country park development at Markham Colliery; 

 Increasing the potential range of rural economic uses to be located within the envisioned country park; 

 Job and training opportunities delivered through community benefit; 

 Linking with similar initiatives and partners to improve awareness. 
 
F-3 Rhymney to Bargoed Water Resilient Communities 
 
Dwr Cymru Welsh Water are presently producing plans for increasing water resilience in the HOVRA.  Work regarding physical improvements in terms of 
infrastructure will commence in early 2020.  In addition, however, this will involve local engagement to ensure that the concept of water resilience is 
embedded within the local community.  This will involve: 

P
age 124



 

 Engagement through existing community networks e.g. Parent Network, Flying Start, Community Regeneration; 

 Dissemination of information and good practice through local schools, community groups; 

 Establishing links with private landlords’ networks; 

 Obtaining increased resilience through Council’s portfolio of housing (monitoring usage and downsizing meters in Council properties, where 
appropriate and beneficial). 

 
Principles 
 

 Embedding sustainability principles within the community; 

 Ensuring a joined-up approach between stakeholder organisations; 

 Increased community development and confidence; 

 Physical improvements to utility infrastructure. 
 
G - Support the development and diversification of housing in sustainable locations 
 
Despite the success of the LDP Strategy in delivering new housing elsewhere within the County Borough, this is not the case in the HOVRA where, despite 
some small-scale development having taken place, many of the sites allocated for housing in the LDP remain undeveloped, irrespective of the sustainability 
of their locations. 
 
There is therefore a need to provide new sustainably located housing development in order to increase the amount and quality of housing stock, and to 

support the role and function of settlements, in tandem with the economic improvements that are anticipated as a result of City Deal, Metro and the 

council’s regeneration aspirations. 

 

New models of housing delivery are required to bring development forward and these will include: 

 

Self Build:  Welsh Government has introduced a self-build scheme aimed at encouraging first time house buyers to build their own homes. Through the 

Development Bank of Wales, Welsh Government will offer loans to self-builders to assist in building their own homes and Welsh Government is setting up a 

database of sites that are being promoted for self –build development.   

 

P
age 125



Stalled Sites: Welsh Government has introduced a system of loans to assist in bringing housing sites, which have stalled for various reasons, forward for 

development. 

 

Small-scale council house building: Through the WHQS process, the Council may bring forward a number of small-scale sites for housing development.  In 

doing so, the Council will seek to maximise use of the foundational economy of the area, which will ensure goods and services are procured locally and that 

the schemes will assist in developing appropriate skill sets within the population. 

 

These options will bring forward new housing, which will increase the range and choice of housing available in the Masterplan area. However, these will not 

be sufficient to address the situation completely.  Consequently the Council will continue to lobby Welsh Government to provide mechanisms for 

incentivising housing development in the Masterplan area, as well as the wider A465 corridor, to ensure that a sufficient level and range of housing is 

developed to sustain the existing communities. 

 

G-1 Aberbargoed Plateau 

 

The plateau is the result of the reclamation of the old Bargoed Colliery tip, and is situated on the Aberbargoed side of the Rhymney Valley.   It is allocated 

for housing in the adopted LDP, though remains undeveloped, and is in Council ownership.  Redevelopment of the plateau would utilise an important 

brownfield site and provide an opportunity for the diversification of the housing stock in the area.  However, the viability of the site for residential 

development remains an issue. 

 

The site is in close proximity to the neighbourhood centre of Aberbargoed and is adjacent to Parc Coetir Bargod, one of the Council’s country parks, 

providing a sustainable location with an attractive environmental setting. 

 

A review is presently being undertaken of sixth form, single sex and surplus provision across the County Borough and there is the possibility that part of the 

site could be utilised for new education provision to serve this part of the County Borough.  This would facilitate the development of a mixed-use scheme 

for the plateau, enabling housing to come forward on the remainder.  The formulation of an appropriate scheme would enable such a scheme to meet its 

full potential, from a sustainability perspective.  

 

Development Principles 

 

P
age 126



 Sustainable mixed-use scheme taking advantage of the site’s location on Angel Way; 

 Some provision for housing development, providing new build development in the area and adding variety and choice to existing housing stock, 

close to existing employment facilities; 

 Development of a new FE college to cover the Upper Rhymney Valley;  

 Providing access to Parc Coetir Bargod through extension of the cycle route. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 127



Aberbargoed Plateau & Bedwellty School 

 

 
 

P
age 128



G-2 Bedwellty School 

 

Planning permission was granted in 2019 for residential (55 units) on the former Bedwellty School site and development is underway.  The development of 

this site will result in the diversification of housing stock in the Aberbargoed area, sustainably located within close proximity of Aberbargoed town centre, 

the A4049 and employment uses at Bowen Industrial Estate and Angel Lane.  Cabinet approval has since been forthcoming to release land immediately to 

the south for a second phase of development. 

 

Development Principles 

 

 Diversification of housing stock within the local area, adding variety and choice to the local housing market; 

 Ease of accessibility in relation to local facilities; 

 Utilisation of vacant, brownfield land. 

 

G-3 Empty Homes Grant Scheme 

 

Following the implementation of a successful model in Rhondda Cynon Taf, £10 million has been provided by Welsh Government to fund the Empty Homes 

Grant Scheme across the VTF area, which offers purchasers funding for the renovation of empty homes, bringing them back into beneficial use.  Property 

owners can only apply in relation to owner occupation and the grant is not open to builders or landlords for the purposes of renting out accommodation.  

The scheme will be rolled out over two phases: 

 

 Phase one will be rolled out with the following conditions: 

 Homes would need to have been empty for a six-month period (the immediate six months prior to approval of the grant); 

 Property owners can apply once, to avoid landlords and builders from benefiting; 

 Maximum grant of £20,000. 

 Phase two will involve working with local authorities on developing frameworks to support local supply chains, with links to: 

 Skills and apprenticeships; 

 Local supply chains; 

 Foundational economy. 

 

P
age 129



 

Principles 

 

 Potential reduction in the number of empty homes; 

 Increase in the diversity of housing stock; 

 Development of skills; 

 Strengthening of local supply chains through use of local firms. 

 

H -- Provide a suitable level of community, leisure and education facilities, aligning with national and local initiatives including 21st Century Schools and 

the CCBC Sport and Active Recreation Strategy where applicable, and establish Integrated Well-Being Networks in order to connect communities’ 

strengths and assets 

 

The provision and location of community facilities are of crucial importance to the sustainability of settlements and to the well-being of their populations.  

New facilities that have opened since the start of the LDP plan period in 2006 include: 

 

 Bargoed Library and Customer First Centre (Hanbury Chapel); 

 Hafod Deg Resource Centre; 

 Rhymney Integrated Health and Social Care Centre; 

 Idris Davies School, Abertysswg. 

 

Whilst constraints on public resources have an impact on the provision of such facilities, this does present an opportunity for new models of delivery.  For 

instance, the rationalisation and sharing of facilities as multi-purpose ‘hubs’ can provide community benefits, as well as providing opportunities for more 

cost-effective managing and resourcing of facilities.  This can have a positive impact in terms of social capital, engendering networking opportunities, 

knowledge sharing and the development of transferable skills which are of invaluable importance in a modern social and economic context. 

 

H-1 21st Century Schools 

 

The Welsh Government 21st Century Schools and Colleges programme is a major, long-term and strategic capital investment programme supporting large-

scale capital projects with the aim of enhancing school buildings to meet modern educational and community needs. 

P
age 130



 

The key aims are to: 

 

 Reduce the number of schools in poor condition; 

 Ensure the right size schools in the right location; 

 Ensure the effective and efficient use of the educational estate for both schools and the wider community. 

 

Idris Davies School in Abertysswg was developed under Band A of the programme as a replacement for Abertysswg and Pontlottyn Primary Schools on land 

within the existing Rhymney Comprehensive School site.  As well as an all through 3 to 18 years school, it also accommodates a nursery, Flying Start unit 

and integrated children’s centre offering after-school and wraparound provision. 

 

Band B of the 21st Century Schools programme runs between 2019 and 2026 and proposals have been identified.  However, these remain proposals at this 

stage, subject to a business case approval by Welsh Government; in addition, consultation with stakeholders will be a key part of the process.  Proposals 

concerning primary education will be dependent on the review of secondary education that is ongoing.  Band B proposals in Rhymney include: 

 

 New build school to replace the existing Upper Rhymney Primary School; 

 Relocation of Brynawel Primary School pupils to Upper Rhymney Primary and Idris Davies Schools; 

 Refurbishment of a school site to relocate Ysgol y Lawnt. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The current locations of Upper Rhymney and Brynawel Primary Schools and Ysgol y Lawnt 

P
age 131



 

 
Band B proposals in Bargoed include: 

 

P
age 132



 Amalgamation of the Park and Gilfach Fargoed Primary Schools into a new build school; 

 Refurbishment of Park Primary School to accommodate the relocation of Ysgol Gymraeg Gilfach Fargoed. 

 

The current locations of Park and Gilfach Fargoed Primary Schools and Ysgol Gymraeg Gilfach Fargoed 

 

 
These are expected to realise the following benefits: 

 

P
age 133



 Target areas of high social deprivation; 

 Creation of fit-for-purpose, energy efficient schools; 

 Significant reduction of surplus places; 

 Estimated saving on backlog maintenance costs; 

 Increased opportunities for community use and on-site childcare provision; 

 Expansion of Welsh medium education. 

 

H-2 Rhymney Integrated Health and Social Care Centre and Hafod Deg Resource Centre 

 

The Integrated Health and Social Care Centre for the north of the County Borough brings together several different community health functions in an 

integrated way, including: 

 

 Two GP practices, complementing a continuing presence at New Tredegar and Deri; 

 Dental practice; 

 Optometry services; 

 Social services day care facilities; 

 In-patient facilities; 

 A base for health and social services staff delivering a range of services across the north of the County Borough. 

 

Hafod Deg Resource Centre delivers a range of support services for people in the local area, including: 

 

 Citizens Advice; 

 Mental health organisations; 

 Credit union; 

 Nutritional and dietary advice; 

 Space for volunteering and community groups. 

 

P
age 134



Through the integration of service delivery from facilities such as these, the capacity of public sector resources to have a positive impact within the 

community is maximised.  However, it is necessary that this approach ensures the delivery of services for the whole community, and therefore the Council 

will work with key organisations such as the Local Health Board, the ‘third sector’ and others to ensure that community-based services and well-being can 

continue to be delivered in a sustainable and coordinated manner. 

 

H-3 Integrated Well-Being Networks 

 

In keeping with the Welsh Government’s £100m NHS Transformation Fund aimed at driving integration and its “long term future vision of a ‘whole system 

approach to health and social care’ focused on health and wellbeing, and on preventing illness”, the Gwent Regional Partnership Board is supporting 

Aneurin Bevan Health Board, in conjunction with the Council and other partners, to develop and deliver the concept of Integrated Well-Being Networks 

(IWNs). 

 

Integrated Well-Being Networks are place-based models of more effective collaborative, integrated working to support and sustain community well-being.  

In essence, this means effectively connecting and coordinating the disparate assets that contribute to well-being in a location. 

 

There are four elements to IWN development: 

 

 Place-based collaboration; 

 Connecting community-based ‘hubs’; 

 People who deliver services and support; 

 Easily accessible well-being information. 

 

The initial focus for IWN development in the County Borough is the area covered by Caerphilly North Neighbourhood Care Network, much of which lies 

within the HOVRA.  Initial mapping work has been undertaken for part of the area and there is an intention to roll this out, as part of a programme of 

community engagement, in order to help make existing networks of facilities more identifiable for service users. 

 

 

 

 

P
age 135



 

Integrated Well-Being Networks 

  

P
age 136



 

The recommended approach to delivering IWNs will contribute to the delivery of the Public Service Board’s Well-Being Plan.  This approach includes: 

 

 Establishing the core offer of well-being services that exist across: 

 Health and social care hubs e.g. GP surgeries; 

 Local authority hubs – libraries, Customer First Centres, provision of housing advice; 

 Community hubs – shared spaces for people, community groups and recreational activities; 

 Agreeing the role of lead organisations, including the Council, Health Board, Public Health Wales, Housing Associations, GAVO and others; 

 Review ‘linking’ roles to ensure the effective use of resources and address identified gaps – ‘linking’ roles are people and organisations that provide 

connections between people, professionals and different parts of the well-being network. 

 

I - Ensure that accessibility for all is embedded in all improvement schemes 

 

Accessibility is a cross-cutting objective which is relevant to schemes within the HOVRA.  All development proposals should adhere to the principles of 

inclusive design to ensure that schemes meet the accessibility needs of all those living, working and visiting the HOVRA, including those with mobility and 

sensory impairments and learning difficulties. 

 

J - Ensure all communities within the Heads of the Valleys are able to engage and benefit from the Masterplan 

 

As a result of the 2014 Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation (WIMD), is has been agreed that there will be a priority focus to implement a new way of 

working in a number of the deprived communities within the County Borough. 

 

A fundamental change to how public services are collectively approached and delivered is required to address the multifaceted needs in the County 

Borough’s most deprived communities.  There should be more emphasis upon local government working with communities as enablers, rather than 

delivering for them. 

 

A greater emphasis on identifying community assets is required.  When practitioners begin with a focus on what communities have, as opposed to what 

they don’t have, a community’s efficacy in addressing its own need increases, as does its capacity to lever in external support.  Currently, services are 

designed to ‘fill gaps’ and ‘fix problems’, creating dependency and disempowering individuals who become passive recipients of services. 

P
age 137



 

The Council’s new approach to service provision will provide a changing perspective on building bridges with communities, mobilising individual and 

community assets and enabling a process of co-production, with community members as active agents in their own and their families’ lives.  Co-production 

requires users of services to be seen as experts in their own circumstances and capable of making decisions, while service providers move from being fixers 

to facilitators.  This will necessitate new relationships to be developed with front line professionals, and an enabling role being adopted. 

 

This will require an approach to public service provision that seeks to better coordinate services to achieve maximum impact.  The intention is to adopt a 

place-based focus, with a review of public services to assess how well they meet the outcomes required by residents, and how they could improve their 

impact and value for money.  The role of the Public Service Board, with the support of its partners, is key to implementing this approach and it provides an 

opportunity to develop this across a number of key areas across the County Borough. 

 

The projects identified in the HOVRA have the potential to provide far-reaching benefits for all residents, including those living in deprived areas within the 

Masterplan area and the wider County Borough. 

 

Section 7: Delivering and Implementing Change 

 

The table below sets out the projects identified in Section 6 of the report, together with the expected outputs that the project will deliver and how these 

proposals will address the objectives of A Foundation for Success.  The table identifies the indicative costs of each scheme and highlights any funding that 

has been secured to date.  It should be noted that many of these projects are at an embryonic stage and, as such, the outputs and costs can only be 

estimated. 

 

Strategic Objective Project Description Expected/Indicative 
Outputs 

Objectives of 
Regeneration Strategy Met 

Funding Secured and 
Potential Costs 

A - Complement, and 
integrate with, nearby 
initiatives such as the Ebbw 
Vale Enterprise Zone (EZ) in 
order to develop a strategic 
employment function for 
Rhymney, establishing it as 

A-1 Capital 
Valley, 
Rhymney 

Redevelopment for 
modern, fit-for-
purpose class B 
premises 

Creation of a Heads of 
the Valleys Enterprise 
Zone (expansion of 
Ebbw Vale EZ) 
 
Development of 
underutilised land/older 

SP1 
SP3-5 
SP9-11 
SB1-4 
CPP2-5 

Funding secured: none to 
date, expected to come 
from VTF or CCRCD 
 
Total cost: to be 
determined 
 

P
age 138



Strategic Objective Project Description Expected/Indicative 
Outputs 

Objectives of 
Regeneration Strategy Met 

Funding Secured and 
Potential Costs 

a gateway to the Valleys premises for 
employment use; 
 
Accelerate business 
growth within the 
Rhymney area; 
 
Creation of physical 
premises required for 
growth of 
complementary sectors 
to the EZ; 
 
Potential to capitalise 
on Metro 
improvements and 
greater connectivity 
with external markets, 
through existence of a 
railhead; 
 
Reduction in commuting 
through provision of 
local jobs; 
 
Inclusion of social 
clauses in relevant 
public sector contracts 
to encourage local 
community benefit 

Dialogue is ongoing 
between the Council, 
Welsh Government and 
site owner in relation to 
potential investment 

A - Complement, and A-2 The Development of Creation of a Heads of SP1 Funding secured: ERDF 

P
age 139



Strategic Objective Project Description Expected/Indicative 
Outputs 

Objectives of 
Regeneration Strategy Met 

Funding Secured and 
Potential Costs 

integrate with, nearby 
initiatives such as the Ebbw 
Vale Enterprise Zone (EZ) in 
order to develop a strategic 
employment function for 
Rhymney, establishing it as 
a gateway to the Valleys 

Lawns 
Industrial 
Estate 

additional (modern, 
fit-for-purpose) 
start-up units at The 
Lawns 

the Valleys Enterprise 
Zone in conjunction 
with Ebbw Vale; 
 
Development of 
additional (modern, fit-
for-purpose) start-up 
units at The Lawns; 
 
Better integration of 
business space within 
the sites, enhanced 
legibility of access; 
 
Additional space for 
business start-up 
provision to cater for 
demand; 
 
Potential to capitalise 
on Metro 
improvements through 
proximity to Rhymney 
Station; 
 
Reduction in commuting 
through provision of 
local jobs; 
 
Inclusion of social 
clauses in relevant 

SP3-5 
SP9-11 
SB1-5 
CPP2-5 

match-funded with CCBC 
core capital funding 
 
Future phases: Privately 
financed or via UK Shared 
Prosperity Fund 

P
age 140



Strategic Objective Project Description Expected/Indicative 
Outputs 

Objectives of 
Regeneration Strategy Met 

Funding Secured and 
Potential Costs 

public sector contracts 
to encourage local 
community benefit 

A - Complement, and 
integrate with, nearby 
initiatives such as the Ebbw 
Vale Enterprise Zone (EZ) in 
order to develop a strategic 
employment function for 
Rhymney, establishing it as 
a gateway to the Valleys 

A-3 Heads of 
the Valleys 
Industrial 
Estate 

Development of 
modern, fit-for-
purpose class B 
premises, potentially 
including 
redevelopment of 
existing stock and 
provision of a 
business 
conferencing facility 
to serve A465 
corridor 

Creation of a Heads of 
the Valleys Enterprise 
Zone in conjunction 
with Ebbw Vale; 
 
Development of 
underutilised land/older 
premises for 
employment use; 
 
Utilisation of vacant 
land for business 
conferencing facility 
and/or B2 use; 
 
Additional space for 
business start-up 
provision to cater for 
demand; 
 
Capitalising on good 
transport links (adjacent 
to A469, just south of 
A465); 
 
Reduction in commuting 
through provision of 
local jobs; 

SP1 
SP3-5 
SP9-11 
SB1-6 
CPP2-4 

Funding secured: likely to 
be privately financed 
 
Total cost: to be 
determined 

P
age 141



Strategic Objective Project Description Expected/Indicative 
Outputs 

Objectives of 
Regeneration Strategy Met 

Funding Secured and 
Potential Costs 

 
Creation of physical 
premises required for 
growth of key sectors, 
including existing life 
sciences presence 

B - Improve social and 
economic resilience through 
education, training and 
careers advice, and foster 
the development of the 
foundational economy 
within this area to ensure 
that economic growth 
accrues more equitably 

B-1 
Education, 
training and 
careers 
advice 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This is a cross-cutting 
objective that should 
be addressed as part 
of strengthening the 
area’s employment 
function 

Coordinated approach 
to education and 
training between 
relevant organisations; 
 
Improving links 
between education and 
training providers and 
business; 
 
Tailored 
education/training 
programmes to meet 
the requirements of 
business; 
 
Provision of appropriate 
career support through 
the curriculum and for 
adults; 
 
Addressing the 
mismatch between the 
skills needed to access 
jobs and the training 

SP1-3 
SP4-9 
SP11 
SB1-3 
SB5-6 
CPP5 
 

Funding secured: 
dependent on a range of 
stakeholders from the 
public and ‘third’ sectors 
 
Total cost: to be 
determined P

age 142



Strategic Objective Project Description Expected/Indicative 
Outputs 

Objectives of 
Regeneration Strategy Met 

Funding Secured and 
Potential Costs 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

provided; 
 
Upskilling to ensure that 
‘skills deficits’ are 
addressed in relation to 
current employment 
 
Attracting employers 
and improving 
prospects for 
indigenous growth 

B - Improve social and 
economic resilience through 
education, training and 
careers advice, and foster 
the development of the 
foundational economy 
within this area to ensure 
that economic growth 
accrues more equitably 

B-2 
Foundational 
economy 

This is a cross-cutting 
objective that should 
be addressed as part 
of ensuring 
widespread 
economic and social 
benefit 

Working with local 
businesses to establish 
networks of 
collaboration 
 
Ensure that Council 
procurement processes 
invest in local firms and 
organisations by 
utilising local expertise 
and putting in place 
social contracts that 
benefit the community 
 
Developing the 
necessary skills base to 
maintain networks of 
collaboration and access 
funding opportunities 
(WG Foundational 

SP1 
SP3-6 
SP8-11 
SB1-3 
SB5-6 
CPP5 

Funding secured: £1.5m 
will be available for the 
VTF area through the 
Welsh Government 
Foundational Economy 
Challenge Fund 
 
Total cost: to be 
determined 

P
age 143



Strategic Objective Project Description Expected/Indicative 
Outputs 

Objectives of 
Regeneration Strategy Met 

Funding Secured and 
Potential Costs 

Economy Challenge 
Fund) 

P
age 144



Strategic Objective Project Description Expected/Indicative 
Outputs 

Objectives of 
Regeneration Strategy Met 

Funding Secured and 
Potential Costs 

C - Expand the area’s sphere 
of influence and improve 
connectivity 

C-1 Land 
around 
Rhymney 
Station 

Station 
improvements, 
additional car 
parking and creation 
of a multi-function 
business hub 

Enhanced stabling 
facilities, platform 
extension and 
remodelling, additional 
parking, toilet block, 
new waiting rooms, 
cycle racks and ticketing 
and wifi upgrades; 
 
Creation of multi-
functional business hub, 
offering business units, 
live-work space and a 
commercial element 
including meeting 
facilities; 
 
Enhancing Rhymney’s 
business and 
commercial focus by 
taking advantage of 
increased connectivity; 
 
Additional space for 
local start-up provision; 
 
Potential to capitalise 
on Metro 
improvements through 
proximity to Rhymney 
Station; 
 
Reduction in commuting 
through provision of 
local jobs; 
 
Reuse of underutilised 

SP3-5 
SP9 
SP11 
SB1-5 
SQL3 
CPP2-4 

Funding secured: 
dependent on Transport 
for Wales commitments 
 
Total cost: to be 
determined 
 
 

P
age 145



Strategic Objective Project Description Expected/Indicative 
Outputs 

Objectives of 
Regeneration Strategy Met 

Funding Secured and 
Potential Costs 

C - Expand the area’s sphere 
of influence and improve 
connectivity 

C-2 Other 
stations 
(Pontlottyn, 
Brithdir, 
Tirphil) 

Station 
improvements at 
Pontlottyn, Brithdir 
and Tirphil Stations 

Enhanced facilities plus 
potential for EV 
charging infrastructure; 
 
Optimising increased 
journey frequency 
through facilities 
improvements, to 
encourage use of 
sustainable modes 

CPP2 
CPP4 

Funding secured: 
dependent on Transport 
for Wales commitments - 
EV infrastructure 
dependent on OLEV 
funding 
 
 
Total cost: to be 
determined 

C - Expand the area’s sphere 
of influence and improve 
connectivity 

C-3 
A465/A469 
Transport 
Hub 

Development of a 
transport 
interchange close to 
the intersection of 
the A465 and A469 

Provision of park and 
ride between A465 and 
Rhymney Station; 
 
Creation of sustainable 
transport links between 
A465 and new 
employment provision 
at Capital Valley et al; 
 
Development of links 
with planned and 
existing Active Travel 
routes; 
 
Enhancing multi-modal 
connectivity along A465 
corridor between 
Merthyr and Ebbw Vale; 
 
Increased access to 

SP1 
SP3 
SP6-9 
SB1-4 
CPP2-4 

Funding secured: Metro 
Enhancement Framework 
to be drawn up 
 
Total cost: to be 
determined 
 
 

P
age 146



Strategic Objective Project Description Expected/Indicative 
Outputs 

Objectives of 
Regeneration Strategy Met 

Funding Secured and 
Potential Costs 

employment, leisure, 
essential services for 
residents; 
 
Increased attractiveness 
of businesses to 
external markets and 
investors 

C - Expand the area’s sphere 
of influence and improve 
connectivity 

C-4 A469 
Resilience 
Route 

Pursue consideration 
of an A469 resilience 
route between New 
Tredegar and 
Rhymney 

Adding north-south 
resilience to the 
highway network in the 
Masterplan area; 
 
Increase in business 
confidence due to 
better intra-area links, 
enabling more firms to 
reach external markets; 
 
Potential for local 
business growth due to 
better connectivity; 
 
Reduction in commuting 
through provision of 
local jobs; 
 
Increased access to 
employment, leisure, 
essential services for 
residents 

SP3-4 
SP9 
SB1-4 
CPP1 
CPP4 

Funding secured: none to 
date 
 
Total cost: to be 
determined 
 

P
age 147



Strategic Objective Project Description Expected/Indicative 
Outputs 

Objectives of 
Regeneration Strategy Met 

Funding Secured and 
Potential Costs 

C - Expand the area’s sphere 
of influence and improve 
connectivity 

C-5 Former 
Skinner’s 
Site, 
Rhymney 

Development of a 
commercial or 
service-related 
facility, incorporating 
EV charging points to 
serve this stretch of 
the A465 corridor 

Addition of an 
‘attractor’ to encourage 
potential passing trade 
between Merthyr and 
Ebbw Vale, taking 
advantage of the site’s 
location just off the 
A465; 
 
‘Plugging a gap’ in terms 
of regional EV charging 
infrastructure, adding to 
the area’s sustainability 
credentials; 
 
Very close to Heads of 
the Valleys Industrial 
Estate – development of 
a regional business 
conferencing facility at 
this location could 
enhance the economic 
attraction of such a 
development 

SP4-5 
SP9 
SB1-4 
CPP1 
CPP3 
CPP5 

Funding secured: EV 
infrastructure dependent 
on OLEV funding 
 
Total cost: to be 
determined 

C - Expand the area’s sphere 
of influence and improve 
connectivity 

C-6 Dyffryn 
Terrace, New 
Tredegar 

Development of EV 
charging points 

Roll-out of the Council’s 
all-electric public 
transport network to 
the north of the County 
Borough; 
 
Sustainability benefits 

SP4 
SP9 

Funding secured: EV 
infrastructure dependent 
on OLEV funding 
 
Total cost: to be 
determined 
 

P
age 148



Strategic Objective Project Description Expected/Indicative 
Outputs 

Objectives of 
Regeneration Strategy Met 

Funding Secured and 
Potential Costs 

of EV charging 
provision; 
 
Utilisation of a public 
car park will increase 
accessibility of the 
scheme 

 

C - Expand the area’s sphere 
of influence and improve 
connectivity 

C-7 Active 
Travel 
Routes 

Developing a 
network of cycle 
routes and pathways 
over the next 15 
years, as per the 
Integrated Routes 
Map 

Increasing the network 
of sustainable 
connections between, 
and within, places; 
 
More comprehensive 
utilisation of Active 
Travel as a means of 
integrating different 
modes; 
 
More opportunities to 
utilise Active Travel as a 
means of accessing 
employment and 
essential services; 
 
Potential to link to 
additional routes, such 
as those associated with 
leisure and tourism 
facilities 

SP6 
SP8 
SQL3 

Funding secured: £390k 
Core Active Travel Fund 
allocation for 2019/20 
 
Total cost: LAs required 
to bid for funding 
annually 

D - Reinforce the role of 
Bargoed as a service centre 

D-1 Land at 
Bargoed 

Expansion of car 
parking provision 

Maximising usage 
through enhanced 

SB1-4 
SQL3 

Funding secured: Metro 
Enhancement Framework 

P
age 149



Strategic Objective Project Description Expected/Indicative 
Outputs 

Objectives of 
Regeneration Strategy Met 

Funding Secured and 
Potential Costs 

for the north of the County 
Borough 

Station and general station 
improvements 

station facilities and 
additional parking; 
 
Enhancing Bargoed’s 
business and 
commercial focus by 
taking advantage of 
increased connectivity; 
Increased attractiveness 
of development 
opportunities at 
northern end of town 
centre 

SQL7 
CPP2-4 

to be drawn up 
 
Total cost: to be 
determined 

D - Reinforce the role of 
Bargoed as a service centre 
for the north of the County 
Borough 

D-2 Business 
Quarter and 
Bargoed 
High Street 

Redevelopment of 
vacant units for 
office use, some 
retail and 
complementary 
commercial uses 

Enhancing Bargoed’s 
business and 
commercial focus by 
taking advantage of 
increased connectivity; 
 
Maximising the benefits 
arising from its  
proximity to bus and rail 
stations - opportunity to 
market Bargoed for 
office use, with better 
access to external 
markets; 
 
Reduction in commuting 
through provision of 
local jobs; 

SB1-4 
SQL3 
SQL5 
SQL7 
CPP2-3 
CPP5 

Funding secured: VTF 
funding may become 
available.  Possibility of 
expanding scope of 
Welsh Government’s 
Urban Centre Property 
Enhancement Fund 
(which targets 
redevelopment of vacant 
and underused premises) 
 
Total cost: to be 
determined 
 
 

P
age 150



Strategic Objective Project Description Expected/Indicative 
Outputs 

Objectives of 
Regeneration Strategy Met 

Funding Secured and 
Potential Costs 

 
Reuse of underutilised 
space; 
 
Diversifying role of town 
centre, increasing 
economic resilience 

D - Reinforce the role of 
Bargoed as a service centre 
for the north of the County 
Borough 

D-3 Bargoed 
Retail 
Plateau 

Development of 
remaining part of 
Bargoed Retail 
Plateau for 
commercial use 

Development of 
complementary uses to 
existing retail in the 
vicinity; 
 
Potential for increased 
town centre footfall, 
thereby benefiting town 
centre as a whole; 
 
Development of 
underutilised land; 
 
Diversifying role of town 
centre, increasing 
economic resilience 

SQL3 
SQL7 
CPP3 

Funding secured: likely to 
be from private sector 
investment 
 
Total cost: to be 
determined 
 

D - Reinforce the role of 
Bargoed as a service centre 
for the north of the County 
Borough 

D-4 Former 
Cinema, 
Hanbury 
Square 

Redevelopment of 
the former cinema 
for 
commercial/office 
use 

Development of 
complementary uses to 
existing retail in the 
vicinity; 
 
Taking advantage of 
improved connectivity 
through Metro; 

SB1-4 
SQL3 
SQL7 
CPP3 

Funding secured: VTF 
funding may become 
available.  Possibility of 
expanding scope of 
Welsh Government’s 
Urban Centre Property 
Enhancement Fund 
(which targets 

P
age 151



Strategic Objective Project Description Expected/Indicative 
Outputs 

Objectives of 
Regeneration Strategy Met 

Funding Secured and 
Potential Costs 

 
Reutilisation of existing 
premises; 
 
Diversifying role of town 
centre, increasing 
economic resilience 

redevelopment of vacant 
and underused premises) 
 
Total cost: to be 
determined 

 
 

E - Maximise the impact of 
the Valleys Regional Park, 
protect and enhance 
important green spaces and 
built heritage and promote 
tourism 

E-1 Parc 
Cwm Darran 

Expansion of the 
park’s role as a 
visitor attraction and 
community resource 

Improved tourism 
facility for local 
residents and visitors; 
 
Economic benefits of 
increased dwell time 
and spending; 
 
Knock-on benefits for 
additional facilities and 
services in nearby 
locations e.g. shops and 
pubs; 
 
Development of social 
capital through 
education and training 
programmes in relation 
to community 
woodland; 
 
Promoting more active, 
healthier lifestyles 
through increased 

SP5-6 
SP8 
SB1-2 
SB6 
SQL1-2 
SQL4 

Funding secured: none to 
date 
 
Total cost: £567k (£55k 
design costs) according to 
Visioning Study 
 

P
age 152



Strategic Objective Project Description Expected/Indicative 
Outputs 

Objectives of 
Regeneration Strategy Met 

Funding Secured and 
Potential Costs 

provision of outdoor 
activities 

E - Maximise the impact of 
the Valleys Regional Park, 
protect and enhance 
important green spaces and 
built heritage and promote 
tourism 

E-2 Parc Bryn 
Bach, Bute 
Town and 
Relevant 
Links 

Better coordination 
of existing facilities 
(Parc Bryn Bach, 
Bute Town) through 
extension of cycle 
routes, 
interpretation work 
re. Rhymney Upper 
Furnace 

Better linkage of 
tourism facilities in the 
area; 
 
Increase in visitor 
numbers to Rhymney 
attractions as a result of 
Parc Bryn Bach 
patronage; 
 
Developing a greater 
role for Bute Town 
Reservoir; 
Knock-on benefits for 
additional facilities and 
services in nearby 
locations e.g. shops and 
pubs; 
 
Promoting more active, 
healthier lifestyles 
through extension of 
walking and cycling links 

SP8 
SB1-2 
SQL1-2 
SQL4 

Funding secured: none to 
date 
 
Total cost: to be 
determined 
 

E - Maximise the impact of 
the Valleys Regional Park, 
protect and enhance 
important green spaces and 
built heritage and promote 
tourism 

E-3 Winding 
House 

Utilisation of office 
space and better 
integration of 
educational, visitor 
and economic 
development 

Increased office 
provision for local 
businesses and others, 
inc. Dwr Cymru Welsh 
Water; 
 

SP1 
SP3-7 
SP9 
SB1-3 
SB5-6 
SQL2-4 

Funding secured: 
temporary contract with 
DCWW for duration of 
infrastructure works (2 
years) 
 

P
age 153



Strategic Objective Project Description Expected/Indicative 
Outputs 

Objectives of 
Regeneration Strategy Met 

Funding Secured and 
Potential Costs 

functions Assistance to local 
business start-ups; 
 
Strengthening of a 
multi-purpose 
community hub through 
integration of different 
services and uses; 
 
Retention of a locally 
important cultural 
facility 

CPP5 Total cost: to be 
determined – DCWW use 
will generate income 
 

E - Maximise the impact of 
the Valleys Regional Park, 
protect and enhance 
important green spaces and 
built heritage and promote 
tourism 

E-4 
Markham 
Colliery 

Development of 
country park 
including extension 
of existing routes, 
widening visitor 
appeal and creation 
of appropriate 
economic uses 

Improved tourism 
facility for local 
residents and visitors; 
 
Economic benefits of 
increased dwell time 
and spending, plus links 
to other facilities such 
as Penyfan Pond; 
 
Diversification of local 
economy to include 
appropriate rural 
economic uses; 
 
Community 
development through 
activities such as 
woodland management; 

SP4-5 
SP8 
SB1-2 
SB5-6 
SQL1-2 
SQL4 

Funding secured: none to 
date 
 
Total cost: £1 million 
(£87k design costs) 
according to Visioning 
Study 

P
age 154



Strategic Objective Project Description Expected/Indicative 
Outputs 

Objectives of 
Regeneration Strategy Met 

Funding Secured and 
Potential Costs 

 
Promoting more active, 
healthier lifestyles 
through increased 
provision of outdoor 
activities 

E - Maximise the impact of 
the Valleys Regional Park, 
protect and enhance 
important green spaces and 
built heritage and promote 
tourism 

E-5 Gelligaer 
and Merthyr 
Common 

Enhanced 
custodianship, 
community 
development and 
increased utilisation 
of the Common as a 
visitor attraction 

Launch of Tirwedd y 
Comin, to protect and 
maintain the Common; 
 
Launch of Tirwedd y 
Digidol, which will 
establish a virtual data 
centre for residents and 
visitors; 
 
Linkage to other 
attractions e.g. Parc 
Cwm Darran, Bute 
Town; 
 
Potential for 
accommodation and 
hospitality provision in 
adjacent settlements; 
 
Community 
development through 
landscape stewardship 
and digital technology 

SP4-6 
SP8 
SB1-2 
SB6 
SQL1-2 
SQL4 
CPP6 

Funding secured: Tirwedd 
y Comin £160k (£128k 
RDP funding via two local 
action groups, £32k from 
GMCA); 
 
Tirwedd y Digidol £33.5k 
(£26.8k RDP funding via 
Cwm y Mynydd LAG, 
£6.7k from CCBC) 
 
Total cost: Tirwedd y 
Comin £160k, Tirwedd y 
Digidol £33.5k 

E - Maximise the impact of E-6 Parc Increase park’s Increase park’s SP6 Funding secured: £390k 

P
age 155



Strategic Objective Project Description Expected/Indicative 
Outputs 

Objectives of 
Regeneration Strategy Met 

Funding Secured and 
Potential Costs 

the Valleys Regional Park, 
protect and enhance 
important green spaces and 
built heritage and promote 
tourism 

Coetir 
Bargod 

accessibility in 
relation to local 
settlements via new 
and extended cycle 
and walking routes 

accessibility as a local 
visitor destination; 
 
Increased opportunities 
to utilise the most 
sustainable forms of 
travel; 
 
Greater opportunity for 
linkages to additional 
nearby facilities through 
the VRP; 
 
Promoting more active, 
healthier lifestyles 
through use of the park 

SP8 
SQL1-2 
SQL4 
CPP2 

Core Active Travel Fund 
allocation for 2019/20 
 
Total cost: LAs required 
to bid for funding 
annually 

E - Maximise the impact of 
the Valleys Regional Park, 
protect and enhance 
important green spaces and 
built heritage and promote 
tourism 

E-7 Bargoed 
Park 

Optimise the role of 
the park in terms of 
the sustainability of 
the town 

Look at opportunities to 
maximise visitor 
numbers; 
 
Ensure that facilities are 
fit for purpose 

SP8 
SQL1-3 

Funding secured: none to 
date 
 
Total cost: to be 
determined 

F - Support proposals for 
renewable energy 
generation and community 
benefit through utility 
infrastructure 

F-1 North of 
the A465 

Potential 
development of a 
renewable energy 
scheme as part of 
the Heads of the 
Valleys ‘Energy Belt’ 

Development of a 
renewable energy 
scheme would give the 
area an economic 
purpose, as part of the 
wider ‘Energy Belt’; 
 
Potential job creation 
within the energy 

SP4-5 
SB1-2 
SQL1 
 

Private sector investment 
predominantly in on-
shore wind, could be 
opportunities for CCBC to 
co-invest 
 
Total cost: to be 
determined 

P
age 156



Strategic Objective Project Description Expected/Indicative 
Outputs 

Objectives of 
Regeneration Strategy Met 

Funding Secured and 
Potential Costs 

sector; 
 
Sustainability benefits 
of renewable energy; 
 
Utilisation of funds for 
community benefit, and 
community 
development as a result 
of engagement by 
developers 

F - Support proposals for 
renewable energy 
generation and community 
benefit through utility 
infrastructure 

F-2 Markham 
Renewable 
Energy 
Scheme 

Potential 
development of a 
community 
renewable energy 
scheme 

Contribution to the HOV 
‘Energy Belt’; 
 
Sustainability benefits 
of renewable energy; 
 
Community resilience; 
 
Integration with, and 
contribution to, the 
range of rural economic 
uses within the country 
park 

SP4-5 
SP9 
SB1-2 
SQL1 
 

Funding secured: none to 
date 
 
Total cost: to be 
determined 

F - Support proposals for 
renewable energy 
generation and community 
benefit through utility 
infrastructure 

F-3 Rhymney 
to Bargoed 
Water 
Resilient 
Communities 

Increasing water 
resilience through 
improvements to 
physical 
infrastructure and 
community 
engagement 

Embedding 
sustainability principles 
within the community; 
 
Ensuring a joined-up 
approach between 
stakeholder 

SP4-6 
SP8 
SP9 
SP11 
SB6 
 

Scheme funded by 
DCWW 

P
age 157



Strategic Objective Project Description Expected/Indicative 
Outputs 

Objectives of 
Regeneration Strategy Met 

Funding Secured and 
Potential Costs 

organisations; 
 
Increased community 
development and 
confidence; 
 
Physical improvements 
to utility infrastructure 

G - Support the 
development and 
diversification of housing in 
sustainable locations 

G-1 
Aberbargoed 
Plateau 

Mixed-use scheme 
comprising some 
residential, FE 
provision and 
extension of the 
cycle route to Parc 
Coetir Bargod 

Realisation of some 
residential development 
in close proximity to 
existing employment 
uses (Angel Lane, 
Bowen Ind Est); 
 
Investment in training 
and education through 
FE provision; 
 
Establishing further 
links with Parc Coetir 
Bargod, promoting 
walking and cycling; 
 
Enhancing 
Aberbargoed’s role as a 
sustainable settlement 

SP1-6 
SP8-9 
SB2 
SB6 
SQL2-3 
SQL5-6 

Funding secured: none to 
date 
 
Total cost: to be 
determined 

G - Support the 
development and 
diversification of housing in 
sustainable locations 

G-2 
Bedwellty 
School 

Development of 
former Bedwellty 
School site for 
residential 

Utilisation of vacant, 
brownfield land; 
 
Diversification of 

SQL5-6 Funding secured: 
privately funded 
 
Total cost: to be 

P
age 158



Strategic Objective Project Description Expected/Indicative 
Outputs 

Objectives of 
Regeneration Strategy Met 

Funding Secured and 
Potential Costs 

housing stock determined 

G - Support the 
development and 
diversification of housing in 
sustainable locations 

G-3 Empty 
Homes Grant 
Scheme 

Grant funding for 
purchasers of empty 
homes for 
renovation 

Potential reduction in 
the number of empty 
homes; 
 
Increase in the diversity 
of housing stock; 
 
Development of skills; 
 
Strengthening of local 
supply chains through 
utilisation of local firms 

SP1 
SP3-6 
SP10 
SB1-3 
SB5 
SQL5-6 

£10m over two years 
provided by Welsh 
Government for the VTF 
area 

H - Provide a suitable level 
of community, leisure and 
education facilities, aligning 
with national and local 
initiatives including 21st 
Century Schools and the 
CCBC Sport and Active 
Recreation Strategy where 
applicable, and establish 
Integrated Well-Being 
Networks in order to 
connect communities’ 
strengths and assets 

H-1 21st 
Century 
Schools 

Replacement and 
relocation of school 
buildings in Rhymney 
and Bargoed via 21st 
Century Schools 
programme 

Developing fit-for-
purpose school 
buildings in areas of 
high deprivation; 
 
Expansion of Welsh 
medium education; 
 
Reduction of surplus 
places and savings in 
financial terms; 
 
Increased opportunities 
for community use and 
childcare provision 

SP2 
SP6 
SP8-9 
SB6 
SQL2-3 
 

Funding envelope subject 
to Business Case 
Approval: £110 million for 
Band B proposals across 
CCBC - £78m capital 
funding (25%/35% met by 
CCBC), £32m revenue 
funding (19% met by 
CCBC) 
 
Total cost: £4.9 million 
(Rhymney), £5.9 million 
(Bargoed) 

H - Provide a suitable level 
of community, leisure and 
education facilities, and 

H-2 Rhymney 
Integrated 
Health and 

Continued 
integration of 
community-based 

Ensuring public 
availability and 
awareness of available 

SP1-9 
SB5-6 
SQL2-3 

Funding secured: 
dependent on a range of 
stakeholders from the 

P
age 159



Strategic Objective Project Description Expected/Indicative 
Outputs 

Objectives of 
Regeneration Strategy Met 

Funding Secured and 
Potential Costs 

establish Integrated Well-
Being Networks in order to 
connect communities’ 
strengths and assets 

Social Care 
Centre and 
Hafod Deg 
Resource 
Centre 

services support; 
 
Better coordination of 
distinct, yet 
complementary, 
services; 
 
Provision of workspace 
for community and 
volunteering groups 

public and ‘third’ sectors 
 
Total cost: to be 
identified 

H - Provide a suitable level 
of community, leisure and 
education facilities, and 
establish Integrated Well-
Being Networks in order to 
connect communities’ 
strengths and assets 

H-3 
Integrated 
Well-Being 
Networks 

Establish IWNs for 
the Masterplan area 

Undertake a mapping 
exercise of existing 
facilities, in order to 
make networks more 
identifiable; 
 
Connection of 
community-based 
‘hubs’ and service 
deliverers; 
 
Avoidance of 
duplication in terms of 
provision of advice and 
signposting; 
 
Greater clarity for 
service users and 
accessibility of 
information 

SP1-9 
SB5-6 
SQL2-3 

Funding secured: funded 
by ABHB 

I - Ensure that accessibility  This is a cross-cutting Accessibility for those SQL3  

P
age 160



Strategic Objective Project Description Expected/Indicative 
Outputs 

Objectives of 
Regeneration Strategy Met 

Funding Secured and 
Potential Costs 

for all is embedded in all 
improvement schemes 

objective that should 
be considered an 
integral part of all 
projects 

living, working or 
visiting the Masterplan 
area 

J - Ensure all communities 
within the Heads of the 
Valleys are able to engage 
with, and benefit from, the 
Masterplan 

 Address multi-
faceted needs in the 
most deprived 
communities by 
adopting a place-
based focus that 
seeks to better 
coordinate services 
to achieve maximum 
impact 

Social, economic and 
environmental outputs 
for deprived 
communities 

SP1-11 
SB1 
SB6 
SQL3 
SQL6 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 1: A Foundation for Success Objectives 

 

Supporting People Supporting Business Supporting Quality of Life Connecting People and Places 

SP1: Increase employability SB1: Building a more resilient and 
diversified economy 

SQL1: Manage the natural heritage 
and its resources appropriately for 
future generations, whilst 
accommodating much-needed 

CPP1: Promote and identify major 
highway projects that would 
significantly improve connectivity 
and accessibility 

P
age 161



Supporting People Supporting Business Supporting Quality of Life Connecting People and Places 

sustainable development, protecting 
wildlife and encouraging the use of 
green spaces to promote well-being 

SP2: Raise educational attainment SB2: Supporting economic growth 
and innovation 

SQL2: Improve access to culture, 
leisure and the arts 

CPP2: Promote public transport 
integration and connectivity 

SP3: Reduce worklessness SB3: Creating an environment that 
nurtures business 

SQL3: Active place marking CPP3: Promote place-making 
development around key transport 
hubs and nodes 

SP4: Improve resilience and support 
development of the foundational 
economy 

SB4: Key sites and infrastructure for 
employment opportunities 

SQL4: There is a need to increase 
tourism in Caerphilly, focusing on 
the historic and natural heritage of 
the area and the opportunities that 
this presents 

CPP4: Actively promote rail 
improvements and the 
reinstatement of new links 

SP5: Develop skills in key growth 
areas 

SB5: Boost business support and 
enterprise 

SQL5: Improve the delivery of new 
housing and diversify housing across 
all tenures 

CPP5: Seek to reduce travelling 
distance and reduce out-commuting 

SP6: Targeted intervention of key 
groups 

SB6: Improve the links between 
businesses, schools and education 
and training providers 

SQL6: Improve the quality of the 
existing housing stock through 
targeted intervention, particularly in 
terms of Council-owned housing 
stock 

CPP6: Promote digital connectivity 

SP7: Ensure a clear, coordinated 
‘package of services is available in 
order to reconnect people to 
employment 

 SQL7: Refocus town centres to serve 
the needs of residents and 
businesses 

 

SP8: Support interventions to 
improve health 

   

SP9: Reduce inequality by reducing 
the number of lower super output 
areas within the top 10% deprived in 
Wales 

   

SP10: Ensure that cultivational    

P
age 162



Supporting People Supporting Business Supporting Quality of Life Connecting People and Places 

procurement is a key consideration 
in the procurement of goods and 
services 

SP11: Tackle in-work poverty    

 

 

       

 

     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2: Well-Being of Future Generations 

 

The Masterplan has had regard for the seven well-being goals set out within the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.  In order to 

demonstrate this, an assessment has been made as to which well-being goals each strategic objective would support.  The Strategic Objectives of the 

Masterplan are: 

 

P
age 163



A - Complement, and integrate with, nearby initiatives such as the Ebbw Vale Enterprise Zone (EZ) in order to develop a strategic employment function for 

Rhymney, establishing it as a gateway to the Valleys; 

 

B - Improve social and economic resilience through education, training and careers advice, and foster the development of the foundational economy within 

this area to ensure that economic growth accrues more equitably; 

 

C - Expand the area’s sphere of influence and improve connectivity; 

 

D - Reinforce the role of Bargoed as a service centre for the north of the County Borough; 

 

E - Maximise the impact of the Valleys Regional Park, protect and enhance green spaces and built heritage and promote tourism; 

 

F - Support proposals for renewable energy generation and community benefit through utility infrastructure; 

 

G - Support the development and diversification of housing in sustainable locations; 

 

H - Provide a suitable level of community, leisure and education facilities, aligning with national and local initiatives including 21st Century Schools and the 

CCBC Sport and Active Recreation Strategy where applicable, and establish Integrated Well-Being Networks in order to connect communities’ strengths and 

assets; 

 

I - Ensure that accessibility for all is embedded in all improvement schemes; 

 

J - Ensure all communities within the Heads of the Valleys are able to engage and benefit from the Masterplan 

 

Goal Description of the Goal How it will be achieved via the Masterplan 

A prosperous Wales An innovative, productive and low-carbon society 
which recognises the limits of the global 
environment and therefore uses resources 
efficiently and proportionately (including acting 

Relevant Strategic Objectives – A, B, C, D, F 
Objectives A-D seek to increase employment by 
producing investment in specific sites and 
locations within the context of national and 

P
age 164



Goal Description of the Goal How it will be achieved via the Masterplan 

on climate change); and which develops a skilled 
and well-educated population in an economy 
which generates wealth and provides 
employment opportunities, allowing people to 
take advantage of the wealth generated through 
securing decent work. 

regional initiatives such as City Deal, VTF, Tech 
Valleys and Metro.  Ensuring that education and 
training are undertaken with this context in mind 
will produce the skills and employment base that 
lends additional sustainability to this approach.  
Metro, and the Masterplan’s role within the VTF’s 
‘Energy Belt’, will contribute to a society that 
recognises the need to generate sustainable 
resources, and respects the limits of the 
environment. 

A resilient Wales A nation which maintains and enhances a 
biodiverse natural environment with healthy, 
functioning ecosystems that support social, 
economic and ecological resilience and the 
capacity to adapt to change (for example climate 
change). 

Relevant Strategic Objectives – C, E, F 
The Valleys Regional Park and the promotion of 
tourism relies, in large part, on the natural 
environment in which it is set, and therefore 
protection of this is paramount in its success.  
Improving accessibility and connectivity by way of 
expanding the capabilities of the public transport 
network through Metro, and the supporting of 
renewable energy schemes, are two ways in 
which the Masterplan seeks to strengthen 
environmental resilience and sustainability. 

A healthier Wales A society in which people’s physical and mental 
well-being is maximised and in which choices and 
behaviours that benefit future health are 
understood. 

Relevant Strategic Objectives – A, E, G, H 
All objectives will positively impact on this goal to 
a degree, but strengthening the area’s economy, 
developing measures to ensure a supply of good 
quality housing stock, opportunities to utilise the 
natural environment for leisure purposes and 
ensuring access to facilities and services that 
directly enhance health and well-being are of 
utmost importance. 

A more equal Wales A society that enables people to fulfil their 
potential no matter what their background or 

Relevant Strategic Objectives – A, B, C, E, G, H, I, J 
Objectives concerning connectivity in relation to 

P
age 165



Goal Description of the Goal How it will be achieved via the Masterplan 

circumstances (including their socioeconomic 
background and circumstances). 

job opportunities and key services, leisure and the 
Valleys Regional Park and ensuring the delivery of 
new housing are important in terms of enabling 
people in the Masterplan area to access such 
things.  However, the strengthening of the local 
economy, along with adequate levels of education 
and training to enable more people to access such 
opportunities, will help reduce inequality. 

A Wales of cohesive communities Attractive, viable, safe and well-connected 
communities. 

Relevant Strategic Objectives – A, B, C, D, E, F, G, 
H, I, J 
Improving the economic fortunes of the area and 
the redevelopment of key sites in line with this 
ethos, along with the Metro proposals, will make 
the area increasingly viable as a series of 
distinctive, yet connected and interdependent, 
communities.  Programmes such as the Valleys 
Regional Park will add to its attractiveness, both 
in terms of residents and visitors alike. 

A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh 
language 

A society that promotes and protects culture, 
heritage and the Welsh language, and which 
encourages people to participate in the arts, 
sports and recreation. 

Relevant Strategic Objectives - E 
Developing the Valleys Regional Park concept and 
maximising the impact of the area’s cultural 
heritage will encourage understanding of this 
aspect and participation in related activities. 
 
The Masterplan will be available bilingually. 

A globally responsive Wales A nation which, when doing anything to improve 
the economic, social, environmental and cultural 
well-being of Wales, takes account of whether 
doing such a thing may make a positive 
contribution to global well-being. 

Relevant Strategic Objectives – C, E, F 
There are strong links between this goal and ‘A 
resilient Wales’.  The Valleys Regional Park 
proposals require the protection and 
enhancement of green spaces in its effort to 
develop the area for tourism. 
 

P
age 166



Goal Description of the Goal How it will be achieved via the Masterplan 

The Masterplan promotes the use of more 
sustainable modes of transport in the form of 
Metro and Active Travel, and references the 
opportunity to promote renewable energy 
generation. 

 

The development of the Masterplan has also been informed by the five ways of working: 

 

Involvement – The proposals contained within the Masterplan are subject to consultation with the local community, and have been developed through 

engagement with stakeholders such as landowners, partner organisations including the Local Health Board and Idris Davies School, and local authority ward 

members and community councillors representing the various communities within the Masterplan area. 

 

Collaboration – The development of the Masterplan has drawn upon the expertise from key representatives across local authority departments, including 

Planning, Regeneration, Housing, Engineering and Countryside.  The delivery of the projects identified within the Masterplan will involve collaboration 

between the public, private and third sectors, and the Council will work closely with these partners to deliver schemes in a collaborative manner. 

 

Long term – The objectives identified, and the projects that will deliver these objectives, are part of a longer-term vision of enhancing the role of the Heads 

of the Valleys as a sub-regional economic hub capable of supporting local communities.  The Masterplan recognises the need for development in order to 

support economic growth, but recognises that this development should be of a sustainable nature, both in terms of its purpose and its location. 

 

Integration – The projects identified in the Masterplan will help deliver a number of the objectives of within the Council’s regeneration strategy A 

Foundation for Success (as set out within Section 7 of this document), as well as proposals contained within the adopted Local Development Plan.  They will 

also deliver against the Council’s own well-being objectives by identifying projects that will lead to job creation and training opportunities, promote more 

healthy and active lifestyles and reduce the carbon footprint through improved Active Travel routes and facilities locally. 

 

Prevention – The Masterplan recognises that there are a number of challenges within the Heads of the Valleys that need to be addressed, in order to 

realise the vision.  The proposals identified will respond to these key concerns and will raise the profile of the area, developing the economy within the 

context of the A465 corridor, increasing and improving the tourism offer and enhancing town centres – all from the basis of improved connectivity, 

P
age 167



infrastructural investment and an advantageous strategic location in regional terms – thereby improving quality of life for those visiting, living and working 

in the Masterplan area. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 3: Assessment of Site-Specific Proposals against the National Well-Being Goals and the CCBC Well-Being Objectives 

 

This appendix provides an initial assessment of the projects identified within the Masterplan against the national well-being goals and the Council’s well-

being objectives, as set out within the Corporate Plan 2018-23.  The national well-being objectives are set out in Appendix 2, and the corporate objectives 

P
age 168



are set out below.  It should be noted that many of the projects identified are at an embryonic stage and therefore a detailed analysis of the relationship 

between proposals and the well-being goals and objectives cannot be undertaken at this stage. 

 

Caerphilly CBC Well-Being Objectives 

 

Number Description 

Objective 1 Improve education opportunities for all 

Objective 2 Enabling employment 

Objective 3 Address the availability, condition and sustainability of homes through the County Borough and provide advice, assistance or support to 
help improve people’s well-being 

Objective 4 Promote a modern, integrated and sustainable transport system that increases opportunity, promotes prosperity and minimises the 
adverse impacts on the environment 

Objective 5 Creating a County Borough that supports a healthy lifestyle in accordance with the sustainable development principle within the Well-
Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

Objective 6 Support citizens to remain independent and improve their well-being 

 

Strategic 
Objective 

Project Description National Well-Being Goals CCBC Well-Being Objective 
2018-23 

A A-1 Capital Valley, Rhymney Redevelopment for modern, fit-for-purpose 
class B premises 

A prosperous Wales; 
 
A more equal Wales; 
 
A Wales of cohesive  
communities 

Enabling employment; 
 
Support citizens to remain 
independent and improve 
their well-being 

 A-2 The Lawns Industrial 
Estate 

Development of additional (modern, fit-for-
purpose) start-up units at The Lawns 

A prosperous Wales; 
 
A healthier Wales; 
 
A more equal Wales; 
 
A Wales of cohesive 
communities 

Enabling employment; 
 
Support citizens to remain 
independent and improve 
their well-being 

P
age 169



Strategic 
Objective 

Project Description National Well-Being Goals CCBC Well-Being Objective 
2018-23 

 A-3 Heads of the Valleys 
Industrial Estate 

Development of modern, fit-for-purpose class B 
premises, potentially including redevelopment 
of existing stock and provision of a business 
conferencing facility to serve A465 corridor 

A prosperous Wales; 
 
A healthier Wales; 
 
A more equal Wales; 
 
A Wales of cohesive 
communities 

Enabling employment; 
 
Support citizens to remain 
independent and improve 
their well-being 

B B-1 Education, training and 
careers advice 

This is a cross-cutting objective that should be 
addressed as part of strengthening the area’s 
employment function 

A prosperous Wales; 
 
A more equal Wales; 
 
A Wales of cohesive 
communities 

Improve education 
opportunities for all; 
 
Enabling employment; 
 
Support citizens to remain 
independent and improve 
their well-being 

 B-2 Foundational economy This is a cross-cutting objective that should be 
addressed as part of ensuring widespread 
economic and social benefit 

A prosperous Wales; 
 
A more equal Wales; 
 
A Wales of cohesive 
communities 

Improve education 
opportunities for all; 
 
Enabling employment; 
 
Support citizens to remain 
independent and improve 
their well-being 

C C-1 Land around Rhymney 
Station 

Station improvements, additional car parking 
and creation of a multi-function business hub 

A prosperous Wales; 
 
A resilient Wales; 
 
A more equal Wales; 
 
A Wales of cohesive 

Enabling employment; 
 
Promote a modern, 
integrated and sustainable 
transport system that 
increases opportunity, 
promotes prosperity and 

P
age 170



Strategic 
Objective 

Project Description National Well-Being Goals CCBC Well-Being Objective 
2018-23 

communities; 
 
A globally responsive Wales 

minimises the adverse 
impacts on the environment; 
 
Support citizens to remain 
independent and improve 
their well-being 

 C-2 Other stations 
(Pontlottyn, Brithdir, Tirphil) 

Station improvements at Pontlottyn, Brithdir 
and Tirphil Stations 

A resilient Wales; 
 
A more equal Wales; 
 
A Wales of cohesive 
communities; 
 
A globally responsive Wales 

Promote a modern, 
integrated and sustainable 
transport system that 
increases opportunity, 
promotes prosperity and 
minimises the adverse 
impacts on the environment; 
 
Support citizens to remain 
independent and improve 
their well-being 

 C-3 A465/A469 Transport 
Hub 

Development of a transport interchange close to 
the intersection of the A465 and A469 

A prosperous Wales; 
 
A resilient Wales; 
 
A more equal Wales; 
 
A Wales of cohesive 
communities; 
 
A globally responsive Wales 

Enabling employment; 
 
Promote a modern, 
integrated and sustainable 
transport system that 
increases opportunity, 
promotes prosperity and 
minimises the adverse 
impacts on the environment; 
 
Support citizens to remain 
independent and improve 
their well-being 

 C-4 A469 Resilience Route Pursue consideration of an A469 resilience route A prosperous Wales; Enabling employment; 

P
age 171



Strategic 
Objective 

Project Description National Well-Being Goals CCBC Well-Being Objective 
2018-23 

between New Tredegar and Rhymney  
A resilient Wales; 
 
A more equal Wales; 
 
A Wales of cohesive 
communities; 
 
A globally responsive Wales 

 
Promote a modern, 
integrated and sustainable 
transport system that 
increases opportunity, 
promotes prosperity and 
minimises the adverse 
impacts on the environment; 
 
Support citizens to remain 
independent and improve 
their well-being 

 C-5 Former Skinner’s Site, 
Rhymney 

Development of a commercial or service-related 
facility, incorporating EV charging points to 
serve this stretch of the A465 corridor 

A prosperous Wales; 
 
A resilient Wales; 
 
A Wales of cohesive 
communities; 
 
A globally responsive Wales 

Enabling employment; 
 
Promote a modern, 
integrated and sustainable 
transport system that 
increases opportunity, 
promotes prosperity and 
minimises the adverse 
impacts on the environment; 
 
Support citizens to remain 
independent and improve 
their well-being 

 C-6 Dyffryn Terrace, New 
Tredegar 

Development of EV charging points A resilient Wales; 
 
A Wales of cohesive 
communities; 
 
A globally responsive Wales 

Promote a modern, 
integrated and sustainable 
transport system that 
increases opportunity, 
promotes prosperity and 
minimises the adverse 

P
age 172



Strategic 
Objective 

Project Description National Well-Being Goals CCBC Well-Being Objective 
2018-23 

impacts on the environment; 
 
Support citizens to remain 
independent and improve 
their well-being 

 C-7 Active Travel Routes Developing a network of cycle routes and 
pathways over the next 15 years, as per the 
Integrated Routes Map 

A resilient Wales; 
 
A Wales of cohesive 
communities; 
 
A globally responsive Wales 

Promote a modern, 
integrated and sustainable 
transport system that 
increases opportunity, 
promotes prosperity and 
minimises the adverse 
impacts on the environment; 
 
Support citizens to remain 
independent and improve 
their well-being 

D D-1 Land at Bargoed Station Expansion of car parking provision and general 
station improvements 

A prosperous Wales; 
 
A resilient Wales; 
 
A Wales of cohesive 
communities 

Enabling employment; 
 
Promote a modern, 
integrated and sustainable 
transport system that 
increases opportunity, 
promotes prosperity and 
minimises the adverse 
impacts on the environment; 
 
Support citizens to remain 
independent and improve 
their well-being 

 D-2 Business Quarter and 
Bargoed High Street 

Redevelopment of vacant units for office use, 
some retail and complementary commercial 

A prosperous Wales; 
 

Enabling employment; 
 

P
age 173



Strategic 
Objective 

Project Description National Well-Being Goals CCBC Well-Being Objective 
2018-23 

uses A more equal Wales; 
 
A Wales of cohesive 
communities 

Support citizens to remain 
independent and improve 
their well-being 

 D-3 Bargoed Retail Plateau Development of remaining part of Bargoed 
Retail Plateau for commercial use 

A prosperous Wales; 
 
A Wales of cohesive 
communities 

Enabling employment; 
 
Support citizens to remain 
independent and improve 
their well-being 

 D-4 Former Cinema, Hanbury 
Square 

Redevelopment of the former cinema for 
commercial/office use 

A prosperous Wales; 
 
A more equal Wales; 
 
A Wales of cohesive 
communities 

Enabling employment; 
 
Support citizens to remain 
independent and improve 
their well-being 

E E-1 Parc Cwm Darran Expansion of the park’s role as a visitor 
attraction and community resource 

A prosperous Wales; 
 
A resilient Wales; 
 
A healthier Wales; 
 
A Wales of cohesive 
communities; 
 
A Wales of vibrant culture 
and thriving Welsh language; 
 
A globally responsive Wales 

Creating a County Borough 
that supports a healthy 
lifestyle in accordance with 
the sustainable development 
principle within the Well-
Being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015; 
 
Support citizens to remain 
independent and improve 
their well-being 

 E-2 Parc Bryn Bach, Bute 
Town and Relevant Links 

Better coordination of existing facilities (Parc 
Bryn Bach, Bute Town) through extension of 
cycle routes, interpretation work re. Rhymney 

A resilient Wales; 
 
A healthier Wales; 

Creating a County Borough 
that supports a healthy 
lifestyle in accordance with 

P
age 174



Strategic 
Objective 

Project Description National Well-Being Goals CCBC Well-Being Objective 
2018-23 

Upper Furnace  
A Wales of cohesive 
communities; 
 
A Wales of vibrant culture 
and thriving Welsh language; 
 
A globally responsive Wales 

the sustainable development 
principle within the Well-
Being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015; 
 
Support citizens to remain 
independent and improve 
their well-being 

 E-3 Winding House Museum Utilisation of office space and better integration 
of educational, visitor and economic 
development functions 

A prosperous Wales; 
 
A healthier Wales; 
 
A more equal Wales; 
 
A Wales of cohesive 
communities; 
 
A Wales of vibrant culture 
and thriving Welsh language 

Improve education 
opportunities for all; 
 
Enabling employment; 
 
Support citizens to remain 
independent and improve 
their well-being 

 E-4 Markham Colliery Development of country park including 
extension of existing routes, widening visitor 
appeal and creation of appropriate economic 
uses 

A prosperous Wales; 
 
A resilient Wales; 
 
A healthier Wales; 
 
A Wales of cohesive 
communities; 
 
A Wales of vibrant culture 
and thriving Welsh language; 
 

Enabling employment; 
 
Creating a County Borough 
that supports a healthy 
lifestyle in accordance with 
the sustainable development 
principle within the Well-
Being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015; 
 
Support citizens to remain 
independent and improve 

P
age 175



Strategic 
Objective 

Project Description National Well-Being Goals CCBC Well-Being Objective 
2018-23 

A globally responsive Wales their well-being 

 E-5 Gelligaer and Merthyr 
Common 

Enhanced custodianship, community 
development and increased utilisation of the 
Common as a visitor attraction 

A prosperous Wales; 
 
A resilient Wales; 
 
A healthier Wales; 
 
A Wales of cohesive 
communities; 
 
A Wales of vibrant culture 
and thriving Welsh language; 
 
A globally responsive Wales 

Improve education 
opportunities for all; 
 
Creating a County Borough 
that supports a healthy 
lifestyle in accordance with 
the sustainable development 
principle within the Well-
Being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015; 
 
Support citizens to remain 
independent and improve 
their well-being 

 E-6 Parc Coetir Bargod Increase park’s accessibility in relation to local 
settlements via new and extended cycle and 
walking routes 

A resilient Wales; 
 
A healthier Wales; 
 
A Wales of cohesive 
communities; 
 
A Wales of vibrant culture 
and thriving Welsh language; 
 
A globally responsive Wales 

Creating a County Borough 
that supports a healthy 
lifestyle in accordance with 
the sustainable development 
principle within the Well-
Being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015; 
 
Support citizens to remain 
independent and improve 
their well-being 

 E-7 Bargoed Park Optimise the role of the park in terms of the 
sustainability of the town 

A resilient Wales; 
 
A healthier Wales; 
 
A Wales of cohesive 

Creating a County Borough 
that supports a healthy 
lifestyle in accordance with 
the sustainable development 
principle within the Well-

P
age 176



Strategic 
Objective 

Project Description National Well-Being Goals CCBC Well-Being Objective 
2018-23 

communities; 
 
A Wales of vibrant culture 
and thriving Welsh language; 
 
A globally responsive Wales 

Being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015; 
 
Support citizens to remain 
independent and improve 
their well-being 

F F-1 North of the A465 Potential development of a renewable energy 
scheme as part of the Heads of the Valleys 
‘Energy Belt’ 

A prosperous Wales; 
 
A resilient Wales; 
 
A more equal Wales; 
 
A Wales of cohesive 
communities; 
 
A globally responsive Wales 

Enabling employment; 
 
Support citizens to remain 
independent and improve 
their well-being 

 F-2 Markham Renewable 
Energy Scheme 

Potential development of a community 
renewable energy scheme 

A prosperous Wales; 
 
A resilient Wales; 
 
A more equal Wales; 
 
A Wales of cohesive 
communities; 
 
A globally responsive Wales 

Enabling employment; 
 
Address the availability, 
condition and sustainability 
of homes through the 
County Borough and provide 
advice, assistance or support 
to help improve people’s 
well-being; 
 
Support citizens to remain 
independent and improve 
their well-being 

 F-3 Rhymney to Bargoed 
Water Resilient Communities 

Increasing water resilience through 
improvements to physical infrastructure and 

A prosperous Wales; 
 

Improve education 
opportunities for all; 

P
age 177



Strategic 
Objective 

Project Description National Well-Being Goals CCBC Well-Being Objective 
2018-23 

community engagement A resilient Wales; 
 
A more equal Wales; 
 
A Wales of cohesive 
communities; 
 
A globally responsive Wales 

 
Enabling employment; 
 
Address the availability, 
condition and sustainability 
of homes through the 
County Borough and provide 
advice, assistance or support 
to help improve people’s 
well-being; 
 
Support citizens to remain 
independent and improve 
their well-being 

G G-1 Aberbargoed Plateau Mixed-use scheme comprising some residential, 
FE provision and extension of the cycle route to 
Parc Coetir Bargod 

A prosperous Wales; 
 
A more equal Wales; 
 
A Wales of cohesive 
communities; 
 
A Wales of vibrant culture 
and thriving Welsh language 

Improve education 
opportunities for all; 
 
Address the availability, 
condition and sustainability 
of homes through the 
County Borough and provide 
advice, assistance or support 
to help improve people’s 
well-being; 
 
Support citizens to remain 
independent and improve 
their well-being 

 G-2 Bedwellty School Development of former Bedwellty School site 
for residential 

A Wales of cohesive 
communities 

Address the availability, 
condition and sustainability 
of homes through the 

P
age 178



Strategic 
Objective 

Project Description National Well-Being Goals CCBC Well-Being Objective 
2018-23 

County Borough and provide 
advice, assistance or support 
to help improve people’s 
well-being; 
 
Support citizens to remain 
independent and improve 
their well-being 

 G-3 Empty Homes Grant 
Scheme 

Grant funding for purchasers of empty homes 
for renovation 

A resilient Wales; 
 
A healthier Wales; 
 
A Wales of cohesive 
communities 

Address the availability, 
condition and sustainability 
of homes through the 
County Borough and provide 
advice, assistance or support 
to help improve people’s 
well-being; 
 
Support citizens to remain 
independent and improve 
their well-being 

H H-1 21st Century Schools Replacement and relocation of school buildings 
in Rhymney and Bargoed via 21st Century 
Schools programme 

A prosperous Wales; 
 
A healthier Wales; 
 
A more equal Wales; 
 
A Wales of cohesive 
communities; 
 
A Wales of vibrant culture 
and thriving Welsh language 

Improve education 
opportunities for all; 
 
Support citizens to remain 
independent and improve 
their well-being 

 H-2 Rhymney Integrated Continued integration of community-based A prosperous Wales; Improve education 

P
age 179



Strategic 
Objective 

Project Description National Well-Being Goals CCBC Well-Being Objective 
2018-23 

Health and Social Care 
Centre and Hafod Deg 
Resource Centre 

services  
A healthier Wales; 
 
A more equal Wales; 
 
A Wales of cohesive 
communities 

opportunities for all; 
 
Creating a County Borough 
that supports a healthy 
lifestyle in accordance with 
the sustainable development 
principle within the Well-
Being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015; 
 
Support citizens to remain 
independent and improve 
their well-being 

 H-3 Integrated Well-Being 
Networks 

Establish IWNs for the Masterplan area A prosperous Wales; 
 
A healthier Wales; 
 
A more equal Wales; 
 
A Wales of cohesive 
communities 

Improve education 
opportunities for all; 
 
Enabling employment; 
 
Creating a County Borough 
that supports a healthy 
lifestyle in accordance with 
the sustainable development 
principle within the Well-
Being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015; 
 
Support citizens to remain 
independent and improve 
their well-being 

I I - Ensure that accessibility 
for all is embedded in all 

This is a cross-cutting objective that should be 
considered an integral part of all projects 

A more equal Wales; 
 

Promote a modern, 
integrated and sustainable 

P
age 180



Strategic 
Objective 

Project Description National Well-Being Goals CCBC Well-Being Objective 
2018-23 

improvement schemes A healthier Wales transport system that 
increases opportunity, 
promotes prosperity and 
minimises the adverse 
impacts on the environment; 

J J - Ensure all communities 
within the Heads of the 
Valleys are able to engage 
and benefit from the 
Masterplan 

Address multi-faceted needs in the most 
deprived communities by adopting a place-
based focus that seeks to better coordinate 
services to achieve maximum impact 

A more equal Wales; 
 
A Wales of cohesive 
communities 

Address the availability, 
condition and sustainability 
of homes through the 
County Borough and provide 
advice, assistance or support 
to help improve people’s 
well-being 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 4: Sectoral Analysis 

P
age 181



 

Almost 68 ha. of allocated or protected employment land lies in the HOVRA across six sites, making it the County Borough’s smallest area in terms of 

economic/industrial presence.  The table below sets out the economic sectors on sites within the HOVRA, by floorspace and numbers of units: 

 

Economic sectors on HOVRA sites, expressed by floorspace and numbers of units (2018) 

Sector Floorspace 
(sq m) 

% Occupied 
Floorspace 

Units % Occupied 
Units 

Mining & quarrying 3,285 2.2 1 0.7 

Food, drink & tobacco 184 0.1 2 1.4 

Textiles 623 0.4 3 2.1 

Wood & paper 11,627 7.7 2 1.4 

Printing & recording 56 0.0 1 0.7 

Non-metallic internal products 3,973 2.6 10 6.9 

Metals & metal products 1,415 0.9 4 2.8 

Machinery 714 0.5 2 1.4 

Other manufacturing & repair 25,016 16.6 16 11.0 

Electricity & gas 239 0.2 2 1.4 

Water, sewerage & waste 21,998 14.6 8 5.5 

Construction 50,593 33.7 10 6.9 

Motor vehicles trade 5,311 3.5 11 7.6 

Wholesale trade 343 0.2 1 0.7 

Retail trade 910 0.6 5 3.4 

Land transport 826 0.5 1 0.7 

Warehousing & postal 5,301 3.5 20 13.8 

Food & beverage services 545 0.4 6 4.1 

Head offices & management 
consultancies 211 0.1 4 2.8 

Architectural & engineering services 1,841 1.2 8 5.5 

Other professional services 2,415 1.6 7 4.8 

P
age 182



Business support service 6,324 4.2 12 8.3 

Public administration & defence 4,351 2.9 1 0.7 

Education 387 0.3 1 0.7 

Health 43 0.0 1 0.7 

Arts 330 0.2 3 2.1 

Recreational services 1,029 0.7 1 0.7 

Other services 380 0.3 2 1.4 

TOTAL 150,270 100 145 100 

 

In terms of sectors, there is a great deal of variety with nearly 30 represented.  Only two sectors, ‘warehousing and postal’ and ‘other manufacturing and 

repair’ account for at least 10% of occupied units.  In terms of floorspace, this is dominated by ‘construction’, which accounts for over a third.  Other 

notable sectors regarding floorspace are ‘other manufacturing and repair’ and ‘water, sewerage and waste’, both of which account for over 10%. 

 

On a site-by-site basis, this level of variety is also borne out, though some sites do appear to display some degree of specialism (though this must be 

tempered by the fact that these sectors are somewhat generic compositions of various sub-sectors: 

 

 Heads of the Valleys – ‘other manufacturing’ (including manufacture of furniture, repair of machinery and miscellaneous manufacture that does not 

fall into any other sector); 

 Maerdy – ‘other manufacturing’ (as above); 

 Capital Valley – ‘construction’ (construction of buildings, specialised construction and civil engineering). 

 

These sectoral groupings conceal the fact that the HOVRA is home to some key local employers, including Convatec (manufacturer of medical products) and 

Richards and Appleby (manufacturer of cosmetics) at Heads of the Valleys Industrial Estate, and Williams Medical (medical supplier) at Maerdy.  Each of 

these companies employs between 100 and 200 people. 

 

There is a need to highlight how firms are categorised within particular sectors.  The three employers mentioned above are all categorised within ‘other 

manufacturing’.  However, Williams Medical is arguably a better fit within ‘wholesale trade’, or all three companies within ‘health’.  Only one unit is 

identified as being within the ‘health’ category – City and Country Healthcare Group, which occupies a small unit on Bowen Industrial Estate.  Due to the 

P
age 183



size of this operation, this company is unlikely to feature as a key player in the area of health and life sciences in isolation, although it is possible that it may 

have strong links with others in the local area. 

 

The HOVRA sites presently support some businesses categorised as ‘other professional services’ which could, theoretically, include scientific-based 

operations with potential links to healthcare-related industries.  However, in reality, these include solicitors, driving instructors and other small businesses 

which offer services to the local community and no ostensible links to the area’s larger employers. 

 

Despite the presence of a diverse economic foundation, it is clear that some of the area’s larger firms have a common basis in healthcare-related 

occupations, though further definition is not possible due to the slightly different nature of those firms i.e. the fact that manufacturers exist as well as 

suppliers, each with a focus on different types of products.  It is therefore necessary to look further afield across the HOVRA in order to identify whether 

there is sectoral strength in this area, and whether the potential for linkages between these firms may exist. 

 

Regional Context 

 

As well as the northern part of Caerphilly County Borough, the HOVRA also incorporates the entirety of Blaenau Gwent and Merthyr Tydfil, and the 

northern parts of the Torfaen and Rhondda Cynon Taf administrative areas.  However, although information was sought from all of these, it was only 

provided by Blaenau Gwent. 

 

Blaenau Gwent is particularly pertinent to the Caerphilly context due to: 

 

 it being the location of the Ebbw Vale Enterprise Zone (EZ) – a Welsh Government-supported network of eight industrial sites designed to 

accommodate automotive-based uses; and 

 its proximity to the Rhymney sites. 

 

Although a comprehensive, sectoral-based inventory of businesses in Blaenau Gwent is not available, manufacturing remains dominant which, like 

Caerphilly, is diverse in nature.  There are two potential areas of focus here: 

 

 The presence of firms operating in healthcare/life sciences, which, in conjunction with the firms operating in Rhymney, may demonstrate the 

importance of this sector to this part of the HOVRA; and 

P
age 184



 The success of the EZ sites in developing an automotive base, which could provide an opportunity for the development of complementary uses in 

the Caerphilly part of the HOVRA. 

 

In terms of healthcare/life sciences, the following firms are of potential importance, given its role as a targeted sector within the CCR Industrial and 

Economic Plan: 

 

 Crown Business Park – Eurocaps Ltd (capsule/soft gelatine manufacture); 

 Rassau Industrial Estate – Weiss Technik UK Ltd (environmental test chambers); 

 Roseheyworth Business Park – Neem Biotech (laboratory); 

 Tafarnaubach Industrial Estate – Nordic Care Services (supplier of healthcare products), PCI Pharma Services (pharmaceutical manufacture). 

 

Each of the firms mentioned above occupy units of 1,000 sq m+, suggesting that each has a not insignificant role in the local economy.  Together with 

Convatec, Williams Medical and Richards and Appleby, this indicates the importance of the Ebbw Vale-Rhymney stretch of the A465 corridor as being a 

geographical nucleus for healthcare/life sciences, with the existence of a cluster that itself displays some diversity within its field, including pharmaceuticals, 

testing, other health-related manufacture and supply. 

 

Of the EZ sites, the following accommodate firms that may have some direct value in developing the area’s role as an automotive hub: 

 

Rassau Industrial Estate – G Tem (manufacture of car components), Sears Manufacturing (seat assembly/manufacturing); 

Tafarnaubach Industrial Estate – Tenneco Walker (exhausts); 

Waun-y-Pound Industrial Estate – Continental Teves UK Ltd (hydraulic brake systems). 

 

Of the additional (non-EZ) sites, Sogefi Filtration Ltd (automotive manufacture) at Crown Business Park also falls into this category.  Again, all of these firms 

occupy units of 1,000 sq m+. 

 

The Ebbw Vale Enterprise Zone is particularly relevant to the north of Caerphilly County Borough as it encompasses sites that are a few miles from those at 

Rhymney, including Tafarnaubach Industrial Estate which lies on the Caerphilly-Blaenau Gwent boundary.  Therefore, an attempt to develop the automotive 

focus of this location could have an impact on those other sites within its immediate environs, in terms of creating opportunities for the development of 

complementary uses – albeit without the benefit of publicly-funded financial incentives as is the case in the EZ. 

P
age 185



For instance, the CCR Employment and Skills Plan identifies advanced materials and manufacturing as being a priority sector for employment and skills 

support.  Whilst this might include life sciences, it would also include businesses in other areas, some of which could help diversify and strengthen the EZ’s 

economic base.  However, the 2018 ELAS does not identify any examples of existing firms, other than those already provided, that might be regarded as 

being currently operational in the north of the County Borough. 

 

Premises 

 

The JLL report makes the case for the development of different types of units, three of which would appear to be relevant to the HOVRA: 

 

 Sites developed in conjunction with Metro stations, such as Rhymney, could benefit from some level of small business unit/office provision as part 

of a ‘business hub pathfinder’ scheme; 

 Larger B2 units – larger sites are best-placed to cater for units of 25,000+ sq ft due to the lack of remaining, vacant floorspace.  Some of the 

Rhymney sites such as Capital Valley would appear to meet the required criteria, along with sites in the Ebbw Vale EZ; 

 Small B1/B2/B8 units – existing premises have very high occupancy rates and strong levels of demand suggest that these would be suitable for 

smaller estates as well as some larger sites in order to complement the portfolio of stock at these locations.  Again, these units could be considered 

for ‘business hub’ schemes in relation to Metro stations.  Whilst some provision is being made for new start-up units at The Lawn, additional 

provision at Capital Valley would add further capacity and take advantage of the site’s proximity to the station. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 186



Appendix 5: Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation (2019) 

 

Data is collated for the Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation (WIMD) at super output area (SOA) level.  Of the twenty LSOAs that constitute the HOVRA, six 

are in the most 10% deprived of all Welsh LSOAs.  A further five are in the most 10%-20% deprived.  Data regarding each of the indices is set out below, for 

each of the LSOAs: 

 

Twyn Carno 1 Rank (of 1909) Deprivation 

Overall 8 10% most 

Income 21 10% most 

Employment 8 10% most 

Health 25 10% most 

Education 9 10% most 

Access to Services 510 20-30% most 

Community Safety 148 10% most 

Physical Environment 450 20-30% most 

Housing 1198 50% least 

 

Twyn Carno 2 Rank (of 1909) Deprivation 

Overall 473 20-30% most 

Income 509 20-30% most 

Employment 303 10-20% most 

Health 642 30-50% most 

Education 817 30-50% most 

Access to Services 1075 50% least 

Community Safety 71 10% most 

Physical Environment 426 20-30% most 

Housing 1059 50% least 

 

Moriah 1 Rank (of 1909) Deprivation 

Overall 391 20-30% most 

Income 497 20-30% most 

P
age 187



Moriah 1 Rank (of 1909) Deprivation 

Employment 331 10-20% most 

Health 230 10-20% most 

Education 221 10-20% most 

Access to Services 1657 50% least 

Community Safety 863 30-50% most 

Physical Environment 976 50% least 

Housing 476 20-30% most 

 

Moriah 2 Rank (of 1909) Deprivation 

Overall 228 10-20% most 

Income 368 10-20% most 

Employment 122 10% most 

Health 189 10% most 

Education 477 20-30% most 

Access to Services 1464 50% least 

Community Safety 70 10% most 

Physical Environment 310 10-20% most 

Housing 582  30-50% most 

 

Moriah 3 Rank (of 1909) Deprivation 

Overall 67 10% most 

Income 137 10% most 

Employment 44 10% most 

Health 186 10% most 

Education 62 10% most 

Access to Services 562 20-30% most 

Community Safety 27 10% most 

Physical Environment 629 30-50% most 

Housing 552 20-30% most 

 

P
age 188



Pontlottyn Rank (of 1909) Deprivation 

Overall 315 10-20% most 

Income 370 10-20% most 

Employment 180 10% most 

Health 447 20-30% most 

Education 258 10-20% most 

Access to Services 1079 50% least 

Community Safety 219 10-20% most 

Physical Environment 1013 50% least 

Housing 843 30-50% most 

 

Darren Valley 1 Rank (of 1909) Deprivation 

Overall 832 30-50% most 

Income 958 50% least 

Employment 819 30-50% most 

Health 682 30-50% most 

Education 816 30-50% most 

Access to Services 860 30-50% most 

Community Safety 712 30-50% most 

Physical Environment 1731 50% least 

Housing 219 10-20% most 

 

Darren Valley 2 Rank (of 1909) Deprivation 

Overall 137 10% most 

Income 338 10-20% most 

Employment 98 10% most 

Health 71 10% most 

Education 50 10% most 

Access to Services 736 30-50% most 

Community Safety 621 30-50% most 

Physical Environment 1526 50% least 

Housing 606 30-50% most 

P
age 189



 

New Tredegar 1 Rank (of 1909) Deprivation 

Overall 578 30-50% most 

Income 768 30-50% most 

Employment 594 30-50% most 

Health 538 20-30% most 

Education 651 30-50% most 

Access to Services 1204 50% least 

Community Safety 25 10% most 

Physical Environment 1299 50% least 

Housing 1421 20-30% most 

 

New Tredegar 2 Rank (of 1909) Deprivation 

Overall 246 10-20% most 

Income 348 10-20% most 

Employment 308 10-20% most 

Health 188 10% most 

Education 280 10-20% most 

Access to Services 383 20-30% most 

Community Safety 241 10-20% most 

Physical Environment 1369 50% least 

Housing 279 10-20% most 

 

New Tredegar 3 Rank (of 1909) Deprivation 

Overall 59 10% most 

Income 73 10% most 

Employment 83 10% most 

Health 77 10% most 

Education 104 10% most 

Access to Services 367 10%-20% most 

Community Safety 41 10% most 

P
age 190



New Tredegar 3 Rank (of 1909) Deprivation 

Physical Environment 1075 50% least 

Housing 222 10-20% most 

   

Bargoed 1 Rank (of 1909) Deprivation 

Overall 538 20-30% most 

Income 626 30-50% most 

Employment 381 10-20% most 

Health 300 10-20% most 

Education 778 30-50% most 

Access to Services 1049 50% least 

Community Safety 297 10-20% most 

Physical Environment 1464 50% least 

Housing 1038 50% least 

 

Bargoed 2 Rank (of 1909) Deprivation 

Overall 704 30-50% most 

Income 711 30-50% most 

Employment 553 20-30% most 

Health 623 30-50% most 

Education 871 30-50% most 

Access to Services 1861 50% least 

Community Safety 129 10% most 

Physical Environment 1035 50% least 

Housing 551 20-30% most 

 

Bargoed 3 Rank (of 1909) Deprivation 

Overall 456 20-30% most 

Income 635 30-50% most 

Employment 422 20-30% most 

Health 486 20-30% most 

Education 341 10-20% most 

P
age 191



Bargoed 3 Rank (of 1909) Deprivation 

Access to Services 1539 50% least 

Community Safety 248 10-20% most 

Physical Environment 954 30-50% most 

Housing 153 10% most 

   

Bargoed 4 Rank (of 1909) Deprivation 

Overall 29 10% most 

Income 23 10% most 

Employment 18 10% most 

Health 29 10% most 

Education 161 10% most 

Access to Services 343 10-20% most 

Community Safety 146 10% most 

Physical Environment 1613 50% least 

Housing 765 30-50% most 

 

Gilfach Rank (of 1909) Deprivation 

Overall 482 20-30% most 

Income 576 30-50% most 

Employment 248 20-30% most 

Health 501 20-30% most 

Education 710 30-50% most 

Access to Services 1182 50% least 

Community Safety 464 20-30% most 

Physical Environment 1096 50% least 

Housing 514 20-30% most 

 

Aberbargoed 1 Rank (of 1909) Deprivation 

Overall 349 10-20% most 

Income 426 20-30% most 

Employment 286 10-20% most 

P
age 192



Aberbargoed 1 Rank (of 1909) Deprivation 

Health 349 10-20% most 

Education 233 10-20% most 

Access to Services 764 30-50% most 

Community Safety 318 10-20% most 

Physical Environment 1280 50% least 

Housing 877 30-50% most 

   

   

Aberbargoed 2 Rank (of 1909) Deprivation 

Overall 177 10% most 

Income 162 10% most 

Employment 139 10% most 

Health 210 10-20% most 

Education 282 10-20% most 

Access to Services 1335 50% least 

Community Safety 180 10% most 

Physical Environment 1297 50% least 

Housing 149 10% most 

 

Argoed 1 Rank (of 1909) Deprivation 

Overall 213 10-20% most 

Income 156 10% most 

Employment 192 10% most 

Health 267 10-20% most 

Education 155 10% most 

Access to Services 1375 50% least 

Community Safety 604 30-50% most 

Physical Environment 1584 50% least 

Housing 411 20-30% most 

 

Argoed 2 Rank (of 1909) Deprivation 

P
age 193



Argoed 2 Rank (of 1909) Deprivation 

Overall 710 30-50% most 

Income 913 30-50% most 

Employment 958 50% least 

Health 1198 50% least 

Education 826 30-50% most 

Access to Services 260 10-20% most 

Community Safety 678 30-50% most 

Physical Environment 1294 50% least 

Housing 44 10% most 

 

 

 

P
age 194



 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM 
July 2019 

 

THE COUNCIL’S EQUALITIES STATEMENT 
 

This Council recognises that people have different needs, requirements and goals and we 
will work actively against all forms of discrimination by promoting good relations and 
mutual respect within and between our communities, residents, elected members, job 
applicants and workforce. 
 

We will also work to create equal access for everyone to our services, irrespective of 
ethnic origin, sex, age, marital status, sexual orientation, disability, gender reassignment, 
religious beliefs or non-belief, use of Welsh language, BSL or other languages, nationality, 
responsibility for any dependents or any other reason which cannot be shown to be 
justified. 
 

EIAs are a legal requirement under equalities legislation (Equality Act 2010 (Statutory 
Duties) (Wales) Regulations 2011) where the potential for a significant negative impact has 
been identified.  This legislation has been in place since 2000.  We also have a legislative 
duty to: 

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct that 
is prohibited by the Equality Act 2010 

 advance equality of opportunity between people who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and those who do not 

 foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those 
who do not.  

 

The Act explains that having due regard for advancing equality involves:  

 removing or minimising disadvantages experienced by people due to their protected 
characteristics 

 taking steps to meet the needs of people from protected groups where these are 
different from the needs of other people  

 encouraging people with protected characteristics to participate in public life or in other 
activities where their participation is disproportionately low.  
 

The protected characteristics are: 
 

 Age  Race 

 Disability  Religion, Belief or Non-Belief 

 Gender Re-assignment  Sex 

 Marriage and Civil Partnership  Sexual Orientation 

 Pregnancy and Maternity  Welsh Language* 
 

*  The Welsh language is not identified as a protected characteristic under the Equality Act 
2010, however in Wales we also have to treat Welsh and English on an equal basis as 
well as promoting and facilitating the use of the Welsh language. 

Page 195



 
THE EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

NAME OF NEW OR 
REVISED PROPOSAL* 

 
Heads of the Valleys Masterplan 

DIRECTORATE  
Communities 

SERVICE AREA  
Planning 

CONTACT OFFICER  
Ian Mullis 

DATE FOR NEXT REVIEW 
OR REVISION 

 
 

 
*Throughout this Equalities Impact Assessment Form, ‘proposal’ is used to refer to 
what is being assessed, and therefore includes policies, strategies, functions, 
procedures, practices, initiatives, projects and savings proposals.  
 
The aim of an Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) is to ensure that Equalities and Welsh 
Language issues have been proactively considered throughout the decision making 
processes governing work undertaken by every service area in the Council as well as work 
done at a corporate level. 
 
The Council’s work across Equalities, Welsh Language and Human Rights is covered in 
more detail through the Equalities and Welsh Language Objectives and Action Plan 
2016-2020. 
 
When carrying out an EIA you should consider both the positive and negative 
consequences of your proposals.  If a project is designed for a specific group e.g. disabled 
people, you also need to think about what potential effects it could have on other areas 
e.g. young people with a disability, BME people with a disability. 
 
There are a number of supporting guidance documents available on the Corporate Policy 
Unit Portal and the Council’s Equalities and Welsh Language team can provide advice as 
the EIA is being developed.  Please note that the team does not write EIAs on behalf of 
service areas, the support offered is in the form of advice, suggestions and in effect, 
quality control. 
 
Contact equalities@caerphilly.gov.uk for assistance. 
  

Page 196

mailto:equalities@caerphilly.gov.uk


PURPOSE OF THE PROPOSAL 
 

1 What is the proposal intended to achieve? 
(Please give a brief description and outline the purpose of the new or updated 
proposal by way of introduction.) 
 
The Masterplan sets out the future development and regeneration opportunities 
proposed for the Heads of the Valleys, encompassing the wards of Twyn Carno, 
Moriah, Pontlottyn, Darren Valley, New Tredegar, Bargoed, Gilfach, Aberbargoed 
and Argoed. 
 
The Masterplan has been prepared within the context of the adopted Caerphilly 
County Borough Local Development Plan (LDP), which sets out the Council’s land 
use objectives for the county borough in the period up to 2021.  
 
The Masterplan identifies 10 objectives that would support the delivery of a Vision 
for the Masterplan area.  Over 30 projects are identified within the Masterplan that 
would contribute to achieving these objectives and deliver the Vision: 
 
“The Heads of the Valleys will capitalise upon the major public investment in the 
A465 and its strategic location along this corridor, complementing and strengthening 
employment opportunities and creating an exciting, vibrant place where businesses 
will want to locate and where people will choose to live and work. 
 
It will strengthen and diversify communities by improving connectivity, supporting 
the role of the foundational economy and developing its role as a visitor and tourism 
destination by utilising its distinctive industrial heritage and natural attractions and 
spaces. 
 
It will enable the provision of, and promote accessibility to, those commercial, 
leisure and community services that will equip people to lead more healthy and 
prosperous lives.” 

  

2 Who are the service users affected by the proposal? 
(Who will be affected by the delivery of this proposal? e.g. staff members, the public 
generally, or specific sections of the public i.e. youth groups, carers, road users, 
people using country parks, people on benefits etc.  Are there any data gaps?) 
 
The proposals could potentially affect residents within the Masterplan area, and 
residents of the wider County Borough or other areas who work, visit or travel 
through the Masterplan area.  
 
Some of the proposals within the Masterplan intend to improve the visitor 
experience for tourists the area. 
 
The proposals for new employment and housing development could affect those 
currently living and working in an area and those who would like to move to an area 
– existing and potential businesses, employees and residents.  
 
Furthermore, the proposed improvements to the sustainable transport network will 
affect those using the transport network – residents, commuters travelling to and 
from the Masterplan area, and visitors. 
 

Page 197



The document reflects the 21st Century Schools programme, which identifies the 
replacement, refurbishment and new classroom provision in the County Borough. 
This could potentially affect school children, staff and parents. 

 
 

IMPACT ON THE PUBLIC AND STAFF 
 

3 Does the proposal ensure that everyone has an equal access to all the 
services available or proposed, or benefits equally from the proposed 
changes, or does not lose out in greater or more severe ways due to the 
proposals? 
(What has been done to examine whether or not these groups have equal access to 
the service, or whether they need to receive the service in a different way from other 
people?) 
 
The Masterplan identifies a cross-cutting objective to “ensure that accessibility for all 
is embedded in all improvement schemes.”  The inclusion of this cross-cutting 
objective will ensure that equality is a key consideration when developing proposals. 
This will include accessibility for all of the protected characteristics identified within 
the Equalities and Welsh Language Objectives and Action Plan 2016-2020, 
including the Welsh language. 
 
Furthermore, the Masterplan also includes an objective to ensure that all 
communities within the Heads of the Valleys are able to engage with, and benefit 
from, the Masterplan. 
 
The Masterplan identifies a number of initial proposals that could potentially deliver 
economic, environmental and social benefits to residents within the Masterplan 
area. These projects will be prioritised and detailed project proposals will be 
prepared with a view to informing funding bids from City Deal and other funding 
programmes. At this early stage, the Masterplan sets out the initial framework for 
change, but the exact impacts of any proposal will not be known until detailed plans 
are prepared.  
 
Many of the regeneration and development proposals will require a planning 
application to be submitted. Inclusivity is a fundamental part of the national planning 
policy framework. Ensuring equal opportunities for all proposed and existing 
facilities is a key aim of the Local Development Plan (LDP) and planning 
applications will need to demonstrate that they adhere to policies on equality, 
including accessibility and good design.  
 
A public consultation has been carried out to determine views on the Masterplan. 
The responses have been reviewed and amendments to the Masterplan proposed 
as a result of the consultation.  There are no specific changes proposed as a result 
of equalities issues. 
 
Actions required: 
 

 Ensure that the cross-cutting objective on accessibility for all is an integral 
part when initial proposals are prioritised and detail project proposals are 
prepared as part of the delivery of the Masterplan. This will also be a 
consideration in the determination of planning applications.  

Page 198



 Take steps to mitigate any negative impacts identified in particular access to 
services, tourist locations, businesses etc. 

  

Page 199



4 Is your proposal going to affect any people or groups of people with protected 
characteristics? 
(Has the service delivery been examined to assess if there is any indirect effect on 
any groups?  Could the consequences of the policy or savings proposal differ 
dependent upon people’s protected characteristics?) 

Protected 
Characteristic 

Positive, 
Negative, 
Neutral 

What will the impact be?   
If the impact is negative how can it be mitigated? 

Age Neutral  

Disability Positive 
Improved public transport facilities for people with 
disabilities 

Gender 
Reassignment 

Neutral  

Marriage & Civil 
Partnership 

Neutral  

Pregnancy and 
Maternity 

Neutral  

Race Neutral  

Religion & Belief Neutral  

Sex Neutral  

Sexual Orientation Neutral  

 

5 In line with the requirements of the Welsh Language Standards. (No.1) 
Regulations 2015, please note below what effects, if any (whether positive or 
adverse), the proposal would have on opportunities for persons to use the 
Welsh language, and treating the Welsh language no less favourably than the 
English language. 
(The specific Policy Making Standards requirements are Standard numbers 88, 89, 
90, 91, 92 and 93.  The full detail of each Standard is available on the Corporate 
Policy Unit Portal.  Although it is important that what is outlined in the proposal is 
available in Welsh and English, please consider wider impacts on Welsh speakers.) 
 
The Welsh Language Standards were followed in the preparation and publication of 
the Masterplan for consultation. The document and all consultation material was 
provided bilingually, respondents were given the opportunity to complete surveys in 
Welsh and people were asked to inform us if they wished to use Welsh at the public 
consultation events as per Standard 33.   
 
It is not anticipated that the proposals in the Masterplan would have an impact on 
the Welsh language. 

 

 
  

Page 200



INFORMATION COLLECTION 
 

6 Please outline any evidence and / or research you have collected which 
supports the proposal?  This can include an analysis of service users. 
(Is this service effectively engaging with all its potential users or is there higher or 
lower participation of uptake by one or more protected characteristic groups? If so, 
what has been done to address any difference in take up of the service?  Does any 
savings proposal include an analysis of those affected?) 
 
The Masterplan will exist for the benefit of everyone living and working within the 
nine wards of the Heads of the Valleys, as well as visitors.  To this end, data has 
been gathered for each of the 20 LSOAs that constitute the nine wards in relation to 
various indices of deprivation, as collated by the Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation 
2019. 
 
The Masterplan has been informed by data collected on the current usage of the 
area. The Council undertakes an annual survey of the occupiers of retail units to 
determine vacancy rates.  A survey is also carried out of businesses on industrial 
estates in the County Borough, including the Masterplan Area, but there is no 
specific analysis of the demographic make-up of employees. 
 
With regards to users of Bargoed town centre, basic equalities information on socio-
economic group, age and gender is collected as part of the triennial Shopper 
Attitude Survey, where household telephone surveys were carried out with the town 
centre catchment area, together with on-street surveys. The collection of this 
information will allow a comparison to be made of the demographic profile across 
years to determine any changes to town centre usage by certain groups, which may 
have equalities implications. For example, an increase in vacancy rates in the town 
centre will mean less shops and services could be available, and this may 
disproportionately affect those who cannot travel to other locations due to certain 
protected characteristics and/or financial constraints. The Masterplan aims to build 
and enhance the role of the town centre which will benefit the existing users of the 
town centre and attract more people into the town. 

 
 

CONSULTATION 
 

7 Please outline the consultation / engagement process and outline any key 
findings. 
(Include method of consultation, objectives and target audience.  What steps have 
been taken to ensure that people from various groups have been consulted during 
the development of this proposal?  Have you referred to the Equalities Consultation 
and Monitoring Guidance?) 
 
The Masterplan has been prepared in accordance with the Council’s Consultation 
and Monitoring Guidance.  
 
A number of meetings and stakeholder events have taken place to inform the 
development of the Masterplan.  These included: 
 
Meetings with officers from a variety of service areas; 
Workshops with members from the Heads of the Valleys wards on 1 January and 30 

Page 201



October 2019; 
Input re. the Masterplan at a meeting held by Dwr Cymru Welsh Water to discuss 
the Rhymney to Bargoed upgrade involving external stakeholders 
Input re. the Masterplan at a meeting held by ABHB to discuss Integrated Well-
Being Networks; 
Meeting with sixth-formers from Idris Davies School. 
 
A six week public consultation was held in early 2020.  This consultation was 
conducted in accordance with equalities guidance, and a report on the consultation 
on the Masterplan has been prepared, considering issues raised. 

 

MONITORING AND REVIEW 
 

8 How will the proposal be monitored? 
(What monitoring process has been set up to assess the extent that the service is 
being used by all sections of the community, or that the savings proposals are 
achieving the intended outcomes with no adverse impact? Are comments or 
complaints systems set up to record issues by Equalities category to be able 
analyse responses from particular groups?)  
 
The Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) prepared for the LDP records data for a 
number of indicators on issues that the Masterplan is seeking to address – footfall in 
town centres, vacancy rates, satisfaction with town centres, retail spend.  A 
comparison of data against monitoring targets will provide an understanding of the 
vitality and viability of Bargoed town centre.  However, this monitoring process will 
not focus specifically on the impact of all sectors of the community.  
 
As discussed in Section 7, the triennial Shopper Attitude Study records certain 
information about the users of Bargoed town centre.  Future studies will allow 
comparisons on how the demographic profile of town centre users is changing, 
which may be influenced by schemes in the Masterplan being implemented in the 
longer term.  Surveys of industrial estates will continue to be undertaken, in order to 
monitor occupancy rates and types of uses/occupants present. 
 
The comments made as part of the public consultation exercise have been 
reviewed. As detailed proposals are progressed, a more detailed review process 
would be needed. 

9 How will the monitoring be evaluated? 
(What methods will be used to ensure that the needs of all sections of the 
community are being met?) 
 
Section 7 of the Masterplan ‘Delivering and Implementing Change’ sets out the 
expected/indicative outputs, as well as funding secured and potential costs.   
 
The Regeneration Project Board will consider and prioritise projects that will be the 
focus of the Council’s initial regeneration priorities in the short to medium term.  The 
pipeline of projects will be reported to Cabinet on a six monthly basis and be 
updated accordingly as schemes progress. 
 
A section on equalities implications and monitoring as schemes progress to a more 
detailed stage could be included within the Regeneration Project Board’s 
assessments. 

Page 202



 

10 Have any support / guidance / training requirements been identified? 
(Has the EIA or consultation process shown a need for awareness raising amongst 
staff, or identified the need for Equalities or Welsh Language training of some sort?) 
 
The process to date has not identified a lack of awareness, or a need for further 
training. 

 

11 If any adverse impact has been identified, please outline any mitigation action. 
 
No adverse impact has been identified. 

 

12 What wider use will you make of this Equality Impact Assessment? 
(What use will you make of this document i.e. as a consultation response, appendix 
to approval reports, publicity etc. in addition to the mandatory action shown below?) 
 
The document will be available on request and informs the report of public 
consultation that has been prepared upon completion of the public consultation.  It 
will be appended to the Council Report when the Masterplan is considered for 
approval by members. 
 
The Equalities Impact Assessment will be monitored and updated regularly to 
ensure that any negative impacts are mitigated. 

 
  

Page 203



13 An equality impact assessment may have four possible outcomes, through 
more than one may apply to a single proposal.  Please indicate the relevant 
outcome(s) of the impact assessment below.   

Please tick as appropriate: 
 

No major change – the impact assessment demonstrated that the 
proposal was robust; there was no potential for discrimination or 
adverse impact.  All opportunities to promote equality have been taken.  
 

Adjust the proposal – the impact assessment identified potential 
problems or missed opportunities.  The proposal was adjusted to remove 
barriers or better promote equality.   
 

Continue the proposal – the impact assessment identified the potential 
problems or missed opportunities to promote equality.  The justification(s) 
for continuing with it have been clearly set out.  (The justification must be 
included in the impact assessment and must be in line with the duty to 
have due regard.  Compelling reasons will be needed for the most 
important relevant proposals.) 
 

Stop and remove the proposal – the impact assessment identified 
actual or potential unlawful discrimination.  The proposal was stopped 
and removed, or changed. 

 

  

Form completed by: 

Name: Ian Mullis 

Job Title: Planning Officer 

Date: 16 April 2020 

  

Head of Service Approval 

Name: Rhian Kyte 

Job Title: Head of Regeneration and Planning 

Signature:  

Date: 20 April 2020 

 
 

X 

 

 

 

Page 204



 

RPHILLY 
OORauaN COUNCIL 

•w111.a• 1.sTR«.1' S IRDL RFFILI 

Heads of the Valleys Regeneration Area 

Masterplan 

Draft June 2020 

P
age 205



2 

draft
 

     

 

   

 

     

     

      

       

      

    

      

Index 

Section 1: 

Introduction 

Section 2: 

The Study Area 

Section 3: 

The Context 

Section 4: 

The Vision for the Heads of the 

Valleys Regeneration Area 

Section 5: 

The Development Strategy 

Section 6: 

The Masterplan Framework 

Section 7: 

Delivering and Implementing change 

Appendix 1: 

A Foundation for Success - Objectives 

Appendix 2: 

Well-being of Future Generations 

Appendix 3: 

Assessment of Site Specifc Proposals 

against well-being goals and the 

CCBC Well-being objectives 

Appendix 4: 

Sectoral Analysis 

Appendix 5: 

Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation 

(2019) 

P
age 206



3 

draft
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Section 1: Introduction 

This Masterplan sets out the future 

development and regeneration opportunities 

proposed for the Heads of the Valleys. It seeks 

to facilitate signifcant change in order to 

enhance the role of communities, enabling 

them to diversify, allowing industries to rise 

and demographics to alter for the better. 

There is an exciting opportunity to facilitate 

signifcant change through the Cardiff Capital 

Region City Deal (CCRCD), which will provide 

resources to unlock signifcant economic 

growth in the region, delivering jobs and 

private sector investment.Whilst CCRCD seeks 

to relieve pressure on Cardiff as its regional 

city it also seeks to promote growth in smaller 

towns and industrial communities in order 

to rebalance social justice and prosperity. 

This Masterplan seeks to provide a direction 

of travel to ensure a transition towards 

economic and social success. 

The City Deal Investment Fund will also 

facilitate the delivery of the South East 

Wales Metro, which will make substantial 

improvements to connectivity by public 

transport across the region.This investment 

will improve frequency of services to 

Rhymney Station from Cardiff, improving 

north–south connectivity and the Masterplan 

sets out how this opportunity can be 

maximised. 

The Valleys Taskforce also sets out an 

ambitious programme for change, identifying 

actions and programmes designed to make 

a positive change to the South Wales Valleys 

through the ‘Our Valleys Our Future’ Delivery 

Plan.Whilst the Delivery Plan sets out a 

number of actions, most pertinent to this 

Masterplan is the focus on making more land 

available in order to maximise economic 

development opportunities, harnessing the 

potential of the local foundational economy, 

taking advantage of improved connectivity 

and the role of the Valleys Regional Park. 

The role of this Masterplan is therefore 

to provide a comprehensive framework 

for the future of the Heads of the Valleys 

Regeneration Area.This Masterplan is fexible 

and has the ability to adapt to changing 

economic and market conditions and meet 

the requirements and aspirations of both the 

private and public sector over this period 

through regular review. It is recognised that 

there are some projects that can be delivered 

within the short to medium term. However, in 

order to deliver long term regeneration goals, 

there is an aspiration to redevelop a number 

of key sites within the Masterplan area. 

The Masterplan has been prepared within 

the context of the adopted Caerphilly 

County Borough Local Development Plan 

(LDP), which sets out the Council’s land use 

P
age 207



4 

draft
 

 

 

 

   

   

   

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

objectives for the County Borough, but it also 

sets out longer term goals to ensure that the 

momentum of change also extends well into 

the next decade. 

Many of the projects identifed in the 

Masterplan are aligned to proposals 

contained within the adopted LDP.This plan 

will need to be reviewed to provide the 

policy framework to control development in 

future years. Furthermore, relevant proposals 

may also be included within a Strategic 

Development Plan for the Cardiff Capital 

Region.The Masterplan will therefore need to 

be reviewed to take into account the relevant 

policies and proposals contained within the 

different tiers of development plans as they 

emerge. 

The Masterplan has been prepared in the 

context of the overarching regeneration 

strategy for the County Borough,“A 

Foundation for Success” as well as the 

economic development strategy “Delivering 

Prosperity.“A Foundation for Success” sets out 

four key themes that need to be addressed: 

l Supporting Business 

l Connecting People and Places 

l Supporting People; and 

l Supporting Quality of Life. 

The Heads of the Valleys Masterplan is the 

third area-specifc strategy, in a series of fve, 

which will identify projects that will help 

address key issues and objectives set out 

within the wider Regeneration Strategy. It 

forms part of the implementation plan for ‘A 

Foundation for Success’ and the Economic 

Development Strategy ‘Delivering Prosperity’ 

which will be reviewed every 5 years.The 

Masterplan identifes investment and 

development opportunities within the Heads 

of the Valleys Area. 

In order to capture regeneration opportunities 

throughout the County Borough, two further 

Masterplans will be produced for Greater 

Blackwood and the Newbridge to Risca 

Corridor. 

P
age 208



5 

draft
   

 

 

 

 

 

  
 

  

    

 

 

 

■■■■■ 

00 ---

Study Area 

Section 2: 
The Study Area 
The Heads of the Valleys Regeneration Area 

is located in the northern part of Caerphilly 

County Borough, and comprises the Darren, 

Upper Rhymney and Upper Sirhowy Valleys, 

including the Principal Town of Bargoed and 

the Local Centre of Rhymney. It incorporates 

the wards of Twyn Carno, Moriah, Pontlottyn, 

Darren Valley, New Tredegar, Aberbargoed, 

Bargoed, Gilfach and Argoed. 

This area suffers from signifcant challenges, 

as underlined by the Welsh Index of Multiple 

Deprivation (WIMD) 2019. Of the 20 lower 

super output areas (LSOAs) that constitute 

the nine wards, six of them are within the 10% 

most deprived in Wales in overall terms, with 

a further fve in the 10 - 20% most deprived 

category. In addition, all nine wards are above 

average in terms of economic inactivity and 

unemployment, and the proportion of lower-

skilled, lower-paying jobs is higher in the 

New 
Tredegar 

Pontlottyn 

Bargoed 

Aberbargoed 

A465 

A469 

Rhymney 

Fochriw 

Deri 

To Ebbw Vale 
& Midlands 

To 
Merthyr 
& West 
Wales 

To Caerphillly, M4 & Cardiff 

Argoed 

Gilfach 

A469 

KEY 
Railway Station 

Railway Line 

Cycle Routes 

A465 

Settlements 

A469 

winding house 

P
age 209



6 

draft
 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Heads of the Valleys Regeneration Area than 

for the England and Wales average. Relevant 

data is presented as an appendix to this 

document. 

The Heads of the Valleys Regeneration Area 

lies on the A465 at its northernmost point. 

This is a key transport artery for the South 

Wales economy, connecting the M4 at Neath 

to Abergavenny and Hereford, and providing 

links between West Wales and the Midlands. 

It is the only strategic east-west link that 

connects the Valleys communities providing 

access to employment, retail, leisure and other 

facilities. Signifcant levels of public funding 

has been already been spent on improving the 

A465 and further investment is being provided 

to complete the dualling of the route. 

This Masterplan seeks to put into context 

the role that the Heads of the Valleys 

Regeneration Area plays within the wider 

A465 corridor and looks to complement, 

exploit and strengthen the opportunities that 

exist.To the west is Merthyr, a sub-regional 

centre, major retail destination and service 

centre and home to Welsh Government 

offces and major tourism attractions such 

as Bike Park Wales. Immediately to the east 

is Blaenau Gwent, home to the Ebbw Vale 

Enterprise Zone (EZ) which is utilising publicly 

available fnance to develop its automotive 

sector through the Tech Valleys initiative. 

Whilst the study area of the Masterplan 

only relates to that part of the Heads of the 

Valleys within Caerphilly County Borough’s 

administrative boundary, it has regard 

to the wider A465 corridor and identifes 

development and investment opportunities 

that will strengthen the Borough’s position 

within this context. 

P
age 210

https://exist.To


7 

draft
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Section 3: The Context 

In providing the context to the Masterplan 

it is important to understand the strengths, 

weaknesses, opportunities and threats that 

currently exist within the Heads of the Valleys. 

Strengths 

l Excellent connectivity by road via the 

A465 Heads of the Valleys Road to the 

West Midlands, West Wales and Ireland; 

l Located within a dramatic natural and 

semi natural environment; 

l Improved public transport infrastructure in 

recent years including the provision of the 

new park & ride facilities and a new bus/ 

rail interchange at Bargoed, Rhymney park 

and ride and frequency enhancements; 

l Signifcant life-science companies are 

located in the HOVRA including Richards 

and Appleby, Williams Medical and 

Convatec; 

l Provision of a new 3-18 teaching facility in 

Rhymney (Idris Davies School); 

l A number of Welsh medium schools are 

located in the area, helping to promote 

and grow the Welsh language; 

l The Integrated Health and Social Care 

Resource Centre for the north is located 

in Rhymney together with Hafod Deg 

Resource Centre, both of which provide 

vital cross cutting services to residents in 

the area; 

l The existence of key community hubs 

e.g. local libraries, community centres, GP 

surgeries; 

l The area contains two country parks 

within its boundary: Parc Coetir Bargod 

and Parc Cwm Darran; with Parc Bryn Bach 

straddling the boundary with Blaenau 

Gwent, providing excellent recreation, 

leisure and lifelong learning opportunities; 

l A leisure centre at New Tredegar providing 

signifcant leisure opportunities; 

l New house building is ongoing helping to 

diversify the housing stock in this area, e.g. 

the former Bedwellty School Site; 

l Signifcant investment has been targeted 

at the council house stock throughout the 

area, improving the condition and quality 

of the stock and its energy effciency; 

l The Cadw-designated Historic Landscape 

of Gelligaer and Merthyr Common is 

located within the area, providing a 

signifcant cultural and historical resource 

for the County Borough; 

l A number of heritage sites are based in the 

area e.g. Butetown and the Elliott Colliery 

Winding House; 

l The Greater Bargoed Regeneration 

Scheme has improved the southern end of 

Bargoed town centre; 

l A positive attitude towards community 

cohesion. 

P
age 211



 

 

 

 

  

  

 

 

 

 

Challenges 

l The Masterplan area and the Upper 

Rhymney Valley in particular has the 

highest concentration of deprivation 

within the County Borough; 

l The Twyn Carno 1 LSOA is currently ranked 

as the 8th most deprived LSOA in Wales 

(WIMD, 2019); 

l The area has high levels of economic 

inactivity, unemployment and long-term 

illness; 

l The area has low levels of attainment with 

regard to education & formal qualifcations; 

l The general topography of the area, 

consisting of valleys and steep hillsides, 

hinders accessibility and has contributed 

to the problem of poor transport links and 

general physical isolation; 

l Bus transport in the area is infrequent 

and unreliable as a means of accessing 

employment opportunities; 

l Bargoed town centre has the highest  

vacancy rate of all of the principal town 

centres; 

P
age 212



9 

draft
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

I 

l There is low diversity in the range of 

housing in the area; 

l Many of the communities in the area are 

isolated and there is limited provision of 

facilities and services. 

Opportunities 

l The City Deal for the region will provide 

an unprecedented level of funding for 

projects with the aim of promoting 

economic growth and job creation 

throughout the region, including 

addressing skills gaps and shortages; 

l The decision by the First Minister not 

to progress with the M4 Relief Road 

has a potentially positive impact on the 

perception of the A465 as a strategically 

important and unencumbered transport 

route; 

l Potential for the integration of the 

Rhymney employment land with the 

Ebbw Vale Enterprise Zone, in order to 

create a Heads of the Valleys Enterprise 

Zone focussed on complementary and 

benefcial economic development along 

the A465; 

l The natural and semi-natural environment 

in the area provides excellent recreational 

opportunities; 

l The potential to enhance the benefts 

of its location adjacent to the Brecon 

Beacons National Park; 

l The Upper Rhymney Valley offers 

signifcant potential in terms of renewable 

energy production; 

l The area is the subject of major 

infrastructure improvements, including 

the dualling of the A465, Metro improve-

ments and the Dwr Cymru Welsh Water 

Rhymney to Bargoed works, all of which 

have the ability to provide training and 

apprenticeship schemes for the area as 

well as facilitating employment growth – 

the Dwr Cymru Welsh Water scheme also 

offers investment in community projects 

as part of scheduled works; 

l The delivery of new industrial units 

at The Lawns will provide modern, 

affordable units for business start-ups and 

expansions; 

l A signifcant level of employment land is 

available; although investment is needed 

to bring some of it back into benefcial 

use; 

l The development of Angel Way and Lowry 

Plaza provides an excellent opportunity to 

act as a catalyst to regenerate and diversify 

Bargoed town centre; 

l Capitalising on the improvements to the 

rail line and the increases in the frequency 

of services post 2023; 

l Provision of a bus interchange on the 

A465 to improve east-west links by public 

transport, and to connect to the A469; 

l Target training opportunities at 

Rhymney, New Tredegar and Bargoed 

and throughout the area, looking at 

the potential of delivering community 

transport through the RDP and Transport 

for Wales; 

P
age 213



10 

draft
  

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

l Pilot improved use of digital technology 

for promoting green infrastructure and 

facilities and integrated digital technology 

training with employers and young people; 

l Expansion of the area’s leisure and tourism 

offer through the Valleys Regional Park 

would be benefcial to both the local 

economy and people’s quality of life; 

l Maximise the potential for heritage to be 

used as a tool for increasing tourism in the 

area; 

l Potential to establish the Masterplan area 

as a visitor destination through increased 

tourist accommodation provision given its 

proximity to the National Park and other 

leisure and tourism facilities; 

l The natural and semi-natural environment, 

including the country parks and the 

Historic Landscape of Gelligaer Common, 

provides excellent opportunities for local 

communities and visitors alike, including 

recreation, improved health and well 

being and lifelong learning; 

l Sections of cycle routes have already 

been implemented and there are further 

opportunities to create a network of 

routes and paths integrated into a wider 

regional network; 

l RDP funding is available which could 

be used to facilitate a number of 

developments in the area. 

Threats 

l Merthyr and Ebbw Vale are identifed as 

strategic hubs in the VTF Delivery Plan. 

The northern part of the Masterplan area 

therefore needs to ensure that it is able to 

develop its complementary employment 

role; 

l No VTF ‘hubs’ are identifed within the 

Masterplan area; 

l The current vogue for experiential 

shopping and the growth in online retail 

are challenging for the existing town 

centres; 

l Population decline is a signifcant threat 

to the Heads of the Valleys, potentially 

leading to the loss of local services and 

community sustainability; 

l Socio-economic factors need to be 

addressed or they are likely to continue 

to have a signifcant impact on the 

Masterplan area; 

l Levels of car ownership are low and IT 

infrastructure within the area is poor; 

l Low land values and historic land 

conditions associated with the area’s 

industrial past make many sites unviable 

and therefore unattractive to the private 

sector; 

l Available fnancial resources may be 

insuffcient to effectively address the 

challenges, especially as a result of the loss 

of EU funding; 

l Low aspirations, low educational 

achievement and health issues may 

hinder the ability of residents to access 

employment opportunities; 

l Negative perceptions of the area can under-

mine attempts at regenerating the area. 

P
age 214



11 

draft 

 

 

 

  

 

 

Section 4: The Vision for the Heads of the Valleys Regeneration Area 

The Heads of the Valleys Regeneration Area 

comprises the towns of Bargoed, Rhymney 

and the Upper Rhymney and Sirhowy 

Valleys, and lies alongside the A465 at its 

northernmost point. Development in this 

area needs to capitalise upon the major 

public investment in the A465, in order to 

help address deprivation within this area. A 

Vision and a series of Strategic Objectives 

have been identifed, based on the fndings 

set out in Section 3 – these seek to address 

the HOVRA’s threats and weaknesses, 

by maximising the positive impact of its 

strengths and taking advantage of its 

opportunities. 

The Vision is as follows: 

“The Heads of the Valleys will capitalise 

upon the major public investment in the 

A465 and its strategic location along this 

corridor, complementing and strengthening 

employment opportunities and creating an 

exciting, vibrant place where businesses will 

want to locate and where people will choose 

to live and work. 

It will strengthen and diversify communities 

by improving connectivity, supporting 

the role of the foundational economy and 

developing its role as a visitor and tourism 

destination by utilising its distinctive 

industrial heritage and natural attractions 

and spaces. 

It will enable the provision of, and promote 

accessibility to, those commercial, leisure and 

community services that will equip people to 

lead more healthy and prosperous lives.” 

The Vision has been prepared having regard 

for the seven well-being goals set out within 

the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) 

Act 2015. 

The Vision for the Masterplan will be 

supported by a series of Strategic Objectives 

outlined below that will drive its delivery and 

translate directly into a series of projects and 

actions that: 

A. Complementing, and integrate with, 

nearby initiatives such as the Ebbw 

Vale Enterprise Zone (EZ) in order 

to develop a strategic employment 

function for Rhymney, establishing it 

as a gateway to the Valleys - Identifying 

redevelopment proposals for Rhymney’s 

employment sites that link into Metro 

improvements, the role of Rhymney Station 

and the close proximity of the A465. 

Establishing strong infrastructural and 

sectoral links with the EZ is central to this; 

B. Improving social and economic 

resilience through education, training 

and careers advice, and foster the 

development of the foundational 

economy within this area to ensure 

that economic growth accrues 

P
age 215



12 

draft
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

more equitably - Tackling deprivation 

and improving access to economic 

opportunities through development of 

skills and integration of training initiatives 

with business. In terms of the foundational 

economy, ensuring that resources are 

more usefully spent shoring up indigenous 

businesses where proft and spend is more 

likely to remain or recirculate within the 

local economy. Central to this is building 

capacity within communities and 

establishing networks of collaboration; 

C. Expanding the area’s sphere of 

infuence and improve connectivity 

- Using the A465 and public transport 

infrastructure improvements to enable the 

population within the north of the County 

Borough to beneft from opportunities 

within the wider A465 corridor, including 

those that are presented in adjacent 

authorities; 

D. Reinforcing the role of Bargoed 

as a service centre for the north of 

the County Borough - Promoting 

its diversifcation for alternative uses 

and taking full advantage of its bus/ 

rail connectivity, whilst retaining and 

consolidating a strong retail core, 

E. Maximising the impact of the Valleys 

Regional Park, protecting and 

enhancing important green spaces 

and built heritage and promoting 

tourism - Establishing a vibrant network 

of tourism, visitor and leisure attractions 

and promoting the natural heritage of the 

area in order to encourage the use of green 

spaces and create a vibrant and accessible 

visitor destination; 

F. Supporting proposals for renewable 

energy generation and community 

beneft through utility infrastructure -

Encouraging the development of renewable 

energy proposals in sustainable locations, 

including through the operation of 

community co-operatives, and ensure that 

community beneft can be derived from 

upgrades to public utilities; 

G. Supporting the development and 

diversifcation of housing in sustainable 

locations to complement economic 

growth and resilience - Unlock stalled 

housing sites in locations less favourable 

to volume builders and trial initiatives for 

innovative housing and self builds; 

H. Providing a suitable level of 

community, leisure and education 

facilities, aligning with national and 

local initiatives including 21st Century 

Schools and the CCBC Sport and Active 

Recreation Strategy where applicable, 

and establishing Integrated Well-

Being Networks in order to connect 

communities’ strengths and assets 

- Acknowledge that such facilities are 

important to the population and ensure 

that these facilities meet future needs. 

Collaboration delivered through networks 

of community hubs and people who deliver 

services and support can build community 

relationships and have a positive impact 

on well-being and social capital, especially 

P
age 216



13 

draft
 

 

in conjunction with other community 

schemes; 

I. Ensuring that accessibility for all 

is embedded in all improvement 

schemes - A cross-cutting objective that 

recognises that people are disabled more 

by poor design, inaccessible services and 

other people’s attitudes than by their own 

impairment; 

J. Ensuring all communities within the 

Heads of the Valleys Regeneration 

Area are able to engage and beneft 

from the Masterplan - Ensure that the 

proposals identifed in the Masterplan have 

positive outputs for those that are living in 

those communities. 

P
age 217



14 

draft
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

  

Section 5: The Development Strategy 

In order to deliver the Vision and Strategic 

Objectives, it is important to set out the 

development strategy in relation to the key 

land uses within the Masterplan area, having 

regard for the strategy of the adopted LDP, 

regional aspirations and the opportunities 

and challenges that form the context.The site 

specifc delivery of the Masterplan is set out in 

Section 6. 

Employment and Skills 

City Deal presents a signifcant opportunity to 

revitalise the economy of the A465 corridor, 

providing funds to develop growth in key 

sectors, establish a network of redeveloped 

and reconfgured employment sites and 

improve linkages with the rest of the region 

and beyond.Work has been undertaken 

to determine a sectoral breakdown of the 

HOVRA’s economy, identify those areas 

of sectoral strength that may exist and to 

establish where opportunities for economic 

growth may arise on the basis of this.This 

work is presented as an appendix to this 

document and its fndings set out in Section 6. 

The adopted LDP protects the following 

six sites within the Heads of the Valleys 

Regeneration Area for employment use 

and these should continue to be protected 

(additional land at Heads of the Valleys 

Industrial Estate is allocated for new 

development): 

l Heads of the Valleys, Rhymney; 

l Capital Valley, Rhymney; 

l Maerdy, Rhymney; 

l New Tredegar Business Park; 

l Bowen, Aberbargoed; 

l Angel Lane, Aberbargoed. 

The Masterplan seeks to take advantage of 

the three Rhymney sites listed above plus The 

Lawns Industrial Estate by identifying them 

as potential redevelopment opportunities, 

in order to provide new business space, to 

complement the role of the nearby Ebbw 

Vale Enterprise Zone (EZ) and maximise the 

potential offered by increased connectivity 

through the Metro initiative. 

It is envisaged that this will involve the 

provision of new starter units suitable for 

small business start-ups, and some larger 

units that cater for businesses who wish 

to take advantage of existing and growth 

sectors.The area, along with Blaenau Gwent, 

does have a life sciences presence, and the 

automotive focus of the nearby EZ may 

present opportunities for complementary 

development in associated supply chains and 

service sectors. 

Alongside physical improvements to land and 

premises, there is a need for this process to 

link to the development of direct recruitment 

schemes being implemented by the Council’s 

Business Liaison Offcer. 

P
age 218



15 

draft
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Foundational Economy 

The foundational economy provides 

essential goods and services for everyday 

life and includes infrastructure; utilities; food 

processing, retailing and distribution; and 

health, education and welfare. In Wales, it 

supports four out of every 10 jobs, and £1 in 

every £3 spent. 

Common interventions utilised in relation 

to the foundational economy include 

those related to public sector procurement 

processes, ensuring that more of the revenue 

moving through it can be harnessed and 

retained in the local area. Other schemes 

include a pilot project in Blaenau Gwent, 

involving the collaboration of locally-

active housing associations to support the 

development of SMEs. 

Welsh Government has launched a £3m 

Foundational Economy Challenge Fund, 

offering support to organisations and 

businesses to introduce innovative ways of 

working.This is open to any organisation 

working within the foundational economy, 

and projects must be for its beneft. 

Education and Training 

Educational attainment and skills acquisition, 

along with other social and economic factors 

in respect of deprivation are key issues in 

respect of addressing inequalities in the 

Masterplan area. Data from the Welsh Index of 

Multiple Deprivation (WIMD) 2019 indicates 

that of the twenty LSOAs that constitute the 

HOVRA, six are in the most 10% deprived of 

all Welsh LSOAs in terms of education (details 

are set out in Appendix 5). 

Working in partnership with Careers Wales, 

Business Support Wales and business and 

industry, the Council will seek to increase 

the availability of quality jobs and identify 

opportunities to enhance access for 

residents to those jobs.The availability of 

a workforce with the appropriate range of 

skills is essential, and the focus should be 

concentrated on the following areas: 

l Providing appropriate career support to 

aid people’s understanding of the type of 

employment available to them and help 

them make the right choices to lead them 

into work; 

l Ensuring that the appropriate soft skills 

and technical skills are provided, and 

engendering a culture of enterprise and 

entrepreneurship; 

l Addressing the mismatch between the 

skills needed to access jobs (digital, 

technical and soft) and the training 

provided through the educational 

curriculum and by training providers; 

l Ensuring that there are opportunities 

for upskilling in the current workforce, 

including the closing of skills ‘gaps’ in 

relation to potential growth sectors; 

l Improving links between schools, further 

education and local businesses; 

l Integration with the Community 

Regeneration-led Gateway to Employment 

model, providing key relevant training 

opportunities for existing workforces and 

unemployed participants. 

P
age 219



16 

draft
 

 

 

  

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Connectivity 

The A465 is the key strategic east-west route 

between West Wales and the Midlands and 

the ongoing dualling programme will increase 

its capability in this regard, as well as providing 

a vital link with nearby centres such as Merthyr 

and Ebbw Vale.The increased accessibility 

offered by Metro will have similar benefts in 

respect of accessibility to the south, aiding 

access to external markets for businesses, jobs 

and other facilities for residents. Increases in 

journey frequency and the provision of earlier 

and later services will allow more people 

to travel in a manner which is conducive to 

labour market requirements, taking account of 

shift  patterns. 

It will also have the potential to bring 

employees and visitors in, and therefore 

‘gateway’ sites such as the Bargoed and 

Rhymney Stations and their environs are 

important, both in their own right and as 

a means of signposting to nearby facilities. 

There is therefore the potential for land 

around local rail stations to be confgured to 

have a positive impact on the local economy 

i.e. through the provision of business space 

and associated development, and to convey a 

positive image of the area by providing links 

to town centres and other facilities that exist 

elsewhere within the Heads of the Valleys 

Regeneration Area. 

Leisure and Tourism 

The Heads of the Valleys is synonymous with 

both a strong industrial legacy and a series of 

distinctive landscapes, and the combination 

of these is a rich natural and cultural heritage. 

The Valleys Regional Park (VRP) initiative seeks 

to establish a model for the management 

of a network of a highly-visible, high quality 

country parks, other natural assets, heritage 

sites and attractions across the Valleys, linked 

with towns and villages and the Metro and 

maximising the opportunities for walking, 

cycling and riding. 

There are three existing country parks and 

one proposed country park in the HOVRA  

that will contribute to the VRP, namely: 

Parc Bryn Bach (Blaenau Gwent Caerphilly); 

Parc Cwm Darran; 

Parc Coetir Bargod; 

Markham Colliery. 

Other important heritage assets which will 

contribute to the VRP include: 

The Winding House Museum, New 

Tredegar; 

Bute Town Conservation Area; 

Hanbury Chapel and Library,  Bargoed. 

Town Centres 

Retailing remains fundamental to the role 

and function of town centres.The Masterplan 

area comprises the Principal Town of Bargoed, 

the Local Centre of Rhymney and the smaller 

settlements of New Tredegar, Aberbargoed, 

Markham, Argoed, Hollybush, Deri, Fochriw, 

Pontlottyn and Abertysswg. 

l Bargoed – the town centre includes 

one national supermarket (Morrisons), a 

number of smaller national stores and over 

100 largely independent commercial units 

and key services; 

P
age 220



17 

draft
 

  

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

l Rhymney – comprises a range of local 

shops and services; 

l Neighbourhood retailing – in accordance 

with national and local planning policy, 

the Masterplan does not promote the 

provision of major retail development 

outside of designated retail areas, but the 

development of some retail to support 

local needs is a key part of promoting 

sustainable development. 

Both Bargoed and Rhymney town centres 

have vacant units, and there is potential to 

diversify the range of uses within both towns, 

whilst ensuring that they expand on their 

roles as service centres with a viable and 

vibrant retail and commercial basis. 

Housing 

The strategy for the adopted LDP seeks 

to exploit appropriate development 

opportunities where they exist, with a view 

to creating a viable future for all communities 

in the Heads of the Valleys. It also seeks to 

accommodate new housing in villages where 

there is a need to diversify stock and in order 

to retain the existing population. 

The Heads of the Valleys has experienced 

less development pressure over the lifetime 

of the LDP due to the perceptions of volume 

housebuilders regarding proftability. Whilst 

some small-scale development has taken 

place, many of the sites allocated for housing 

in the LDP remain undeveloped, despite 

their sustainable locations. However, there 

is signifcant potential for the development 

of sites by SME builders and self-build plots, 

as well as new housing association sites, to 

provide new sustainably located housing 

development in order to increase the amount 

and quality of housing stock in this area. 

Community Facilities 

The provision and location of community 

facilities are of crucial importance to the 

sustainability of settlements and to the well-

being of their populations. In addition to 

existing facilities in the HOVRA, a number of 

new facilities have opened, or existing ones 

improved, since the adoption of the LDP: 

l Bargoed Library and Customer First 

Centre (Hanbury Chapel); 

l Rhymney Integrated Health and Social 

Care Centre; 

l Hafod Deg Resource Centre, Rhymney; 

l Idris Davies School, Abertysswg – the frst 

English medium school in the authority 

that offers a through school education for 

pupils between the ages of 3 and 18; this 

provision also incorporates Flying Start 

and wraparound childcare. 

l Rhymney Library. 

The rationalisation and sharing of facilities to 

fulfl several community purposes can provide 

benefts in the form of community ‘hubs’, 

allowing people and groups to use them 

for a variety of uses.This can have a positive 

impact in terms of social capital, engendering 

networking opportunities, knowledge sharing 

and the development of transferable skills 

which are of invaluable importance in a 

modern social and economic context. 

P
age 221



18 

draft
 

 

    

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Section 6: The Masterplan Framework 

This section sets out the site specifc projects 

and proposals that will collectively deliver 

the Vision and Objectives. Many of the 

projects are interrelated, and therefore 

implementation of some projects may be 

reliant on other proposals progressing 

sequentially or concurrently. 

A – Complement, and integrate with, 

nearby initiatives such as the Ebbw 

Vale Enterprise Zone (EZ) in order 

to develop a strategic employment 

function for Rhymney, establishing 

it as a gateway to the Valleys 

City Deal presents an opportunity for the 

A465 corridor to develop its economy in an 

integrated way, exploiting improvements in 

connectivity to bring about sectoral growth 

on the basis of existing strengths, and in a 

manner which is complementary to other 

parts of the region, through the development 

of modern business premises. 

Ebbw Vale Enterprise Zone comprises 

eight sites which are intended to deliver 

the objective of the Tech Valleys initiative – 

supporting the improvement of infrastructure 

links and development of 450,000 sq ft of new 

industrial/commercial foorspace, generating 

up to £20 million of private investment and 

potentially 1,000 permanent jobs. 

The fve ‘key’ sites within the 

Enterprise Zone (EZ) are as 

follows: 

l Bryn Serth (20.2 ha); 

l Rassau Industrial Estate (7.1 ha); 

l Rhyd-y-Blew (29.2 ha) – development of a 

technology park at this location in lieu of 

the Circuit of Wales scheme, including a 

50,000 sq ft advanced manufacturing unit; 

l The Works (6.2 ha) – development of 

22,000 sq ft of B1/B2 starter units; 

l Tredegar Business Park (2.1 ha) 

All of these sites beneft from close proximity 

to the A465, allocation within the Blaenau 

Gwent LDP for class B uses, a simplifed 

planning regime via a local development 

order (LDO) and fnancial support from 

Finance Wales and the Welsh Business Rates 

Scheme. An opportunity exists to extend 

the EZ to incorporate employment sites in 

Rhymney to provide ancillary, complementary 

and service employment opportunities. 

Establishment of an A465 

Innovation Chain 

Work undertaken by the University of South 

Wales for the Valleys Taskforce recommends 

the establishment of an ‘innovation chain’ to 

maximise the impact of the A465 dualling. 

The aim of this is to provide a series of 

strong innovation clusters in order to boost 

the regional economy and attract external 

investment.Three zones are identifed, based 

on existing characteristics: 

P
age 222



AFT 

DR
Q ... ., 

GY.Min 

----, 
' ' ■or>Ca, .. 

,--, 
I 

\ 

' \ 
\ . 
' 

I 

' I , .. _ -

..... .. 
465 Innovation Chain 

, ---- ... ... _, -...... . , -,. ', 
I I 

q 

Q 
Energy 

q 
I _, 

' ' 
Furniture 

Advanced 
materia Is-& 

manufacturing 

I 
I 
\ 

I 
,manufacturing 
, 

Life~ ience 
Pharmac'eutical 

manu acture 
' 

geumyoung.min@southwales.ac. uk 

r:. ' 

' • 
" .. 

I 
!. .. , 

\ 
I 

A~ospace 
I 

Existing Enterprise Zone 
Strategic hub 
Key companies; Business 

park; Industrial site; Innovation 
centre 

Tourist attractions; Nature 
park; Visitor centres; Museums 

HE/FE institutes 
: ..._ __ q ____________ _ 

I 
I 

Q 

u 

qE:ngineering 
0 

I 
I I 

;-~ Ii t . ' '•1( ,-
0 

Ae~~sP,ace q 
Engineering 

9 -, 

I 
\,...- I 

NINpOII 

'Food 
manufacture 

9 

Compound 
semiconductor 

q 
C 

Cyber security - Creative industry 

Finarid,al & 
Professiona l services 

CD 

Q 

-- 1 

·-

A465 Innovation Chain 

DRAFT
DRAFT

19 

P
age 223



  

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

DRAFT 
l Zone 1 (Glynneath area, Neath Port Talbot): 

energy/environment cluster; 

l Zone 2 (Hirwaun-Aberdare area, Rhondda 

Cynon Taf ): IT/digital cluster; 

l Zone 3 (Dowlais, Merthyr - Bute Town, 

Caerphilly): extension of Tech Valleys and 

Merthyr industrial sites. 

The main focus of Zone 3 is to provide 

greater connectivity between the automotive 

presence in Ebbw Vale and those additional 

facilities that exist in Merthyr – some 

industrial as well as retail and leisure.The 

USW work envisages the addition of R&D 

facilities, support for business start-ups and 

conferencing and hospitality facilities for 

business and investors along this corridor.The 

Masterplan seeks to build on this approach 

by developing the role of Rhymney’s existing 

employment sites, in order to complement 

the focus on automotive and advanced 

manufacturing within the Ebbw Vale 

Enterprise Zone. 

Rhymney is situated between Ebbw Vale 

and Merthyr on the A465 and, although it 

has no designated role as set out within 

the VTF delivery plan, it possesses a ‘critical 

mass’ of existing employment land and 

premises which is a comparative strength in 

the HOVRA, which illustrated that Rhymney 

can compete with neighbouring areas to 

attract and retain business.The Rhymney 

employment cluster comprises the following 

sites: 

l Heads of the Valleys (19.5 ha) – 5.2 ha of 

undeveloped land remains available for 

development; 

l Capital Valley (14.8 ha) – 3.3 ha at the 

southern end is undeveloped; 

l Maerdy Industrial Estate (12.5 ha); 

l The Lawns Industrial Estate (7.3 ha) – there 

is planning consent to develop 15 new 

units on the residual land available. 

This cluster of industrial estates is situated 

either side of the A469 north-south link road, 

in very close proximity to the A465, offering 

excellent vehicular and freight access to 

Merthyr Tydfl to the west and the Ebbw Vale 

Enterprise Zone to the east. Rhymney Station 

provides excellent rail access through the 

County Borough to Cardiff, whilst there is 

the capability to transport freight from the 

Capital Valley railhead, which is unique in the 

Heads of the Valleys area. 

The following map identifes the EZ sites 

as well as the Rhymney cluster, and the key 

transport routes that exist in the local 

vicinity: 

Given Rhymney’s proximity to the EZ and 

the need for mutually complementary 

employment growth in order to deliver 

economic benefts to this part of the A465 

corridor, it is proposed that the scope of 

the existing Ebbw Vale EZ be expanded to 

create a Heads of the Valleys Enterprise 

Zone, complementing the planned growth 

in the automotive sector at Ebbw Vale and 

the retail/leisure offer at Merthyr (including 

the forthcoming Rhydycar West scheme). 

20 

P
age 224



  
  
  
     

   
  
   
 
  
  
  
   
     

-
1111 

1111 

DRAFT 
Ebbw Vale Enterprise Zone and Rhymney Employment Sites 

Legend 

H Railway Stations 

A465 
Railway Line 

Rhymney Employment 
A. The Lawns 
B. Maerdy Industrial Estate 
C. Capital Valley 
D. Heads of the Valley Ind. Est. 

Ebbw Vale Enterprise Zone 
1. Bryn Serth 
2. Rassau Industrial Estate 
3. Rhyd-y-Blew 
4. The Works 
5. Tredegar Business Park 
6. Victoria/Festival Park 
7. Tafarnaubach Ind. Est. 
8. Waun y Pound Ind. Est. 

H 

H 

H 

1 
3 

8 
7 

2 

4 

6 

5 

A 

BC 

D 

21 

P
age 225



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

DRAFT 
Collectively, these proposals will build on the 

benefts of the A465 dualling and the newly 

developed Metro hub at Rhymney Station. 

In terms of the sectoral analysis undertaken 

in respect of existing sectors operating 

within the area, the Rhymney area does 

accommodate companies which are active 

in the area of healthcare more generally, 

be it manufacturing or supply.This part 

of the HOVRA, encom-passing Rhymney 

and the broad cluster of related frms in 

Blaenau Gwent (including PCI Pharma at 

Tafarnaubach), therefore has the potential 

to build on this specialism, provided that a) 

a suitable workforce can be retained and 

expanded upon; and b) the customer base is 

suffciently accessible. 

An enlarged Heads of the Valleys Enterprise 

Zone may also present opportunities for the 

HOVRA more generally. Whilst the growth 

of the automotive sector has reportedly 

been slow, there are examples of frms 

operating within the sector and, should a 

critical mass be reached whereby the sector 

exhibits clustering characteristics in the 

area (technical expertise and social capital 

locally inherent to that particular feld), 

opportunities for expansion will arise, either 

in the form of additional automotive or other, 

complementary sectors.Whilst this process 

is heavily reliant on the development of 

technical expertise and skills, the Rhymney 

area does have sites that could accommodate 

such development in the form of Capital 

Valley (which requiresredevelopment) and 

Heads of the Valleys Industrial Estate (which 

has undeveloped land). 

Work undertaken by JLL/Sutton Consulting 

on behalf of the Cardiff Capital Region has 

presented fndings in terms of take-up 

and demand for the different categories of 

employment premises and recommendations 

as to how these should be addressed spatially 

across the region.Those pertinent to the 

Heads of the Valleys Regeneration Area are: 

Traditional Small B1/B2/ 

B8 Industrial Units 

Studies across the CCR have identifed 

very high occupancy rates for such units. 

It is recommended that the average site 

offered should be 1,500 – 2,000 sq ft. Focus 

on provision of these units should be on 

those parts of the CCR outside Cardiff 

and Newport where new private sector 

development of such foorspace is viable. 

Potential locations in Caerphilly County 

Borough include Caerphilly/Bedwas, mid 

Valleys locations (Ystrad Mynach, Blackwood) 

and Rhymney. Further development of 

such premises will beneft local enterprise, 

including – potentially – some elements of 

the foundational economy. 

Large B2 Industrial and 

Manufacturing Units 

There has been a steady take-up of foorspace 

across the CCR since the 2007-10 economic 

downturn and there is now a near historic 

low in terms of supply, particularly regarding 

modern foorspace.There is little speculative 

development but the fow of foreign 

direct investment remains slow but steady. 

Recommended locations for intervention 

22 

P
age 226



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
DRAFT 

include the provision of large manufacturing 

units at Oakdale and Rhymney (1 x 50,000 sq 

ft and 1 x 25,000). 

Metro Stations as Business Hubs 

A pilot programme is suggested to explore 

the feasibility of converting stations into 

well-connected business hubs as part of a 

sustainable regeneration masterplan, with 

the local station at the centre. It is anticipated 

that Metro will generate suffcient commuter 

traffc to justify commercial development at 

key locations and, in time, facilitate investment 

beyond the immediate station environs. Public 

sector intervention will be required in the frst 

instance to bring forward sites of suffcient 

quality and scale.Three pathfnder schemes 

are recommended as an exemplar (10,000 

sq ft employment foorspace) with potential 

locations including Rhymney. 

Other 

With the growth in prominence of electric 

vehicles, the lack of charging infrastructure 

across the CCR is highlighted. With the 

ongoing A465 dualling programme, there 

is potential to create an EV-friendly service 

station on the A465 which could also provide 

tourism and visitor services. 

Rhymney is identifed as being a location 

that would beneft from the development 

of small business start-up units, demand for 

which is strong a) across the region due to 

prevailing high occupancy rates; and b) locally 

due to a low proportion of suitable stock. Its 

location just outside the Ebbw Vale EZ, as 

well as good transport links provided by the 

A465 and A469 southbound would enhance 

its attractiveness as an area for developing 

complementary activities to those in the EZ 

with the provision of suitable premises. Other 

factors could also work in its favour, if public 

funding is utilised to develop the potential of 

these attributes: 

l Potential for increased economic 

integration with the rest of the region due 

to the increase in journey frequency at 

Rhymney Station and the potential role 

of the Station as an economic hub for the 

HOVRA; 

l The existence of a railhead at Capital Valley 

gives the area freight transfer capability, 

which is unique in the wider EZ area; 

l The collaborative aspect of the proximity 

of existing commercial/industrial uses 

elsewhere in Rhymney, particularly the 

adjacent Lawn and Maerdy Industrial 

Estates; 

l Opportunities to encourage all industrial 

estate owners to re-brand their premises 

as a single business location, pooling 

resources and encouraging a partnership 

approach to development in this sector 

(possibly with those in the EZ); 

l Rhymney does have an existing life 

sciences presence, and the provision of 

modern business stock could develop this 

further. 

A - 1 Capital Valley 

Capital Valley is an existing industrial estate, 

comprising older, low quality industrial and 

warehouse accommodation. Land in the 

south is in use for open storage while there 

23 

P
age 227



 

 

 

DRAFT 
Capital Valley 

H 

H 

K E Y 

Railway Line 

Railway StationsH 

Capital Valley 

A469 

A 4 6 5 

A469
A469
A469
A469 

A469 

are multiple derelict/demolished buildings 

in the north. Much of it is within TAN 15 food 

zone C2. 

There is concern that the existing stock is 

not ft for purpose in places, specifcally that 

there is a shortage of smaller, modern units 

suitable for new business start-ups.Vacancy 

rates on Capital Valley as of 2018 were 52.6% 

in terms of numbers of units; 37.2% in terms 

of foorspace. Notwithstanding this, the 

existing businesses on the site employ circa 

200 people. 

Redevelopment of the site to tailor it (at 

least in part) to the needs of specifc sectors, 

complemented by investment in the 

development of a range of particular skill 

sets, would allow such businesses to take 

advantage of an appropriately trained and 

upskilled workforce. Key areas that could 

be targeted are manufacturing (potentially 

advanced manufacturing in relation to auto-

motive), processing, energy and institutional 

potentially involving mixed-use schemes 

including housing or commercial uses. 

24 

P
age 228



DRAFT 
Development Principles The Lawns and Maerdy Industrial Estates 

l Redevelopment of the site for small, start-

up units, and larger B2 development; 

l Potential mixed-use development 

including housing or commercial uses; 

l Maximising the existence of a railhead; 

l Integration with Rhymney Station and the 

town centre, especially due to increased 

journey frequency; 

l Optimising the site’s strategically 

advantageous position through a range 

of economic uses, including potentially 

targeting complementary uses to those 

forming the basis of the existing EZ/Tech 

Valleys. 

l Integration with the Community 

Regeneration-led Gateway to Employment 

model, providing key relevant training 

opportunities for existing workforces and 

unemployed participants. 

A - 2 The Lawns Industrial Estate 

The Lawns Industrial Estate (lying 

immediately adjacent to The Maerdy 

H 

A465 

A469 

KEY 

Maerdy Industrial Estate 

The Lawns 

Railway Line 
H Railway Stations 

A469 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

25 

P
age 229



DRAFT 
The Lawns Industrial Estate 

Mynedfa’r Gogledd/North Entrance 

Mynedfa Gwedd y De/ South Entrance 

Mynedfa Gwedd y Gorllewin/West Entrance 

1 : 100 

1 : 100 

1 :100 

26 

P
age 230



  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DRAFT 
Industrial Estate) is centrally located in 

Rhymney on the north eastern side of the 

cluster of estates and is the smallest of the 

four. Existing units are of moderate quality, 

and the majority of them are used for storage, 

offce space or other less industrial facilities/ 

use, also on site is a civic amenity centre. 

Access to the Lawns estate is only possible 

from the southern end via a link road off the 

B4257.There is a strong and ever increasing 

demand for expansion and enhancement 

of the estate for light industrial, high quality 

‘starter units’. As well as potential, additional 

opportunities for expansion of the estate 

in the future, the Council aims to bring into 

benefcial economic use a parcel of prime 

underutilised land (approx. 0.65Ha in size) 

adjacent to the existing estate to signifcantly 

expand the site’s employment offer.This will 

result in the design and construction of new 

high quality light industrial factory units and 

associated infrastructure, to be delivered in 

2020.The scheme will consist of the following 

key elements: 

l New access highway infrastructure & 

parking areas; 

l New single storey employment buildings 

(x3) – with internal units ranging in size 

between 50, 70 & 100 sq.m; 

l Associated soft and hard landscaping 

features. 

Development Principles 

l Development of new start units to satisfy 

demand; 

l Better integration of business space within 

the sites, enhanced legibility of access; 

l Reduced commuting out of the area 

through increased provision of local jobs; 

l Maximise opportunities brought about 

by Metro, due to proximity to Rhymney 

Station. 

A - 3 Heads of the Valleys 

Industrial Estate 

Located off the A469 and divided into 

two parts, the northern part of the estate 

together with a portion of the southern 

part is protected for employment use in the 

LDP.The remainder is allocated for new 

employment development.The northern 

section comprises mid-sized industrial 

premises, the southern section comprises a 

row of smaller units, one large property and 

vacant land. 

Sharp Clinical Services, part of UDG 

Healthcare plc, has recently invested £9m to 

fund a new multiple – phase pharmaceutical 

manufacturing, packaging and distribution 

facility at this location adding to the range 

of life science manufacturing facilities on 

the estate (Convatec Ltd is also located here) 

demonstrating the attractiveness of the area 

to multi-national life science companies. 

The site’s extremely good transport links in 

relation to the A465, as well as the availability 

of undeveloped land, enhance its status as 

a candidate for the location of life science 

facilities and for business conferencing 

provision to serve the wider A465 corridor. 

27 

P
age 231



DRAFT 
Heads of the Valleys Industrial Estate 

H 

K EY 

H 

A469 

A 4 6 5 

A469
A469
A469
A469 

A469 

Railway Line 
Railway Stations 

Heads of the Valley Ind. Est. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

     

□lillll 

--~;:::> ~:::.! 
~,t ,( 
~.:' 

~ 
~"~ .. 

~ 

Development Principles 

l Good strategic location on the A469 and 

very close to the A465; 

l Availability of undeveloped land; 

l Build on collaborative aspect of the 

proximity of existing commercial/ 

industrial uses elsewhere in Rhymney, 

particularly Capital Valley and the Lawns 

and Maerdy Industrial Estates; 

l Opportunity to develop role of existing 

sectors e.g. life sciences; 

l Potential location for sub-regional 

business conferencing facility, to 

be developed as part of an overall 

improvement to the site’s environment; 

l Integration with the Community 

Regeneration led Gateway to Employment 

model, providing key relevant training 

opportunities for existing workforces and 

unemployed participants. 

28 

P
age 232



 

 

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 DRAFT 
B - Improve social and economic 

resilience through education, 

training and careers advice, and 

foster the development of the 

foundational economy within 

this area to ensure that economic 

growth accrues more equitably 

B - 1 Education, Training and Skills 

In order to combat the economic deprivation 

that is present in much of the HOVRA and 

in conjunction with the physical proposals 

set out under Objective A, there is a need to 

ensure the provision of suitable education 

and training initiatives, programmes to 

reduce worklessness and the development 

of transferable skills. 

This will provide several opportunities in 

relation to economic prosperity: 

l To provide local people with the necessary 

skills required for employment, generally 

bringing about an increase in skill levels 

and improving people’s access to good 

quality jobs; 

l To foster a renewed spirit of confdence 

and entrepreneurship and increase the 

likelihood of higher levels of indigenous 

business formation and economic growth; 

l To attract key employers, particularly those 

operating in higher value-added sectors, 

as part of an overall ‘package’ including 

modern, ft-for-purpose employment 

premises and good sub and inter-regional 

connectivity. 

Having regard to the role of the HOVRA 

within the context of the wider Heads of the 

Valleys region, such an approach needs to 

be appropriately tailored to the economic 

aspirations set out by the Valleys Taskforce 

and the Tech Valleys initiative. In practice, this 

means the propagation of skills tailored to the 

area’s key growth areas. 

As outlined in A Foundation for Success and its 

supporting document Delivering Prosperity, 

there is a need for co-ordinated delivery 

between relevant organisations in order to 

ensure a comprehensive approach regarding 

the following: 

l The provision of appropriate career 

support for children and adults; 

l Addressing the mismatch between the 

skills needed to access jobs and the 

training provided through the curriculum 

and by training providers; 

l Ensuring that there are opportunities for 

upskilling among the current workforce; 

l Improve links between educational 

institutions, including schools, and local 

businesses; 

l Integration with the Community 

Regeneration led Gateway to Employment 

model, providing key relevant training 

opportunities for existing workforces and 

unemployed participants. 

As part of this, Valleys Taskforce is piloting 

a project across its area which seeks to 

connect social and economic challenges 

with crowdsourced entrepreneurial 

solutions, utilising a cloud-based, open 

innovation platform to establish links with 

local educational institutions. Essentially, the 

29 

P
age 233



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  DRAFT 
project will connect local SMEs with a wealth 

of intelligence contained in Universities 

and Colleges to offer solutions to everyday 

business problems. 

Specifc actions in relation to education, 

training and skills are set out within A 

Foundation for Success. In addition, the Council 

is preparing a Skills,Training and Employment 

Strategy which will further develop ways of 

improving skills attainment. 

B - 2 Foundational Economy 

The foundational economy has been defned 

as the “social consumption of essential 

goods and services”. It includes things such 

as healthcare, education, food processing 

and retail, utilities and infrastructure. By 

its very nature, it exists where demand is 

localised and permanent and, therefore, 

the foundational economy exists across the 

whole of the HOVRA. 

For this reason, this is a cross-cutting 

objective that covers the whole area, 

rather than particular sites. Resilience can 

be improved through investing in frms 

and organisations within the foundational 

economy, and the Welsh Government 

Foundational Economy Challenge Fund will 

offer support to organisations and businesses 

to introduce innovative ways of working.The 

Council’s Business Support service can assist 

organisations who may wish to access this 

funding. 

Business Support also has a role in terms 

of working with businesses to establish 

networks of collaboration, ensuring that local 

supply chains can be established where they 

don’t already exist, serving to keep money 

within the local economy. Related to this is 

the provision of suitable business stock – the 

delivery of modern start-up units on estates 

such as Capital Valley and The Lawns will 

assist in adding to existing premises in places 

such as New Tredegar and providing ft-for-

purpose business space for local frms.The 

Community Regeneration-led Gateway to 

Employment model will provide key relevant 

training opportunities for existing workforces 

and unemployed participants (specifcally 

relating in work support and upskilling 

existing workforces). 

Council procurement processes can also 

assist by investing in Heads of the Valleys 

organisations on locally specifc contracts 

where possible.This will ensure that 

contracts are socially benefcial, ensuring that 

infrastructure projects deliver community 

beneft.This needs to be done in such a 

way that builds capacity in local businesses, 

offering long-term employment and 

training. 

Education and training providers will be 

important in building the relevant skills 

required to enable organisations to maintain 

networks of collaboration, and in accessing 

Welsh Government funding opportunities. 

Integrated Well-Being Networks, which 

seek to connect the strengths and assets of 

communities, will also be relevant, and these 

will be discussed more fully under Objective H. 

30 

P
age 234



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DRAFT 
C - Expand the area’s sphere of 

infuence and improve connectivity 

The HOVRA lies within the wider A465 

corridor, which stretches from Neath in the 

west to Abergavenny in the east (in a Welsh 

context) before crossing into the Midlands, 

with settlements in the northern part of 

the area in particular operating within the 

sphere of infuence of nearby centres such 

as Merthyr and Ebbw Vale. Notably it now 

takes the same time by road from Rhymney 

to travel to the Midlands or London as it does 

from Cardiff. However the A465 route has the 

added beneft of avoiding the congestion of 

the Brynglas Tunnels and the Severn Bridge 

making the HOVRA an attractive proposition 

for businesses to locate. 

A465 Dualling 

Dualling of the A465 Heads of the Valleys 

trunk road continues with Section 3 

(Brynmawr to Tredegar) fnished in 2015. 

Section 2, from Gilwern to Brynmawr, is 

now well underway although is more 

technically challenging. Sections 5 and 6, 

from Dowlais Top to Hirwaun, will then follow 

and complete the project.Whilst the A465 

provides opportunities in terms of increasing 

accessibility between settlements within the 

corridor, it risks concentrating development 

and its associated benefts in those that are 

regarded as being of strategic importance in 

a regional context i.e. Merthyr.The creation 

of a Heads of the Valleys Enterprise Zone will 

provide the basis for realising comprehensive 

economic benefts along the entirety of the 

A465 corridor, by matching investment in 

transport infrastructure with investment 

in the physical fabric of local economies 

and also in terms of the educational and 

skills requirements that are vital to support 

economic growth sectors. 

The A469 resilience route remains a key 

aspiration in terms of improving connectivity 

between the northern and southern ends of 

the HOVRA, and improving resilience in terms 

of the area’s highways infrastructure. 

South Wales Metro 

The South Wales Metro initiative will provide 

an opportunity to build on existing provision 

within the HOVRA: 

l The creation of a multi-modal and 

integrated transport network, involving 

traditional rail, light rail and bus rapid 

transit (BRT); 

l £77 million investment in a package of 

Phase 1 infrastructure improvements 

across the region; 

l Phase 2, which will involve the major 

transformation of the existing rail 

network across the region, delivering 

faster and more frequent services (four 

trains per hour), new stations, enhanced 

integration and the introduction of a 

new and improved rolling stock.This will 

deliver increased accessibility, improving 

access to employment and other services 

and facilities across the wider region 

and especially to communities on the 

core valley lines north of Cardiff and, 

specifcally, the Rhymney Valley Line. 

31 

P
age 235



  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 DRAFT 
In terms of timescales, the implementation 

of Phase 2 is anticipated up to 2023, with 

further phases (beyond the core valley lines) 

to follow. 

Metro is intended to act as a catalyst for 

transforming the economic and social 

prospects of the Cardiff Capital Region (CCR). 

Increased connectivity will bring about the 

following: 

l Direct economic benefts through easier 

access to employment across the region; 

l Agglomerative benefts; 

l Development and regeneration benefts 

on key corridors and around key stations; 

l Environmental and sustainability benefts; 

l Ensuring the community is fully engaged 

and has valued input into proposed 

works.The use of existing Community 

Regeneration hubs can be developed 

upon to ensure all elements of work are 

integrated alongside existing community 

beneft related contracts. 

Locally, the Rhymney Valley Line operational 

enhancements to enable more frequent and 

faster services will be delivered through Phase 

2. Potential bus rapid transit routes between 

Rhymney and Ebbw Vale, and Rhymney and 

Merthyr, are also options for the future. 

A pilot programme is suggested to explore 

the feasibility of converting stations into 

well-connected business hubs as part of a 

sustainable regeneration masterplan, with 

the local station at the centre. It is anticipated 

that Metro will generate suffcient commuter 

traffc to justify commercial development 

at key locations and, in time, facilitate 

investment beyond the immediate station 

environs. Public sector intervention will be 

required in the frst instance to bring forward 

sites of suffcient quality and scale.The 

Council will work with Welsh Government 

and Transport for Wales to pursue a pilot at 

Rhymney Station. 

Electric Vehicles 

The Council is currently exploring the 

feasibility of providing electric vehicle 

charging points, following a commitment 

to increasing the use of electric vehicles 

and creating an all-electric public transport 

network.  Funding has been obtained through 

the OLEV scheme for charging points in car 

parks near residential areas without off-street 

parking and a scheme is envisaged at Dyffryn 

Terrace, Eliot’s Town, with the potential for 

additional locations to beneft including 

Pontlottyn Station and Parc Cwm Darran. 

Digital Connectivity 

Digital Connectivity is critical if the 

economy of the HOVRA is to improve.Welsh 

Government established the Superfast Cymru 

initiative in order to extend the coverage of 

superfast broadband to those areas across 

Wales not covered by commercial rollout.This 

programme concluded in 2016 and has had 

substantial success in rolling out superfast 

broadband provision across the country. 

The quality and speed of such digital 

connectivity is of great importance for the 

32 

P
age 236



 

 

 

   

j 

~ :,, t 

:f 
' Lawns 
ial Esta 

Giv 
Ame 

Sit DRAFT 
business community, in terms of being able 

to address new market opportunities, the 

scaling up of operations and impacting 

positively on proftability. However, the 

success that can be delivered through the 

provision of such infrastructure is dependent 

on take-up rates, and therefore businesses 

throughout the HOVRA will be encouraged to 

unlock their full potential through the use of 

digital technology. 

In some parts of the HOVRA, areas of poorer 

connectivity may persist, and therefore 

opportunities to address this should be 

pursued, both through: 

l Extended provision of enhanced digital 

infrastructure, where necessary; and 

l The linking of enhanced infrastructure 

to businesses and homes, through 

redevelopment and adaptation; 

l Use of existing services such as Digital 

Fridays, local libraries and local outreach 

venues to improve digital literacy and 

Land around Rhymney Station 

H 

KEY 

Railway Line 

H Railway Stations 

Railway Station & Car Park 

Whitbread 

College 

Centre 

Rhymney 

A465 

A
469 

33 

P
age 237



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DRAFT 
provide access to broadband in deprived 

areas where people would not be able to 

access ICT provision; 

l Link to the Gateway to Employment 

model to improve basic skills in the most 

deprived and isolated communities. 

C - 1 Land around Rhymney Station 

Within 100m of Rhymney Station lies the 

Whitbread Enterprise Centre and the former 

Rhymney College.There is potential for part 

of this land to be redeveloped as a multi-

functional business hub, offering business 

units, live-work space and a commercial 

element including meeting facilities. In 

conjunction with the increased journey 

frequency brought about by Metro, this 

would allow the station and its immediate 

environs to maximise the economic 

advantage offered by increased connectivity 

to external markets, as well as to create a 

multi-purpose focal point in close proximity 

to Rhymney town centre and to additional, 

new business premises at The Lawns. 

As part of the investments being made in 

Metro, the Council is working with Transport 

for Wales to secure station improvements 

at Rhymney Station.The improvements will 

include enhanced stabling facilities, platform 

extension and remodelling, additional 

parking, a new toilet block and waiting rooms, 

cycle racks and ticketing and wif upgrades. 

Development Principles 

l Economically advantageous due to 

proximity to rail station, as well as existing 

frms located on nearby industrial estates; 

l Optimisation of vacant/underused land; 

l Provision of start-up/incubator units 

suitable for frms requiring access to 

transport infrastructure; 

l Development of multi-functional element; 

l Further enhancements to Rhymney 

Station as part of Metro; 

l Increase in journey frequency. 

C - 2 Other Stations (Bargoed, 

Pontlottyn, Brithdir, Tirphil) 

General improvements are planned by 

Transport for Wales under the Metro 

proposals for Bargoed Pontlottyn, Brithdir 

and Tirphil Stations, including level boarding, 

lighting and cycle racks, ticketing and wif. 

There is also an aspiration for additional 

parking at Bargoed Station, which will be 

covered further on. 

The possibility of installing electric vehicle 

(EV) charging infrastructure at Pontlottyn 

Station is also being considered under the 

OLEV grant scheme. 

C - 3 A465/A469 Transport Hub 

There is the potential to explore the 

development of a transport interchange close 

to the intersection of the A465 and A469, 

linking the major east-west and north-south 

routes in this part of the Heads of the Valleys 

corridor.This scheme would be likely to come 

forward under a later phase of investment 

(post Phase 2 of Metro) under Metro Plus, and 

fnanced through City Deal. 

34 

P
age 238



 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

--. --
DRAFT 

A465/A469 Transport Hub 

H 
A469 

KEY 

Railway Line 

Railway Stations H 

A469 

Metro Shuttle 

Potential Metro 
Interchange 

Development Principles 

l Provision of park and ride between the 

A465 and Rhymney Station; 

l Development of links with planned and 

existing active travel routes (C - 7); 

l Close to tourism and leisure amenities 

– Bute Town heritage offer, Bute Town 

Reservoir, Parc Bryn Bach; 

l Creation of sustainable transport links 

between the A465 and new employment 

provision at the proposed Heads of the 

Valleys Enterprise Zone. 

C - 4 A469 Resilience Route 

Whilst Metro and the increasing role of 

public transport is of key importance to the 

sustainable development of the HOVRA, 

the integration of different modes is of 

key importance in terms of ensuring that 

communities are well-connected.The closure 

of the A469 between New Tredegar and 

Rhymney, due to a landslip in February 2014, 

has demonstrated the importance of this 

35 

P
age 239



 

 

 
 

  

   

 

DRAFT 
A469 Resilience Route 

New 
Tredegar 

Pontlottyn 

A465 

A469 
Rhymney 

Fochriw 

Deri 

To Ebbw Vale 
& Midlands 

To 
Merthyr 
& West 
Wales 

To Caerphillly, M4 & Cardiff
A469 Resilience 

A469 

KEY 

A469 

A465 

Settlements 

route to the accessibility of the Masterplan 

area. Investment is required to ensure 

greater resilience for the route to maintain 

accessibility to this part of the county 

borough. Greater levels of connectivity is 

essential to the development of sustainable 

communities and increasing the area’s 

attractiveness as a business and visitor 

destination. 

Feasibility work has previously been 

undertaken regarding the development of a 

new highway route between New Tredegar 

and Abertysswg, and currently ground 

investigations are underway at the existing 

route. An assessment can then inform the 

best option to secure the route for the future. 

Once all avenues and cost benefts have been 

examined funding options will be explored. 

C - 5 Former Skinner’s Site, Rhymney 

The site forms a vacant strip of land to the 

north of Heads of the Valleys Industrial 

Estate, which formerly accommodated 

the Ron Skinner car dealership.The site 

36 

P
age 240



DRAFT 
Former Skinner’s Site 

A465 

Town Centre
Rhymney 

Key 
Former Skinner Site 

A469 

A469 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

I 

S ' 
~ I 

I 
I 

' 

is approximately 0.8ha and is situated 

immediately adjacent to the A469 and in very 

close proximity (within 1 km) to the A465, 

although lies wholly within a C2 food risk area. 

The site’s location, ideally situated along 

major transport arteries, provides an 

opportunity to tackle two issues: 

l The need for a service location on this 

stretch of the A465, in order to act as 

an ‘attractor’ to traffc passing between 

Merthyr and Blaenau Gwent; 

l The shortage of electric vehicle charging 

points in this part of the County Borough 

and along this stretch of the A465 – there 

are none between Merthyr and Brynmawr. 

Development Principles 

l The site has food risk and, due to previous 

uses, potential contamination issues which 

need to be addressed; 

l Highly accessible, cleared, developable 

brownfeld site; 

l Opportunity to realise some form of 

37 

P
age 241



 

 

 

 

 

 

   
  

DRAFT 
commercial/service-related development 

just off the A465; 

l Development at this location would act as 

an ‘attractor’ to the area, increasing levels 

of consumer spending; 

l Very close to Heads of the Valleys 

Industrial Estate – development of a 

regional business conferencing facility at 

this location could enhance the economic 

attraction of such a development; 

l Integration with the Community 

Regeneration-led Gateway to Employment 

model, providing key relevant training 

opportunities for existing workforces and 

unemployed participants. 

C - 6 Dyffryn Terrace, Elliots Town 

Funding has been obtained under the OLEV 

grant scheme for the installation of electric 

vehicle charging points at Dyffryn Terrace, 

Elliots Town.This will enable the provision of 

two charging posts serving four parking bays 

for residents without off-street parking. 

Dyffryn Terrace, Elliots Town 

A46
5 A b e r b a r g o e d 

A469 

A4049 

R h y m n e y 

K E Y 
A4049 

Railway Line 

A469 

Car Park location of electric 
vehicle charging points 

38 

P
age 242



 

  

 

AFT 

DR

C - 7 Active Travel Routes 

Active travel covers walking and cycling 

routes for everyday journeys, including 

to school, to work, to shops and to access 

services, such as health or leisure centres. 

Active travel routes are important for 

promoting healthier lifestyles and for 

increasing connectivity and accessibility. 

The Active Travel (Wales) Act 2013 specifes 

designated locations for provision of 

active travel routes. Whilst not all locations 

within the Masterplan Area fall within such 

designation, a number of schemes have been 

identifed in the Masterplan area based on 

the Existing Routes Map (approved by Welsh 

Government in 2018) and the Integrated 

Network Map, which sets out the Council’s 

proposals for the next 15 years.These are 

schemes incorporate a combination of cycle 

routes and footpaths as well as shared routes 

and are set out below: 

Community Description Status Type of Use 

Rhymney 
New link from Ty Coch to existing route and 
the Heads of the Valleys Industrial Estate 

New Shared use 

Rhymney 
New link from existing route to the primary 
school, town centre and leisure facilities 

New Shared use 

Rhymney 
New link from existing route to Twyn Carno 
residential area 

New Shared use 

Rhymney 
Alternative traffc free link from existing route 
direct to Rhymney Station 

New Shared use 

Rhymney 
Improvements to an existing link from 
Brynawel Primary School via recreational area 
to Mount Batten 

Upgrade Shared use 

Pontlottyn 
New traffc free link from Brynhyfryd housing 
estate to Pontlottyn village centre via school 
site 

New/upgrade Shared use 

New Tredegar 
Improved shared use link from White Rose 
Primary School to Phillipstown via School 
Street 

New Shared use 

Aberbargoed 
New shared use traffc free link from 
Aberbargoed to Bargoed Station. Links to 
existing Active Travel route 

New Shared use 

Gilfach 
New link from Gilfach Fargoed/Ysgol Gymraeg 
Gilfach Fargoed  to leisure facilities 

New Shared use 

39 

P
age 243



v·•-·- -·~ .......... 
. -·~ ~ 

Pare Bryn B•ch (CCBC) 

""'-
~~ ,_\ .. 

•,' DRAFT 
Rhymney Active Travel Routes 

40 

P
age 244



Rhymney & Abertysswg 

DRAFT 

41 

P
age 245



0 

0 

,• .. ,,. ,, 
~~""" 

u•••l: 
~1_._,, 

DRAFT 
New Tredegar 

42 

P
age 246



Pare Coetir Bargod 

DRAFT 
Bargoed 

43 

P
age 247



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 DRAFT 
D - Reinforce the role of Bargoed 

as a service centre for the north 

of the County Borough 

Bargoed serves as the principal town for the 

north of the County Borough and therefore 

has a role as its main retail, commercial and 

service location. In recent years, there have 

been positive developments in Bargoed 

town centre with the completion of Angel 

Way which has improved accessibility, the 

development of Morrison’s and Lowry 

Plaza and the relocation of Bargoed Library 

and Customer First Centre into the former 

Hanbury Chapel. However, challenges remain 

in the form of high vacancy rates (22.9% in 

2018), particularly at the northern end of the 

town centre close to the bus and rail stations. 

The close proximity of the stations, coupled 

with the planned network improvements 

as part of the Metro proposals, provides 

an opportunity for Bargoed to diversify 

its role and increase other uses (service 

provision, offces, residential) in addition to 

consolidating its retail offer.There remains a 

need for further commercial development 

on the remainder of the retail plateau, and 

the creation of a ‘business quarter’ at the 

northern end of the town centre involving 

redevelopment of the vacant retail units 

maximising the proximity to the bus/rail/road 

network”. 

D - 1 Land at Bargoed Station 

An aspiration exists through the Metro 

initiative to expand car parking provision at 

Bargoed, in line with the planned increases 

in journey frequency, although land has not 

yet been specifcally identifed. As part of 

this, there is the potential for provision of 

EV charging infrastructure, in line with the 

Council’s commitment to creating an all-

electric public transport network. General 

station improvements, including a new toilet 

block, are also planned by Transport for Wales. 

Development Principles 

l Increasing the capability of Bargoed 

to serve as a park and ride location, 

enhancing the facility’s sustainability; 

l Site’s location adjacent to the bus station 

strengthens its potential as a multi-modal 

interchange; 

l Greater utilisation of the station could 

increase footfall in the town centre; 

l Optimisation of the role of the northern 

end of the town centre through the 

‘business quarter’ concept (D-2). 

D - 2 Business Quarter and 
Bargoed High Street 

The area of the town centre in question 

consists of a number of largely vacant retail 

units, the Emporium building, the Council’s Ty 

Bargoed offce and the associated car park. 

Metro has the potential to expand Bargoed’s 

sphere of infuence within a regional context. 

The rail and bus stations are situated at the 

northern end of the town centre and can 

therefore act as a linkage with this area.The 

integration of these elements provides an 

opportunity for redevelopment of this part 

of the town centre and the attraction of 

additional, non-retail uses such as service 

44 

P
age 248



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

        

' . ' I !J 
,~ ---, 

1 
;a 

\ 

\ ' \ \ 

-~ --D 

\ \ 
\ \ 

\ ' ' \ ' ' \ \ 
\ \ 
\ \ 

' \ \ \ 
\ ' ' \ \ \ 

\ \ 
\ \ 
\ \ ,. \ 

I \ \ 

\ ' I \ 
I I 
\ I 
I \ 
I \ 
\ ' ' \ \ \ 

I \ 

Bv~lon \ -\, DRAFT 
provision or offces, possibly incorporating 

housing as mixed-use development, 

diversifying the town centre’s role and 

increasing the viability of existing retail and 

service uses. However, in order to achieve 

this, facilities such as the station need to be 

presented in a positive light in terms of their 

appearance, functionality and the links that 

exist with the area in its immediate vicinity, 

including the northern end of the town centre. 

The distinctive quality of the Emporium 

building should be maximised as a focal 

point within the town, possibly as a location 

for independent retail, building on an 

increase in footfall brought about by the 

redevelopment of the northern part of the 

town centre. 

Development Principles 

l Redevelopment of vacant premises for 

services/offces/residential; 

l Opportunity for redevelopment in close 

proximity to station, to take advantage of 

Metro links; 

Business Quarter and Bargoed Station 

KEY 

Snooker Hall 

Emporium Building 

Bargoed Station Car Park 

Bargoed Station 

1 - 9 & 42 - 48 High Street 

45 

P
age 249



 

 

 

  

  ---

DRAFT 
l Emporium building as a potential location 

for independent/artisan retail; 

l Addition of uses that complement existing 

ones e.g. offces, thereby consolidating the 

viability of existing retail and service uses 

and increasing footfall. 

D - 3 Bargoed Retail Plateau 

The development of Bargoed Retail Plateau 

has helped to transform the southern end 

of the town centre, with the development of 

a new Morrison’s supermarket, Lowry Plaza 

and public realm improvements. However, 

land remains at the southern end of the 

plateau which is ideally situated for additional 

commercial development, given its proximity 

to Angel Way. Permission was granted in 2019 

for a family/pub restaurant, indicating market 

interest. 

Development Principles 

l Development for commercial use, 

complementing existing retail uses at 

Lowry Plaza and Hanbury Road/High St; 

Bargoed Retail Plateau and Former Cinema, Hanbury Square 

A469 

KEY 

Bargoed Retail Plateau 

Former Cinema 

A469 

Rail 

46 

P
age 250



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DRAFT 
l Good access to town centre and Angel 

Way; 

l Diversifcation of the town centre offer 

through additional commercial use e.g. 

pub/restaurant; 

l Potential for increased footfall, benefting 

existing uses. 

D - 4 Former Cinema,Hanbury Sq. 

The site comprises the former cinema on 

Hanbury Square, which is presently vacant 

and allocated for commercial development 

in the adopted LDP. Planning permission 

had been granted for offce development 

in 2007.The site lies in close proximity to 

the new development at Lowry Plaza and 

Bargoed Retail Plateau. It is anticipated that 

development of the remainder of the retail 

plateau for commercial use will increase 

footfall at this end of the town centre and 

heighten developer interest. Consequently, 

there is an opportunity to redevelop the 

cinema for an alternative use, including 

mixed-use or residential. 

Development Principles 

l Reutilisation of existing stock; 

l Opportunity to bring cinema back into a 

benefcial, town centre use; 

l Potential for increased developer interest 

and diversifcation of town centre uses. 

E - Maximise the impact of the 

Valleys Regional Park, protect and 

enhance important green spaces and 

built heritage and promote tourism 

The Valleys Regional Park (VRP) initiative  

seeks to establish a model for the 

management of a network of country 

parks, other natural assets, heritage sites 

and attractions across the Valleys, linking 

with towns and villages.  It seeks to do this  

through three interlinked delivery themes: 

l Conserve and enhance the area’s 

distinctive landscape qualities; 

l Promote well-being through the enjoy-

ment and understanding of its landscapes; 

l Promote sustainable natural resource 

management and economic and 

community development that support its 

cultural heritage. 

Welsh Government has identifed four 

sites within the wider A465 corridor as VRP 

‘Discovery Gateways’: 

l Blaenavon World Heritage Visitor Centre 

(Torfaen); 

l Dare Valley Country Park (Rhondda Cynon 

Taf ); 

l Cyfartha Park (Merthyr); 

l Parc Bryn Bach (Blaenau Gwent Caerphilly). 

Work is ongoing to assess the attributes of 

these sites with a view to putting in place 

development plans, which aim to provide 

consistently high quality facilities to act as a 

framework for the development of a network 

across the Valleys. In the HOVRA this will 

include opportunities for facilities that can 

complement the existing offer within the 

County Borough and further afeld at: 

47 

P
age 251



DR
    
  
    
      

  

  

D -----■ 
■ 
D 
0 

• 

AFT 
Discovery Gateways, Country Parks and Existing Attractions 

* 

* 
* * 

1 

2 

3 

4 

1. Dare Valley Country Park (Rhondda Cynon Taf) 
2. Cyfartha Park (Merthyr) 
3. Parc Bryn Bach (Blaenau Gwent/Caerphilly) 
4. Blaenavon World Heritage Visitor Centre (Torfaen) 

KEY 

Winding House 

Common Land 

Rhydycar West, Merthyr (potentially) 

Bike Park Wales, Merthyr 

Parc Bryn Bach 

CCBC boundary 

Parc Cwm Darran 

Rock UK Outdoor Activity Centre Treharris 

* Discovery Gateways 

Bargoed County Park A465 

A470 

National Park Boundary 

Former Markham Colliery 

48 

P
age 252



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

    

  

  

  

 

 

 

DRAFT 
l Parc Cwm Darran; 

l Parc Bryn Bach; 

l Bute Town Conservation Area, Bute Town 

Reservoir; 

l Winding House, New Tredegar; 

l Markham Colliery; 

l Parc Coetir Bargod; 

l Common land. 

Activity needs to focus on maximising visitor 

demand, as well as establishing networks 

between facilities, having regard for the 

Discovery Gateways in the area and the 

additional attractions that are interlinked. In 

the context of the wider A465 corridor, these 

include: 

l Brecon Beacons National Park; 

l Bike Park Wales, Merthyr; 

l Rhydycar West, Merthyr (potentially); 

l Zip World facility, Hirwaun (potentially); 

l Rock UK outdoor activity centre, Treharris. 

Accommodation 

Accommodation is one aspect that, along 

with the wider themes of economic 

development and the growth of the 

tourism and visitor sectors, can contribute 

to economic growth in more general terms. 

The Heads of the Valleys Regeneration 

Area is presently lacking in terms of good 

quality accommodation and this correlates 

with a need to increase the value of its local 

economy and to maximise its offer as a 

location for visitors with the attractions and 

facilities to match. 

The increased connectivity brought about 

by Metro and the A465 dualling will be 

benefcial in terms of providing stronger links 

between visitor attractions, but also between 

the Heads of the Valleys, the remainder of 

the Cardiff Capital Region, and elsewhere. 

This can therefore aid the area in terms of 

marketing itself as a destination based on 

three aspects: 

l Its natural environment, including the 

opportunities that this provides as an 

activity destination; 

l Its social and cultural heritage; 

l Its developing and strengthening 

economic base, which offers new business 

opportunities. 

Experience from elsewhere demonstrates that 

the accommodation sector develops on the 

back of increased demand as a destination 

e.g. accommodation has been developed in 

Merthyr on the back of Bike Park Wales. In the 

HOVRA, the focus of this needs to be twofold, 

concentrating on accommodation provision 

for employment/business purposes as well as 

for leisure visitors. 

E - 1 Parc Cwm Darran 

Parc Cwm Darran is one of the County 

Borough’s fve country parks and is situated 

two miles north of Bargoed. It offers the 

following facilities: 

49 

P
age 253



SiteSite

LakeDRAFT 
l Walking routes; 

l Waymarked trails; 

l Cycle route; 

l Lake, including angling facilities; 

l Picnic areas; 

l Campsite; 

l Visitor centre and café. 

There are opportunities for Parc Cwm Darran 

to expand its role as a visitor attraction and 

community resource, within the remit of 

the Valleys Regional Park (VRP) initiative. 

It is already regarded as being a ‘centre of 

excellence’ for the provision of environmental 

training with the Probation Service, and 

this aspect of the park’s role could be 

utilised to increase social capital within the 

community through the provision of training 

and education, and the development of 

community woodland projects in conjunction 

with the work being done by Community 

Regeneration. 

Visitor 
Centre 

Main 
entrance 

Core area 
Visitor centre cafe 
Educational area 
Activities area 
Campsite 
Boar scultpture 
Amphitheatre 
Cycling 
Fishing 
Bird watching 
Links to peripheral 
area 

Parc Cwm Darran Visioning 

Peripheral area 
Wild camping 
Running 
Nordic walking 
Geocaching 
Cycling 
Deval Karts 
Earth sculpture 
links to upland area 
Fochriw 
Industrial archeology 

Wetland Complex 
Fishing 
Lilly ponds 

CampCamp 
SiteSiteSiteSiteSiteSiteSiteSiteSite Flooded quarry / 

waterfall 
Industrial archeology 
Memorial garden 
Potential kiosk 
Habitat walks 
Links to peripheral 
areaLakeLake 

Entrance 
Fisherman’s 
car park 

Cycle Deri 
track 

50 

P
age 254



51 

draft 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

From a visitor perspective, there is an 

intention to optimise the use and offer of 

the park’s facilities. A visioning exercise has 

been undertaken which seeks to create ‘two 

parks in one’ in order to make it a regionally 

attractive destination: 

l Core area – shop, appropriately located 

micro businesses, more welcome 

information, extension of campsite 

with a wider range of accommodation, 

installation of electric vehicle charging 

points; 

l Wetland area – centred around the 

southern car park, retention of fshing 

area and creation of additional ponds and 

wilder areas to add interest; 

l Potential for use of NRW land within 

the park as a ‘peripheral area’, with 

development of wild camping and activities 

such as Nordic walking.The foundational 

economy could be assisted by supporting 

local contractors to access felling contracts, 

and ensure that wood is used by local frms 

and organisations – social contracts could 

be utilised to secure possible placement 

opportunities, in this regard. 

Work is also ongoing in relation to the 

reclamation of Fochriw Tips to the north 

of the park, which could help facilitate the 

extension of the cycle route and provide a link 

to the Brecon Beacons National Park, thereby 

opening the site up to a wider network. 

Development Principles 

l Extension of cycle route to provide better 

linkages; 

l Maximising visitor facilities to a wider 

market; 

l Development of an improved range of 

facilities, marketing the park to a wider 

audience; 

l Development of social capital through 

education, training and working in 

partnership with the community; 

l Increased visitor accommodation through 

expansion of the campsite. 

E - 2 Parc Bryn Bach, Bute 

Town and Relevant Links 

Parc Bryn Bach 

Parc Bryn Bach is a 340 acre country park 

straddling the boundary between Blaenau 

Gwent and Caerphilly, and forms one of 

the two VRP ‘Discovery Gateways’ situated 

in the A465 corridor. It offers a range of 

outdoor activities and opportunities for skills 

development and contains within it a: 

l 36 acre lake; 

l Visitor centre; 

l Caravan and campsite. 

Bute Town 

Bute Town is a good example of a 19th 

century model village built to house workers 

at the nearby ironworks.The three rows of 

houses are listed and, along with the pub and 

church which remain in operation, they lie 

within the Bute Town Conservation Area.The 

village lies in close proximity to the Rhymney 

Valley Riverside Walk and Rhymney Upper 

P
age 255



52 

draft 

  

  

 

 

  

TREDEGAR 

_,., 

.... 

Parc Bryn Bach, Bute Town, Reservoir, Cycle Routes 

KEY 

A469 

Reservoir 

Conservation Areas 

Bryn Bach Park 

National Cycle Route 

* 

A469/A465 

A469 

A465 * 
CCBC boundary 

Rhymney Upper Furnace 

New Cycle Route 

P
age 256



53 

draft 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Furnace, the site of the frst ironworks to be 

built in the Rhymney Valley which survives as 

a scheduled ancient monument (SAM). 

Interpretation work in respect of the SAM 

remains an aspiration and would better 

highlight this historically and culturally 

important site.The proximity of Bute Town 

and Rhymney Upper Furnace to Parc Bryn 

Bach and the upper stretch of the Rhymney 

Valley Riverside Walk presents an opportunity 

for co-ordination of these elements as visitor 

attractions under the VRP initiative. 

Bute Town Reservoir 

Bute Town Reservoir, located across the road 

from the village, is a popular local destination 

for activities such as walking and angling and 

is served by the existing Rhymney Valley Cycle 

Route.There is potential to develop the role of 

this facility through the extension of the cycle 

route network to link it to Parc Bryn Bach.The 

route of this potential extension is set out in 

the adopted LDP. 

Development Principles 

l Co-ordination of Parc Bryn Bach, Bute 

Town and the Bute Town Reservoir as a 

network of attractions with an extension 

of the cycle route and utilisation of 

existing public rights of way to improve 

connectivity between them; 

l Interpretation work in relation to Rhymney 

Upper Furnace, providing a link to the 

area’s heritage; 

l Extension of links to attractions elsewhere 

in the area – Bryn Oer Tramroad in Brecon 

Beacons National Park, Parc Cwm Darran. 

E- 3 Winding House, New Tredegar 

The Winding House in New Tredegar was 

developed on land formerly occupied by 

Elliot Colliery and offers extensive exhibition 

space, a gallery, and catering and offce/ 

meeting facilities.The museum seeks to act 

as a mechanism for economic regeneration 

where the impact of visitor revenue is likely 

to be greatest.There is an aspiration to widen 

the appeal of the exhibitions, in order to bring 

in an audience from further afeld. 

The 5 to 9 Club has been successful in terms 

of offering assistance to new start-ups, 

whilst future activity seeks to build on this 

by using part of the facility for developing 

local business activity. In addition, offce 

space will be utilised on a temporary basis by 

Dwr Cymru Welsh Water when they roll out 

infrastructure improvement to the HOVRA. 

This presents an opportunity to integrate 

tourism, educational and economic activity 

as well as to increase interaction between 

these areas and the role of public institutions 

such as utility providers, leading to the 

potential sharing and broadening of skills 

and widening the scope of future business 

models. Building on the success of the 5 to 9 

Club and Welsh ICE in Caerphilly, the Council 

aspires to utilise some of this space to allow 

new businesses to innovate and grow, based 

on a culture of knowledge sharing and 

collaboration. 

P
age 257



DRAFT 
 

 

 

 

 

 

J 

~-. ·t,.. 

- ·! . I"' 

[ /_ , J~ 

':tt :,fa ~ 

'"-:~:4 
_ Lr~- -~ 1 

~. ,' -, 
· tt-- ' 11-" · · ·. ~ 

,. - - . ••M•••·•••••-•• , . < J • .-, '> \J ~•r.· \ I ••.•;l~f" Ir. ,' '- . I "·. 
· ·• r·· I -i • · - .., .., ' CJ,' ; · 

./ / ,.,,./.\. ~-+::.:::- i 
/•;1 -c-- 'f 

...... \L~, . -'"' 
1 \ ■■■1 "7 ,•• 

,I"\·' I {("'.°~, \\ ,, 

.,. .. ,! 
·, "'---,., 

-- -:__ 't b -.;"-:_,) . ' 

, . ,)1::i('- ~ ~ ' -}~ 
~ 1.ti ·< / \ ~ ,;.t~ (;':~::s'( .v~ .,,,,w 

/ ' l 

-k~ 
0;:!t~·~ 

-:- ,~..::::/°'.:'\ ,,_.,.. 

Markham Colliery Visioning 

Cycle route 
terminates 

Existing tips 
modified to 
create attractive 
features and path 
network 

Core area 
Develop entrance and 
parking. 
Create focal point and 
re-route cycleway 
Introduce mobile 
snack van franchise 
Provide site 
information and 
orientation 

Improve links 
into surrounding 
countryside including 
to caravan park and 
Pen y Fan pond 

Wide range of tracks 
and paths (forming 
circuits) extending into 
NRW land 

SVW
 

Upgrade existing 
path to allow cycle 
access to bridge 

Fishing ponds 
created in tips 

Develop network 
of routes: 
strengthen cross 
valley links and 
improve old 
railway formation 

Manage woodland to 
improve amenity and 
biodiversity and to 
control access 

Whilst utilisation of offce space within the 

facility will increase the supply of business 

space available locally, it will also help to 

broaden its base as a valuable community 

asset, serving as a hub from which the local 

community can build social and business-

related networks. 

Development Principles 

l Maximise potential as a visitor attraction 

e.g. exhibition space; 

l Providing assistance to local business 

start-ups; 

l Broadening the area’s supply of business 

space; 

l Role as a community hub, and 

development of social capital through 

integration of visitor, educational and 

economic activity; 

l Links with Community Regeneration 

employment programmes. 

E - 4 Markham Colliery 

This site has been vacant since the closure of 

the colliery in the mid 1980s and is allocated 
54 

P
age 258



 

 

 

   

 

  

    

   

  

  

 

    

   

  

 

   

   

  

 

 

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

 

 

 

DRAFT 
in the adopted LDP as a new country park to 

establish a key, local component of the Valleys 

Regional Park. An extension of the Sirhowy 

Valley Cycle Route between Hollybush and 

Argoed passes through the site. Options 

include utilising the attractive, parkland 

landscape for leisure activities that will 

increase dwell time through expanding the 

site’s visitor offer, and exploring the potential 

for development that can link into the rural 

economy. 

A visioning exercise has been undertaken 

which seeks to maximise the potential of 

the site as a visitor destination, based on its 

woodland and riparian characteristics, and 

for contributing to the local economy. Other 

than forestry operations in the east of the 

area, the only interventions to date have been 

the development of the site entrance and the 

cycle route. Proposals include: 

l Developing the site as a ‘gateway’ to the 

north and east over an extended period, 

once the function has been established, 

including: 

 - Links to Penyfan Pond and the caravan 

park and equestrian centre; 

 - Extension of the cycle route; 

 - Creation of a circuit of tracks and 

paths, extending into NRW land for 

uses such as horse riding, building on 

the accessibility offered by the existing 

network of routes; 

 - Woodland management, allowing 

for camping, and providing a visual 

connection between the tips and the 

cycle route; 

 - Sculpting of the tips and maximisation 

of the site’s cultural heritage for 

positive interpretation and activities 

such as low-level adventure play. 

l Around the core area, developing the car 

park as a focal point, including: 

 - A potential visitor centre; 

 - Fishing ponds; 

 - Small café; 

 - Site information; 

 - Sale of local frewood; 

 - Live-work units. 

Development Principles 

l Development and extension of existing 

routes, to facilitate a wider range of 

activities and provide links to additional 

facilities; 

l Developing the function of the site to 

widen visitor appeal; 

l Diversifcation of the local economy into 

appropriate uses, based within the park; 

l Maximisation of the area’s industrial and 

cultural heritage. 

E - 5 Gelligaer and Merthyr Common 

Gelligaer Common is an expanse of open 

moorland situated between the Taf and 

Rhymney Valleys straddling the boundary 

between Caerphilly and Merthyr County 

Boroughs, and occupies much of the Upper 

Rhymney Valley west of the A469. It is 

designated by Cadw as a Historic Landscape. 

55 

P
age 259



DRAFT 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

On the Caerphilly side, the ridgetop occupied Gelligaer Common 
by the Common rises up 470m at Mynydd 

Fochriw, and slopes eastwards towards the 

Nant Bargod Rhymney.The landscape is 

diverse in form and in its archaeological and 

historical content. 

Tourism 

In terms of tourism, the Common could serve 

as an integral element of the HOVRA’s offer. 

The characteristics of the landscape raise the 

potential for: 

l Utilising the area’s archaeological and 

historical context; 

l Providing a linkage to other facilities 

within the HOVRA e.g. Parc Cwm Darran; 

Bute Town as well as those outside – the 

Common’s close proximity to the National 

Park could enable it to attract visitors 

southwards; 

l Maximising the attractiveness of features 

such as Rhaslas Pond for tourism and 

leisure purposes; 

l Provision of accommodation and the 

KEY 

A. Rhymney Upper Furnace, Rhymney 
B. Gelliger Common Round Cairns 
C. Cairn 270m N of Pant Ffosyrhebog, Gelligaer 
D. Platform houses on East Side of Gelligaer Commons 
E. Three Platform Houses on Cefn Y Brithdir 
F.  Site of Tegemacus StoneTirphil 
G. Capel Y Brithdir (Darran Valley) 
H. Dyke 387m East of ClawddTrawscae, Gelligaer 
I. Capel Gwladys, Fforest Gwladys, Gelligaer 
J. Forest Gwladys Roman Practise Camp 
K. Heol Ddu Uchaf, Bargoed 

Gelligaer Common 

CCBC boundary 

A 

B 

C 
D 

E 

F 

H 

I 

J 
K 

G 

56 

P
age 260



 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DRAFT 
hospitality sector in settlements such as provide an information platform for residents Collieries, and provides a route along the 

Rhymney, Fochriw and Deri – this will be and visitors alike. Rhymney River in attractive surroundings 

dependent on suffcient demand being 

created in the frst instance. 

Community Development 

The Common provides important economic, 

social and environmental value to the 

communities that surround it. However, 

the landscape is threatened by anti-social 

behaviour including fy-tipping, littering, off-

road vehicles and environmental damage. 

A pilot project,Tirwedd y Comin (Common 

Landscape) is being launched and will be led 

by the Commoners’ Association, the two local 

authorities and others in order to work with 

the local community and restore, maintain 

and protect the Common.This will ensure 

custodianship of it can be passed on to future 

generations. 

Tirwedd y Digidol (Digital Landscape) seeks 

to work with local communities to establish 

a virtual digital centre for the landscapes of 

Caerphilly and Blaenau Gwent, which will 

These schemes, within the context of the 

Common and other landscapes, will: 

l Enable the development of new 

skills locally in relation to landscape 

stewardship and digital technology, 

linking with Community Regeneration 

programmes; 

l Facilitate community cohesion and 

development; 

l Provide an information platform for local 

residents from which they can engage 

with local natural resources; 

l More effectively utilise technology to 

highlight the attributes of the Common, 

and other important local landscapes, to 

potential visitors. 

E - 6 Parc Coetir Bargod 

Parc Coetir Bargod is the County Borough’s 

newest country park, created on land formerly 

occupied by Gilfach, Bargoed and Britannia 

which can be accessed from 11 different 

gateways. 

New Active Travel routes are planned which 

will improve connections between the park 

and the following surrounding communities: 

l Pengam; 

l Fleur-de-Lis; 

l Gilfach; 

l Aberbargoed 

It is anticipated that this will increase 

the park’s accessibility as a local visitor 

destination, and have benefts in terms of 

health and well-being. 

E - 7 Bargoed Park 

Bargoed Park is the largest park in the County 

Borough at over 19 ha and contains a number 

of facilities: 

l Formal gardens; 

l Children’s playground; 

l Multi-use games area; 

57 

P
age 261



 

 

 

  

 

  

 

 

  

   

DRAFT 
Parc Coetir Bargod l Skateboarding area; 

H 

H 

KEY 

Parc Coetir Bargoed 

Railway Line 

H Railway Stations 

A465 

A469 

A469 

National Cycle Network 

New Active Travel Routes 

l Football and rugby pitches. 

The Council will look for opportunities to 

optimise the role of the park in terms of the 

sustainability of the town, including: 

l Ensuring that facilities maximise the 

number of visitors; 

l Reinforcing the vitality of the town centre, 

and maintaining links. 

F - Support proposals for renewable 
energy generation and community 
beneft through utility infrastructure 

The HOVRA is well-placed to deliver structural 

benefts through energy schemes.Whilst 

climate change is a challenge, it can also 

present opportunities. Welsh Government 

is embracing the transition to a low-carbon 

economy through Planning Policy Wales and 

the Well-Being of Future Generations Act, and 

has set out a commitment to delivering the 

following outcomes in Energy Wales: A Low 

Carbon Transition: 

58 

P
age 262



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DRAFT 
l Reducing the amount of energy we use; 

l Reducing our reliance on energy 

generated from fossil fuels; 

l Actively managing the transition to a low-

carbon economy; 

l Utilising existing services provided 

by Groundwork Wales around energy 

effciency within homes – connecting with 

communities and schools to capitalise on 

global warming awareness, recycling and 

food waste initiatives. 

Renewable energy can be a way of meeting 

some of these objectives, as well as providing 

a means of building economic resilience, 

providing clean growth and contributing to 

improved health. Suitable renewable energy 

schemes will therefore be supported, in 

appropriate locations. 

F - 1 North of the A465 

Land immediately north of the A465 consists 

of upland, greenfeld land in close proximity 

to the boundary with the Brecon Beacons 

National Park and is located within a Special 

Landscape Area (SLA) designation identifed 

through the adopted LDP. Part of the site is a 

SINC designation. 

Given the upland nature of the site and its 

location north of the A465, this area has 

the potential to accommodate a renewable 

energy generation scheme, although work 

will need to be undertaken to determine 

its feasibility and environmental impact, 

particularly in respect of the visual impact 

on the Common and the Brecon Beacons 

National Park. Any energy generated on 

this site can be fed back into the grid, 

giving the proposal an economic, as well 

as a sustainability, beneft and would also 

generate potential community benefts. 

There is the potential for a scheme to be 

developed in conjunction with adjoining land 

in Blaenau Gwent, complementing schemes 

already operating along this corridor and 

forming part of a Heads of the Valleys ‘Energy 

Belt’, thereby increasing the sustainability 

credentials of the wider A465 corridor. 

Development Principles 

l Creation of a sustainable energy 

generation scheme; 

l Less reliance on non-local, non-sustainable 

forms of energy; 

l Economic advantages of supplying energy 

to the grid; 

l Community benefts derived for local 

community groups; 

l Potential local job creation. 

In terms of energy generation and public 

utilities schemes, the upgrading of 

infrastructure can deliver community beneft, 

not only in terms of improved provision 

to people’s homes but through greater 

community interaction with utility providers, 

the development of social capital and 

the extension and creation of community 

networks, training opportunities and skills. 

There is also an economic beneft, as such 

schemes operate within the context of some 

degree of community ownership. Examples 

59 

P
age 263



Wind Turbines (at 2018) . 
,' 

• Operational - Micro 
,, 

•' 
c,.,"::;:::. • Operational - Small .... -• Operational - Medium 

• Operational - Large 

• Operational - Very Large 

Consented • Micro 

Consented - Small 

( Consented - Medium 

0 Consented - Large 

0 Consented - Very Large 

• Planning - Micro 

• Planning - Small 

Planning - Medium 

Planning - Large 

DRAFT 
Operational and Planned Windfarm Developments in the A465 Corridor 

60 

P
age 264



 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

  

  

 

 

 

 

DRAFT 
exist from elsewhere of utility providers 

and renewable energy companies investing 

in community development with the help 

of a community fund established for that 

very purpose.Where such organisations are 

involved in the development of proposals 

within a particular locality, they should be 

encouraged to: 

l Engage with the community to establish 

its needs and aspirations; 

l Make funding available for the beneft of 

that community as part of a community 

fund, possibly as match funding in 

conjunction with other initiatives; 

l Allow community representatives to take 

a lead in terms of how such funds are 

spent. 

F - 2 Markham Renewable 

Energy Scheme 

The Council, in partnership with Argoed 

Community Council and Renew Wales, is 

investigating the potential for a community-

scheme on land at Markham Colliery, and is 

also considering the options for hydro, solar 

and wind generation. Initial scoping work 

has been undertaken and has determined 

that such a scheme could supply enough 

electricity for 1,500 homes. 

Development Principles 

l Creation of a sustainable energy 

generation scheme; 

l Increased community resilience; 

l Integration with country park 

development at Markham Colliery; 

l Increasing the potential range of rural 

economic uses to be located within the 

envisioned country park; 

l Job and training opportunities delivered 

through community beneft; 

l Linking with similar initiatives and 

partners to improve awareness. 

F - 3 Rhymney to Bargoed Water 

Resilient Communities 

producing plans for increasing water 

resilience in the HOVRA.Work regarding 

physical improvements in terms of 

infrastructure will commence in early 2020. 

In addition, however, this will involve local 

engagement to ensure that the concept of 

water resilience is embedded within the local 

community.This will involve: 

l Engagement through existing community 

networks e.g. Parent Network, Flying Start, 

Community Regeneration; 

l Dissemination of information and good 

practice through local schools, community 

groups; 

l Establishing links with private landlords’ 

networks; 

l Obtaining increased resilience through 

Council’s portfolio of housing (monitoring 

usage and downsizing meters in Council 

properties, where appropriate and 

benefcial). 

Principles 

l Embedding sustainability principles within 

focused renewable energy generation Dwr Cymru Welsh Water are presently the community; 

61 

P
age 265



 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 DRAFT 
l Ensuring a joined-up approach between 

stakeholder organisations; 

l Increased community development and 

confdence; 

l Physical improvements to utility 

infrastructure. 

G - Support the development 
and diversifcation of housing 
in sustainable locations 

Despite the success of the LDP Strategy in 

delivering new housing elsewhere within 

the County Borough, this is not the case in 

the HOVRA where, despite some small-scale 

development having taken place, many of the 

sites allocated for housing in the LDP remain 

undeveloped, irrespective of the sustainability 

of their locations. 

There is therefore a need to provide new 

sustainably located housing development in 

order to increase the amount and quality of 

housing stock, and to support the role and 

function of settlements, in tandem with the 

economic improvements that are anticipated 

as a result of City Deal, Metro and the council’s 

regeneration aspirations. 

New models of housing delivery are required 

to bring development forward and these will 

include: 

Self Build: Welsh Government has introduced 

a self-build scheme aimed at encouraging 

frst time house buyers to build their own 

homes.Through the Development Bank of 

Wales, Welsh Government will offer loans to 

self-builders to assist in building their own 

homes and Welsh Government is setting up a 

database of sites that are being promoted for 

self–build development. 

Stalled Sites: Welsh Government has 

introduced a system of loans to assist in 

bringing housing sites, which have stalled for 

various reasons, forward for development. 

Small-scale council house building: 

Through the WHQS process the council 

may bring forward a number of small-scale 

sites for housing development. In doing so 

the council will seek to maximise use of the 

foundational economy of the area, which 

will ensure goods and services are procured 

locally and that the schemes will assist in 

developing appropriate skill sets within the 

population. 

These options will bring forward new 

housing, which will increase the range 

and choice of housing available in the 

Masterplan area. However, these will not 

be suffcient to address the situation 

completely. Consequently the council 

will continue to lobby Welsh Government 

to provide mechanisms for incentivising 

housing development in the Masterplan 

area, as well as the wider A465 corridor, to 

ensure that a suffcient level and range of 

housing is developed to sustain the existing 

communities. 

G - 1 Aberbargoed Plateau 

The plateau is the result of the reclamation of 

the old Bargoed Colliery tip, and is situated 

on the Aberbargoed side of the Rhymney 

62 

P
age 266



 

 

 

 

 

 

  

DRAFT 
Aberbargoed Plateau & Bedwellty School 

KEY 

Railway Line 

Bedwellty School 

Aberbargoed Plateau 

Parc Coetir Bargoed 

Valley. It is allocated for housing in the 

adopted LDP, though remains undeveloped, 

and is in Council ownership. Redevelopment 

of the plateau would utilise an important 

brownfeld site and provide an opportunity 

for the diversifcation of the housing stock in 

the area. However, the viability of the site for 

residential development remains an issue. 

The site is in close proximity to the 

neighbourhood centre of Aberbargoed 

and is adjacent to Parc Coetir Bargod, one 

of the council’s country parks, providing 

a sustainable location with an attractive 

environmental setting. 

A review is presently being undertaken of 

sixth form, single sex and surplus provision 

across the County Borough and there is 

the possibility that part of the site could 

be utilised for a new education provision 

to serve this part of the County Borough. 

This would facilitate the development of a 

mixed-use scheme for the plateau, enabling 

housing to come forward on the remainder. 

63 

P
age 267



 

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

    

   

   

 

     

  

 

  

 

  

  

  

DRAFT 
The formulation of an appropriate scheme 

would enable such a scheme to meet its full 

potential, from a sustainability perspective. 

Development Principles 

l Sustainable mixed-use scheme taking 

advantage of the site’s location on Angel 

Way; 

l Some provision for housing development, 

providing new build development in the 

area and adding variety and choice to 

existing housing stock, close to existing 

employment facilities; 

l Development of a new FE college to cover 

the Upper Rhymney Valley; 

l Providing access to Parc Coetir Bargod 

through extension of the cycle route. 

G - 2 Bedwellty School 

Planning permission was granted in 2019 for 

residential (55 units) on the former Bedwellty 

School site and development is underway. 

The development of this site will result in 

the diversifcation of housing stock in the 

Aberbargoed area, sustainably located within 

close proximity of Aberbargoed town centre, 

the A4049 and employment uses at Bowen 

Industrial Estate and Angel Lane. Cabinet 

approval has since been forthcoming to 

release land immediately to the south for a 

second phase of development. 

Development Principles 

l Diversifcation of housing stock within the 

local area, adding variety and choice to the 

local housing market; 

l Ease of accessibility in relation to local 

facilities; 

l Utilisation of vacant, brownfeld land. 

G - 3 Empty Homes Grant Scheme 

Following the implementation of a successful 

model in Rhondda Cynon Taf, £10 million 

has been provided by Welsh Government 

to fund the Empty Homes Grant Scheme 

across the VTF area, which offers purchasers 

funding for the renovation of empty homes, 

bringing them back into benefcial use. 

Property owners can only apply in relation to 

owner occupation and the grant is not open 

to builders or landlords for the purposes of 

renting out accommodation.The scheme will 

be rolled out over two phases: 

l Phase one will be rolled out with the 

following conditions: 

 - Homes would need to have been 

empty for a six-month period 

(the immediate six months prior to 

approval of the grant); 

 - Property owners can apply once, 

to avoid landlords and builders from 

benefting; 

 - Maximum grant of £20,000. 

l Phase two will involve working with local 

authorities on developing frameworks to 

support local supply chains, with links to: 

 - Skills and apprenticeships; 

 - Local supply chains; 

 - Foundational economy. 

64 

P
age 268



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  DRAFT 
Principles 

l Potential reduction in the number of 

empty homes; 

l Increase in the diversity of housing stock; 

l Development of skills; 

l Strengthening of local supply chains 

through use of local frms. 

H - Provide a suitable level of 

community, leisure and education 

facilities, aligning with national 

and local initiatives including 

21st Century Schools and the 

CCBC Sport and Active Recreation 

Strategy where applicable, and 

establish Integrated Well-Being 

Networks in order to connect 

communities’ strengths and assets 

The provision and location of community 

facilities are of crucial importance to the 

sustainability of settlements and to the well-

being of their populations. New facilities that 

have opened since the start of the LDP plan 

period in 2006 include: 

l Bargoed Library and Customer First Centre 

(Hanbury Chapel); 

l Hafod Deg Resource Centre; 

l Rhymney Integrated Health and Social 

Care Centre; 

l Idris Davies School, Abertysswg. 

Whilst constraints on public resources 

have an impact on the provision of such 

facilities, this does present an opportunity 

for new models of delivery. For instance, the 

rationalisation and sharing of facilities as 

multi-purpose ‘hubs’ can provide community 

benefts, as well as providing opportunities 

for more cost-effective managing and 

resourcing of facilities.This can have a positive 

impact in terms of social capital, engendering 

networking opportunities, knowledge sharing 

and the development of transferable skills 

which are of invaluable importance in a 

modern social and economic context. 

H - 1 21st Century Schools 

The Welsh Government 21st Century Schools 

and Colleges programme is a major, long-

term and strategic capital investment 

programme supporting large-scale capital 

projects with the aim of enhancing school 

buildings to meet modern educational and 

community needs. 

The key aims are to: 

l Reduce the number of schools in poor 

condition; 

l Ensure the right size schools in the right 

location; 

l Ensure the effective and effcient use of 

the educational estate for both schools 

and the wider community. 

Idris Davies School in Abertysswg was 

developed under Band A of the programme 

as a replacement for Abertysswg and 

Pontlottyn Primary Schools on land within the 

existing Rhymney Comprehensive School site. 

As well as an all through 3 to 18 years school 

it also accommodates a nursery, Flying Start 

unit and integrated children’s centre offering 

after-school and wraparound provision. 

65 

P
age 269



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DRAFT 
Band B of the 21st Century Schools 

programme runs between 2019 and 2026

 and proposals have been developed. 

However, these remain proposals at this stage, 

subject to a business case approval by Welsh 

Government; in addition, consultation with 

stakeholders will be a key part of the process. 

Proposals concerning primary education will 

be dependent on the review of secondary 

education that is ongoing. Band B proposals 

in Rhymney include: 

l New build school to replace the existing 

Upper Rhymney Primary School; 

l Relocation of Brynawel Primary School 

pupils to Upper Rhymney Primary and Idris 

Davies Schools; 

l Refurbishment of a school site to relocate 

Ysgol y Lawnt. 

Band B proposals in Bargoed include: 

l Amalgamation of the Park and Gilfach 

Fargoed Primary Schools into a new build 

school; 

The Current Locations of Upper Rhymney and 
Brynawel Primaries and Ysgol y Lawnt 

1 

2 

3 

KEY 
Primary Schools 

1. Upper Rhymney 
2. Ysgol y Lawnt 
3. Brynawel 

66 

P
age 270



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

'1 
'\ ', 

'.\~-~ \, 
1)- "') ( 

• "\ ~, j -cl 

9\ : 't ~s, 
~ ~ ti ~ 

-0 \~ •. 

----

DRAFT 
The Current Locations of Park and Gilfach Fargoed 

Primaries and Ysgol Gymraeg Gilfach Fargoed 

1 

2 

3 

KEY 
Primary Schools 

1. Park Primary 
2. Ysgol Gymraeg Gilfach 
3. Gilfach Fargoed 

l Refurbishment of Park Primary School 

to accommodate the relocation of Ysgol 

Gymraeg Gilfach Fargoed. 

These are expected to realise the following 

benefts: 

l Target areas of high social deprivation; 

l Creation of ft-for-purpose, energy effcient 

schools; 

l Signifcant reduction of surplus places; 

l Estimated saving on backlog maintenance 

costs; 

l Increased opportunities for community 

use and on-site childcare provision; 

l Expansion of Welsh medium education. 

H - 2 Rhymney Integrated Health 

and Social Care Centre and 

Hafod Deg Resource Centre 

The Integrated Health and Social Care Centre 

for the north of the County Borough brings 

together several different community health 

functions in an integrated way, including: 

67 

P
age 271



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DRAFT 
l Two GP practices, complementing a 

continuing presence at New Tredegar and 

Deri; 

l Dental practice; 

l Optometry services; 

l Social services day care facilities; 

l In-patient facilities; 

l A base for health and social services staff 

delivering a range of services across the 

north of the County Borough. 

Hafod Deg Resource Centre delivers a range 

of support services for people in the local 

area, including: 

l Citizens Advice; 

l Mental health organisations; 

l Credit union; 

l Nutritional and dietary advice; 

l Space for volunteering and community 

groups. 

Through the integration of service delivery 

from facilities such as these, the capacity of 

public sector resources to have a positive 

impact within the community is maximised. 

However, it is necessary that this approach 

ensures the delivery of services for the whole 

community, and therefore the Council will 

work with key organisations such as the Local 

Health Board, the ‘third sector’ and others to 

ensure that community-based services and 

well-being can continue to be delivered in a 

sustainable and coordinated manner. 

H - 3 Integrated Well-Being Networks 

In keeping with the Welsh Government’s 

£100m NHS Transformation Fund aimed 

at driving integration and its “long term 

future vision of a ‘whole system approach 

to health and social care’ focused on health 

and wellbeing, and on preventing illness”, 

the Gwent Regional Partnership Board is 

supporting Aneurin Bevan Health Board, 

in conjunction with the Council and other 

partners, to develop and deliver the concept 

of Integrated Well-Being Networks (IWNs). 

Integrated Well-Being Networks are place-

based models of more effective collaborative, 

integrated working to support and sustain 

community well-being. In essence, this means 

effectively connecting and coordinating the 

disparate assets that contribute to well-being 

in a location. 

There are four elements to 

IWN development: 

l Place-based collaboration; 

l Connecting community-based ‘hubs’; 

l People who deliver services and support; 

l Easily accessible well-being information. 

The initial focus for IWN development in 

the County Borough is the area covered 

by Caerphilly North Neighbourhood Care 

Network, much of which lies within the 

HOVRA. Initial mapping work has been 

undertaken for part of the area and there 

is an intention to roll this out, as part of a 

programme of community engagement, 

in order to help make existing networks of 

facilities more identifable for service users. 

68 

P
age 272



. PLACE-BASED 
COLLABORATION 

WE ARE COLLABORATING WITfl 
PARTNERg IN OUR COMMUNITIEg, 

BUILVING RELATIONgt11pg AHV WORlllNG 
TOGETflEll BEffiR TO MAllE TflE BEgi" 

ugE OF WflAT WE flAVE . 

2 . COMMUNITY 
-BASED HUBS 

HUBg CONNECT PEOPLE 
WITH HEALTH ANll 

WELL-BEING REgOURCfg, 
ACTIVITIEg, ANll 
OTt!Ell PEOPLE. 

LINlllNG OUR HUBg IN Tt!E 
COMMUNITY TO IMPROVE 
Tt!EIR WELL-BEING ROLE 

ANll ACCfgg TO TH£ RIGHT 
gnvtcEg ANll giJppORT. 

INTEGRATED 

3. PEOPLE WHO DELIVER 
SERVICES & SUPPORT 

WORlllNG CO-PROllUCTIVELY WITfl 
PEOPLE, BUILVING ON TflEIR gi"RENGTflg 

TO AHV THEIR OWN gOLUTIONg AHi> 
CONNECTING PRIMARY CARE TEAMg 

TO WELL-BEING REgOURCEg. 

4. EASY ACCESS 
TO WELL-BEING 
INFORMATION 

PROl/llltNG WAYg FOR 
PEOPLE TO ACCfgg RELIABLE 

WEU-B£1NG INF011MATION. 
THlg CAN BE THROUGtl: 

• FAMILY. FRI£~ 
OR A ftRVIC£ 

• A LINll W0Rll£11 
• A tlUB IN THE COMMUNITY 
• TECHNOLOGY, INCUflltNG 

llEWfg CYM11U 

WELL-BEING 
NETWORKS 

GWENT 

INT£GRATE1' WELL-BEING NETWORll9 ARE NOT ABOUT CREATING goMEnttNG NEW - ,n ABOUT 9TARTING WITfl WIIAT WE AUtEA'l>Y flAVE. 
U91NG TflE UNIQUE 9TRENGTfl9 ANll A99ET9 Tt!AT EX19T IN OUR COMMUNITIE9: OUi PfOPt..£ - RELATION9fllP9, llNOWLEtlGE ANtl 91l1LL9 

OUR l't.ACH - MEALTtlY PEOPLE NEEi> tlEALTtlY PLACE9 OUi PiOVlflON - WELL-BEING 9VPPORT ANI> 9ERVICE9. 

PLEA9E Vl91T WWW.WALE9.Ntl9.Ull/ lWNGWENT ANI> 9HARE INFORMATION ABOUT INTEGRATEI> WELL-BEING NETWORll9 GWENT U91NG tl lWNGWENT 

DRAFT 
1 

Integrated Well-Being Networks 

69 

P
age 273



 

 

     

 

     

   

 

   

   

 

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DRAFT 
The recommended approach to delivering 

IWNs will contribute to the delivery of the 

Public Service Board’s Well-Being Plan.This 

approach includes: 

l Establishing the core offer of well-being 

services that exist across: 

 - Health and social care hubs e.g. 

GP surgeries; 

- Local authority hubs libraries, 

Customer First Centres, provision of 

housing advice; 

 - Community hubs – shared spaces for 

people, community groups and 

recreational activities; 

l Agreeing the role of lead organisations, 

including the Council, Health Board, Public 

Health Wales, Housing Associations, GAVO 

and others; 

l Review ‘linking’ roles to ensure the effective 

use of resources and address identifed 

gaps – ‘linking’ roles are people and 

organisations that provide connections 

between people, professionals and 

different parts of the well-being network. 

I - Ensure that accessibility 

for all is embedded in all 

improvement schemes 

Accessibility is a cross-cutting objective which 

is relevant to schemes within the HOVRA. All 

development proposals should adhere to the 

principles of inclusive design to ensure that 

schemes meet the accessibility needs of all 

those living, working and visiting the HOVRA, 

including those with mobility and sensory 

impairments and learning diffculties. 

J - Ensure all communities 

within the Heads of the Valleys 

are able to engage and beneft 

from the Masterplan 

As a result of the 2019 Welsh Index of Multiple 

Deprivation (WIMD), is has been agreed that 

there will be a priority focus to implement 

a new way of working in a number of the 

deprived communities within the County 

Borough. 

A fundamental change to how public services 

are collectively approached and delivered is 

required to address the multifaceted needs 

in the County Borough’s most deprived 

communities.There should be more 

emphasis upon local government working 

with communities as enablers, rather than 

delivering for them. 

A greater emphasis on identifying community 

assets is required.When practitioners 

begin with a focus on what communities 

have, as opposed to what they don’t have, 

a community’s effcacy in addressing its 

own need increases, as does its capacity to 

lever in external support. Currently, services 

are designed to ‘fll gaps’ and ‘fx problems’, 

creating dependency and disempowering 

individuals who become passive recipients of 

services. 

The Council’s new approach to service 

provision will provide a changing perspective 

on building bridges with communities, 

mobilising individual and community assets 

70 

P
age 274



 

 

 

 

 DRAFT 
and enabling a process of co-production, 

with community members as active agents 

in their own and their families’ lives. Co-

production requires users of services to be 

seen as experts in their own circumstances 

and capable of making decisions, while 

service providers move from being fxers 

to facilitators.This will necessitate new 

relationships to be developed with front line 

professionals, and an enabling role being 

adopted. 

This will require an approach to public service 

provision that seeks to better coordinate 

services to achieve maximum impact.The 

intention is to adopt a place-based focus, 

with a review of public services to assess 

how well they meet the outcomes required 

by residents, and how they could improve 

their impact and value for money.The role 

of the Public Service Board, with the support 

of its partners, is key to implementing this 

approach and it provides an opportunity to 

develop this across a number of key areas 

across the County Borough. 

The projects identifed in the HOVRA have 

the potential to provide far-reaching benefts 

for all residents, including those living in 

deprived areas within the Masterplan area 

and the wider County Borough. 

71 

P
age 275



 

 

 

I I I I I 

Section 7: Delivering and Implementing Change 
The table below sets out the projects address the objectives of A Foundation for should be noted that many of these projects 

identifed in Section 6 of the report, together Success.The table identifes the indicative are at an embryonic stage and, as such, the 

with the expected outputs that the project costs of each scheme and highlights any outputs and costs can only be estimated. 

will deliver and how these proposals will funding that has been secured to date.  It 

Strategic 
Objective Project Description Expected/Indicative outputs 

Objectives of 
Regeneration 
Strategy met 

Funding Secured and 
Potential Costs 

A - Complement, A - 1 Capital Redevelopment l Creation of a Heads of the Valleys l SP1 Funding secured: none to date, 
and integrate Valley, Rhymney for modern, ft-for- Enterprise Zone (expansion of Ebbw l SP3-5 expected to come from VTF or 
with, nearby purpose class B Vale EZ) l SP9-11 CCRCD 
initiatives such premises l Development of underutilised land/ l SB1-4 
as the Ebbw older premises for employment use; l CPP2-5 Total cost: to be determined 
Vale Enterprise 
Zone (EZ) in 
order to develop 

l Accelerate business growth within 
the Rhymney area; Dialogue is ongoing between 

the Council, Welsh Government 
a strategic l Creation of physical premises and site owner in relation to 
employment required for growth of potential investment 
function for complementary sectors to the EZ; 

Rhymney, l Potential to capitalise on Metro 
establishing it as improvements and greater 
a gateway to the connectivity with external markets, 
Valleys DRAFT 

through existence of a railhead; 

l Reduction in commuting through 
provision of local jobs; 

l Inclusion of social clauses in relevant 
public sector contracts to encourage 
local community beneft 

72 

P
age 276



 

 

 

 

I I I I I 
Strategic 
Objective Project Description Expected/Indicative Outputs 

Objectives of 
Regeneration 
Strategy met 

Funding Secured 
and Potential Costs 

A - Complement, 
and integrate 
with, nearby 
initiatives such 
as the Ebbw 
Vale Enterprise 
Zone (EZ) in 
order to develop 
a strategic 
employment 
function for 
Rhymney, 
establishing it as 
a gateway to the 
Valleys 

A - 2 The 
Lawns 
Industrial 
Estate 

Development 
of additional 
(modern, ft-for-
purpose) start-up 
units at The Lawns 

D

l Creation of a Heads of the Valleys Enterprise Zone in 
conjunction with Ebbw Vale; 

l Development of additional (modern, ft-for-purpose) 
start-up units at The Lawns; 

l Better integration of business space within the sites, 
enhanced legibility of access; 

l Additional space for business start-up provision to cater 
for demand; 

l Potential to capitalise on Metro improvements through 
proximity to Rhymney Station; 

l Reduction in commuting through provision of local jobs; 

l Inclusion of social clauses in relevant public sector 
contracts to encourage local community beneft 

RAFT
l SP1 
l SP3-5 
l SP9-11 
l SB1-5 
l CPP2-5 

Funding secured: 
ERDF match-funded 
with CCBC core 
capital funding 

Future phases: 
Privately fnanced 
or via UK Shared 
Prosperity Fund 

A - 3 Heads Development l Creation of a Heads of the Valleys Enterprise Zone in l SP1 Funding secured: 
of the of modern, ft- conjunction with Ebbw Vale; l SP3-5 likely to be privately 
Valleys for-purpose l Development of underutilised land/older premises for l SP9-11 fnanced 
Industrial class B premises, employment use; l SB1-6 
Estate potentially l Utilisation of vacant land for business conferencing l CPP2-4 Total cost: to be 

including facility and/or B2 use; determined 
redevelopment 
of existing stock l Additional space for business start-up provision to cater 

and provision for demand; 

of a business l Capitalising on good transport links (adjacent to A469, 
conferencing just south of A465); 
facility to serve l Reduction in commuting through provision of local jobs; 
A465 corridor l Creation of physical premises required for growth of key 

sectors, including existing life sciences presence 

73 

P
age 277



 

 

 

I I I I I 
Strategic 
Objective Project Description Expected/Indicative outputs 

Objectives of 
Regeneration 
Strategy met 

Funding Secured and 
Potential Costs 

B - Improve 
social and 
economic 
resilience 
through 
education, 
training and 
careers advice, 
and foster the 
development of 
the foundational 
economy 
within this 
area to ensure 
that economic 
growth accrues 
more equitably 

B - 1 Education, 
training and 
careers advice 

DR

This is a cross-cutting 
objective that should 
be addressed as part 
of strengthening the 
area’s employment 
function 

l Coordinated approach to education and 
training between relevant organisations; 

l Improving links between education and 
training providers and business; 

l Tailored education/training programmes 
to meet the requirements of business; 

l Provision of appropriate career support 
through the curriculum and for adults; 

l Addressing the mismatch between the 
skills needed to access jobs and the 
training provided; 

l Upskilling to ensure that ‘skills defcits’ 
are addressed in relation to current 
employment 

l Attracting employers and improving 
prospects for indigenous growth AFT

l SP1-3 
l SP4-9 
l SP11 
l SB1-3 
l SB5-6 
l CPP5 

Funding secured: dependent 
on a range of stakeholders 
from the public and ‘third’ 
sectors 

Total cost: to be determined 

B - 2 This is a cross- l Working with local businesses to l SP1 Funding secured: £1.5m 
Foundational cutting objective establish networks of collaboration l SP3-6 will be available for the VTF 
economy that should be l Ensure that Council procurement l SP8-11 area through the Welsh 

addressed as part of processes invest in local frms and l SB1-3 Government Foundational 
ensuring widespread organisations by utilising local expertise l SB5-6 Economy Challenge Fund 
economic and social and putting in place social contracts l CPP5 
beneft that beneft the community Total cost: to be determined 

l Developing the necessary skills base 
to maintain networks of collaboration 
and access funding opportunities (WG 
Foundational Economy Challenge Fund) 

74 

P
age 278



 
 

 
 

 

 

I I I I I 
Strategic 
Objective Project Description Expected/Indicative outputs 

Objectives of 
Regeneration 
Strategy met 

Funding Secured and 
Potential Costs 

C - Expand the 
area’s sphere 
of infuence 
and improve 
connectivity 

C - 1 Land 
around 
Rhymney 
Station 

Station 
improvements, 
additional car 
parking and 
creation of a multi-
function business 
hub 

l Enhanced stabling facilities, platform extension 
and remodelling, additional parking, toilet block, 
new waiting rooms, cycle racks and ticketing and 
wif upgrades; 

l Creation of multi-functional business hub, 
ofering business units, live-work space and a 
commercial element including meeting facilities; 

l Enhancing Rhymney’s business and commercial 
focus by taking advantage of increased 
connectivity; 

l Additional space for local start-up provision; 

l Potential to capitalise on Metro improvements 
through proximity to Rhymney Station; AFT

l SP3-5 
l SP9 
l SP11 
l SB1-5 
l SQL3 
l CPP2-4 

Funding secured: 
dependent on Transport 
for Wales commitments 

Total cost: to be 
determined 

C - 2 Other Station l Enhanced facilities plus potential for EV charging l CPP2 Funding secured: 
stations improvements at infrastructure; l CPP4 dependent on Transport 
(Pontlottyn, Pontlottyn, Brithdir l Optimising increased journey frequency through for Wales commitments 
Brithdir, and Tirphil Stations facilities improvements, to encourage use of - EV infrastructure 
Tirphil) 

DRsustainable modes dependent on OLEV 
funding 

Total cost: to be 
determined 

C - 3 A465/ Development l Provision of park and ride between A465 and l SP1 Funding secured: 
A469 of a transport Rhymney Station; l SP3 Metro Enhancement 
Transport interchange close l Creation of sustainable transport links between l SP6-9 Framework to be drawn 
Hub to the intersection 

of the A465 and 
A469 

A465 and new employment provision at Capital 
Valley et al; 

l SB1-4 
l CPP2-4 

up 

Total cost: to be 
determined 

75 

P
age 279



I I I I I 
Strategic 
Objective Project Description Expected/Indicative outputs 

Objectives of 
Regeneration 
Strategy met 

Funding 
Secured and 

Potential 
Costs 

C - Expand the 
area’s sphere 
of infuence 
and improve 
connectivity 

l Development of links with planned and existing Active 
Travel routes; 

l Enhancing multi-modal connectivity along A465 corridor 
between Merthyr and Ebbw Vale; 

l Increased access to employment, leisure, essential 
services for residents; 

l Increased attractiveness of businesses to external 
markets and investors 

DRAFTC - 4 A469 Pursue consideration l Adding north-south resilience to the highway network in l SP3-4 Funding 
Resilience of an A469 resilience the Masterplan area; l SP9 secured: none 
Route route between 

New Tredegar and 
Rhymney 

l Increase in business confdence due to better intra-area 
links, enabling more frms to reach external markets; 

l Potential for local business growth due to better 
connectivity; 

l SB1-4 
l CPP1 
l CPP4 

to date 

Total cost: to be 
determined 

l Reduction in commuting through provision of local jobs; 
l Increased access to employment, leisure, essential 

services for residents 

C - 5 Former Development of l Addition of an ‘attractor’ to encourage potential passing l SP4-5 Funding 
Skinner’s a commercial or trade between Merthyr and Ebbw Vale, taking advantage l SP9 secured: EV 
Site, service-related of the site’s location just of the A465; l SB1-4 infrastructure 
Rhymney facility, incorporating 

EV charging points to 
serve this stretch of 
the A465 corridor 

l ‘Plugging a gap’ in terms of regional EV charging 
infrastructure, adding to the area’s sustainability 
credentials; 

l Very close to Heads of the Valleys Industrial Estate – 
development of a regional business conferencing facility 

l CPP1 
l CPP3 
l CPP5 

dependent on 
OLEV funding 

Total cost: to be 
determined 

at this location could enhance the economic attraction of 
such a development 

76 

P
age 280



 

 

 

I I I I I 
Strategic 
Objective Project Description Expected/Indicative outputs 

Objectives of 
Regeneration 
Strategy met 

Funding Secured 
and Potential 

Costs 

C - Expand the 
area’s sphere 
of infuence 
and improve 
connectivity 

C - 6 Dyffryn 
Terrace, New 
Tredegar 

Development of EV 
charging points 

l Roll-out of the Council’s all-electric public 
transport network to the north of the County 
Borough; 

l Sustainability benefts of EV charging provision; 
l Utilisation of a public car park will increase 

accessibility of the scheme 

l SP4 
l SP9 

Funding secured: 
EV infrastructure 
dependent on 
OLEV funding 

Total cost: to be 
determined 

C - 7 Active Developing a network l Increasing the network of sustainable l SP6 Funding secured: 
Travel Routes of cycle routes and 

pathways over the next 
15 years, as per the 
Integrated Routes Map 

connections between, and within, places; 
l More comprehensive utilisation of Active Travel 

as a means of integrating diferent modes; 
l More opportunities to utilise Active Travel as a 

means of accessing employment and essential 
services; 

l Potential to link to additional routes, such 
as those associated with leisure and tourism 
facilities

DRAFTl SP8 
l SQL3 

£390k Core Active 
Travel Fund 
allocation for 
2019/20 

Total cost: LAs 
required to bid for 
funding annually 

D - Reinforce the D - 1 Land Expansion of car parking l Maximising usage through enhanced station l SB1-4 Funding secured: 
role of Bargoed at Bargoed provision and general facilities and additional parking; l SQL3 Metro Enhancement 
as a service Station station improvements l Enhancing Bargoed’s business and commercial l SQL7 Framework to be 
centre for the focus by taking advantage of increased l CPP2-4 drawn up 
north of the connectivity; Increased attractiveness of 
County Borough development opportunities at northern end of 

town centre 

Total cost: to be 
determined 

77 

P
age 281



 

I I I I I 
Strategic 
Objective Project Description Expected/Indicative outputs 

Objectives of 
Regeneration 
Strategy met 

Funding Secured 
and Potential 

Costs 

D - Reinforce the 
role of Bargoed 
as a service 
centre for the 
north of the 
County Borough 

D - 2 Business 
Quarter and 
Bargoed 
High Street 

Redevelopment of vacant 
units for offce use, some 
retail and complementary 
commercial uses 

l Enhancing Bargoed’s business and 
commercial focus by taking advantage of 
increased connectivity; 

l Maximising the benefts arising from 
its proximity to bus and rail stations - 
opportunity to market Bargoed for ofce use, 
with better access to external markets; 

l Reduction in commuting through provision 
of local jobs; 

l Reuse of underutilised space; 

l Diversifying role of town centre, increasing 
economic resilience AFT

l SB1-4 
l SQL3 
l SQL5 
l SQL7 
l CPP2-3 
l CPP5 

Funding secured: VTF 
funding may become 
available. Possibility 
of expanding 
scope of Welsh 
Government’s Urban 
Centre Property 
Enhancement Fund 
(which targets 
redevelopment 
of vacant and 
underused premises) 

Total cost: to be 
determined 

D - 3 Bargoed Development of remaining l Development of complementary uses to l SQL3 Funding secured: 
Retail Plateau part of Bargoed Retail 

DRPlateau for commercial use 
existing retail in the vicinity; 

l Potential for increased town centre footfall, 
thereby benefting town centre as a whole; 

l Development of underutilised land; 

l Diversifying role of town centre, increasing 
economic resilience 

l SQL7 
l CPP3 

likely to be from 
private sector 
investment 

Total cost: to be 
determined 

78 

P
age 282



 

I I I I I 
Strategic 
Objective Project Description Expected/Indicative outputs 

Objectives of 
Regeneration 
Strategy met 

Funding Secured and 
Potential Costs 

D - Reinforce D - 4 Former Redevelopment of l Development of complementary uses to existing retail l SB1-4 Funding secured: VTF 
the role of Cinema, the former cinema in the vicinity; l SQL3 funding may become 
Bargoed as a Hanbury for commercial/ l Taking advantage of improved connectivity through l SQL7 available. Possibility of 
service centre 
for the north 
of the County 

Square offce use Metro; 
l Reutilisation of existing premises; 

l CPP3 expanding scope of 
Welsh Government’s 
Urban Centre Property 

Borough l Diversifying role of town centre, increasing economic 
resilience 

DRAFT Enhancement Fund 
(which targets 
redevelopment of 
vacant and underused 
premises) 

Total cost: to be 
determined 

E - Maximise E - 1 Parc Expansion of the l Improved tourism facility for local residents and l SP5-6 Funding secured: none 
the impact Cwm park’s role as a visitors; l SP8 to date 
of the Valleys Darran visitor attraction l Economic benefts of increased dwell time and l SB1-2 
Regional 
Park, protect 
and enhance 
important 

and community 
resource 

spending; 
l Knock-on benefts for additional facilities and services 

in nearby locations e.g. shops and pubs; 

l SB6 

l SQL1-2 

l SQL4 

Total cost: £567k (£55k 
design costs) according 
to Visioning Study 

green spaces l Development of social capital through education 
and built and training programmes in relation to community 
heritage and woodland; 
promote l Promoting more active, healthier lifestyles through 
tourism increased provision of outdoor activities 

79 

P
age 283



 
 

 

 

 

I I I I I 
Strategic 
Objective Project Description Expected/Indicative outputs 

Objectives of 
Regeneration 
Strategy met 

Funding Secured and 
Potential Costs 

E - Maximise the 
impact of the 
Valleys Regional 
Park, protect 
and enhance 
important green 
spaces and built 
heritage and 
promote tourism 

E - 2 Parc 
Bryn Bach, 
Bute 
Town and 
Relevant 
Links 

Better coordination 
of existing facilities 
(Parc Bryn Bach, 
Bute Town) 
through extension 
of cycle routes, 
interpretation work 
re. Rhymney Upper 
Furnace 

l Better linkage of tourism facilities in the area; 
l Increase in visitor numbers to Rhymney attractions 

as a result of Parc Bryn Bach patronage; 
l Developing a greater role for Bute Town Reservoir; 

Knock-on benefts for additional facilities and 
services in nearby locations e.g. shops and pubs; 

l Promoting more active, healthier lifestyles through 
extension of walking and cycling links 

DRAFT
l SP8 

l SB1-2 

l SQL1-2 

l SQL4 

Funding secured: none to 
date 

Total cost: to be 
determined 

E - 3 Utilisation of offce l Increased ofce provision for local businesses and l SP1 Funding secured: 
Winding space and better others, inc. Dwr Cymru Welsh Water; l SP3-7 temporary contract with 
House integration of 

educational, visitor 
and economic 
development 
functions 

l Assistance to local business start-ups; 
l Strengthening of a multi-purpose community hub 

through integration of diferent services and uses; 
l Retention of a locally important cultural facility 

l SP9 
l SB1-3 
l SB5-6 
l SQL2-4 
l CPP5 

DCWW for duration of 
infrastructure works (2 
years) 

Total cost: to be 
determined – DCWW use 
will generate income 

E - 4 Development l Improved tourism facility for local residents and l SP4-5 Funding secured: none to 
Markham of country park visitors; l SP8 date 
Colliery including extension l Economic benefts of increased dwell time and l SB1-2 

of existing routes, spending, plus links to other facilities such as l SB5-6 Total cost: £1 million 
widening visitor Penyfan Pond; l SQL1-2 (£87k design costs) 
appeal and creation 
of appropriate 
economic uses 

l Diversifcation of local economy to include 
appropriate rural economic uses; 

l SQL4 according to Visioning 
Study 

l Community development through activities such as 
woodland management; 

l Promoting more active, healthier lifestyles through 
increased provision of outdoor activities 

80 

P
age 284



 
 

 

 

 
 

I I I I I 
Strategic 
Objective Project Description Expected/Indicative outputs 

Objectives of 
Regeneration 
Strategy met 

Funding Secured and 
Potential Costs 

E - Maximise 
the impact 
of the Valleys 
Regional 
Park, protect 
and enhance 
important 
green spaces 
and built 
heritage and 
promote 
tourism 

E - 5 Gelligaer 
and Merthyr 
Common 

Enhanced 
custodianship, 
community 
development and 
increased utilisation 
of the Common as a 
visitor attraction 

l Launch of Tirwedd y Comin, to protect and 
maintain the Common; 

l Launch of Tirwedd y Digidol, which will establish 
a virtual data centre for residents and visitors; 

l Linkage to other attractions e.g. Parc Cwm 
Darran, Bute Town; 

l Potential for accommodation and hospitality 
provision in adjacent settlements; 

l Community development through landscape 
stewardship and digital technology 

AFT
l SP4-6 
l SP8 
l SB1-2 
l SB6 
l SQL1-2 
l SQL4 
l CPP6 

Funding secured: 
Tirwedd y Comin £160k 
(£128k RDP funding via 
two local action groups, 
£32k from GMCA); 

Tirwedd y Digidol £33.5k 
(£26.8k RDP funding via 
Cwm y Mynydd LAG, 
£6.7k from CCBC) 

Total cost: Tirwedd y 
Comin £160k, Tirwedd y 
Digidol £33.5k 

E - 6 Parc Coetir Increase park’s l Increase park’s accessibility as a local visitor l SP6 Funding secured: £390k 
Bargod accessibility in relation 

DRto local settlements 
via new and extended 
cycle and walking 
routes 

destination; 

l Increased opportunities to utilise the most 
sustainable forms of travel; 

l Greater opportunity for linkages to additional 
nearby facilities through the VRP; 

l Promoting more active, healthier lifestyles 
through use of the park 

l SP8 
l SQL1-2 
l SQL4 
l CPP2 

Core Active Travel Fund 
allocation for 2019/20 

Total cost: LAs required 
to bid for funding 
annually 

E - 7 Bargoed Optimise the role of l Look at opportunities to maximise visitor l SP8 Funding secured: none 
Park the park in terms of the 

sustainability of the 
town 

numbers; 

l Ensure that facilities are ft for purpose 

l SQL1-3 to date 

Total cost: to be 
determined 

81 

P
age 285



 

I I I I I 
Strategic 
Objective Project Description Expected/Indicative outputs 

Objectives of 
Regeneration 
Strategy met 

Funding 
Secured and 

Potential Costs 

F – Support 
proposals for 
renewable 
energy 
generation and 
community 
beneft 
through utility 
infrastructure 

F - 1 North of the 
A465 

Potential development 
of a renewable energy 
scheme as part of the 
Heads of the Valleys 
‘Energy Belt’ 

l Development of a renewable energy 
scheme would give the area an economic 
purpose, as part of the wider ‘Energy Belt’; 

l Potential job creation within the energy 
sector; 

l Sustainability benefts of renewable energy; 
l Utilisation of funds for community beneft, 

and community development as a result of 
engagement by developers 

DRAFT
l SP4-5 
l SB1-2 
l SQL1 

Private sector 
investment 
predominantly 
in on-shore 
wind, could be 
opportunities for 
CCBC to co-invest 

Total cost: to be 
determined 

F - 2 Markham Potential development of l Contribution to the HOV ‘Energy Belt’; l SP4-5 Funding secured: 
Renewable a community renewable l Sustainability benefts of renewable energy; l SP9 none to date 
Energy Scheme energy scheme l Community resilience; 

l Integration with, and contribution to, the 
range of rural economic uses within the 
country park 

l SB1-2 
l SQL1 Total cost: to be 

determined 

F - 3 Rhymney Increasing water l Embedding sustainability principles within l SP4-6 Scheme funded by 
to Bargoed resilience through the community; l SP8 DCWW 
Water Resilient improvements to physical l Ensuring a joined-up approach between l SP9 
Communities infrastructure and 

community engagement 
stakeholder organisations; 

l Increased community development and 
confdence; 

l Physical improvements to utility 
infrastructure 

l SP11 
l SB6 

82 

P
age 286



 

I I I I I 
Strategic Objective Project Description Expected/Indicative outputs 

Objectives of 
Regeneration 
Strategy met 

Funding Secured 
and Potential Costs 

G - Support the 
development and 
diversifcation 
of housing in 
sustainable 
locations 

G - 1 
Aberbargoed 
Plateau 

Mixed-use scheme 
comprising some 
residential, FE 
provision and 
extension of the 
cycle route to Parc 
Coetir Bargod 

l Realisation of some residential development in 
close proximity to existing employment uses 
(Angel Lane, Bowen Ind Est); 

l Investment in training and education through FE 
provision; 

l Establishing further links with Parc Coetir Bargod, 
promoting walking and cycling; 

l Enhancing Aberbargoed’s role as a sustainable 
settlement 

DRAFT
l SP1-6 
l SP8-9 
l SB2 
l SB6 
l SQL2-3 
l SQL5-6 

Funding secured: none 
to date 

Total cost: to be 
determined 

G - 2 Development of l Utilisation of vacant, brownfeld land; l SQL5-6 Funding secured: 
Bedwellty former Bedwellty l Diversifcation of housing stock privately funded 
School School site for 

residential 

G - 3 Empty Grant funding l Potential reduction in the number of empty homes; l SP1 £10m over two years 
Homes Grant for purchasers of l Increase in the diversity of housing stock; l SP3-6 provided by Welsh 
Scheme empty homes for 

renovation 
l Development of skills; 

l Strengthening of local supply chains through 
utilisation of local frms 

l SP10 
l SB1-3 
l SB5 
l SQL5-6 

Government for the 
VTF area 

83 

P
age 287



 

 

 

 

 

 

I I I I I 
Strategic Objective Project Description Expected/Indicative outputs 

Objectives of 
Regeneration 
Strategy met 

Funding Secured and 
Potential Costs 

H - Provide a suitable H - 1 21st Replacement l Developing ft-for-purpose school l SP2 Funding envelope 
level of community, Century Schools and relocation of buildings in areas of high deprivation; l SP6 subject to Business 
leisure and education school buildings l Expansion of Welsh medium education; l SP8-9 Case Approval: £110 
facilities, aligning with 
national and local 
initiatives including 21st 

in Rhymney and 
Bargoed via 21st 
Century Schools 

l Reduction of surplus places and 
savings in fnancial terms; 

l SB6 
l SQL2-3 

million for Band B 
proposals across CCBC 
- £78m capital funding 

Century Schools and the programme l Increased opportunities for community (25%/35% met by CCBC), 
CCBC Sport and Active use and childcare provision £32m revenue funding 
Recreation Strategy (19% met by CCBC) 
where applicable, and 
establish Integrated Well-
Being Networks in order 
to connect communities’ 

Total cost: £4.9 million 
(Rhymney), £5.9 million 
(Bargoed) 

strengths and assets 
H - Provide a suitable 
level of community, 
leisure and education 
facilities, and establish 
Integrated Well-Being 
Networks in order to 
connect communities’ 
strengths and assets 

H - 2 Rhymney 
Integrated 
Health and 
Social Care 
Centre and 
Hafod Deg 
Resource Centre 

Continued 
integration of 
community-based 
services 

l Ensuring public availability and 
awareness of available support; 

l Better coordination of distinct, yet 
complementary, services; 

DRAFT
l Provision of workspace for community 

and volunteering groups 

l SP1-9 
l SB5-6 
l SQL2-3 

Funding secured: 
dependent on a range 
of stakeholders from the 
public and ‘third’ sectors 

Total cost: to be 
identifed 

H - 3 Integrated 
Well-Being 
Networks 

Establish IWNs for 
the Masterplan area 

l Undertake a mapping exercise of 
existing facilities, in order to make 
networks more identifable; 

l Connection of community-based ‘hubs’ 
and service deliverers; 

l Avoidance of duplication in terms of 
provision of advice and signposting; 

l Greater clarity for service users and 
accessibility of information 

l SP1-9 
l SB5-6 
l SQL2-3 

Funding secured: 
funded by ABHB 

84 

P
age 288



DRAFT 
I I I I I 

Strategic 
Objective Project Description Expected/Indicative outputs 

Objectives of 
Regeneration 
Strategy met 

Funding 
Secured and 

Potential Costs 

I - Ensure that 
accessibility 
for all is 
embedded in all 
improvement 
schemes 

This is a cross-cutting 
objective that should be 
considered an integral 
part of all projects 

l Accessibility for those living, working or visiting 
the Masterplan area 

l SQL3 

J - Ensure all 
communities 
within the Heads 
of the Valleys are 
able to engage 
and beneft from 
the Masterplan 

Address multi-faceted 
needs in the most 
deprived communities by 
adopting a place-based 
focus that seeks to better 
coordinate services to 
achieve maximum impact 

l Social, economic and environmental outputs for 
deprived communities 

l SP1-11 
l SB1 
l SB6 
l SQL3 
l SQL6 

85 

P
age 289



 

 

 

Appendix 1 – A Foundation for Success Objectives 

Supporting People Supporting Business Supporting Quality of Life Connecting People and Places 

SP1: Increase employability SB1: Building a more resilient 
and diversifed economy 

SQL1: Manage the natural heritage 
and its resources appropriately 
for future generations, whilst 
accommodating much-needed 
sustainable development, protecting 
wildlife and encouraging the use of 
green spaces to promote well-being 

DRAFT
CPP1: Promote and identify major 
highway projects that would 
signifcantly improve connectivity 
and accessibility 

SP2: Raise educational attainment SB2: Supporting economic 
growth and innovation 

SQL2: Improve access to culture, 
leisure and the arts 

CPP2: Promote public transport 
integration and connectivity 

SP3: Reduce worklessness SB3: Creating an environment 
that nurtures business 

SQL3: Active place marking CPP3: Promote place-making 
development around key transport 
hubs and nodes 

SP4: Improve resilience and 
support development of the 
foundational economy 

SB4: Key sites and 
infrastructure for employment 
opportunities 

SQL4: There is a need to increase 
tourism in Caerphilly, focusing on the 
historic and natural heritage of the 
area and the opportunities that this 
presents 

CPP4: Actively promote 
rail improvements and the 
reinstatement of new links 

SP5: Develop skills in key growth 
areas 

SB5: Boost business support 
and enterprise 

SQL5: Improve the delivery of new 
housing and diversify housing across 
all tenures 

CPP5: Seek to reduce travelling 
distance and reduce out-
commuting 

SP6: Targeted intervention of key 
groups 

SB6: Improve the links 
between businesses, schools 
and education and training 
providers 

SQL6: Improve the quality of the 
existing housing stock through 
targeted intervention, particularly in 
terms of Council-owned housing stock 

CPP6: Promote digital connectivity 

86 

P
age 290



 

Supporting People Supporting Business Supporting Quality of Life Connecting People and Places 

SP7: Ensure a clear, coordinated 
‘package of services is available 
in order to reconnect people to 
employment 

SQL7: Refocus town centres to serve 
the needs of residents and businesses 

DRAFTSP8: Support interventions to 
improve health 

SP9: Reduce inequality by reducing 

the number of lower super output 

areas within the top 10% deprived in 

Wales 

SP10: Ensure that cultivational 

procurement is a key consideration 

in the procurement of goods and 

services 

SP11: Tackle in-work poverty 

87 

P
age 291



 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

DRAFT 
Appendix 2 Well-being of Future Generations 

The Masterplan has had regard for the seven well-being goals set out within the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. In order to 

demonstrate this, an assessment has been made as to which well-being goals each strategic objective would support.The Strategic Objectives of 

the Masterplan are: 

A. Complement, and integrate with, 

nearby initiatives such as the Ebbw Vale 

Enterprise Zone (EZ) in order to develop 

a strategic employment function for 

Rhymney, establishing it as a gateway to 

the Valleys; 

B. Improve social and economic resilience 

through education, training and careers 

advice, and foster the development of 

the foundational economy within this 

area to ensure that economic growth 

accrues more equitably; 

C. Expand the area’s sphere of infuence 

and improve connectivity; 

D. Reinforce the role of Bargoed as a 

service centre for the north of the 

County Borough; 

E. Maximise the impact of the Valleys 

Regional Park, protect and enhance 

green spaces and built heritage and 

promote tourism; 

F. Support proposals for renewable energy 

generation and community beneft 

through utility infrastructure; 

G. Support the development and 

diversifcation of housing in sustainable 

locations; 

H. Provide a suitable level of community, 

leisure and education facilities, aligning 

with national and local initiatives 

including 21st Century Schools and 

the CCBC Sport and Active Recreation 

Strategy where applicable and establish 

Integrated Well-Being Networks in order 

to connect communities’ strengths and 

assets; 

I. Ensure that accessibility for all is 

embedded in all improvement 

schemes; 

J. Ensure all communities within the 

Heads of the Valleys are able to engage 

and beneft from the Masterplan 

88 

P
age 292



  

 
 

 

 

Goal Description of the goal How it will be achieved by the Masterplan 

A prosperous An innovative, productive and low-carbon Relevant Strategic Objectives - A, B, C, D, F 
Wales society which recognises the limits of the global 

environment and therefore uses resources 
effciently and proportionately (including 
acting on climate change); and which develops 
a skilled and well-educated population in an 
economy which generates wealth and provides 
employment opportunities, allowing people to 
take advantage of the wealth generated through 
securing decent work. 

Objectives A - D seek to increase employment by producing investment 
in specifc sites and locations within the context of national and regional 
initiatives such as City Deal, VTF, Tech Valleys and Metro. Ensuring that 
education and training are undertaken with this context in mind will 
produce the skills and employment base that lends additional sustainability 
to this approach. Metro, and the Masterplan’s role within the VTF’s ‘Energy 
Belt’, will contribute to a society that recognises the need to generate 
sustainable resources, and respects the limits of the environment. 

DRAFT
A resilient A nation which maintains and enhances a Relevant Strategic Objectives - C, E, F 
Wales biodiverse natural environment with healthy, 

functioning ecosystems that support social, 
economic and ecological resilience and the 
capacity to adapt to change (for example climate 
change). 

The Valleys Regional Park and the promotion of tourism relies, in large part, 
on the natural environment in which it is set, and therefore protection of 
this is paramount in its success. Improving accessibility and connectivity by 
way of expanding the capabilities of the public transport network through 
Metro, and the supporting of renewable energy schemes, are two ways in 
which the Masterplan seeks to strengthen environmental resilience and 
sustainability. 

A healthier A society in which people’s physical and mental Relevant Strategic Objectives – A, E, G, H 
Wales well-being is maximised and in which choices 

and behaviours that beneft future health are 
understood. 

All objectives will positively impact on this goal to a degree, but 
strengthening the area’s economy, developing measures to ensure a 
supply of good quality housing stock, opportunities to utilise the natural 
environment for leisure purposes and ensuring access to facilities and 
services that directly enhance health and well-being are of utmost 
importance. 

89 

P
age 293



 

 

 

 

Goal Description of the goal How it will be achieved by the Masterplan 

A more equal A society that enables people to fulfl their Relevant Strategic Objectives - A, B, C, E, G, H, I, J 
Wales potential no matter what their background or 

circumstances (including their socioeconomic 
background and circumstances). 

Objectives concerning connectivity in relation to job opportunities and key 
services, leisure and the Valleys Regional Park and ensuring the delivery of 
new housing are important in terms of enabling people in the Masterplan 
area to access such things. However, the strengthening of the local economy, 
along with adequate levels of education and training to enable more people 
to access such opportunities, will help reduce inequality. 

DRAFTA Wales of Attractive, viable, safe and well-connected Relevant Strategic Objectives - A, B, C, D, E, F, G, H, I, J 
cohesive communities Improving the economic fortunes of the area and the redevelopment of 
communities key sites in line with this ethos, along with the Metro proposals, will make 

the area increasingly viable as a series of distinctive, yet connected and 
interdependent, communities. Programmes such as the Valleys Regional 
Park will add to its attractiveness, both in terms of residents and visitors 
alike. 

A Wales A society that promotes and protects culture, Relevant Strategic Objectives – E 
of vibrant heritage and the Welsh language, and which Developing the Valleys Regional Park concept and maximising the impact of 
culture and encourages people to participate in the arts, the area’s cultural heritage will encourage understanding of this aspect and 
thriving Welsh sports and recreation. participation in related activities. 
language 

The Masterplan will be available bilingually. 

A globally A nation which, when doing anything to improve Relevant Strategic Objectives – C, E, F 
responsive the economic, social, environmental and There are strong links between this goal and ‘A resilient Wales’.The Valleys 
Wales cultural well-being of Wales, takes account of 

whether doing such a thing may make a positive 
contribution to global well-being. 

Regional Park proposals require the protection and enhancement of green 
spaces in its effort to develop the area for tourism. 
The Masterplan promotes the use of more sustainable modes of transport 
in the form of Metro and Active Travel, and references the opportunity to 
promote renewable energy generation. 

90 

P
age 294



 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

DRAFT 
The development of the Masterplan has also 

been informed by the fve ways of working: 

Involvement – The proposals contained 

within the Masterplan are subject to 

consultation with the local community, and 

have been developed through engagement 

with stakeholders such as landowners, 

partner organisations including the Local 

Health Board and Idris Davies School, 

and local authority ward members and 

community councillors representing the 

various communities within the Masterplan 

area. 

Collaborate – The development of the 

Masterplan has drawn upon the expertise 

from key representatives across local 

authority departments, including Planning, 

Regeneration, Housing, Engineering and 

Countryside.The delivery of the projects 

identifed within the Masterplan will involve 

collaboration between the public, private and 

third sectors, and the Council will work closely 

with these partners to deliver schemes in a 

collaborative manner. 

Long term – The objectives identifed, and 

the projects that will deliver these objectives, 

are part of a longer-term vision of enhancing 

the role of the Heads of the Valleys as a sub-

regional economic hub capable of supporting 

local communities.The Masterplan recognises 

the need for development in order to support 

economic growth, but recognises that this 

development should be of a sustainable 

nature, both in terms of its purpose and its 

location. 

Integration – The projects identifed in 

the Masterplan will help deliver a number 

of the objectives of within the Council’s 

regeneration strategy A Foundation for 

Success (as set out within Section 7 of this 

document), as well as proposals contained 

within the adopted Local Development Plan. 

They will also deliver against the Council’s 

own well-being objectives by identifying 

projects that will lead to job creation and 

training opportunities, promote more healthy 

and active lifestyles and reduce the carbon 

footprint through improved Active Travel 

routes and facilities locally. 

Prevention – The Masterplan recognises 

that there are a number of challenges within 

the Heads of the Valleys that need to be 

addressed, in order to realise the vision.The 

proposals identifed will respond to these 

key concerns and will raise the profle of the 

area, developing the economy within the 

context of the A465 corridor, increasing and 

improving the tourism offer and enhancing 

town centres – all from the basis of improved 

connectivity, infrastructural investment 

and an advantageous strategic location in 

regional terms – thereby improving quality of 

life for those visiting, living and working in the 

Masterplan area. 

91 

P
age 295



 

DRAFT 
Appendix 3 - Assessment of Site-Specifc Proposals against 
the National Well-Being Goals and the CCBC Well-Being 
Objectives 
This appendix provides an initial assessment of the projects identifed within the Masterplan against the national well-being goals and the 

Council’s well-being objectives, as set out within the Corporate Plan 2018-2023.The national well-being objectives are set out in Appendix 2, and 

the corporate objectives are set out below. It should be noted that many of the projects identifed are at an embryonic stage and therefore a 

detailed analysis of the relationship between proposals and the well-being goals and objectives cannot be undertaken at this stage. 

Caerphilly CBC Well-being Objectives 

Number Description 

Objective 1 Improve education opportunities for all 

Objective 2 Enabling Employment 

Objective 3 
Address the availability, condition and sustainability of homes throughout the county borough and provide advice, assistance or 
support to help improve people’s well-being 

Objective 4 
Promote a modern, integrated and sustainable transport system that increases opportunity, promotes prosperity and minimises 
the adverse impacts on the environment 

Objective 5 
Creating a county borough that supports a healthy lifestyle in accordance with the Sustainable Development Principle within 
the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

Objective 6 Support citizens to remain independent and improve their well-being 

92 

P
age 296



 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

I I I I 
Strategic 
Objective Project Description National well-being goals 

CCBC Well-being 

objectives 2018 - 2023 

A A - 1 Capital 
Valley, 
Rhymney 

Redevelopment for modern, ft-for-
purpose class B premises 

l A prosperous Wales; 

l A more equal Wales; 

l A Wales of cohesive communities 

Enabling employment; 

Support citizens to remain 

independent and improve their 

well-being 

A - 2 The 
Lawns 
Industrial 
Estate 

Development of additional (modern, ft-
for-purpose) start-up units at The Lawns 

l A prosperous Wales; 

l A healthier Wales; 

l A more equal Wales; 

l A Wales of cohesive communities 

Enabling employment; 

Support citizens to remain 

independent and improve their 

well-being 

A - 3 Heads 
of the Valleys 
Industrial 
Estate 

Development of modern, ft-for-purpose 
class B premises, potentially including 
redevelopment of existing stock and 
provision of a business conferencing 
facility to serve A465 corridor 

l A prosperous Wales; 

l A healthier Wales; 

l A more equal Wales; 

l A Wales of cohesive communities 

Enabling employment; 

Support citizens to remain 

independent and improve their 

well-being 

B B - 1 
Education, 
training 
and careers 
advice 

This is a cross-cutting objective 
that should be addressed as part of 
strengthening the area’s employment 
function 

l A prosperous Wales; 

l A more equal Wales; 

DRAFT
l A Wales of cohesive communities 

Improve education opportunities 

for all; 

Enabling employment; 

Support citizens to remain 

independent and improve their 

well-being 

B - 2 This is a cross-cutting objective that l A prosperous Wales; Improve education opportunities 

Foundational should be addressed as part of ensuring l A more equal Wales; for all; 
economy widespread economic and social beneft l A Wales of cohesive communities Enabling employment; 

Support citizens to remain 

independent and improve their 

well-being 

93 

P
age 297



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

I I I I 
Strategic 
Objective Project Description National well-being goals 

CCBC Well-being 

objectives 2018 - 2023 

C C - 1 Land 
around 
Rhymney 
Station 

Station 
improvements, 
additional car 
parking and 
creation of a multi-
function business 
hub 

l A prosperous Wales; 

l A resilient Wales; 

l A more equal Wales; 

l A Wales of cohesive communities; 

l A globally responsive Wales 

DRAFT
Enabling employment; 

Promote a modern, integrated and sustainable transport 

system that increases opportunity, promotes prosperity and 

minimises the adverse impacts on the environment; 

Support citizens to remain independent and improve their 

well-being 

C - 2 Other Station l A resilient Wales; Promote a modern, integrated and sustainable transport 

stations improvements at l A more equal Wales; system that increases opportunity, promotes prosperity and 
(Pontlottyn, Pontlottyn, Brithdir l A Wales of cohesive communities; minimises the adverse impacts on the environment; 
Brithdir, 
Tirphil) 

and Tirphil Stations 
l A globally responsive Wales Support citizens to remain independent and improve their 

well-being 

C - 3 A465/ Development l A prosperous Wales; Enabling employment; 

A469 
Transport 
Hub 

of a transport 
interchange close to 
the intersection of 
the A465 and A469 

l A resilient Wales; 

l A more equal Wales; 

l A Wales of cohesive communities; 

l A globally responsive Wales 

Promote a modern, integrated and sustainable transport 

system that increases opportunity, promotes prosperity and 

minimises the adverse impacts on the environment; 

Support citizens to remain independent and improve their 

well-being 

C - 4 A469 Pursue l A prosperous Wales; Enabling employment; 
Resilience 
Route 

consideration of 
an A469 resilience 
route between 
New Tredegar and 
Rhymney 

l A resilient Wales; 

l A more equal Wales; 

l A Wales of cohesive communities; 

l A globally responsive Wales 

Promote a modern, integrated and sustainable transport 

system that increases opportunity, promotes prosperity and 

minimises the adverse impacts on the environment; 

Support citizens to remain independent and improve their 

well-being 

94 

P
age 298



 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

I I I I 
Strategic 
Objective Project Description National well-being goals 

CCBC Well-being 

objectives 2018 - 2023 

C C - 5 Former 
Skinner’s Site, 
Rhymney 

Development of 
a commercial or 
service-related facility, 
incorporating EV charging 
points to serve this stretch 
of the A465 corridor 

l A prosperous Wales; 

l A resilient Wales; 

l A Wales of cohesive communities; 

l A globally responsive Wales 

DRAFT
Enabling employment; 

Promote a modern, integrated and 

sustainable transport system that increases 

opportunity, promotes prosperity and 

minimises the adverse impacts on the 

environment; 

Support citizens to remain independent and 

improve their well-being 

C - 6 Dyffryn Development of EV l A resilient Wales Promote a modern, integrated and 
Terrace, New charging points l A Wales of cohesive communities sustainable transport system that increases 
Tredegar l A globally responsible Wales opportunity, promotes prosperity and 

minimises the adverse impacts on the 

environment; 

Support citizens to remain independent and 

improve their well-being 

C - 7 Active Travel Developing a network of l A resilient Wales Promote a modern, integrated and 
Routes cycle routes and pathways 

over the next 15 years, as 
per the Integrated Routes 
Map 

l A Wales of cohesive communities 

l A globally responsible Wales 

sustainable transport system that increases 

opportunity, promotes prosperity and 

minimises the adverse impacts on the 

environment; 

Support citizens to remain independent and 

improve their well-being 

95 

P
age 299



 
 
 

  
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

I I I I 
Strategic 
Objective Project Description National well-being goals 

CCBC Well-being 

objectives 2018 - 2023 

D D - 1 Land at 
Bargoed Station 

Expansion of car parking provision and 
general station improvements 

DRAFT
l A prosperous Wales 

l A resilient Wales 

l A Wales of cohesive communities 

Enabling employment; 

Promote a modern, integrated 

and sustainable transport 

system that increases 

opportunity, promotes 

prosperity and minimises 

the adverse impacts on the 

environment; 

Support citizens to remain 

independent and improve their 

well-being 

D - 2 Business Redevelopment of vacant units for offce use, l A prosperous Wales Enabling employment; 
Quarter and some retail and complementary commercial l A more equal Wales Support citizens to remain 
Bargoed High 
Street 

uses l A Wales of cohesive communities independent and improve their 

well-being 

D - 3 Bargoed Retail Development of remaining part of Bargoed l A prosperous Wales Enabling employment; 
Plateau Retail Plateau for commercial use l A Wales of cohesive communities Support citizens to remain 

independent and improve their 

well-being 

D - 4 Former 
Cinema, Hanbury 
Square 

Redevelopment of the former cinema for 
commercial/offce use 

l A prosperous Wales 

l A more equal Wales 

l A Wales of cohesive communities 

Enabling employment; 

Support citizens to remain 

independent and improve their 

well-being 

96 

P
age 300



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

I I I I 
Strategic 
Objective Project Description National well-being goals 

CCBC Well-being 

objectives 2018 - 2023 

E E - 1 Parc 
Cwm Darran 

Expansion of the 
park’s role as a 
visitor attraction and 
community resource 

l A prosperous Wales; 
l A resilient Wales; 

l A healthier Wales; 

l A Wales of cohesive communities; 

l A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language; 

l A globally responsive Wales 

DRAFT
Creating a County Borough that 
supports a healthy lifestyle in 
accordance with the sustainable 
development principle within the Well-
Being of Future Generations (Wales) 
Act 2015; 

Support citizens to remain 
independent and improve their well-
being 

E - 2 Parc Better coordination l A resilient Wales; Creating a County Borough that 
Bryn Bach, of existing facilities l A healthier Wales; supports a healthy lifestyle in 
Bute (Parc Bryn Bach, l A Wales of cohesive communities; accordance with the sustainable 
Town and 
Relevant 

Bute Town) 
through extension l A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language; development principle within the Well-

Links of cycle routes, 
interpretation work 
re. Rhymney Upper 
Furnace 

l A globally responsive Wales Being of Future Generations (Wales) 

Act 2015; 

Support citizens to remain 

independent and improve their well-

being 

E - 3 Utilisation of offce l A prosperous Wales; Improve education opportunities for 
Winding space and better l A healthier Wales; all; 
House 
Museum 

integration of 
educational, visitor 
and economic 
development 
functions 

l A more equal Wales; 

l A Wales of cohesive communities; 

l A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language 

Enabling employment; 

Support citizens to remain 

independent and improve their well-

being 

97 

P
age 301



 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

I I I I 
Strategic 
Objective Project Description National well-being goals 

CCBC Well-being 

objectives 2018 - 2023 

E E - 4 
Markham 
Colliery 

Development 
of country 
park including 
extension of 
existing routes, 
widening 
visitor appeal 
and creation 
of appropriate 
economic uses 

l A prosperous Wales; 

l A resilient Wales; 

l A healthier Wales; 

l A Wales of cohesive communities; 

l A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh

 language; 

l A globally responsive Wales 

Enabling employment; 

Creating a County Borough that supports 
a healthy lifestyle in accordance with the 
sustainable development principle within the 
Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015; 

Support citizens to remain independent and 
improve their well-being 

E - 5 Enhanced l A prosperous Wales; Improve education opportunities for all; 
Gelligaer 
and Merthyr 
Common 

custodianship, 
community 
development 
and increased 
utilisation of the 
Common as a 
visitor attraction 

l A resilient Wales; 

l A healthier Wales; 

l A Wales of cohesive communities; 

l A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh

 language; 

l A globally responsive Wales 

DRAFT
Creating a County Borough that supports 

a healthy lifestyle in accordance with the 

sustainable development principle within the 

Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 

2015; 

Support citizens to remain independent and 

improve their 

well-being 

E - 6 Parc Increase park’s l A resilient Wales; Creating a County Borough that supports 
Coetir accessibility in l A healthier Wales; a healthy lifestyle in accordance with the 
Bargod relation to local 

settlements 
via new and 
extended cycle 
and walking 
routes 

l A Wales of cohesive communities; 

l A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh

 language; 

l A globally responsive Wales 

sustainable development principle within the 

Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 

2015; 

Support citizens to remain independent and 

improve their well-being 

98 

P
age 302



 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 

I I I I 
Strategic 
Objective 

Project Description National well-being goals 
CCBC Well-being 

objectives 2018 - 2023 

E E - 7 Bargoed 

Park 

Optimise the role of 

the park in terms of the 

sustainability of the 

town 

l A resilient Wales 

l A healthier Wales 

l A Wales of cohesive

      communities 

l A Wales of vibrant culture

      and thriving Welsh language 

l A globally responsible Wales 

Creating a County Borough that supports a healthy lifestyle in 

accordance with the sustainable development principle within 

the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015; 

Support citizens to remain independent and improve their well-

being 

DRAFTF F - 1 North of 

the A465 

Potential development 

of a renewable energy 

scheme as part of the 

Heads of the Valleys 

‘Energy Belt’ 

l  A prosperous Wales; 

l  A resilient Wales; 

l  A more equal Wales; 

l  A Wales of cohesive

        communities; 

l  A globally responsive Wales 

Enabling employment; 

Support citizens to remain independent and improve their well-

being 

F - 2 Markham Potential development l  A prosperous Wales;  Enabling employment; 

Renewable of a community l  A resilient Wales; Address the availability, condition and sustainability of homes 
Energy renewable energy l  A more equal Wales; through the County Borough and provide advice, assistance or 
Scheme scheme l  A Wales of cohesive

       communities; 

l  A globally responsive Wales

support to help improve people’s well-being; 

Support citizens to remain independent and improve their well-

being 

F - 3 Rhymney Increasing water l  A prosperous Wales; Improve education opportunities for all; 

to Bargoed resilience through l  A resilient Wales; Enabling employment; 
Water Resilient improvements to l  A more equal Wales; 
Communities physical infrastructure 

and community 

engagement 

l  A Wales of cohesive

       communities; 

l  A globally responsive Wales 

Address the availability, condition and sustainability of homes 

through the County Borough and provide advice, assistance or 

support to help improve people’s well-being; 

Support citizens to remain independent and improve their well-

being 

99 

P
age 303



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

I I I I 
Strategic 
Objective Project Description National well-being goals 

CCBC Well-being 

objectives 2018 - 2023 

G G - 1 
Aberbargoed 
Plateau 

Mixed-use scheme comprising 
some residential, FE provision and 
extension of the cycle route to Parc 
Coetir Bargod 

l A prosperous Wales 

l A more equal Wales 

l A Wales of cohesive communities 

l A Wales of vibrant culture and 

      thriving Welsh language 

DRAFT
Improve education opportunities for all; 

Address the availability, condition and 

sustainability of homes through the County 

Borough and provide advice, assistance 

or support to help improve people’s well-

being; 

Support citizens to remain independent 

and improve their well-being 

G - 2 Bedwellty Development of former Bedwellty l A Wales of cohesive communities Address the availability, condition and 
School School site for residential sustainability of homes through the County 

Borough and provide advice, assistance 

or support to help improve people’s well-

being; 

Support citizens to remain independent 

and improve their well-being 

G - 3 Empty Grant funding for purchasers of l A resilient Wales; Address the availability, condition and 
Homes Grant empty homes for renovation l A healthier Wales; sustainability of homes through the County 
Scheme l A Wales of cohesive communities Borough and provide advice, assistance 

or support to help improve people’s well-

being; 

Support citizens to remain independent 

and improve their well-being 

100 

P
age 304



 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

I I I I 
Strategic 
Objective Project Description National well-being goals 

CCBC Well-being 

objectives 2018 - 2023 

H H - 1 21st 
Century Schools 

Replacement and relocation 
of school buildings in 
Rhymney and Bargoed 
via 21st Century Schools 
programme 

l A prosperous Wales; 
l A healthier Wales; 
l A more equal Wales; 
l A Wales of cohesive communities; 
l A Wales of vibrant culture and
       thriving Welsh language 

Improve education opportunities for all; 

Support citizens to remain independent and 

improve their well-being 

H - 2 Rhymney Continued integration of l A prosperous Wales; Improve education opportunities for all; 
Integrated 
Health and 
Social Care 

community-based services l A healthier Wales; 
l A more equal Wales; 

Creating a County Borough that supports 

a healthy lifestyle in accordance with the 

Centre and l A Wales of cohesive communities; sustainable development principle within the 
Hafod Deg Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015; 
Resource Centre 

Support citizens to remain independent and 

improve their well-being 

H - 3 Integrated Establish IWNs for the l A prosperous Wales; Improve education opportunities for all; 
Well-Being 
Networks 

Masterplan area DRAFT
l A healthier Wales; 
l A more equal Wales; 
l A Wales of cohesive communities; 

Enabling employment; 

Creating a County Borough that supports 

a healthy lifestyle in accordance with the 

sustainable development principle within the 

Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015; 

Support citizens to remain independent and 

improve their well-being 

101 

P
age 305



DRAFT 
 
 

 
 

I I I I 
Strategic 
Objective Project Description National well-being goals 

CCBC Well-being 

objectives 2018 - 2023 

I I - Ensure that 

accessibility for all 

is embedded in all 

improvement schemes 

This is a cross-cutting 

objective that should be 

considered an integral part of 

all projects 

l A more equal Wales 

l A healthier Wales 

Promote a modern, integrated and 

sustainable transport system that increases 

opportunity, promotes prosperity and 

minimises the adverse impacts on the 

environment; 

J J - Ensure all 

communities within 

the Heads of the 

Valleys are able to 

engage and beneft 

from the Masterplan 

Address multi-faceted 

needs in the most deprived 

communities by adopting a 

place-based focus that seeks 

to better coordinate services 

to achieve maximum impact 

l A more equal Wales 

l A Wales of cohesive communities 
Address the availability, condition and 

sustainability of homes through the County 

Borough and provide advice, assistance or 

support to help improve people’s well-being 

102 

P
age 306



 

 

Appendix 4: Sectoral Analysis 

Almost 68 ha. of allocated or protected employment land lies in the HOVRA across six sites, making it the County Borough’s smallest area in terms 

of economic/industrial presence.The table below sets out the economic sectors on sites within the HOVRA, by foorspace and numbers of units 

Economic sectors on HOVRA sites, expressed by foorspace and numbers of units (2018) 

Sector 

DRAFTFloorspace (sq m) 
% Occupied 
Floorspace 

Units 
% Occupied 
Units 

Mining & quarrying 3,285 2.2 1 0.7 

Food, drink & tobacco 184 0.1 2 1.4 

Textiles 623 0.4 3 2.1 

Wood & paper 11,627 7.7 2 1.4 

Printing & recording 56 0.0 1 0.7 

Non-metallic internal products 3,973 2.6 10 6.9 

Metals & metal products 1,415 0.9 4 2.8 

Machinery 714 0.5 2 1.4 

Other manufacturing & repair 25,016 16.6 16 11.0 

Electricity & gas 239 0.2 2 1.4 

Water, sewerage & waste 21,998 14.6 8 5.5 

Construction 50,593 33.7 10 6.9 

Motor vehicles trade 5,311 3.5 11 7.6 

Wholesale trade 343 0.2 1 0.7 

103 

P
age 307



 

 

 

 

Sector Floorspace (sq m) 
% Occupied 
Floorspace 

Units 
% Occupied 
Units 

Retail trade 910 0.6 5 3.4 

Land transport 

DRAFT
826 0.5 1 0.7 

Warehousing & postal 5,301 3.5 20 13.8 

Food & beverage services 545 0.4 6 4.1 

Head offces & management consultancies 211 0.1 4 2.8 

Architectural & engineering services 1,841 1.2 8 5.5 

Other professional services 2,415 1.6 7 4.8 

Business support service 6,324 4.2 12 8.3 

Public administration & defence 4,351 2.9 1 0.7 

Education 387 0.3 1 0.7 

Health 43 0.0 1 0.7 

Arts 330 0.2 3 2.1 

Recreational services 1,029 0.7 1 0.7 

Other services 380 0.3 2 1.4 

TOTAL 150,270 100 145 100 

In terms of sectors, there is a great deal of 

variety with nearly 30 represented. Only 

two sectors,‘warehousing and postal’ and 

‘other manufacturing and repair’ account for 

at least 10% of occupied units. In terms of 

foorspace, this is dominated by ‘construction’, 

which accounts for over a third. Other 

notable sectors regarding foorspace are 

‘other manufacturing and repair’ and ‘water, 

sewerage and waste’, both of which account 

for over 10%. 

104 

P
age 308



 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

 

DRAFT 
On a site-by-site basis, this level of variety is 

also borne out, though some sites do appear 

to display some degree of specialism (though 

this must be tempered by the fact that these 

sectors are somewhat generic compositions 

of various sub-sectors): 

l Heads of the Valleys – ‘other 

manufacturing’ (including manufacture 

of furniture, repair of machinery and 

miscellaneous manufacture that does not 

fall into any other sector); 

l Maerdy – ‘other manufacturing’ (as above); 

l Capital Valley – ‘construction’ (construction 

of buildings, specialised construction and 

civil engineering). 

These sectoral groupings conceal the fact 

that the HOVRA is home to some key local 

employers, including Convatec (manufacturer 

of medical products) and Richards and 

Appleby (manufacturer of cosmetics) at 

Heads of the Valleys Industrial Estate, and 

Williams Medical (medical supplier) at Maerdy. 

Each of these companies employs between 

100 and 200 people. 

There is a need to highlight how frms are 

categorised within particular sectors.The 

three employers mentioned above are all 

categorised within ‘other manufacturing’. 

However, Williams Medical is arguably a 

better ft within ‘wholesale trade’, or all three 

companies within ‘health’. Only one unit is 

identifed as being within the ‘health’ category 

– City and Country Healthcare Group, which 

occupies a small unit on Bowen Industrial 

Estate. Due to the size of this operation, this 

company is unlikely to feature as a key player 

in the area of health and life sciences in 

isolation, although it is possible that it may 

have strong links with others in the local 

area. 

The HOVRA sites presently support some 

businesses categorised as ‘other professional 

services’ which could, theoretically, include 

scientifc-based operations with potential 

links to healthcare-related industries. 

However, in reality, these include solicitors, 

driving instructors and other small businesses 

which offer services to the local community 

and no ostensible links to the area’s larger 

employers. 

Despite the presence of a diverse economic 

foundation, it is clear that some of the 

area’s larger frms have a common basis in 

healthcare-related occupations, though 

further defnition is not possible due to the 

slightly different nature of those frms i.e. 

the fact that manufacturers exist as well as 

suppliers, each with a focus on different types 

of products. It is therefore necessary to look 

further afeld across the HOVRA in order to 

identify whether there is sectoral strength 

in this area, and whether the potential for 

linkages between these frms may exist. 

Regional Context 

As well as the northern part of Caerphilly 

County Borough, the HOVRA also 

incorporates the entirety of Blaenau Gwent 

and Merthyr Tydfl, and the northern parts 

of the Torfaen and Rhondda Cynon Taf 

administrative areas. However, although 

information was sought from all of these, it 

was only provided by Blaenau Gwent. 

105 

P
age 309



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

DRAFT 
Blaenau Gwent is particularly pertinent to the 

Caerphilly context due to: 

l it being the location of the Ebbw 

Vale Enterprise Zone (EZ) – a Welsh 

Government-supported network of eight 

industrial sites designed to accommodate 

automotive-based uses; and 

l its proximity to the Rhymney sites. 

Although a comprehensive, sectoral-based 

inventory of businesses in Blaenau Gwent 

is not available, manufacturing remains 

dominant which, like Caerphilly, is diverse in 

nature.There are two potential areas of focus 

here: 

l The presence of frms operating in 

healthcare/life sciences, which, in 

conjunction with the frms operating 

in Rhymney, may demonstrate the 

importance of this sector to this part of the 

HOVRA; and 

l The success of the EZ sites in developing 

an automotive base, which could provide 

an opportunity for the development of 

complementary uses in the Caerphilly part 

of the HOVRA. 

In terms of healthcare/life sciences, the 

following frms are of potential importance, 

given its role as a targeted sector within the 

CCR Industrial and Economic Plan: 

l Crown Business Park – Eurocaps Ltd 

(capsule/soft gelatine manufacture); 

l Rassau Industrial Estate – Weiss Technik UK 

Ltd (environmental test chambers); 

l Roseheyworth Business Park – Neem 

Biotech (laboratory); 

l Tafarnaubach Industrial Estate – Nordic 

Care Services (supplier of healthcare 

products), PCI Pharma Services 

(pharmaceutical manufacture). 

Each of the frms mentioned above occupy 

units of 1,000 sq m+, suggesting that each 

has a not insignifcant role in the local 

economy.Together with Convatec, Williams 

Medical and Richards and Appleby, this 

indicates the importance of the Ebbw Vale-

Rhymney stretch of the A465 corridor as 

being a geographical nucleus for healthcare/ 

life sciences, with the existence of a cluster 

that itself displays some diversity within its 

feld, including pharmaceuticals, testing, other 

health-related manufacture and supply. 

Of the EZ sites, the following accommodate 

frms that may have some direct value in 

developing the area’s role as an automotive 

hub: 

Rassau Industrial Estate – G Tem 

(manufacture of car components), 

Sears Manufacturing (seat assembly/ 

manufacturing); 

Tafarnaubach Industrial Estate – Tenneco 

Walker (exhausts); 

Waun-y-Pound Industrial Estate – 

Continental Teves UK Ltd (hydraulic brake 

systems). 

Of the additional (non-EZ) sites, Sogef 

Filtration Ltd (automotive manufacture) 

at Crown Business Park also falls into this 

106 

P
age 310



  

 

 

 

 

 

 

DRAFT 
category. Again, all of these frms occupy units 

of 1,000 sq m+. 

The Ebbw Vale Enterprise Zone is particularly 

relevant to the north of Caerphilly County 

Borough as it encompasses sites that are a 

few miles from those at Rhymney, including 

Tafarnaubach Industrial Estate which lies 

on the Caerphilly-Blaenau Gwent boundary. 

Therefore, an attempt to develop the 

automotive focus of this location could 

have an impact on those other sites within 

its immediate environs, in terms of creating 

opportunities for the development of 

complementary uses – albeit without the 

beneft of publicly-funded fnancial incentives 

as is the case in the EZ. 

For instance, the CCR Employment and 

Skills Plan identifes advanced materials and 

manufacturing as being a priority sector for 

employment and skills support.Whilst this 

might include life sciences, it would also 

include businesses in other areas, some of 

which could help diversify and strengthen the 

EZ’s economic base. However, the 2018 ELAS 

does not identify any examples of existing 

frms, other than those already provided, 

that might be regarded as being currently 

operational in the north of the County 

Borough. 

Premises 

The JLL report makes the case for the 

development of different types of units, three 

of which would appear to be relevant to the 

HOVRA: 

l Sites developed in conjunction with Metro 

stations, such as Rhymney, could beneft 

from some level of small business unit/ 

offce provision as part of a ‘business hub 

pathfnder’ scheme; 

l Larger B2 units – larger sites are best-

placed to cater for units of 25,000+ sq 

ft due to the lack of remaining, vacant 

foorspace. Some of the Rhymney sites 

such as Capital Valley would appear to 

meet the required criteria, along with sites 

in the Ebbw Vale EZ; 

l Small B1/B2/B8 units – existing premises 

have very high occupancy rates and 

strong levels of demand suggest that 

these would be suitable for smaller estates 

as well as some larger sites in order to 

complement the portfolio of stock at 

these locations. Again, these units could 

be considered for ‘business hub’ schemes 

in relation to Metro stations.Whilst some 

provision is being made for new start-up 

units at The Lawn, additional provision at 

Capital Valley would add further capacity 

and take advantage of the site’s proximity 

to the station. 

107 

P
age 311



 

AFT 

DR

Appendix 5: Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation (2019) 

Data is collated for the Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation (WIMD) at super output area (SOA) level. Of the twenty LSOAs that constitute the 

HOVRA, six are in the most 10% deprived of all Welsh LSOAs. A further fve are in the most 10%-20% deprived. Data regarding each of the indices is 

set out below, for each of the LSOAs: 

Twyn Carno 1 Rank (of 1909) Deprivation 

Overall 8 10% most 

Income 21 10% most 

Employment 8 10% most 

Health 25 10% most 

Education 9 10% most 

Access to Services 510 20-30% most 

Community Safety 148 10% most 

Physical Environment 450 20-30% most 

Housing 1198 50% least 

Twyn Carno 2 Rank (of 1909) Deprivation 

Overall 473 20-30% most 

Income 509 20-30% most 

Employment 303 10-20% most 

Health 642 30-50% most 

Education 817 30-50% most 

Access to Services 1075 50% least 

Community Safety 71 10% most 

Physical Environment 426 20-30% most 

Housing 1059 50% least 

108 

P
age 312



DRAFT 
Moriah 1 Rank (of 1909) Deprivation 

Overall 391 20-30% most 

Income 497 20-30% most 

Employment 331 10-20% most 

Health 230 10-20% most 

Education 221 10-20% most 

Access to Services 1657 50% least 

Community Safety 863 30-50% most 

Physical Environment 976 50% least 

Housing 476 20-30% most 

Moriah 3 Rank (of 1909) Deprivation 

Overall 67 10% most 

Income 137 10% most 

Employment 44 10% most 

Health 186 10% most 

Education 62 10% most 

Access to Services 562 20-30% most 

Community Safety 27 10% most 

Physical Environment 629 30-50% most 

Housing 552 20-30% most 

Moriah 2 Rank (of 1909) Deprivation 

Overall 228 10-20% most 

Income 368 10-20% most 

Employment 122 10% most 

Health 189 10% most 

Education 477 20-30% most 

Access to Services 1464 50% least 

Community Safety 70 10% most 

Physical Environment 310 10-20% most 

Housing 582 30-50% most 

Pontlottyn Rank (of 1909) Deprivation 

Overall 315 10-20% most 

Income 370 10-20% most 

Employment 180 10% most 

Health 447 20-30% most 

Education 258 10-20% most 

Access to Services 1079 50% least 

Community Safety 219 10-20% most 

Physical Environment 1013 50% least 

Housing 843 30-50% most 

109 

P
age 313



DRAFT 
Darren Valley 1 Rank (of 1909) Deprivation 

Overall 832 30-50% most 

Income 958 50% least 

Employment 819 30-50% most 

Health 682 30-50% most 

Education 816 30-50% most 

Access to Services 860 30-50% most 

Community Safety 712 30-50% most 

Physical Environment 1731 50% least 

Housing 219 10-20% most 

New Tredegar 1 Rank (of 1909) Deprivation 

Overall 578 30-50% most 

Income 768 30-50% most 

Employment 594 30-50% most 

Health 538 20-30% most 

Education 651 30-50% most 

Access to Services 1204 50% least 

Community Safety 25 10% most 

Physical Environment 1299 50% least 

Housing 1421 20-30% most 

Darren Valley 2 Rank (of 1909) Deprivation 

Overall 137 10% most 

Income 338 10-20% most 

Employment 98 10% most 

Health 71 10% most 

Education 50 10% most 

Access to Services 736 30-50% most 

Community Safety 621 30-50% most 

Physical Environment 1526 50% least 

Housing 606 30-50% most 

New Tredegar 2 Rank (of 1909) Deprivation 

Overall 246 10-20% most 

Income 348 10-20% most 

Employment 308 10-20% most 

Health 188 10% most 

Education 280 10-20% most 

Access to Services 383 20-30% most 

Community Safety 241 10-20% most 

Physical Environment 1369 50% least 

Housing 279 10-20% most 

110 

P
age 314



DRAFT 
New Tredegar 3 Rank (of 1909) Deprivation 

Overall 59 10% most 

Income 73 10% most 

Employment 83 10% most 

Health 77 10% most 

Education 104 10% most 

Access to Services 367 10%-20% most 

Community Safety 41 10% most 

Physical Environment 1075 50% least 

Housing 222 10-20% most 

Bargoed 2 Rank (of 1909) Deprivation 

Overall 704 30-50% most 

Income 711 30-50% most 

Employment 553 20-30% most 

Health 623 30-50% most 

Education 871 30-50% most 

Access to Services 1861 50% least 

Community Safety 129 10% most 

Physical Environment 1035 50% least 

Housing 551 20-30% most 

Bargoed 1 Rank (of 1909) Deprivation 

Overall 538 20-30% most 

Income 626 30-50% most 

Employment 381 10-20% most 

Health 300 10-20% most 

Education 778 30-50% most 

Access to Services 1049 50% least 

Community Safety 297 10-20% most 

Physical Environment 1464 50% least 

Housing 1038 50% least 

Bargoed 3 Rank (of 1909) Deprivation 

Overall 456 20-30% most 

Income 635 30-50% most 

Employment 422 20-30% most 

Health 486 20-30% most 

Education 341 10-20% most 

Access to Services 1539 50% least 

Community Safety 248 10-20% most 

Physical Environment 954 30-50% most 

Housing 153 10% most 

111 

P
age 315



DRAFT 
Bargoed 4 Rank (of 1909) Deprivation 

Overall 29 10% most 

Income 23 10% most 

Employment 18 10% most 

Health 29 10% most 

Education 161 10% most 

Access to Services 343 10-20% most 

Community Safety 146 10% most 

Physical Environment 1613 50% least 

Housing 765 30-50% most 

Aberbargoed 1 Rank (of 1909) Deprivation 

Overall 349 10-20% most 

Income 426 20-30% most 

Employment 286 10-20% most 

Health 349 10-20% most 

Education 233 10-20% most 

Access to Services 764 30-50% most 

Community Safety 318 10-20% most 

Physical Environment 1280 50% least 

Housing 877 30-50% most 

Gilfach Rank (of 1909) Deprivation 

Overall 482 20-30% most 

Income 576 30-50% most 

Employment 248 20-30% most 

Health 501 20-30% most 

Education 710 30-50% most 

Access to Services 1182 50% least 

Community Safety 464 20-30% most 

Physical Environment 1096 50% least 

Housing 514 20-30% most 

Aberbargoed 2 Rank (of 1909) Deprivation 

Overall 177 10% most 

Income 162 10% most 

Employment 139 10% most 

Health 210 10-20% most 

Education 282 10-20% most 

Access to Services 1335 50% least 

Community Safety 180 10% most 

Physical Environment 1297 50% least 

Housing 149 10% most 

112 

P
age 316



DRAFT 
Argoed 1 Rank (of 1909) Deprivation 

Overall 213 10-20% most 

Income 156 10% most 

Employment 192 10% most 

Health 267 10-20% most 

Education 155 10% most 

Access to Services 1375 50% least 

Community Safety 604 30-50% most 

Physical Environment 1584 50% least 

Housing 411 20-30% most 

Argoed 2 Rank (of 1909) Deprivation 

Overall 710 30-50% most 

Income 913 30-50% most 

Employment 958 50% least 

Health 1198 50% least 

Education 826 30-50% most 

Access to Services 260 10-20% most 

Community Safety 678 30-50% most 

Physical Environment 1294 50% least 

Housing 44 10% most 

113 

P
age 317



114 

DRAFT 

P
age 318



 
COUNCIL – 17th NOVEMBER 2020 

 
SUBJECT: CARE INSPECTORATE WALES 

PERFORMANCE REVIEW – APRIL 2019 - 
MARCH 2020 

 

REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR FOR SOCIAL 
SERVICES AND HOUSING 

 

 

 
1.  PURPOSE 

 
1.1 The attached report was considered by the Social Services Scrutiny Committee on 

20th October 2020 in order to consider the Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) Local 
Authority Performance Review for Caerphilly CBC for 2019/20, prior to its 
consideration at Council.  

 

 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 The attached letter from CIW summarises their review of Caerphilly County Borough 

Council’s performance in carrying out its Social Services functions from April 2019 to 
March 2020. At the Social Services Scrutiny Committee on the 20 October 2020 the 
Local Authority Inspector from the Care Inspectorate Wales attended to present this 
report. Her presentation to the Committee can be found on the Caerphilly County 
Borough Council Virtual Meetings Page - Social Services Scrutiny Committee 
Recording 

 
3. SCRUTINY COMMITTEE COMMENTS  
 
3.1 The scrutiny committee welcomed CIW Local Authority Inspector Ann Rowling to the 

meeting and invited her to provide an overview of the findings outlined in the 
performance review. Ms Rowling firstly stated that the review showed that Caerphilly 
has an experienced and stable senior management team that staff have confidence 
in and who provide a safe work culture.  

 
3.2 Members were advised that the Inspectors were confident that safeguarding for both 

Adults and Children are thoroughly monitored and quality assured, and CIW are kept 
informed when any issues arise. The people in receipt of services provided by 
Caerphilly are at the heart of the service provision and their voices are heard. The 
Corporate Parenting role at Caerphilly ensures that those in care and care leavers 
are supported and engaged with. The CIW met with this cohort and the young people 
praised the wider corporate response provided to them. The work to bring looked 

Page 319

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 11

https://youtu.be/4NrC5DOoDoU
https://youtu.be/4NrC5DOoDoU
https://youtu.be/4NrC5DOoDoU
https://youtu.be/4NrC5DOoDoU


after children back into the county borough which although resource intensive is of 
benefit and good to see. 

 
3.3 The scrutiny committee were pleased to hear that CIW consider that Prevention is at 

the core of the work of the department and noted the positive work being done which 
aims to keep young people at home. Members also noted that the Contract and 
Commissioning Team are regarded by CIW as second to none.  

 
3.4 The partnership work in Caerphilly has always be well developed but it was 

particularly noted how this has moved on in the past 6 months. Recognition that 
services may have to change going forward in areas such as adult day services is 
being considered for the longer term. 

 
3.5 Members were assured that the senior management team are willing to adapt and 

change and are always looking for ways to improve with a solution focussed 
approach. CIW consider Caerphilly in high regard with no risks or concerns. 

 
3.6 The scrutiny committee asked how engagement with the children in the 13+ looked 

after age group could be improved. Members were advised that because this is a 
sensitive area the department would avoid identifying them as a group through youth 
services. Therefore, they have used creative methods such as social media and 
specific Applications instead of formal methods. Officers have worked with the ‘Shout 
Out’ group, which is made up of older looked after children, to examine engagement. 
As a result children have information sent out through their mobile telephones which 
they can choose to complete online or alternatively text any issues they may have. 

 
3.7 Members sought additional information on the Community Connectors, how they 

were established, how the need was identified and where they work. The committee 
were advised that there are six community connectors. The service need was 
identified by the health board as it was recognised that many people attend GP 
surgeries but often do not have medical needs, such as isolation. Funding was 
provided through Compassionate Communities Project for the North of the county 
borough and was due to end in March 2021. However, this has now been extended 
up until March 2022 and will now cover the whole county borough. Members were 
advised that people are identified for this service by GP referral or other 
professionals but can also make a self-referral. It was clarified that if someone 
couldn’t attend a GP practice because of their condition, prior to the current 
Coronavirus restriction the community connector would have collected them to 
transport them in the first instance. 

 
3.8 The scrutiny committee asked for further information on the issue identified in the 

review with multi-agency partners struggling with the ‘Strength Based Approach’ in 
family meetings. Members were advised that this referred to meetings between 
partner professionals, which had changed its approach. Formerly the meeting had a 
traditional approach, consideration of the issues and then strengths. The new 
approach firstly considers the strengths of a family before moving on to any issues. 
This has changed the focus of these meetings and the approach is being monitored 
through the local safeguarding network meetings. Overall it is considered that the 
initial struggles have now settled down with everybody committed to the approach.  

 
3.9 The scrutiny committee were pleased to see the positive messages in the report and 

asked that the Corporate Director find a way to disseminate the report to all staff in 
the department and pass on the congratulations and thanks of the Social Services 
Scrutiny Committee.  

 

Page 320



 
 
4.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 The Social Services Scrutiny Committee noted the information contained in the report 

and commend the findings of the Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) Local Authority 
Performance Review for Caerphilly CBC for 2019/20 to Council.  

 

 

 
Author:  Catherine Forbes-Thompson, Scrutiny Manager – forbecl@caerphilly.gov.uk 
 
Appendices: Report to Social Services Scrutiny Committee 20th October 2020 – Agenda 

Item 6. 

Page 321



Gadewir y dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol

Page 322



APPENDIX 1 

 
 
 

SOCIAL SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE –  
20TH OCTOBER 2020 

 
 

SUBJECT: CARE INSPECTORATE WALES PERFORMANCE REVIEW – 
APRIL 2019 - MARCH 2020 

 
REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR SOCIAL SERVICES AND 

HOUSING 
 

 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT  

 
1.1 To present to Scrutiny Committee the Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) Local Authority 

Performance Review for Caerphilly CBC for 2019/20. 
 
 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 The attached letter from CIW summarises their review of Caerphilly County Borough 

Council’s performance in carrying out its Social Services functions from April 2019 to 
March 2020. 

 
 
3. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 Members are asked to note the content of the letter. 
 
 
4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 The performance review letter gives members of the Scrutiny Committee a relatively 

detailed perspective of CIW’s view of the Directorate performance in discharging our 
statutory functions.  

 
4.2  The report also lays out the CIW Performance Review Plan for 2020-21, albeit this is 

subject to amendment due to the impact of the ongoing pandemic. 
 
5. THE REPORT 
 
5.1 Like all Social Services Departments in Wales our activities are overseen and 

regulated by Care Inspectorate wales. CIW undertake an annual programme of visits 

Page 323



to reassure both themselves, the authority and the public that services are of the 
appropriate standard and being delivered in accordance with the requirements and 
principles of the Social Services & Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014. 

 
5.2 The attached letter is informed by the performance evaluation activity undertaken by 

the Inspectorate during the course of the year. This activity included: 
 

 focused activity adults services January 2020 

 focused activity children’s services  February 2020 

 engagement with older adults and their carers September 2019 

 head of service meetings  

 challenge meeting prevention and promotion of independence for older     
people October 2019 

 
5.3 The report is based around a summary of strengths and areas for improvement under 

four main headings. These are; 
 

- Well-being  

- People 

- Prevention 

- Partnerships 

5.4 Areas for improvement identified in the report will make their way into our Directorate 

Plans for what remains of 2020/21 and 2021/22. 

5.5 Conclusion   

The report from CIW paints a generally positive picture of the Directorate’s 
performance during 2019/20. We will continue to engage with CIW in accordance 
with the agreed programme of visits and will use the feedback as part of my Annual 
Directors report for 2019/20 which is currently being written.  
 

6. ASSUMPTIONS 

6.1 There were no assumptions made in writing this report.   

 
7.  LINKS TO RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES 
 
7.1 Corporate Plan 2018-2023.   

 
The contents of this report contributes towards to or impacts on the following 
Corporate Well-being Objectives;     

 
Objective 5 - Creating a county borough that supports a healthy lifestyle in 

accordance with the sustainable Development Principle within the Wellbeing of 

Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

 

Objective 6 - Support citizens to remain independent and improve their well-being 

Page 324



 
 
 
8. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS 
 
8.1 This report contributes to the following Well-being Goals:-  

 

 A resilient Wales 

 A healthier Wales 

 A more equal Wales 

 A Wales of cohesive communities 
 
 
 The report is consistent with the five ways of working as defined within the 

sustainable development principle in the Act.   
: 

 Long Term – The feedback from CIW helps us understand and ensure that 
our services are fit for purpose and sustainable in meeting people’s needs 
moving forward. 

 Prevention – Prevention is a key part of the Social Services & Well-being 
(Wales) Act 2014. The letter from CIW contains specific reference with regard 
to our performance around prevention. 

 Integration – Good quality social care services play a fundamental part in 
ensuring the well-being, not just to the recipients of the service, but also to 
their immediate families and the general community. Supporting unpaid 
carers allow people to continue to work and gives carers the support they 
need to continue to care for their loved ones longer term allowing the 
recipients of the service to remain in their own homes for longer. 

 Collaboration – Partnerships are now a cornerstone of delivering our services. 
This is both with other public bodies and the people who use our services. 
The letter from CIW makes specific reference to our performance in this area. 

 Involvement – Involving citizens in the planning and delivery of services is a 
key part of the Social Services & Well-being (Wales) Act 2014. Co-production 
of services is now a basic requirement of social work services. 

 
 
9. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1  There are no equalities impacts arising from this report. Equalities is a central plank 

of the delivery of social care services. There are no services development issues 
arising from this report that require equality impact assessments to be completed. 

 
 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. The Directorate has 

a set annual revenue budget and has successfully operated within the confines of 
this budget during 2019/20. 

 
 
11. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 There are no direct personnel implications arising from this report. 
 

Page 325



 
 
12. CONSULTATIONS 
 
12.1 There are no consultation responses that have not been reflected in this report. 
 
13. STATUTORY POWER  
 
13.1 Social Services provision is delivered in accordance with the requirements of the 

Social Services & Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014. 
 
 
 
 
Author:        Dave Street, Corporate Director Social Services & Housing  
        Streed@Caerphilly.gov.uk 
 
Consultees: Councillor Shayne Cooke, Cabinet Member 

COOKS3@CAERPHILLY.GOV.UK 
Gareth Jenkins, Assistant Director 
JENKIG2@CAERPHILLY.GOV.UK 
Jo Williams, Assistant Director 
WILLIJ6@CAERPHILLY.GOV.UK 
Christina Harrhy, Chief Executive 
HARRHC@CAERPHILLY.GOV.UK 
Mark S. Williams, Interim Corporate Director 
WILLIMS@CAERPHILLY.GOV.UK 
Richard Edmunds, Corporate Director 
EDMUNRE@CAERPHILLY.GOV.UK 

 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1 Care Inspectorate Wales Local Authority Performance Review  

April 2019 - March 2020 
 
 
 

Page 326



Appendix 1

Page 327



Page 328



Page 329



Page 330



Page 331



Page 332



 

 
 

COUNCIL - 17TH NOVEMBER 2020 
 

SUBJECT: LICENSING ACT 2003 – STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 
 
REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR FOR EDUCATION AND CORPORATE 

SERVICES 
 

 

 
1.1 The attached report, which informed Members of the necessity to review the Statement of 

Licensing Policy and the result of consultations carried out, was considered by the Licensing 
and Gambling Committee on 5th November 2020, prior to its presentation to Council. 

 
1.2 The Licensing Act came into force on 7th February 2005 and requires the Authority to 

publish a Statement of Licensing Policy to determine how applications would be considered.  
The Authority is required to review the statement every five years. The current Policy was 
published in January 2016.  The Council must therefore review the current Policy and, 
based upon the results of consultation undertaken, approve a revised Policy for publication 
in January 2021. 

 
1.3 Members were advised that the Authority has conducted a review of the Policy and 

consulted with responsible authorities detailed under the Act, for example:  Police, Health 
Board, Fire Authority, Child Protection Officer, Environmental Health, Trading Standards and 
Planning.  All existing licence premises licence holders and holders of club premises 
certificates in the borough were written to informing them of the consultation.  In addition, 
residents and businesses throughout the Caerphilly Borough were invited to comment by 
accessing the Council’s website during the consultation period from 14th August to 9th 
October 2020. 

 
1.4 Officers outlined the Guidance that the Council in accordance with Section 182 of the Act 

must have regard to when preparing a revised Policy, and where appropriate, this has been 
reflected in the Council’s revised Policy, together with a number of legislative changes that 
were detailed in the report.  The format of the Statement of Policy has been reviewed via the 
Gwent Licensing Forum which includes officers from council licensing, police licensing and 
health board representatives and amended to align with neighbouring Licensing authorities 
within the Gwent region, which share the same local health board and police force area to 
bring about a consistency of approach.   

 
1.5 The existing policy has been reviewed and amended to align itself to the Gwent region, and 

the proposed changes were outlined to Members and set out in Sections 5.5 to 5.8 of the 
Officer’s report.  Members were referred to the revised Statement of Licensing Policy 
attached at Appendix 1 to the report and the Licensing Authorities model pool of conditions 
attached at Appendix 2 to the report and were asked to comment on the revised Policy prior 
to its presentation to Council. 

 
1.6 During the course of the ensuing debate and in response to Members’ queries, Officers 

confirmed that two comments had been posted on the Council’s website during the 
consultation period and some general enquires had been received from licensees regarding 

Page 333

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 12



the Policy, but assured the Committee that no adverse concerns had been received from 
consultees.  Members were advised that Responsible Authorities took part in the pre-
preparation of the revised Policy and that Gwent Police and the Local Health Board had both 
confirmed that they were satisfied with the revisions. 

 
1.7 Members suggested that it would have been useful to view the current Policy with the 

suggested revisions included as track changes in order to easily identify the alterations.  
Officers explained that on this occasion, it was not possible to reflect the changes in this 
way, as the entire format of the Policy had been amended to align with neighbouring 
authorities, and therefore any changes would not be easily identifiable and instead were 
outlined in the Officer’s report.  However, Officers confirmed that any future reviews of the 
Policy could include track changes now that the document is in its updated format.  Officers 
confirmed that this explanation would be included when the report is presented to Council. 

 
1.8 The Licensing and Gambling Committee thanked Officers for the extensive work carried out 

in the preparation of the revised Policy, and following consideration of the report, it was 
unanimously recommended to Council that the revised Statement of Licensing Policy as 
appended to the report be approved. 

 
1.9 Council are asked to consider the report and comments received from the Licensing and 

Gambling Committee and approve the revised Statement of Licensing Policy. 
 
 
Author:  R. Barrett, Committee Services Officer, Ext. 4245 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix  Report to Licensing and Gambling Committee on 5th November 2020 – Agenda 

Item 3 
 

Page 334



 
 
 

LICENSING AND GAMBLING COMMITTEE – 5TH NOVEMBER 2020 
 

SUBJECT:  LICENSING ACT 2003 – STATEMENT OF LICENSING 
POLICY 

 
REPORT BY: INTERIM CORPORATE DIRECTOR - COMMUNITIES 
 

 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT -  
 
1.1 To inform Members of the necessity to review the Statement of Licensing Policy and 

the result of consultations carried out.  The report is seeking the views of Members 
prior to its presentation to Council. 

 
 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 The Licensing Act came into force on 7 February 2005, and requires the Authority to 

publish a Statement of Licensing Policy to determine how applications would be 
considered.  The Authority is required to review the statement every five years. 

 
2.2 The current Policy was published in January 2016.  The Council must therefore review 

the current Policy and, based upon the results of consultation undertaken, approve a 
revised Policy for publication in January 2021. 

 
 
3. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 That Members review the revised Statement of Licensing Policy offering appropriate 

comments prior to presentation of a Report to Council for approval.  
 
 
4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 In order to give effect to the statutory obligations imposed by the Licensing Act 2003 

and in Regulations made under the Act.   
 

 
5. THE REPORT 
 
5.1 The Licensing Act 2003 
 
 In accordance with the above Act, the Council, as Licensing Authority, is responsible 

for issuing licences and certificates for the supply of alcohol, entertainment, late night 

Page 335



food and other licensable activities.  The Council has a duty to prepare and publish a 
Statement of Licensing Policy, having firstly consulted a wide range of bodies and 
individuals and to review it every five years. 

 
5.2 The Authority has conducted a review of the Policy and consulted with responsible 

authorities detailed under the Act, for example:  Police, Health Board, Fire Authority, 
Child Protection Officer, Environmental Health, Trading Standards and Planning.  All 
existing licence premises licence holders and holders of club premises certificates in 
the borough were written to informing them of the consultation.  In addition, residents 
and businesses throughout the Caerphilly Borough have been invited to comment by 
accessing the Council’s website during a period of consultation 14th August to 9th 
October 2020. 

 
5.3 When preparing the revised Statement of Licensing Policy, the Council, in accordance 

with Section 182 of the Act, must have regard to the Guidance issued by the Home 
Office who hold responsibility for the Licensing Act 2003.  Revised Guidance was 
issued in April 2018 and, where appropriate, this has been reflected in the Council’s 
revised Policy.  There have also been a number of legislative changes that have been 
incorporated into the revised policy which include the Policing and Crime Act 2017, 
which gives the licensing authority the ability to revoke or suspend personal licences. 
In addition, the Immigration Act 2016 in relation to making Home Office, a responsible 
Authority and also allowing the detection and prevention of illegal working on premises 
that hold an alcohol or late-night refreshment licence.   

 
5.4 The format of the Statement of Policy has been reviewed via the Gwent Licensing 

Forum which includes officers from council licensing, police licensing and health board 
representatives and amended to align with neighbouring Licensing authorities within 
the Gwent region, which share the same local health board and police force area to 
bring about a consistency of approach.   

 
5.5 The existing policy has been reviewed and amended to align itself to the Gwent region 

and the changes proposed include the following: 
 

 An update of the implications of drug and alcohol harm provided by Public Health. 
(Paragraphs 7.1 – 7.7 of revised policy) 

 
 Best Practice guidance in relation to prevention of crime and disorder (Paragraph 

10.4 ) 
 
 Sets out measures on how to prevent and report sexual exploitation, modern day 

slavery and human trafficking. (Paragraph 10.7) 
 
 Prevention of public nuisance working with partners such as environmental health 

and referral to Welsh Government’s Noise and Soundscape Action plan 2018-2023 
(Paragraphs 11.1 – 11.10 ) 

 
 Public Safety – provides advice on risk assessments and control measures.  

(Paragraph 12.1 -12.7) 
 
 Protection of children from harm, including safeguarding advice and underage 

sales. (Paragraph 13.9) 
 
 Provides advice on how the licensing authority will deal with petitions in support of 

or objecting to applications.  (Paragraph 28.24) 
 

Page 336



 
5.6 In addition to the above, the revised policy seeks to advise applicants planning outdoor 

events requiring Temporary Event Notices (TENs) or Premises Licenses to contact the 
Council’s Event Safety Advisory Group (ESAG) in good time, in order that advice and 
guidance in relation to the event can be provided.  (Paragraph 21.10) 

 
5.7 Furthermore, the revised policy sets out that there will be an expectation that Premises 

Licence holders, Designated Premises and holders of Club Premises Certificates will 
be aware of their permitted licensable activities, permitted hours and conditions and 
that failure to demonstrate or have a lack of regard could result in a lack of confidence 
in management by a Responsible Authority which could give lead to enforcement 
action or licence review.  (Paragraph 19.7 & 20.4)  
 

5.8 In relation to the prevention of crime and disorder licensing objective, the revised policy 
details the approach by Responsible Authorities to work together sharing all available 
data to address alcohol related crime and disorder, particularly violence by including 
NHS sources of data to identify premises or areas of concern.  (Paragraph 10.5) 
 

5.9 Attached as Appendix 1 to this report is the revised Statement of Licensing Policy.   
The Policy will also be presented to Council in November, with a view to the document 
being finally approved in readiness for publishing in January 2021. 

 
5.10 Attached as Appendix 2 to this report are the Licensing Authorities model pool of 

conditions, which assist applicants, responsible authorities, local residents and 
businesses who may be considering making comments as to conditions of licence as 
part of the application or review process.  The use of the pools of conditions assists in 
attaching enforceable and consistent conditions.  These conditions have not been 
changed since the current policy was approved. 

 
5.9 Conclusion 

The Licensing Authority is required to review its statement of licensing policy every 5 
years.  The revised policy takes into account legislative change since the adoption of 
the last policy.  Work has been undertaken to align the policy to neighbouring Gwent 
Authorities for a consistent approach towards licensing applications.  Whilst the format 
of the policy has been amended, there are no major changes in policy. 

 

6. ASSUMPTIONS 

6.1 No assumptions have been made in the preparation of this report. 

 
7.  LINKS TO RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES 
 
7.1 Statement of Licensing Policy 2016.  
 
7.2 Corporate Plan 2018-2023.   
  
 The aim of licensing is generally public safety and protection and to ensure a fair and 

level market place for licensable activities.   
 

The report impacts on the following Corporate Well-being Objectives, which are: 
 
 Objective 2 - Enabling employment 

Page 337



 
Objective 5 - Creating a county borough that supports a healthy lifestyle in 
accordance with the sustainable Development Principle within the Wellbeing of 
Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
 
 

8. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS 
 
8.1 The Authority has a duty to improve the social, economic, environmental and cultural 

well-being of Wales.  The areas covered in this report contribute to the following Well-
being Goals  

 

 A prosperous Wales  
 

 A resilient Wales 
 

 A more equal Wales 
 

 A globally responsible Wales 
 

They are consistent with the five ways of working as defined within the sustainable 
development principle in the Act and support the objectives of other stakeholders. 
There is an emphasis on prevention as the licensing process ensures that a number 
of checks and safeguards are in place before a licence is granted.  There is also 
involvement particularly through the consultation process for polices and applications 
allowing other agencies and the community to input into the decision-making process. 
The prime focus for the Council is to ensure public safety and to provide an efficient 
and effective licensing service. 

 
 
9. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1  There are no potential equalities implications of this report and its recommendations   

on groups or individuals who fall under the category identified in Section 6 of the 
Council’s Strategic Equality Plan.  No potential for unlawful discrimination and/or low 
level or minor negative impact has been identified; therefore a full EIA has not been 
carried out. The Council ensures that it treats all individuals who are renewing or 
making new applications for licenses, with equal respect in line with the Council’s 
Strategic Equality Plan 2016 to 2020.  

 

10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

10.1 There are no financial implications for the Authority arising directly from this report.  
 
 
11. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 There are no personnel implications. 
 
 
12. CONSULTATIONS 
 
12.1 Comments received from the bodies or individuals consulted, in particular the 

Page 338



Responsible Authorities have been considered and, where necessary, amendments 
or inclusions have been made to the revised policy.  During the period of consultation 
only one formal response was completed which informed of amended contact details 
for a Responsible Authority. 

 
12.2 This report has been sent to the Consultees listed below and all comments received 

are reflected in this report.  
 
 
13. STATUTORY POWER  
 
13.1 Licensing Act 2003 and any Regulations made under the Act.  The decision is the 

responsibility of the full Council. 
 
 
Author:  Lee Morgan, Licensing Manager, morgal16@caerphilly.gov.uk  
 
Consultees: Cllr Denver Preece Chair, Licensing & Gambling Committee 

Cllr Julian Simmonds, Vice Chair, Licensing & Gambling Committee 
Cllr Nigel George, Cabinet Member for Waste and Public Protection 
Mark S. Williams, Interim Corporate Director Communities  
Robert Hartshorn, Head of Public Protection, Community and Leisure Services 
Robert Tranter, Head of Legal Services and Monitoring Officer  
Jacqui Morgan, Trading Standards, Licensing and Registrars Manager 
Steve Harris, Head of Corporate Finance, S.151 Officer 
Mike Eedy, Finance Manager 
Anwen Cullinane, Senior Policy Officer (Equalities and Welsh Language) 
Shaun Watkins, HR Manager 

   
 
Background Papers:  
Statement of Licensing Policy 2016  
 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1 Revised Statement of Licensing Policy 
Appendix 2 Model Pool of Conditions 
 

Page 339



Gadewir y dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol

Page 340



APPENDIX 1 

 
 

 

 

 

Licensing Act 2003  

Draft Policy Statement 2020 

 
 

Revision  2020 

 

 

 

 
Licensing Section 
Caerphilly County Borough Council 
Ty Penallta 
Tredomen Park 
Ystrad Mynach 
Hengoed 
CF82 7PG 
01443 866750 
 
Email: licensing@caerphilly.gov.uk 
Further copies may be obtained from 
the above address or from the website: 
 
This publication is available in Welsh, other languages or formats on request. 
Mae'r cyhoeddiad hwn ar gael yn Gymraeg ac mewn ieithoedd neu fformatau 
eraill ar gais. 

 

 
Page 341

http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/


1 

 

Contents 
 Page 
 
1.   Introduction ...................................................................................... 4 

 

2. Profile of the County ........................................................................ 5 

 

3. Licensing Committee ....................................................................... 6 

 

4. Fundamental Principles .................................................................. 7 

 

5. Zoning and licensing hours ............................................................ 7 

 Drinking up time/cooling down time ................................................... 9 

 

6. Commercial demand........................................................................ 9 

 

7. Alcohol Harm ................................................................................... 9 

 

8. Drugs .............................................................................................. 11 

 

9. Licensing Objectives ..................................................................... 12 

 

10. Prevention of crime and disorder ................................................. 13 

 

11.  Prevention of public nuisance ...................................................... 15 

 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015, 

 Noise & Soundscape Management ................................................. 16 

 

12. Public Safety .................................................................................. 17 

 

13. Protection of children from harm ................................................. 19 

 

14. Rights of representation ............................................................... 21 

 

15. Responsible authorities ................................................................ 22 

 

16. Other persons ................................................................................ 23 

 

17. Integrating strategies .................................................................... 23 

 Crime and Disorder Act 1998 ........................................................... 23 

 The Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 ................ 23 

 Immigration Act 2016 ....................................................................... 24 

 Human Rights Act 1998 ................................................................... 24 

Page 342



2 

 

 Equality Act 2010 ............................................................................. 24 

 Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 ........................ 24 

 Relationship with Planning Process ................................................. 25 

 

18. Personal alcohol licence ............................................................... 26 

 

19. Premises Licence .......................................................................... 27 

 

20. Club premises certificate .............................................................. 28 

 

21. Temporary Event Notices .............................................................. 29 

 

22. Sale and supply of alcohol ............................................................ 30 

 

23. Regulated entertainment ............................................................... 31 

 Public Audience ............................................................................... 31 

 Overview of circumstances in which entertainment activities are     32 

 not licensable .......................................................................................  

 Deregulatory changes where a licence is not required .................... 32 

 Circumstances in which entertainment activities are no longer 

 licensable  ........................................................................................ 34 

 Local authorities, hospital healthcare providers and school 

 proprietors: cross entertainment activity exemption ......................... 34 

 Local authority, hospital and school premises: third party 

 music entertainment......................................................................... 35 

 Community premises: music entertainment ..................................... 35 

 Community premises: exhibition of film............................................ 36 

 Travelling Circuses .......................................................................... 36 

 Live Music ........................................................................................ 37 

 Key terms used in relation to live music ........................................... 37 

 Recorded Music ............................................................................... 38 

 Plays and Dance .............................................................................. 38 

 Indoor Sport ..................................................................................... 38 

 Licence conditions ........................................................................... 39 

 Live Music or Recorded Music ......................................................... 39 

 Beer Gardens .................................................................................. 39 

 Plays, dance and indoor sport ......................................................... 40 

 Boxing or wrestling entertainment and conditions relating to 

 combined fighting sports .................................................................. 41 

 Conditions relating to other non-licensable activities ....................... 41 

 Incidental music ............................................................................... 42 

 Removing licence conditions ........................................................... 42 

 Busking ............................................................................................ 43 

Page 343



3 

 

 Incidental Film .................................................................................. 43 

 Entertainment activity provided as part of childcare ......................... 44 

 Child performers .............................................................................. 44 

 

24. Administration ............................................................................... 44 

 

25. Application procedures ................................................................. 45 

 The responsible Authorities ............................................................. 45 

 

26. Operating schedule ....................................................................... 49 

 

27. Conditions ...................................................................................... 50 

 

28. Applications where representations are received ...................... 51 

 

29. Exercise and delegation of functions .......................................... 54 

 

30. Reviews of licences ....................................................................... 56 

 

31. Cumulative Impact Assessment ................................................... 57 

 

32. Early morning restriction orders .................................................. 58 

 

33. Hearings ......................................................................................... 59 

 

34. Appeals ........................................................................................... 59 

 

35. Implementing the determination of the Magistrates Court ........ 60 

 

36. Enforcement ................................................................................... 60 

 

37. Fees Generally ............................................................................... 61 

 

38. Annual Fees for Premises Licences and Club Premises 

 Certificates ..................................................................................... 61 

 

39. Licence suspension for non-payment of annual fees ................ 61 

 

40. Late night levies ............................................................................. 62 

 

41. Further information........................................................................ 63 

  

  

Page 344



4 

 

1. Introduction 

 
1.1 The Licensing Act 2003 requires the Council, in fulfilling its role as the Licensing 

Authority, to publish a “Licensing Policy” that sets out the policies the council will 
generally apply to promote the licensing objectives when making decisions on 
applications made under the Act.  This is that statement of policy prepared in 
accordance with the provisions of the 2003 Act and the latest version of Home Office 
Guidance issued under section 182 of the Act. 
 

1.2 Caerphilly County Borough Council (“the Council”) is the Licensing Authority under 
the Licensing Act 2003 and is responsible for granting premises licences, club 
premises certificates, and personal licences in respect of the sale and/or supply of 
alcohol and the provision of regulated entertainment and late night refreshment. 
Throughout the document, the Council will be referred to as the Licensing Authority, 
where appropriate to prevent confusion between this role and the other functions 
carried out by the Council. 

1.3 This policy sets out how applications for licences, which are required by the 
Licensing Act 2003, will be considered by the Licensing Authority. 

 
1.4 In developing this licensing policy, the advice of bodies such as Local Government 

(LG), the Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA) and various trade 
associations have been taken into account wherever possible.  Where appropriate, 
the Policies of other Gwent authorities have also been taken into account, in order 
to achieve uniformity wherever possible and to help ensure the integration of the 
various policies over a wider geographical area. Other Corporate policies adopted 
by the Council have also been taken into account, and these will be referred to 
throughout this document as appropriate. 

 
1.5 The Equalities Act 2010 introduced measures to tackle discrimination encountered 

by disabled people in certain areas including employment, and access to goods, 
facilities and services.  The applicant shall have regard to this legislation. However, 
the Licensing Authority will not use licensing to pursue such issues, other than 
where supported by legislation and accepted good practice. 

 
1.6 Caerphilly County Borough Council has a legal obligation to comply with all 

legislation that promotes equality it has a policy in place to promote equality to all.  
The Council has a Strategic Equality Plan which is available for inspection on our 
website. Licensing of persons and premises under the Licensing Act 2003 will 
actively promote equality of service and enforcement to all members of the 
community. 

 
1.7 The Human Rights Act 1998 incorporates the European Convention on Human 

Rights and makes it unlawful for a local authority to act in a way that is incompatible 
with such a right.  The Licensing Authority will have regard to the Human Rights 
Act when considering any licensing issues, and particularly in respect of the way 
in which applications are considered and enforcement activities are carried out. 

 
1.8 Each application will be considered on its individual merits, and in the light of this 

Policy 

Page 345



5 

 

 
1.9 The Licensing Authority acknowledges that it may need to depart from this Policy 

and from the guidance issued under the Act in individual and exceptional 
circumstances, and where the case merits such a decision in the interests of the 
promotion of the licensing objectives. Any such decision will be taken in 
consultation with the appropriate legal advisors for the Licensing Authority, and the 
reasons for any such departure will be fully recorded. 

 
1.10 The licensing policy will not seek to regulate matters which are provided for in any 

other legislation and will seek to complement such regimes e.g. planning, health 
and safety, employment rights, fire safety, etc. 

 
1.11 The Licensing Authority wishes to encourage licensees to provide a wide range of 

entertainment activities in Caerphilly County Borough throughout their opening 
hours and to promote live music, dance, theatre, etc. for the wider cultural benefit 
of the community. 

 
1.12 This Licensing Authority will update and publish a new Licensing Policy whenever 

necessary but in any case within five years of the date of this Policy, and will fully 
consult with partners, trade associations and residents groups as appropriate at 
that time, any representations received will be considered at that time.  However 
where updates are required due to changes in national legislation, statutory 
guidance or contact details the council reserves the right to amend this policy 
without consultation where it is necessary to ensure the policy reflects national 
legislation or statutory guidance. 

   
1.13 This policy revision will take into account the following matters in its re-drafting. 

 The amendment’s to the Licensing Act 2003 made by: 
 The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 
 The Live Music Act 2012 
 The Deregulation Act 2015 
 Statutory instruments laid 
 Revised Guidance issued under S182 of the Licensing Act 2003 
 Immigration 

   
1.14 In addition to the above, a Review of the council’s Licensing Policy was conducted 

with members of the Gwent Licensing Forum, which consists of Council Licensing 
Officers, Police licensing and Public Health Officer covering the areas of Caerphilly, 
Monmouthshire, Torfaen, Blaenau Gwent and Newport. The Forum sought to align 
its policies across Gwent with a view to provide a consistent approach to licensing 
across the region.   

 
 

2. Profile of the County 
 

2.1 The County Borough has a population in excess of 181,019 and is semi-rural in 
character covering a total area of 69,160 acres. There are seven main town centres 
servicing the area, (Caerphilly, Blackwood, Bargoed, Ystrad Mynach, Newbridge, 

Page 346



6 

 

Risca and Rhymney) along with numerous villages, each with their own individual 
character. The authority is comprised of 33 wards.  

2.2 There are many major concentrations of premises in the County Borough providing 
regulated entertainment and / or retail sale of alcohol. There are also many private 
clubs, several nightclubs, theatres and premises for the exhibition of films. Local 
venues such as village, community and school halls, sports clubs, etc provide 
additional locations for cultural activities. 

2.3 During the summer months, several open-air events provide for the larger cultural 
audiences and many local carnivals, fetes etc are organised in smaller communities.  

2.4 There are many public houses in the County Borough outside of the main towns, 
many of these in smaller villages. These provide focal points for community life. In 
other cases this may be provided by small stores, shops and supermarkets that sell 
alcohol. 

2.5 Premises and events which are licensed under the Licensing Act 2003 can provide 
a contribution to the local economy through tourism, cultural development and 
maximising night time trade. 

2.6  The Local Authority may, in appropriate circumstances, consider seeking from the 
Licensing Authority premises licences in its own name for its own public spaces 
within the community. This may assist with the promotion of broader cultural 
activities and entertainments. 

 
 

3. Licensing Committee 
  

3.1 The Council will appoint a Licensing Committee in accordance with its constitution.  
 
3.2 A Licensing Committee shall establish Sub-Committees (panels) consisting of 

three Members of the Committee, to consider applications where representations 
have been received from any person and/or Responsible Authorities.  

 
3.3 In the interests of good governance, where a Councillor who is a Member of a 

Licensing Committee or a Licensing Sub-Committee has had a direct or indirect 
pecuniary or personal interest in any matter before them they will be disqualified 
from any involvement in the decision-making process affecting the premises 
licence.  A Councillor will not sit on a Sub-Committee to consider an application 
within their ‘Ward’. 

 
3.4 Every determination of a licensing decision by the Licensing Committee or a 

Licensing Sub-Committee shall be accompanied with reasons for the decision.  
 
3.5 The Council’s Licensing Officers will deal with all licence applications where either 

no relevant representation has been received, or where representations have been 
received and it is agreed by the parties that a hearing is not necessary. 

 

Page 347



7 

 

3.6 A periodic report will be made to Licensing Committee on the exercise of delegated 
powers.  

 
3.7 The Council will ensure that members and relevant officers are appropriately 

trained to carry out their duties under the Act. 
 
3.8 Matters in respect of the Licensing Act 2003 are to be dealt with as specified in the 

council’s scheme of delegation under its constitution. 
 

4. Fundamental principles 
 
4.1 Licensing is about the control of licensed premises, qualifying clubs and temporary 

events within the terms of the 2003 Act, and conditions may be attached to 
licences, certificates and permissions that will cover matters which are within the 
control of individual licensees. 

 
4.2 When considering these conditions, the Licensing Authority will primarily focus on 

the direct impact of the activities taking place at licensed premises on members of 
the public living, working or engaged in normal activity in the area concerned. 

   
4.3 In this respect, the Licensing Authority recognises that, apart from the licensing 

function, there are a number of other mechanisms available for addressing issues 
that can occur away from the licensed premises, including: 

 

 Planning controls; 

 On-going measures to create a safe and clean environment in these areas in 
partnership with local businesses, transport operators and other Council 
departments; 

 Designation of parts of the county borough as places where alcohol may not be 
consumed publicly; 

 Regular liaison with police on law enforcement issues regarding disorder and 
antisocial behaviour, including the issue of fixed penalty notices, prosecution of 
those selling alcohol to people who are drunk, confiscation of alcohol from adults 
and children in designated areas and instantly closing down licensed premises or 
temporary events on the grounds of disorder, or likelihood of disorder or excessive 
noise from the premises; 

 The power of the police, other responsible authority or interested party to seek a 
review of the licence or certificate. 

 

5. Zoning and licensing hours 
   
5.1  Paragraph 10.13 of the Government’s current Section 182 Guidance states that: 
 “The 2003 Act gives the licensing authority power to make decisions about the 

hours during which premises can conduct licensable activities as part of the 
implementation of its licensing policy statement.  Licensing authorities are best 
placed to make decisions about appropriate opening hours in their areas based on 
their local knowledge and in consultation with responsible authorities.  However, 

Page 348



8 

 

licensing authorities must always consider each application and must not impose 
predetermined licensed opening hours, without giving individual consideration to 
the merits of each application” 

 
5.2 Paragraph 13.41 of the Government’s current Section 182 Guidance goes on to 

state that: 
 “As part of its licensing policy, the licensing authority may also wish to consider the 

use of alternative measures such as fixed closed times and zoning within its area, 
providing such mechanisms are justified on the basis of the licensing objectives 
and are only presumptive, with final decisions continuing to be made in relation to 
the individual premises on a case by case basis in accordance with what is 
appropriate to promote the licensing objectives.  The licensing authority would be 
expected to include its intention to use such measures in its statement of licensing 
policy and justify doing so in order to orchestrate closing times so as to manage 
problems in the night-time economy based on the promotion of the licensing 
objectives.  As with the creation of a cumulative impact policies, the use of such 
mechanisms would create a rebuttable presumption and would apply in the event 
of representation being received” 

 
5.3 When dealing with licensing hours, the Licensing Authority recognises the 

requirement that each application will be dealt with on its individual merits.  
Nonetheless, whilst the Licensing Authority does not wish to unduly inhibit the 
continuing development of a thriving and safe evening and night-time local 
economies which are important for investment and employment locally.  The 
Authority considers that it is vital to create an appropriate balance between the 
economic needs of licensed premises and the rights of local residents to be able 
to enjoy a reasonable degree of peace and quiet at noise-sensitive times and other 
persons not experience early fall out of the night-time economy.  To this end, the 
Licensing Authority is prepared to consider identifying zones in its area where 
hours of operation for licensable activities will be fixed.  At the time of preparing 
this policy, no zones have been identified. However, the Licensing Authority will 
consider the introduction of such zones and limiting of hours for licensable activities 
upon receipt of representations from and following consultation undertaken with 
Responsible Authorities. This will be applied in the event of representations being 
made upon an application unless the Licensing Sub-Committee is persuaded that 
it would not be appropriate to apply them in the circumstances of the application.  

 
5.4 The Licensing Authority notes that the Government’s Section 182 Guidance states 

that “Shops, stores and supermarkets should normally be free to provide sales of 
alcohol for consumption off the premises at any times when the retail outlet is open 
for shopping unless there are good reasons, based on the licensing objectives, for 
restricting those hours”.  However, because of the problems experienced in some 
local communities in the county borough arising from the availability of alcohol for 
sale at local shops for consumption off the premises this Licensing Authority has 
decided that it will not adopt this general position but instead will expect applicants 
and licence-holders to trade alcohol at hours which are appropriate to their 
particular local environment.  Therefore applicants should very carefully consider 
the hours they seek when devising their operating schedule and it is recommended 
to discuss such application with the appropriate Responsible Authorities. 

Page 349



9 

 

 
5.5 In the event that applications are submitted which have not demonstrated that 

appropriate alcohol trading hours have been properly considered, it is likely that 
representations will be made by the relevant responsible authorities and the public. 
This will delay the determination of the application and result in it being referred to 
a Licensing Sub-Committee for determination. 

   
5.6 Once an application, or an existing licence in the case of a review, is referred to a 

Sub-Committee it can be expected that the Sub-Committee will scrutinise the 
application or licence very carefully and arrive at a decision regarding hours. 
Appropriate hours will be considered to promote the licensing objectives and may 
even result in the refusal of the application or the revocation of a licence. 

 
5.7 Applicants and existing licensees should be mindful of local areas where there may 

be a concentration of problematic drinkers or where it is known that groups of 
people congregated and have caused anti-social behaviour.  Applicants should 
very carefully consider the appropriateness of selling alcohol during early morning 
or late evening hours. 

 
5.8  Drinking up time / cooling down time 
 
 Even though the traditional drinking up time was not carried over into the Act, the 

Council recommends that applicants of premises licensed for the on-sale of alcohol 
should consider a drinking up / cooling down period. During this time music volume 
may be reduced, customers may finish their drinks and make arrangements for 
transportation from the premises.  The Council considers that a 30 minute drinking 
up time will assist in the gradual dispersal of customers and consequently reduce 
any potential negative impact on the area.  

 

6. Commercial demand 
   
6.1 The commercial demand for additional premises licences (as distinct from 

cumulative impact) will not be a matter for the Licensing Authority. These matters 
would be a specific consideration for the local Planning Authority taking into 
account the demands of the licensed trade and market demands. 

 

7. Alcohol Harm 
 
7.1 The evidence base for the impact of alcohol use on health and well-being is strong.  

Alcohol use contributes to over 60 different health conditions including liver 
disease, foetal alcohol syndrome and several cancers.  Research shows that as 
well as being a contributor to a wide range of diseases and conditions, alcohol use 
can result in injuries and can contribute to, trigger and/or exacerbate mental health 
conditions. In addition, alcohol is a major cause of death and illness in Wales with 
around 1,500 deaths attribute to alcohol each year, (1 in 20 of all deaths).  

   

Page 350



10 

 

7.2 Research has repeatedly shown that the economic, geographical and temporal 
availability of alcohol has a significant effect on the level of alcohol related harms, 
including health harms.  Research and real-life experiments have shown that the 
range of times and days alcohol is available for sale has a significant impact on the 
harms caused by alcohol.  The geographical ease of access also has an impact, 
as shown by a large body of research into outlet density.  Research conducted in 
2017 demonstrated that actively enforced Licensing policies lead to a reduction in 
alcohol-related hospital admissions.  These are all factors that are influenced by 
local licensing frameworks and operational and enforcement approaches to 
licensing.  

 
7.3 Research has demonstrated that the most effective and cost-effective approach to 

tackle the harms from alcohol misuse is to reduce the affordability, availability of 
and access to alcohol. The World Health Organisation and Public Health Wales 
have identified reducing the availability of and access to alcohol as key to reducing 
alcohol related health harms. 

 
7.4 The intent of the Licensing Act 2003 is to regulate the supply of alcohol.  Licensing 

is therefore the key mechanism by which the availability of alcohol can be 
regulated, through regulating the times and days of the week alcohol can be sold, 
premises which can supply alcohol and the conditions of sale. 

 
7.5 Caerphilly has the largest population in Gwent of 181019. People are widely 

dispersed among fifty small towns and villages with the main settlements largely 
reflecting the area’s rick coal mining heritage.  Caerphilly has an expanding 
economy and benefits through good transport links to Cardiff but there are 
significant levels of unemployment and poor health. 

 
Caerphilly County Borough Council recognises the significant negative impact on 
the health of our residents caused by alcohol, reflected in hospital admissions and 
deaths from alcohol related illnesses (see below).   

 
Alcohol data shared by Public Health Wales in 2019 indicates that Caerphilly local 
authority area has: 

 The highest rate of alcohol-specific admission rates for both males and females 
under 18s when compared to the five Local Authority areas in Gwent, and 
significantly higher rates than the national average. 

 

 Significantly higher rates of alcohol-specific admissions than the national 
average in 2017-18, and has the second highest local authority rate when 
compared to other local authority areas in Gwent.  

 

 The second highest rate of alcohol-attributable admissions (broad) compared to 
other local authority areas in Gwent, and the fourth highest local authority area 
in Wales when compared with all 22 Local Authorities. This level is significantly 
higher than the Welsh average for both males and females. 

 

Page 351



11 

 

 The highest rate of alcohol specific mortality (deaths) when compared to other 
local authority areas in Gwent and the fourth highest in Wales.  Alcohol 
attributable mortality has been increasing in Caerphilly since 2013-15 being 
higher than the national average, and mortality from liver disease was higher than 
the national average in 2015-17. 

 

 Similar levels of reporting drinking above guidelines for adults in 2018-191 when 
compared to the national and regional average.  In 2018-19, 18% of adults across 
Gwent local authorities reported drinking above the guidelines on at least one 
day in the past week, compared to Caerphilly at 18.6%.    

 
7.6 Within the context of promoting the four licensing objectives, the Licensing 

Authority expects applicants to propose licensing conditions to mitigate the impact 
their premise may have on the health and well-being of their customers, the 
neighbourhood and the wider community. For examples of licensing conditions that 
can promote health and wellbeing reference can be made to Caerphilly County 
Borough Council’s ‘Model Pool of Conditions’. 

 
7.7 In addition, the Licensing Authority expects applicants to consider the impact their 

premise may have on people vulnerable to alcohol misuse, in particular children 
and young people and problematic drinkers.  Commissioned alcohol treatment 
services are set within the communities they serve.  The availability of alcohol in 
near proximity to treatment services can create specific issues for treatment 
providers.  The Licensing Authority expects applicants to consider and mitigate the 
harm by including licensing conditions when their premise is close to the location 
of treatment services, and areas where children and young people may 
congregate, such as schools, youth clubs and parks. 

 

8.  Drugs 
 
8.1 The harms from drug misuse are numerous, and not restricted to health harms.  

Welsh drug death levels were at their highest ever level in 2018-19 with deaths 
from drug poisoning having increased by 78% over the last 10 years.  Drug deaths 
appear to be increasingly occurring in people using drugs on a recreational basis.   

 
8.2 The UK’s drug market is rapidly evolving, with common street drugs continuing to 

increase in strength and purity, and an ever-widening array of substances in 
circulation.  Licensing has a role in reducing the harms from drug misuse in the 
Night Time Economy and our licensed premises. 

 
8.3 Where there are issues of concern the Licensing Authority will expect to see 

evidence that a drug policy has been implemented and reviewed. 
 
8.4  Within the context of promoting the licensing objectives for preventing crime and 

disorder and ensuring public safety, the Licensing Authority expects applicants and 
licensees to: 

                                            
3 National Survey for Wales, 2019 

Page 352



12 

 

 

 Take all reasonable steps to prevent the entry of drugs into licensed premises 

 Take all reasonable steps to prevent drugs changing hands within the premises 

 Train staff to recognise understand the signs of drug misuse in people so that 
 practical steps can be taken to deal with instances that occur 

 Have appropriately trained staff to deal with drug related incidents 

 Display appropriate drug safety awareness information to customers 

 Provide a first aid room and first aid equipment, including a defibrillator in larger 
venues 

 Deploy staff trained to assist with medical incidents 

 Implement an appropriate banning policy 
 
8.5 At the request of Gwent Police, licensed premises would be required to seize, retain 

and document any drugs found, with a clear audit trail and a process for surrender 
in compliance with Gwent Police written policy. Furthermore, in the interest of Crime 
and Disorder, Gwent Police would also require licensed premises to allow the use 
of the ION Track machine on their premises to assist with identifying the areas 
where illegal drugs may be used at the venue. 

 
8.6 The Licensing Authority recognises that drug misuse is not something that is 

relevant to all licensed premises. However, it is committed to the reduction and 
eradication where possible of drugs from licensed premises as part of its role in 
promoting the crime and disorder licensing objective. The licensing authority 
expects all licence holders to actively support this aim in the way that they plan, 
manage and operate premises. 

 
8.7 If relevant representations are received to an application for grant or variation of a 

licence special conditions may be imposed to support the prevention of the illegal 
supply or use of controlled drugs.  Advice on conditions will be sought from the 
police or any other relevant organisation involved in the control of controlled drugs 
or the support and/or treatment of drug users. 

 
8.8 In premises where drug misuse is problematic and where any responsible authority 

or other person apply for a review of the licence, the licensing authority will consider 
this as being very serious and will give appropriate consideration to the full range 
of options available, including suspension and revocation of the licence in 
accordance with the statutory guidance issued by the secretary of state.  The 
licensing authority recognises that each case is individual and will be decided on 
its own facts and specific merits. 

 

9.  Licensing Objectives 
 
9.1 The Licensing Authority has a duty under the Act to carry out its functions with a 

view to promoting the licensing objectives.  The licensing objectives (of which each 
one is of equal importance) are: 

 

 The prevention of crime and disorder; 

Page 353



13 

 

 Public safety; 

 The prevention of public nuisance; 

 The protection of children from harm. 
 
9.2 It is recognised that the licensing function is not the primary method of securing the 

delivery of these objectives.  The Licensing Authority will therefore continue to work 
in partnership with its neighbouring authorities, the Police, Health Board, 
Immigration, Community Safety Partnership, local businesses, licensees and local 
people towards the promotion of the objectives. 

   

10. Prevention of crime and disorder 
 
10.1 Licensed premises, especially those offering late night/early morning 

entertainment, alcohol and refreshment for large numbers of people, can be a 
source of crime and disorder problems. 

 
10.2 The Licensing Authority will expect operating schedules (see section 27) to 

satisfactorily address these issues from the design of the premises through to the 
day-to-day operation of the business. Details of the factors that will need to be 
considered as part of the operating schedules are given in the Licensing Policies 
and matters for consideration when deciding applications, which are attached in 
the annex to this policy and in the Guidance notes for applicants. 

   
10.3 Applicants are recommended to seek advice from the Licensing Authority’s 

licensing officers and the police, as well as taking into account, as appropriate, 
local planning and transport policies, tourism, cultural and crime prevention 
strategies, when preparing their plans and operating schedules. 

 
10.4 The Licensee/applicant should also use their own experience and knowledge of 

their customers and locations when drafting their operating schedule, which 
subsequently becomes the basis of conditions on the licence.  Failure to do this 
may lead to a representation from the Authority, a responsible authority or other 
person.  Applicants may wish to consider the following and are advised to refer to 
the Authority’s ‘Model Pool of Conditions’ when considering an application. 

 Is there CCTV, and, if so what are the areas covered, does it have the ability to 
see clear full face recording of patrons entering, does it record the patron search 
area at the entrance.  What is the retention period of recordings, how easy it to 
access, produce copies or download images if requested by Police and 
Licensing. 

 Are Security Industry Authority (SIA) door staff employed and what checks are 
made to the validity of the SIA licence? What records are kept of SIA checks, 
search policy, entrance policy, restriction of patrons using outside areas, such 
as smoking areas, employment times of SIA and their training? 

 Is there ID scanning on entry to the premises?  Will there be ‘No ID No Entry’ 
policy in place? 

 Is there a clear drug and weapon policy? Is there a regular documented training 
of this policy carried out with staff when drugs/weapons are seized or stored. 

Page 354



14 

 

Are areas or surfaces designed to prevent the likelihood of drug use at the 
premises? 

 Has the use of plastic or toughened glass for serving of alcohol been considered, 
will glass bottles be handed over the bar? Are there restrictions of drinks being 
taken outside? 

 Is there a proof of age scheme, do the premises have a challenge 25 policy? 
Are staff trained regularly on this policy and is it documented?  

 
10.5 The Licensing Authority recognises that although Gwent Police and other criminal 

justice services suffer the greatest resource burden from preventable alcohol 
related crime and disorder, the health system is also impacted upon.  Preventable 
alcohol-related attendances and admissions have a negative impact on limited 
NHS resources, staff and other patients.  Physical injury and the psychological 
impacts from violent incidents directly affect the health and wellbeing of individuals, 
their family, friends and work colleagues, our public service staff and licensed 
premise staff who deal with these incidents, and the local community.  Responsible 
Authorities will work together, sharing all available local data, and will use NHS 
sources of data to promote this licensing objective. 

 
10.6 The Authority will endeavour to reduce crime and disorder throughout the County 

in accordance with its statutory duty under s.17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998. 
 
10.7 Caerphilly County Borough Council, through agencies working together and 

sharing information aim to identify and prevent sexual exploitation, modern slavery 
and human trafficking. Licence holders can help as they may become aware or 
come into contact with such victims. This may be in hotels, bars and restaurants, 
late night takeaways, off licences or other licensed premises.  Licence holders, and 
staff employed in licensed premises, are in an ideal position to help protect people. 

 
Modern slavery and human trafficking is a crime and a violation of fundamental 
human rights and can take various forms such as slavery, servitude and 
compulsory labour.  The licence holder and staff who work in licensed premises 
should look for and ask themselves the following; 

 Has the person got any physical signs of abuse or neglect? Deprived of food, 
water, sleep, medical care or other life necessities? 

 You see worrying behaviour towards someone. 

 Is the victim in possession of a passport, identification or travel documents? Are 
these documents in possession of someone else? 

 Does the victim act as if they were instructed or coached by someone else? Do 
they allow others to speak when spoken directly? 

 Was the victim recruited for one purpose and forced to engage in some other 
job? Was their transport paid for by facilitators, whom they must pay back 
through providing services? 

 Does the victim receive little or no payment for their work? Is someone else in 
control of their earnings? 

 Was the victim forced to perform sexual acts? 

 Does the victim have freedom of movement? Can they freely contact friends and 
family? Do they have limited social interaction? 

Page 355



15 

 

 Has the victim or family been threatened with harm if the victim attempts to 
escape? 

 Is the victim bonded by debt, or in a situation of dependence? 
 

If there are concerns the licence holder are to report the matter to Modern Day 
Slavery helpline on 08000 121 700 or visit the website  or can report to Licensing 
on 01443 866750 or e-mail licensing@caerphilly.gov.uk. If someone is in 
immediate danger to call the Police on 999.   

 
 In addition, all staff who are employed in the UK must have the right to work in the 

UK.  Employing someone illegally without carrying out the prescribed checks can 
lead to robust sanctions against the licence holder.  

 

11. Prevention of public nuisance 
   
11.1 Licensed premises have significant potential to impact adversely on persons living 

and working (including those carrying on business) in the area around the 
premises, and also further afield through public nuisances that arise from their 
operation. It is therefore important that in considering the promotion of this licensing 
objective, Licensing Authorities and Responsible Authorities focus on the effect of 
the licensable activities at the specific premises on these parties which may be 
disproportionate and unreasonable. 

 
11.2 The definition of what may be considered as a potential or actual ‘public nuisance’ 

is to be interpreted in line with its broad common law meaning established through 
relevant case law. This is the interpretation which the Licensing Authority will apply 
when considering such matters. Matters giving rise to ‘public nuisance’ are mainly 
accepted to include issues relating to noise, light pollution, odour and litter. It may 
also arise as a result of the adverse effects of dust, insects, accumulations or any 
other matter which is determined to have an adverse impact on the living and 
working environment of other persons living and working in the area of the licenced 
premises.   

 
11.3 The Licensing Authority recognises that limiting the public nuisance that may be 

associated with licensed premises and their operation is an important factor for 
health and well-being. 

The Licensing Authority recognises the key links to health and well-being from public 
nuisance in terms of disturbed sleep, stress caused by nuisance and pollution. 
Disturbed sleep and stress can add to residents’ mental and physical health issues, 
and their wider wellbeing. Lack of sleep can have an impact on the immune system 
and can contribute to heart disease and diabetes.  Lack of sleep can also contribute 
to anxiety and depression. Stress can contribute to anxiety and depression, and 
cardio-vascular diseases. 

Applicants should consider the potential impact their premise may have on public 
nuisance particularly from noise and put in place mitigating measures.  

 

Page 356

https://www.modernslaveryhelpline.org/report
https://www.modernslaveryhelpline.org/report
mailto:licensing@caerphilly.gov.uk


16 

 

11.4 The Licensing Authority expects applicants for premises licences and club 
premises certificates to have made relevant enquiries and considerations about 
the local area before submitting their application. The purpose of this is to enable 
the applicant to consider the most appropriate controls for potential inclusion in the 
operating schedule with a view to ensuring their activities do not undermine the 
licensing objective with regard to the prevention of public nuisance. It is important 
to recognise that the impacts of licensed activity are not contained within a building. 
Inevitably there is a wider impact as people travel to and from the premises or 
congregate outside whilst it is in operation. Nuisance is best managed by careful 
consideration of the suitability of the selected site and any necessary mitigation at 
an early stage. 

 
11.5 Applicants will be encouraged to demonstrate in their Operating Schedule that 

suitable and sufficient measures have been identified and will be implemented and 
maintained to prevent public nuisance. When a suitable site is identified, operating 
schedules should be prepared on the basis of a risk assessment of the potential 
sources of nuisance posed by the premises operation to those who may be 
impacted by their activities. The operating schedule should demonstrate an 
understanding of the level of risk of nuisance and include positive measures to 
manage any potential risks. 

   
11.6 The Licensing Authority recommends that licensees apply a high standard of 

control to minimise the potential for any public nuisance that may arise from their 
operation of the premises, particularly where: 

• they are situated in a residential or noise sensitive area; or 
• extended opening hours are proposed. 
 
11.7 The Licensing Authority recognises that beyond the immediate area surrounding 

the licensed premises the control that a licence-holder can exert over its patrons 
diminishes and individuals who engage in anti-social behaviour are accountable in 
their own right. However, applicants are encouraged to consider the actions they 
may take as a responsible licence-holder to mitigate the potential adverse impact 
of patrons. The operating schedule should again be used to demonstrate an 
understanding of the potential risks and the positive measures that may be 
implemented to manage such issues. 

 
11.8 Applicants are encouraged to engage with the Licensing Authority and other 

relevant Responsible Authorities (such as Environmental Health) at an early stage 
and prior to the submission of an application, wherever reasonably practicable. 
These Authorities will be able to provide advice in respect of appropriate control 
measures that may be put in place, and included in the operating schedule, to 
mitigate the potential risks of public nuisance occurring. 

 
11.9 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015, Noise & Soundscape 

Management.  
 

The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (hereinafter referred to as 
the WFG Act 2015) places a duty on Local Authorities including the Licensing 
Authority to embody sustainable development principles aimed at achieving seven 

Page 357



17 

 

prescribed well-being goals as part of its fundamental operation; this includes the 
delivery of its Licensing function. One of the cornerstone areas of consideration is 
the management of noise and its impact on health and well-being.  

 
11.10 The Statutory Licensing guidance issued under Section 182 of the Licensing Act 

2003 does not currently provide any reference to how operationally Licensing 
Authorities are to have regard to the requirements of the WFG Act 2015 specifically 
as it may relate to the promotion of the Licensing Objective, the Prevention of Public 
Nuisance. It is clear however in the Welsh Government’s ‘Noise and Soundscape 
Action Plan 2018-2023’ that there is recognition of the impact of noise.  The 
Licensing Authority will have regard to this action plan when determining 
applications (please refer to section 17 Integrating strategies below). 

 

12.  Public safety 
   
12.1 The Council is committed to ensuring that the safety of any person visiting or 

working in licensed premises is not compromised.  Applicants will be expected to 
demonstrate in their Operating Schedule that suitable and sufficient measures 
have been identified and will be implemented and maintained to ensure public 
safety, relevant to the individual style and characteristics of their premises and 
events.  Applicants are advised to seek advice from various organisations, such as 
the Caerphilly CBC health and safety enforcement officers, South Wales Fire and 
Rescue Service etc., before preparing their plans and schedules, particularly where 
regulated entertainment is to be provided. 

 
12.2 The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 introduced a requirement that any 

person responsible for the management of a premises must make a suitable and 
sufficient assessment of the risks, to which persons may be exposed for the 
purpose of identifying the general fire precautions, which need to be taken.  
Therefore no conditions may be imposed on an authorisation where it directly 
relates to fire safety. It is expected therefore that authorisation holders will conduct 
a thorough risk assessment which is regularly reviewed and updated.  The risk 
assessment should be retained at the premises and be available upon request by 
any authorised officer of the Council. 

   
12.3 Where an applicant identifies an issue with regard to public safety, which is not 

covered by existing legislation, the applicant should indicate in the operating 
schedule the steps which will be taken to ensure public safety.   

 
Depending on the individual style and characteristics of the premises and/or 

events, the following issues may be relevant: 

 The number of people attending the premises/safe capacity levels, (factors may 
include access and egress, flow around premises, comfort levels, seating 
provisions, dance areas, accessibility to bars, etc); 

 The age, condition, design and layout of the premises, including the means of 
escape in case of an emergency; 

Page 358



18 

 

 The nature of the activities to be provided, in particular the sale or supply of 
alcohol and/or the provision of music and dancing and including whether those 
activities are of a temporary or permanent nature; 

 The hours of operation, differentiating between the hours of opening from the 
hours when the licensable activities will be provided; 

 Customer profile (e.g. age, disability etc.); 

 The use of special effects such as lasers, pyrotechnics, smoke machines, foam 
machines etc. 

 Electrics and heating as part of the risk assessment. 
   
12.4 The following examples of control measures are considered to be important and 

should be taken into account by applicants in their Operating Schedule, having 
regard to the particular type of premises and/or activities - 

 Suitable and sufficient risk assessments; 

 Effective and responsible management of premises; 

 Provision of a sufficient number of people employed or engaged to secure the 
safety of everyone attending the premises or event; 

 Appropriate instruction, training and supervision of those employed or engaged 
to secure the safety of everyone attending the premises; 

 Adoption of best practice guidance (Assistance can be obtained by contacting 
such Environmental Health, Fire Safety and HSE). 

 Provision of effective CCTV in and around premises; 

 Implementation of crowd management measures; 

 Regular testing (and certification where appropriate) of procedures, appliances, 
systems etc. pertinent to safety. 

 Appropriate First Aid facilities and staff training on when to administer/ not 
administer First Aid. 

 
12.5 The authority recommends that specialists, e.g. qualified safety officer, should be 

consulted to assist with an assessment of public safety issues, (excluding fire 
safety as such a risk assessment is a mandatory requirement). 

 
12.6 Heddlu Gwent Police promotes the use of polycarbonate drinking vessels to reduce 

injuries caused either deliberately or accidentally from glass drinking vessels.  The 
Council supports this initiative and would advise any applicant or authorisation 
holder that toughened glass often lose their tempering through repeated use, and 
should consider the introduction of solely polycarbonate or plastic drinking vessels. 
Where premises are associated with crime and disorder, the Council may also 
advocate that open glass bottles for consumption on the premises should not be 
permitted and that contents are decanted before serving to customers, the purpose 
being to reduce any incidents where bottles may be used as weapons. 

 
12.7  The Licensing Authority recognises that there are links between public safety and 

health, for example injuries suffered in licensed premises that need medical 
treatment.  Falls are a contributor to alcohol related hospital attendances and 
admissions. 

 

Page 359



19 

 

Considering and noting issues relating to public safety in responses to a licensing 
application can be an effective way of addressing these issues through conditions 
being placed on a licence, or, in more extreme cases a licence not being granted.  
The Health Board, as a Responsible Authority, may be able to provide evidence of 
prevalence, costs and impacts of public safety issues as appropriate. 

 

13.  Protection of children from harm 
   
13.1  Nothing in this statement of policy shall limit or require access of children to 

premises unless there is an overriding requirement of necessity to prevent harm to 
children.  Areas that will give rise to particular concern are highlighted elsewhere 
in this policy. 

 
13.2  With the exception of the restrictions specified in Section 145, the 2003 Act does 

not prohibit children from having free access to any licensed premises.  However, 
the Licensing Authority recognises that limitations may have to be considered 
where it appears necessary to protect children from harm. 

 
13.3  The Licensing Authority will not impose any condition that specifically requires 

access for children to be provided at any premises.  Where no restriction or 
limitation is imposed the issue of access will remain a matter for the discretion of 
the individual premises or club. 

 
13.4  The 2003 Act details a number of offences designed to protect children in licensed 

premises and the Licensing Authority will work closely with the police and trading 
standards to ensure the appropriate enforcement of the law, especially relating to 
the sale and supply of alcohol to children. 

   
13.5  Officers from Child Protection, Trading Standards and Local Health Board will be 

consulted on issues relating to protecting children from harm. 
 
13.6  Safeguarding children is everyone’s responsibility. Child sexual exploitation is a 

crime that can affect any child, anytime, anywhere – regardless of their social or 
ethnic background. Child sexual exploitation involves perpetrators grooming 
youngsters and using their powers and it can take many forms, whether it occurs 
through a seemingly ‘consensual’ relationship with an older partner, having sex in 
return for attention, gifts, money, alcohol and cigarettes. Violence, coercion and 
intimidation are common forms of exploitation, with some vulnerable children being 
given drugs or made to sell drugs and/or are forced to be part of county lines 
network.  

 
  Hotels, bars and restaurants, late night takeaways, off licences or other licensed 

premises may come into contact with such children. This Authority encourages 
those premises to look out for signs of possible exploitation.  Licence holders and 
staff should look for and ask themselves the following - 

 Does a child appear to be in a relationship with an older person? 

 Does the child appear to be under the influence of alcohol or drugs? 

Page 360



20 

 

 Is the hotel booking done by an adult, who is trying to conceal they are with a 
young person? 

 Numerous adults and young people coming to a hotel who do not appear to have 
a reason for being there, or high levels of visitors to a guest room. With guests 
moving in and out of the premises at unusual times. 

 Guests arriving and asking for specific rooms number without knowing the name 
of the person the room is booked under. 

  

  For safeguarding children the Council do not support contactless check in systems 
(virtual reception) whereby no members of staff will have interaction with the 
customers at a hotel.   

 
  If there are concerns the licence holder and staff are to report the matter to 

Caerphilly Information, Advice and Assistance Service on 0808 100 1727 or via 
Caerphilly Information, Advice and Assistance Service.  

 
  If someone is in immediate danger to call the Police on 999. 
 
13.7  The Licensing Authority recognise that compared to adults, children and young 

people are at higher risk of harm in relation to alcohol use and consumption, and 
the health impacts can be higher where they happen.  Children and young people 
are also more vulnerable to certain harms in licensed settings. Furthermore, earlier 
take up of regular drinking increases lifetime risks of alcohol-related harms. 

 
  Children and young people have multiple vulnerabilities related to the impact that 

alcohol can have on their health and development.  They have higher levels of 
vulnerability and risk associated with being on licensed premises that need to be 
considered and appropriately addressed in licensing policies, practices and 
processes.  A significant impact from a child or young person suffering illness, injury 
or dependence as a result of access to alcohol and licensed premises is likely to fall 
to the Health Board.  

  The Licensing Authority also recognise the serious impact of parental alcohol 
misuse on children at every age, and the long-term consequences (i.e. adverse 
childhood experiences). There is potential for lower levels of harmful parental 
alcohol consumption having a beneficial impact on reducing childhood adversity in 
the home environment (e.g. reductions in violence, in particular domestic abuse). 

13.8  Evidence demonstrates that young people are more vulnerable than adults to the 
adverse effects of alcohol due to a range of physical and psycho-social factors.  As 
such, initiatives to prevent the sale and supply of alcohol to children are supported. 

 
13.9 The Authority expects age verification measures to be operated by licensed 

premises involved in the sale and supply of alcohol to ensure the licensing objective 
for the protection of children is met. 

 
 To support the age-verification process the Authority strongly recommended that 

premises have the following measures in place to ensure age verification for sales 
– 

Page 361

mailto:contactandreferral@caerphilly.gov.uk


21 

 

 

 That ‘Challenge 25’ is supported as part of the age verification scheme 
established.  The scheme should require the production of evidence of age from 
any person appearing to staff engaged in selling or supplying alcohol to be under 
the age of 25 and who is attempting to buy alcohol. 

 That evidence of the scheme (in the form of documented procedures) is 
maintained and made available for inspection by authorised officers. 

 That all staff involved in the sale of alcohol shall be trained in age verification 
schemes and proxy sales, where a person attempts to buy alcohol for a person 
under 18.  Records of such training shall be retained on the premises and made 
available for inspection by authorised officers. 

 That an incident log be maintained, and details of all age-related refusals 
recorded.  This book shall be reviewed monthly by the DPS and actions taken 
recorded in the book and signed off by the DPS.  The log shall be retained on the 
premises and made available for inspection by authorised officers. 

 That a personal licence holder shall be on the premises at all times that alcohol 
is supplied. 

 That the DPS shall ensure that, as far as is reasonably practical, alcohol is 
displayed in an area which can be constantly monitored or supervised by staff, 
separate from goods likely to be purchased by persons under 18. 

  

14. Rights of representations 
 
14.1  The Licensing Authority will expect applicants to address the licensing objectives 

in their operating schedule having regard to the type of premises, the licensable 
activities to be provided, the operational procedures, the nature of the location and 
the needs of the local community. In this way, those with a right to make 
representations or objections are able to fully assess the factors that may affect 
them. 

 
14.2 Relevant representations may be made by a responsible authority, other persons 

or organisations representing them, but they should state whether they are making 
a representation on their own behalf or on behalf of another person. 

  
14.3 Amendments to the Act has inserted the term ‘other person’ to replace ‘interested 

party’ as someone who can make representations, it also removed the vicinity test 
for residents and the specific term of councillor.  This opens up the range of 
persons who may make representation and includes for example the following:- 

 

 Residents living near the premises 

 Persons with an interest in the premises or locality 

 Local councillors 

 Businesses with an interest in the premises or locality. 

 Organisations with an interest in the locality, premises or licensable activities. 
 

Page 362



22 

 

  The Council will have to decide if the representation is relevant and/or reasonable, 
and in making that assessment will assess the person or organisation making the 
representation and their relationship to the premises and or vicinity. 

   
14.4 Relevant representations will be taken as those that relate to the fundamental 

principles of the Licensing Act, any organisation or individual wishing to object to 
any application will therefore need to state whether they are doing so on the 
grounds of: 

  

 The prevention of crime and disorder; 

 Public safety; 

 The prevention of public nuisance; 

 The protection of children from harm. 
 
14.5 Unreasonable, frivolous and vexatious representations will be disregarded. 

Representations that have been made and considered elsewhere, for example as 
an objection to a planning application, may also be disregarded where 
consideration of such representations would be duplication. 

 
14.6 Petitions may be accepted if the Authority believes all those that signed the petition 

understood the implications of what they were signing.  Please refer to 28.24 below 
for further guidance. 

 

15.  Responsible authorities 
   
15.1 The Licensing Act 2003 as amended specifies who is responsible authorities that 

may make representations on applications or apply for the review of a premises 
licence or club premises certificate,  and they are: 

 

 The Chief Officer of Police 

 The Fire Authority 

 The enforcing authority for Health and Safety at Work 

 The local planning authority 

 The local authority responsible for minimising or preventing the risk of pollution 
of the environment or of harm to human health 

 The local weights and measures authority 

 The Director of Social Services and the body representing matters relating to 
the protection of children from harm, currently the Local 

 Safeguarding Children Board 

 In relation to a vessel, a navigation authority, the Environment Agency, or the 
British Waterways Board 

 The Local Health Board (Aneurin Bevan University Health Board) 

 The Licensing Authority (The Council) 

 Immigration (Home Office Immigration Enforcement) 
 

Page 363



23 

 

16.  Other persons 
 
16.1  Changes to the Licensing Act 2003 by virtue of the Police Reform and Social 

Responsibility Act 2011 have now removed the test of “vicinity” from the 2003 Act 
and as a consequence, the categories of “interested party” no longer exist.  

 
16.2  Therefore, any person is able to make representations in relation to certain types 

of applications as an “Other Person” However; all representations must relate to 
the licensing objectives and may not be frivolous or vexatious.  

 
 

17. Integrating strategies 
 
17.1 The Secretary of State’s Guidance to the Licensing Act 2003 states that the 

Licensing Authority should outline how it will secure proper integration between its 
licensing policy with policies and strategies concerned with local crime prevention, 
planning, transport, tourism, equality schemes, cultural strategies and any other 
policy or plan introduced for the management of town centres and night time 
economies. The Licensing Authority agrees that such co-ordination and integration 
is crucial to achieve the Council’s aims for a safe and vibrant night time economy.  
Other pieces of legislation may impact directly or indirectly on the licensing regime.  
The Licensing Authority must have regard to the following when it discharges its 
responsibilities under the Licensing Act 2003 an in relation to the promotion of the 
four licensing objectives: 

 
Crime and Disorder Act 1998 

 
This Act requires local authorities and other bodies to consider crime and disorder 
reduction.  Section 17 of the Act states that it shall be the duty of each authority, to 
exercise its various functions with due regard to the likely effect the exercise of 
those functions on, and the need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent, crime 
and disorder in its area (including anti-social and other behaviour adversely 
affecting the local environment).  This links specifically with the licensing objective 
of prevention of crime and disorder and the licensing authority will take into account 
all reasonable measures that actively promote this licensing objective. 

 
The Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 

 
This Act gives a wide range of powers to local authorities and the police to tackle 
incidents of crime, disorder and nuisance that may be impacting on residents.  The 
Act introduced public spaces protection orders, which allows the local authority to 
designate areas where anti-social behaviour such as street drinking will be 
prohibited.  The Act also gives powers to the local authority and police to close 
licensed premises where nuisance and anti-social behaviour is taking place.  This 
Act therefore clearly supports and actively promotes the licensing objectives 
contained within the Licensing Act 2003. 

 
 
 

Page 364



24 

 

Immigration Act 2016 
 

Section 36 and Schedule 4 of the Immigration Act 2016 amended the Licensing 
Act 2003 and made Home Office Immigration Enforcement a Responsible Authority 
concerned with the licensing objective of prevention of crime and disorder. They 
will exercise their power both in respect of being a consultee on new licence 
applications and having right of entry to licensed premises with a view to seeing 
whether an offence under any of the Immigration Acts is being committed on a 
licensed premises.  This will primarily involve the detection and prevention of illegal 
working on premises that have an alcohol licence or a late night refreshment 
licence. The offence of employing people at licensed premises who have no right 
to work in the UK is also now listed in the Secretary of State’s guidance under 
Section 11.27 which covers criminal activity deemed to be particularly serious and 
where a licensing authority should consider revoking a premises licence even in 
the first instance.  This Act clearly supports and actively promotes the licensing 
objective of preventing crime and disorder and the licensing authority will work with 
colleagues in the Immigration service and Gwent Police to enforce this. 

 
` Human Rights Act 1998 
 

The Council has a duty under the European Convention on Human Rights to 
protect both the rights of resident to privacy and family life (Article 8), and the rights 
of a licence holder to operate their business without undue interference (Article 1 
of the First Protocol). This promotes the need for the licensing authority to reach a 
balance between these two principles when making decisions. 

 
Equality Act 2010 

 
The Act places a legal obligation on public authorities to have regard to the need 
to eliminate unlawful discrimination, to advance equality of opportunity and to foster 
good relations between persons who shared a protected characteristic and those 
that do not. Protected characteristics include age, disability, race, religion and 
sexual orientation. When making a decision, the licensing authority will have regard 
to this due to the goal of ensuring that the night time economy is safe and 
accessible to all. Other legislation that the Licensing Authority will consider - 

 
Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

 
This Act requires Local Authorities in Wales to think about the long-term impact of 
their decisions, to work better with people, communities and each other, and to 
prevent persistent problems, such as poverty, health inequalities and climate 
change. The Act clearly supports and actively promotes the licensing objectives. 
This Act links specifically to the prevention of crime and disorder and public 
nuisance. It recognises that there is a need to create appropriate soundscapes – 
the right acoustic environment in the right time and place. The Local Authority will 
consider the management of noise and soundscapes and in particular the five ways 
of working contained under this Act namely, i) Long term – the importance of 
balancing short-term needs with the needs to safeguard the ability to also meet 
long-term needs, ii) Integration, iii) Involvement, iv) Collaboration and v) 

Page 365



25 

 

Prevention. Welsh Government has produced a ‘Noise and Soundscape Action 
Plan for 2018-2023’  

 
The Licensing Authority will also have cognisance to the following legislation when 
it decides to discharge its responsibilities under the Licensing Act. This list is not 
exhaustive:- 

 Environmental Protection Act 1990 which deals with noise and nuisance 

 Regulatory Reform Order 2005 which deals with fire safety 

 Highways Act 1980 which deals with pavement café licences. 
   
17.2  The Licensing Authority will as far as possible seek to avoid duplication with other 

regulatory regimes when dealing with the licensing function. If other existing law 
already places certain statutory responsibilities on an employer or operator of 
premises, it cannot be appropriate or proportionate to impose the same or similar 
duties on the premises licence holder or club. Once the discretion of the Licensing 
Authority is engaged, it is only where additional and supplementary measures are 
appropriate to promote the licensing objectives that appropriate and proportionate 
conditions will be attached to a licence. 

 
17.3  Other Local Authority and Government policies, strategies, responsibilities, and 

guidance documents may also refer to the licensing function, and the Licensing 
Authority may liaise with the relevant authorities or its directorates with regard to 
these. Whilst some of these may not be directly related to the promotion of the four 
licensing objectives, they can indirectly impact upon them.   

 
17.4  It is the Local Authority’s intention that it will, through its Licensing Committee 

monitor how these matters, set above, impact on the Authority’s licensing and other 
functions, in order that it may seek to co-ordinate and integrate its licensing function 
with other relevant strategies. 

 
17.5  In respect of cultural strategies the Licensing Authority will, for example through 

periodic consultation with local Leisure and Destination & Events officers, consider 
whether the provision of live music and cultural activities and entertainments are 
being deterred by local licensing requirements. Where there is any indication that 
this is the case, the Licensing Authority may consider investigating how the 
situation might be reversed, and may if necessary in the light of such investigations 
consider a revision to the Statement of Licensing Policy. 

 
 Relationship with Planning Process 
 
17.6  Applications for premises licences for permanent commercial premises should 

normally be from businesses with planning consent for the property concerned. 
However, applications for licences may be made before any relevant planning 
permission has been sought or granted by the Local Planning Authority. 

   
17.7  It is strongly recommended that prospective licence applicants contact the Local 

Planning Authority in advance of making a licence application in order to check, or 
seek advice on, any planning consents or any conditions relevant to the use of the 

Page 366

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/noise-and-soundscape-action-plan.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/noise-and-soundscape-action-plan.pdf


26 

 

premises. It clearly makes operational sense to ensure that planning and licensing 
are compatible. 

 
17.8  The Licensing Authority wishes to emphasise that the granting by the Licensing & 

Gambling Sub Committee of any variation of a licence which involves a material 
alteration to a building would not relieve the applicant of the need to apply for 
planning permission or building control consent where appropriate. 

 
17.9  The Local Authority will aim to properly separate planning, building control and 

licensing regimes in order to avoid duplication and inefficiency. The Licensing and 
Planning regimes involve consideration of different (albeit related) matters. 

 
17.10 The Licensing Authority will avoid treating licensing applications as a re-run of 

planning applications, and will not normally: 

 cut-across decisions taken by the Local Authority Planning Committee or 
following appeals decisions taken by that Committee; or 

 impose licensing conditions where the same or similar conditions have been 
imposed on a planning consent. 

 
17.11  The Licensing Authority is not bound by decisions made by the Planning 

Committee and vice versa. 
 

17.12 Where, as a condition of planning permission, a terminal hour has been set for the 
use of premises for commercial purposes that is different to the licensing hours, 
the licensee must observe the earlier closing time in order to avoid any breach of 
their planning permission - for which they may be liable to prosecution under 
planning law (and vice versa where the licensing hours finish earlier than the 
planning permission). 

 
 

18. Personal alcohol licence 
 
18.1 The Council recognises it has very little discretion in the granting of a personal 

licence. In general provided an applicant is aged 18 or over, is entitled to work in 
the UK, has an approved qualification, has not had a personal licence forfeited 
within 5 years of this application and does not have relevant criminal convictions 
or civil penalty received after 6 April 2017 for immigration matters, the application 
must be granted. 

 
18.2 Individuals applying for a personal licence must be entitled to work in the UK.  

Licences must not be issued to people who are illegally present in the UK who are 
not permitted to work, or who are permitted to work but are subject to a condition 
that prohibits them from doing work relating the carrying on of a licensable activity.  

 
18.3  Where an applicant’s immigration permission to live and work in the UK is time-

limited, a personal licence may be issued but will become invalid when the 
immigration permission expires.  In the event that the Home Office cuts short or 
ends a person’s immigration permission, any personal licence issued in respect of 
an application made on or after 6 April 2017 will automatically lapse. 

Page 367



27 

 

 
18.4 If an applicant declares that they have been issued with an immigration penalty or 

convicted of an immigration offence or foreign offence comparable to an 
immigration offence, the licensing authority is required to notify the Secretary of 
State for the Home Department (through Home Office Immigration Enforcement). 

   
18.5  If an applicant has a relevant conviction the Police can oppose the application.  If 

an applicant has been issued with an immigration penalty or convicted of a relevant 
immigration offence on or after 6 April 2017, the Home Office may object to the 
application. When an objection is lodged a hearing must be held.  

  
18.6  Applicants with unspent convictions for relevant offence as set out in the 

Regulations made under the Act are encouraged to first discuss their application 
with the Council’s Licensing Officer and/or the Police. 

 
18.7  At a hearing in respect of an objection to the granting of a personal licence, or the 

revocation of an existing licence, the Council will consider carefully whether the 
grant of, or continuation of, the licence will be in the interests of the crime 
prevention objective. It will consider the seriousness and relevance of any 
conviction(s), the period that has elapsed since the offence(s) was/were committed 
and any mitigating circumstances. The Council will only grant the application, if it 
is satisfied that doing so will promote this objective. 

 
18.8  Prevention of crime is both an objective of the Licensing Act 2003 and a 

responsibility of the Council under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998. A person 
holding a personal licence should be a person who is not only properly qualified 
but a person who will assist in the prevention of crime. Granting a licence to a 
person with a relevant criminal record could undermine rather than promote the 
crime prevention objective. 

 
18.9 From 6 April 2017 the Policing and Crime Act 2017 gives licensing authorities the 

power to revoke or suspend personal licences. This is a discretionary power and 
may be undertaken when a licensing authority becomes aware that the licence 
holder has been convicted of a relevant offence or foreign offence or been required 
to pay an immigration penalty on or after 6 April 2017. The decision must be made 
by the Licensing Committee or sub-committee and they may revoke the licence or 
suspend it for a period up to 6 months. 

 

19.  Premises licence 

 
19.1  A premises licence is granted in respect of any premises, other than a private 

members club or similar type premises, authorised for one or more licensable 
activities, such as the supply of alcohol, late night refreshment or regulated 
entertainment. 

 
19.2  There are some exemptions for the requirement of a licence and they include the 

exhibition of films for educational or promotional reasons, films shown as part of 
an exhibition, amplified live and recorded music to audiences of less than 500 

Page 368



28 

 

people between the hours of 8.00 am and 11.00 pm.  Applicants are advised to 
contact the licensing authority on other exemptions for further guidance. 

 
19.3  Where alcohol is supplied, a Designated Premises Supervisor, who must be the 

holder of a personal licence, must be nominated to authorise the sale of alcohol at 
the premises. 

 
19.4  Premises licences are issued to individuals over the age of 18 years who carry on, 

or propose to carry on, a business which involves the use of the premises for 
licensable activities. In addition, charities, health service bodies, educational 
institutions and persons of other prescribed descriptions may apply for a premises 
licence.   

 
19.5  A licence may be issued subject to conditions, which must be complied with at all 

times whilst the premise is being used for licensable activities during the times 
specified in the licence.  Failure to comply with the terms and conditions of a licence 
or if licensable activities are carried out without a premises licence, may result in a 
fine, which is unlimited or a term of imprisonment of up to 6 months, or both. 

   
19.6 Fees for licences are based on the rateable value of a premises and although 

licences are usually issued for an indefinite period, an annual fee is payable. 
 
19.7 It is an expectation that the premises licence holder and designated premises 

supervisor will be aware of their permitted licensable activity types, permitted hours 
and conditions of licence.  Failure to demonstrate or have a lack of regard could 
result in a lack of confidence in management by a Responsible Authority. 

 

20. Club premises certificate 
 
20.1 A qualifying club, industrial and provident society, friendly society and miners 

welfare institute that satisfies the criteria specified in part 4 of the Licensing Act 
2003 may provide licensable activities for its members and guests of a member 
that are authorisation by a club premises certificate (CPC).    

 
20.2 A CPC only authorises the use of a premises for the benefit of its members and 

their guests and cannot be used to provide licensable activities to non-members.  
If the premises are to be used to provide licensable activities for non-members an 
additional authorisation will be required.  This may be a premises licence (PL) or a 
temporary event notice (TEN).   

 
20.3 A premises operating under the authorisation of a CPC enjoy special privileges.  If 

a club premises operate under the authorisation of a PL or TEN the privileges do 
not apply.  The privileges include; restricted rights of entry, no need to have a 
qualified person authorising sales of alcohol.  Other considerations would be 
different taxation rules, advice should be sought from HMRC. 

 
20.4 It is an expectation that the CPC holder will be aware of their permitted licensable 

activity types, permitted hours and conditions of licence. Failure to demonstrate or 

Page 369



29 

 

have a lack of regard could result in a lack of confidence in management by a 
Responsible Authority. 

 

21. Temporary Event Notices 

 
21.1 Temporary Event Notices (TENs) can be used to allow licensable activities to be 

carried out on a one-off or occasional basis. They are the most appropriate type of 
authorisation for small-scale, one-off events, such as community, school and 
charity fundraising events, at which it is intended to: 
• sell or supply alcohol; 
• provide regulated entertainment; or 
• sell hot food/drink between 11 pm and 5 am. 

 
21.2 Unless sent electronically, a TEN must be sent to the relevant licensing authority, 

to the Police and the local authority exercising environmental health functions at 
least ten working days before the event.  A premises user may also give a limited 
number of “Late TENs” to the licensing authority less than 10 working days before 
the event, but certain restrictions apply.  

 
21.3 The Police or authority exercising environmental health functions may intervene to 

restrict the event or prevent the event taking place. They may agree a modification 
of the TEN directly with the TEN user.  When giving a TEN, the premises user 
should consider the promotion of the four licensing objectives. 

 
21.4 There are two types of TEN, a standard TEN and a late TEN.  A standard notice is 

given no later than ten working days before the event to which it relates and a late 
notice is given not before nine and not later than five working days before the event.  
The period excludes the day the notice is received and the first day of the event.  
Late TENs are intended to assist premises users who are required to submit a 
notification at short notice for reasons outside their control. 

 
21.5  The Police and authority exercising environmental health functions have a period 

of three working days from when they are given the notice to object to it on the 
basis on any of the four licensing objectives. 

 
21.6 If an objection notice is received in relation to a standard TEN the licensing 

authority must hold a hearing to consider the objection, unless all parties agree that 
a hearing is unnecessary. 

 
21.7 If an objection notice is received in relation to a late TEN, the notice will not be valid 

and the event will not be permitted to go ahead as there is no scope for a hearing 
or for any existing licence conditions to be applied to the notice. 

 
21.8 A number of limitations are imposed on the use of TENs by the Licensing Act 2003. 

Notice givers are advised to contact the licensing authority for further advice. 
 
21.9 The Licensing Authority recommends that anyone wishing to submit a Temporary 

Event Notice, particularly where this involves the provision of regulated 

Page 370



30 

 

entertainment, gives as much notice to the Authority as possible, to ensure that 
proper advice can be given and any anticipated issues resolved in a planned and 
timely manner.  Whilst notices can legally be submitted with 10 working days or a 
late notice in 5 working days prior to the event taking place, a period of 12 weeks 
is recommended for larger events. 

 
21.10 The Licensing Authority may notify the Council’s Event Safety Advisory Group 

(ESAG) of any Temporary Event Notices involving the provision of regulated 
entertainment.  This Panel brings together the various enforcement bodies that 
may be responsible for enforcement in respect of an event, along with any 
applicants and other organisers, and allows agreement to be reached regarding 
the way that the event will be organised etc.  It is recommended that all applicants 
submitting a Temporary Event Notice go through the Events Panel when drawing 
up their Notice, and the Events Panel will be of particular assistance to charities, 
community and voluntary groups, and other event organisers who may not have 
access to legal advice or technical knowledge. 

 
It is recommended that ESAG is contacted in adequate time to factor in the 
possibility of objections to a licence or temporary event and the hearing timescale.  
As such, it is recommended that ESAG be contacted for events under 500 people, 
24 working days before the event and 68 working days before the event for events 
over 500.  This is recommended where alcohol, regulated entertainment and/or 
late night refreshment is taking place.   

 
21.11 External areas and outdoor events will normally be restricted to 08.00 – 22.00hrs 

unless the applicant can demonstrate the comprehensive control measures have 
been implemented that ensure the promotion of the licensable objectives, in 
particular the public nuisance objective. 

 

22.  Sale and supply of alcohol 
 
22.1 Shops, stores and supermarkets should generally be permitted to sell alcohol for 

consumption off the premises during the normal hours they intend to open for 
shopping purposes.  However, in the case of individual premises, which are known 
to be a focus or cause of disorder and disturbance then, subject to representations 
from the police and other responsible authorities, a limitation on licensing hours 
may be appropriate. 

 
22.2 Licensed premises authorised under the Act for the sale and/or supply of alcohol 

must consider their responsibilities with regard to who they supply with alcoholic 
drinks, in particular: 

 The sale to persons under the age of 18 years 

 The sale to persons who are delivering to persons under the age of 18 years 

 The sale to persons who are drunk 
 
22.3 The Licensing Authority actively encourages that the sale or supply of alcohol 

should terminate at least thirty minutes before the closing time of the premises.  
This provides a suitable ‘wind down’ period and a slower dispersal of customers. 

Page 371



31 

 

 
22.4 The council recommend that any licensed premises that is authorised to sell or 

supply alcohol have a policy that sets out how the sale or supply is controlled and 
must include staff training requirements.   Records should be kept of all training 
provided and any incidents e.g. a refusal to sell and reasons. 

 

23.  Regulated entertainment 
 
23.1 Schedule 1 to the 2003 act sets out what activities are regarded as the provision 

of regulated entertainment and when they are licensable and those activities, which 
are not and therefore exempt from the regulated entertainment regime.  (Applicants 
are strongly advised to review Home Office Section 182 Guidance of the Licensing 
Act 2003 regarding Regulated Entertainment). 

 
The descriptions of entertainment activities licensable under the 2003 Act are: 
 

 A performance of a play; 

 An exhibition of a film; 

 An indoor sporting event; 

 A boxing or wrestling entertainment; 

 A performance of live music; 

 Any playing of recorded music; 

 A performance of dance; and 

 Entertainment of a similar description to a performance of live music, any playing 
of recorded music or performance of dance. 

 
To be licensable, on or more of these activities needs to be provided for the 
purpose (at least partly) of entertaining an audience; has to be held on premises 
made available for the purpose of enabling that activity; and must also either: 

 Take place in the presence of a public audience, or 

 Where that activity takes place in private, be the subject of a charge made with 
a view to profit. 

 
23.2 Public Audience 
 

For the purpose of regulated entertainment, the term “audience” refers to any 
person for whose entertainment (at least in part) any licensable activities are 
provided. An audience member need not be, or want to be, entertained: what 
matters is that an audience is present and that the purpose of the licensable activity 
is (at least in part) intended to entertain any person present.  The audience will not 
include performers, together with any person who contributes technical skills in 
substantial support of a performer (for example, a sound engineer or stage 
technician), during any associated activities. This includes setting up before the 
entertainment, reasonable breaks (including intervals) between activities and 
packing up thereafter. Similarly, security staff and bar workers will not form part of 
the audience while undertaking their duties. 

 

Page 372



32 

 

More than one entertainment activity (or single activity, more than one performance 
or event) can be held concurrently, provided that the audience for each such 
performance or event does not exceed the threshold at which such a performance 
or event does not exceed the threshold at which such a performance or event 
becomes licensable. In some circumstances, there will be a clear distinction 
between performances or events; for example, their taking place in separate rooms 
or on separate floors. However, organisers will have to ensure that audiences do 
not grow or migrate, so that the audience exceeds the relevant limit for any one 
performance or event at any time.  If there is the possibility of audience migration, 
it might be easier and more flexible to secure an appropriate authorisation. 

 
 
23.3 Overview of circumstances in which entertainment activities are not 

licensable 
 

There are a number of exemptions that mean that a licence (or other authorisation) 
under the 2003 is not required.  This Policy cannot give examples of every 
eventuality or possible entertainment activity that is not licensable.  However, the 
following activities are examples of entertainment which are not licensable: 

 

 Activities which involve participation as acts of worship in a religious context; 

 Activities in places of public religious worship; 

 Education – teaching students to perform music or to dance; 

 The demonstration of a product – for example, a guitar – in a music shop; 

 The rehearsal of a play or performance of music for a private audience where 
no charge is made with a view to make a profit; 

 Morris dancing (or similar); 

 Incidental music – the performance of live music or the playing of recorded 
music if it is incidental to some other activity; 

 A spontaneous performance of music, singing or dancing; 

 Garden fetes – or similar if not being promoted or held for purposes of private 
gain; 

 Films for advertisement, information, education or in museums or art galleries; 

 Television or radio broadcasts – as long as the programme is live and 
simultaneous; 

 Vehicles in motion – at a time when the vehicle is not permanently or temporarily 
parked; 

 Games played in pubs, youth clubs etc. (e.g. pool, darts and table tennis); 

 Stand-up comedy; and  

 Provision of entertainment facilities (e.g. dance floors) 
 
23.4 Deregulatory changes where a licence is not required 
 

As a result of deregulatory changes that have amended the 2003 Act, no licence 
is required for the following activities: 

 

 Plays: no licence is required for performances between 08.00 and 23.00 on any 
day, if the audience do not exceed 500. 

Page 373



33 

 

 Dance: no licence is required for performances between 08.00 and 23.00 on 
any day, if the audience do not exceed 500. 

 Films: no licence is required for ‘not-for-profit’ film exhibition held in community 
premises between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, provided that the audience does 
not exceed 500 and the organiser (a) gets the consent to the screening from a 
person who is responsible for the premises and (b) ensures that such screening 
abides by age classification ratings. 

 Indoor sporting events: no licence is required for an event between 08.00 and 
23.00 on any day, if the audience do not exceed 1000. 

 Boxing or wrestling entertainment: no licence is required for a contest 
exhibition or display of Greco-Roman wrestling, or freestyle between 08.00 and 
23.00 on any day, if the audience do not exceed 1000. 

 Live unamplified music: No licence is required for a performance of 
unamplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, on any premises. 

- Live amplified music: No licence is required for a performance of amplified live 
music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day on premises authorised to sell 
alcohol for consumption on the premises, if the audience do not exceed 500.  In 
a workplace that does not have a licence, if the audience do not exceed 500.  In 
a church hall, village hall, community hall, or other similar community premises, 
that is not licensed by a premises licence to sell alcohol, provided that (a) the 
audience does not exceed 500, and (b) the organiser gets consent for the 
performance on the relevant premises from (i) the local authority concerned, or 
(ii) the school or (iii) the health care provider for the hospital. 

 Recorded music: No licence is required for any playing of recorded music 
between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day 

- On premises authorised to sell alcohol for consumption on the premises, if the 
audience do not exceed 500. 

- In a church hall, village hall, community hall, or other similar community 
premises, that is not licensed by a premises licence to sell alcohol, provided that 
(a) the audience does not exceed 500, and (b) the organiser gets consent for 
the performance from a person who is responsible for the premises. 

- At the non-residential premises of (i) a local authority, or (ii) a school, or (iii) a 
hospital, provided that (a) the audience do not exceed 500, and (b) the organiser 
gets consent for the performance on the relevant premises from: (i) the local 
authority concerned, or (ii) the school proprietor or (iii) the health care provider 
for the hospital. 

 Cross Activity Exemptions: No licence is required between 08.00 and 23.00 
on any day, with no limit on audience size for: 

- Any entertainment taking place on the premises of the local authority where the 
entertainment is provided by or on behalf of the local authority; 

- Any entertainment taking place on the hospital premises of the health care 
provider where the entertainment is provided by or on behalf of the health care 
provider. 

- Any entertainment taking place on the premises of the school were the 
entertainment is provided by or on behalf of the school and 

- Any entertainment (excluding films and a boxing or wrestling entertainment) 
taking place at a travelling circus, provided that (a) it takes place within a 
moveable structure that accommodates the audience, and (b) that the travelling 
circus has not been located on the same site for more than 28 consecutive days. 

Page 374



34 

 

 
If organisers are uncertain as to audience size or if audience migration is likely, it 
might be easier and more flexible to secure an appropriate authorisation. 

 
Examples of where a Temporary Event Notice (TEN) could still be required include 
if the activity is the playing of recorded music or the exhibition of a film that required 
an authorisation; or if the entertainment is not authorised by an existing licence or 
certificate and its conditions. 

 
Of course, anyone involved in the organisation or provision of entertainment 
activities – whether or not any such activity is licensable under the 2003 Act – must 
comply with any applicable duties that may be imposed by other legislation relevant 
to the event (e.g. in areas such as crime and disorder, fire, health and safety, noise, 
nuisance and planning).  Any such person should take steps to be aware of 
relevant best practice, and may find responsible authorities a useful source of 
expert support and advice. 

 
23.5 Circumstances in which entertainment activities are no longer licensable 
 

Local Authorities, hospital healthcare providers and school proprietors: 
cross entertainment activity exemption 
No licence is required for any entertainment provided by or on behalf of a local 
authority, health care provider, or school proprietor to the extent that it takes place 
on defined premises, between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day provided that: 

 For entertainment provided by, or on behalf of, a local authority it takes place on 
premises in which that authority has relevant property interest, or is in lawful 
occupation. 

 For entertainment provided by, or on behalf of, a health care provider, providing 
it takes place on any premises forming part of a hospital in which the provider 
has a relevant property interest, or is in lawful occupation; and 

 For entertainment provided by, or on behalf of, a school proprietor it takes place 
on the premises of the school. 

 
The policy cannot give examples of every eventuality where entertainment is not 
licensable under this exemption through being provided “by or on behalf of”.  It will 
depend on the facts in each case. 

 
However, the following are examples of activities that are not usually considered 
to be licensable under this exemption: 

 Any entertainment activity hosted by a local authority on their own premises 
where there is a significant relationship between the local authority and the 
provider of the entertainment (e.g. principal and agent); 

 Any entertainment activity organised on a local authority’s behalf on that local 
authority’s premises by a cultural trust in discharge of a local authority’s 
discretionary power to arrange entertainment provision and support for the arts, 
including festivals and celebrations. 

 Any entertainment activity organised by a healthcare provider on their own 
hospital premises in partnership with a hospital charity. 

Page 375



35 

 

 Any entertainment event on school premises organised by the Parent Teacher 
Association (PTA) to benefit the school. 

 
It is for the local authority, health care provider or school proprietor to determine 
whether, and on what basis, they can (or wish) to provide entertainment activity 
under this exemption, including consideration of issues around fundraising, profit 
making, governance or use of public funds.  However a pure hire of premises by a 
third party does not constitute the provision of an entertainment event “on behalf 
of” a local authority, healthcare provider, or school proprietor and nor does 
commercial entertainment which the local authority merely facilitates through 
providing a public space. 

 
All the terms used in this exemption such as “local authority”, “health care”, “health 
care provider”, “hospital”, “school”, “school premises”, “school proprietor”, domestic 
premises” and “relevant property interest” are defined in the 2014 Order.  

 
Local authority, hospital and school premises: third party music 
entertainment 

 
No licence is required for a performance of live music or the playing of recorded 
music on local authority, hospital or school premises, that are not domestic 
premises, between 08.00-23.00 on any day provided that; 

 It is performed in front of an audience of no more than 500 people; and 

 A person concerned in the organisation or management of the music 
entertainment has obtained the prior written consent of the local authority, health 
care provider or school proprietor (as appropriate) for that entertainment to take 
place. It is for these “trusted providers” to determine whether, or not, they wish 
to make their premises available for music entertainment by a 3rd party and on 
what terms they deem it appropriate. 

 
Community premises: music entertainment 

 
No licence is required for a performance of live music or the playing of recorded 
music on community premises, between 08.00-23.00 on any day provided that; 

 The community premises are not authorised, by a premises licence or club 
premises certificate, to be used for the supply of alcohol for consumption on the 
premises;  

  The music entertainment is in the presence of an audience of no more than 500 
people and 

 A person concerned in the organisation or management of the music 
entertainment has obtained the prior written consent of the management 
committee of the premises, or if there is no management committee, a person 
who has control of the premises in connection with the carrying on by that person 
of a trade, business or other undertaking, or failing that a person with a relevant 
property interest in the premises. 

 
 
 
 

Page 376



36 

 

Community premises: exhibition of film 
 

No licence is required for an exhibition of a film on community premises between 
08.00-23.00 on any day providing that  

 The film entertainment is not provided with a view to a profit 

 The film entertainment is in the presence of an audience of no more than 500 
people 

 The admission of children is subject to such restrictions as are necessary to 
comply with the recommendation issued by BBFC or relevant licensing authority 
regarding the admission of children and 

 A person concerned in the organisation or management of the exhibition of the 
film has obtained the prior written consent of the management committee of the 
premises, or if there is no management committee, a person who has control of 
the premises in connection with the carrying on by that person of a trade, 
business or other undertaking, or failing that a person with a relevant property 
interest in the premises 

 
Under this exemption, one condition is that the film entertainment is not being 
provided with a view to profit. An entry charge does not of itself make the film 
entertainment licensable; it is whether the organiser intended to make a profit (that 
includes raising money for charity). A charge or contribution that is made solely to 
cover the costs of the film screening is consistent with ‘not being provided with a 
view to profit’. The ‘not with a view to profit’ condition applies solely to the activity 
of exhibiting the film under this exemption. A charge with a view to making a profit 
may legitimately be levied for any other activity or event that is distinct from film 
admission, such as the provision of refreshments, film talks, or a social event. 

 
This community film exemption is also conditional on those responsible having in 
place operating arrangements that ensure that the age rating for the film is 
implemented by means of a suitable child admission policy. How this is achieved 
is a matter for the organisation or social group exhibiting the film. For example, 
they may operate a membership subscription scheme which pays for entry to all 
titles in a season and is limited to adults. It could be a children’s film club with a 
policy of only showing films that are suitable for all by being rated ‘U’ by the BBFC. 
Alternatively, the organisers could sell tickets to the public and ensure that children 
are only permitted to attend in accordance with any age rating for the film – i.e. a 
door admissions policy linked to proof of age. 

 
Travelling Circuses 

 
Where types of entertainment are present in a performance by a travelling circus 
they will not be licensable provided that certain qualifying conditions are met. The 
qualifying conditions are; 

 The entertainment is not an exhibition of a film or a boxing or wrestling 
entertainment; 

 The entertainment takes place between 08.00hrs and 23.00hrs on the same 
day; 

 The entertainment takes place wholly within a moveable structure and the 
audience present is accommodated wholly inside that moveable structure; and 

Page 377



37 

 

 The travelling circus has not been located on the same site for more than 28 
consecutive days. 

 
Live Music 

 
Live music is licensable - 

 Where a performance of live music – whether amplified or unamplified – takes 
place before 08.00 or after 23.00 on any day; 

 Where a performance of amplified live music does not take place either on 
relevant licensed premises, or at a workplace that is not licensed other than for 
the provision of late night refreshment; 

 Where a performance of  amplified live music takes place at a time when the 
relevant licensed premises are not open for the purposes of being used for the 
sale or supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises; 

 Where a performance of amplified live music takes place at relevant licensed 
premises, or workplaces, in the presence of an audience of more than 500 
people; or  

 Where a licensing authority intentionally removes the effect of the deregulation 
provided for by the 2003 Act when imposing a condition on a premises licence 
or club premises certificate as a result of a licence review. 

 
In any of the above circumstances, unless the performance of live music is 
appropriately authorised by a premises licence, club premises certificate or TEN, 
allowing it to take place could lead to enforcement action and, where relevant, a 
review of the alcohol licence or certificate. 

 
  A public performance of live unamplified music that takes place between 08.00 and 

23.00 on the same day no longer requires a licence under the 2003 Act in any 
location. An exception to this is where a specific condition related to live music is 
included following a review of the premises licence or club premises certificate in 
respect of relevant licensed premises. 

 
Key terms used in relation to live music 

 
Under the live music provisions, “music” includes vocal or instrumental music or 
any combination of the two. “Live music” is a performance of live music in the 
presence of an audience which it is intended to entertain. While a performance of 
live music can include the playing of some recorded music, ‘live’ music requires 
that the performance does not consist entirely of the playing of recorded music 
without any additional (substantial and continual) creative contribution being made.  
So, for example, a drum machine or backing track being used to accompany a 
vocalist or a band would be part of the performance of amplified live music. The 
performance of a DJ who is merely playing tracks would not be classified as live 
music, but it might if he or she was performing a set which largely consisted of 
mixing recorded music in a live performance to create new sounds. There will 
inevitably be a degree of judgement as to whether a performance is live music (or 
recorded music) and organisers of events should check with their licensing 
authority if this consideration is relevant to whether the activity is authorised by a 
licence or certificate. In the event of a dispute about whether a performance is live 

Page 378



38 

 

music or not, it will be for the licensing authority initially and ultimately, for the courts 
to decide in the individual circumstances of any case. 

 
A “workplace” is as defined in regulation 2(1) of the Workplace (Health, Safety and 
Welfare) Regulations 1992 and is anywhere that is made available to any person 
as a place of work. It is a very wide term which can include outdoor spaces, as well 
as the means of entry and exit. 

 
A “relevant licensed premises” for the purposes of this chapter is one which is 
authorised to sell or supply alcohol for consumption on the premises by a premises 
licence or club premises certificate. Premises cannot benefit from the deregulation 
introduced by the 2012 Act by virtue of holding an authorisation for the sale or 
supply of alcohol under a TEN. 

 
Recorded Music 

 
No licence is required for recorded music where it takes place on premises which 
are authorised by a premises licence or club premises certificate to be used for the 
supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises.  However, recorded music 
remains licensable  

 Where the playing of recorded music takes place before 08.00 or after 23.00 on 
any day; 

 Where the playing of recorded music takes place at a time when the relevant 
licensed premises are not open for the purposes of being used for the sale or 
supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises; 

 Where the playing of recorded music takes place at a relevant licensed premises 
in the presence of an audience of more than 500 people; and  

 Where a licensing authority intentionally removes the effect of the deregulation 
provided for by the 2003 Act (as amended). 

 
Plays and Dance 

 
No licence is required for a performance of a play or dance to the extent that certain 
qualifying conditions are satisfied.  However a performance of a play or dance 
remains licensable; 

 Where the performance takes place before 08.00 or after 23.00 on any day; or 

 Where the performance takes place in the presence of an audience of more than 
500 people. 

 
Indoor Sport  

 
No licence is required for an indoor sporting event to the extent that certain 
qualifying conditions are satisfied.  However an indoor sporting event remains 
licensable; 

 Where the performance takes place before 08.00 or after 23.00 on any day; or 

 Where the event takes place in the presence of more than 1000 spectators. 
 
 

 

Page 379



39 

 

23.6 Licence Conditions 
 

Live Music or Recorded Music 
 

Any existing licence conditions (or conditions added on a determination of an 
application for a premises licence or club premises certificate which relate to live 
music or recorded music remain in place, but are suspended between the hours of 
08.00 and 23.00 on the same day where the following conditions are met: 

 At the time of the music entertainment, the premises are open for the purposes 
of being used for the sale or supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises; 

 If the music is amplified, it takes place before an audience of no more than 500 
people; and 

 The music takes place between 08.00 and 23.00 on the same day. 
 

Whether a licence condition relates to live or recorded music will be a matter of fact 
in each case. In some instances, it will be obvious that a condition relates to music 
and will be suspended, for example “during performances of live music all doors 
and windows must remain closed”. In other instances, it might not be so obvious: 
for example, a condition stating “during performances of regulated entertainment 
all doors and windows must remain closed” would be suspended insofar as it 
relates to music between 08.00 and 23.00 on the same day to an audience of up 
to 500, but the condition would continue to apply if there was regulated 
entertainment after 23.00. 

 
More general licence conditions (e.g. those relating to overall management of 
potential noise nuisance) that are not specifically related to the provision of 
entertainment (e.g. signage asking patrons to leave quietly) will continue to have 
effect)  

 
These conditions will, in effect, be suspended between 08.00 and 23.00 if a 
performance of live music or the playing of recorded music takes place before an 
audience of 500 people or fewer, but will remain on the face of the licence for when 
these activities may take place under other circumstances. 

 
Where a performance of live music or the playing of recorded music on relevant 
licensed premises is not licensable, it remains possible for anyone to apply for a 
review of a licence or certificate, if there are appropriate grounds to do so. 

 
Beer Gardens 

 
Beer gardens are often included as part of a premises licence or club premises 
certificate. Live amplified music that takes place in a beer garden is exempt from 
licensing requirements, provided the beer garden is included in the licence or 
certificate applying to the relevant licensed premises, and the performance takes 
place between 08.00 and 23.00 on the same day before an audience of 500 people 
or fewer.  

 

Page 380



40 

 

Where a beer garden does not form part of the relevant licensed premises and so 
is not included in plans attached to a premises licence or club premises certificate, 
it is nevertheless very likely that it will be a workplace. 

 
Paragraph 12B of Schedule 1 to the 2003 Act says that a performance of live music 
in a workplace that does not have a licence (except to provide late night 
refreshment) is not regulated entertainment if it takes place between 08.00 and 
23.00 on the same day in front of an audience of no more than 500 people.  Note 
that the exemption in paragraph 12B does not apply to the playing of recorded 
music. 

 
However, a licensing authority may, where justified, impose a licence condition that 
relates to the performance of live music in an unlicensed beer garden being served 
by any associated premises licence or club premises certificate. Provided such a 
condition is lawfully imposed, it takes effect in accordance with its terms. 
Plays, dance and indoor sport 

 
Where qualifying conditions are satisfied, any current licence condition that relates 
to a performance of a play or dance, or an indoor sporting event for which a licence 
is no longer required will (except in the circumstances described in the next 
paragraph) have no effect. 

 
Where, however, these non-licensable activities take place at the same time as 
other activities for which a licence is required (e.g. the sale or supply of alcohol for 
consumption on the premises), conditions included in a licence may nevertheless 
apply to the non-licensable activities in the circumstances set out above. 

 
Dance that is sufficiently sexual in nature continues to be regulated. Performances 
of dance which are “relevant entertainment” within the meaning of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 (“the 1982 Act”) are not 
deregulated, regardless of the size of the audience or the time of day. “Relevant 
entertainment” is defined in the 1982 Act as a live performance or live display of 
nudity that, ignoring financial gain, can be assumed to be provided solely or 
principally for the purpose of sexually stimulating any member of the audience. 

 
In almost all cases where a performance of dance is potentially licensable as both 
the provision of relevant entertainment (under the 1982 Act) and regulated 
entertainment (under the 2003 Act), the 1982 Act disapplies the entertainment 
licensing regime in the 2003 Act in favour of its stricter regime for the control of sex 
establishments. However, an authorisation under the 2003 Act rather than the 1982 
Act will continue to be required where: 

 The premises are not licensed as a sex entertainment venue under the 1982 
Act, and 

 Relevant entertainment has been provided at those premises on no more than 
11 occasions in any 12 month period, with none of those occasions lasting 
longer than 24 hours or taking place within a month of any such occasion. 

 
 

Page 381



41 

 

Boxing or wrestling entertainment and conditions relating to combined 
fighting sports 

 
An indoor boxing or wrestling entertainment cannot also be an indoor sporting 
event, and any contest, exhibition or display that combines boxing or wrestling with 
one or more martial arts (‘combined fighting sports’) is – whether indoors or not – 
a boxing or wrestling entertainment.  

 
Where a premises licence or club premises certificate purports to authorise a 
boxing or wrestling entertainment or combined fighting sports as an ‘indoor sporting 
event’, the 2013 Order provides that the authorisation will be treated as having 
authorised those activities as a boxing or wrestling entertainment. Those activities 
will continue to be subject to any relevant conditions attached to that authorisation.  

 
A contest, exhibition or display of Greco-Roman wrestling, or of freestyle wrestling, 
between two participants (regardless of their sex) does not require a licence 
provided that certain qualifying conditions are met. They are that: 

 It takes place in the presence of no more than 1,000 spectators; 

 It takes place between 08.00 and 23.00 on the same day; and 

 It takes place wholly inside a building and the spectators present at that 
entertainment are accommodated wholly inside that building. 

 
23.7 Conditions relating to other non-licensable activities 
 

If appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives, and if there is a link to 
remaining licensable activities, conditions that relate to non-licensable activities 
can be added to or altered on that premises licence or club premises certificate at 
review following problems occurring at the premises. This has been a feature of 
licence conditions since the 2003 Act came into force. A relevant example could 
be the use of conditions relating to large screen broadcasts of certain sporting 
events which, combined with alcohol consumption, could create a genuine risk to 
the promotion of the licensing objectives. It is also not uncommon for licence 
conditions relating to the sale of alcohol to restrict access to outside areas, such 
as unlicensed beer gardens, after a certain time.  

 
Similarly, while karaoke no longer needs licensing as the provision of entertainment 
facilities (and will generally be classed as a performance of live music) it might, for 
example, be possible on review to limit the use or volume of a microphone made 
available for customers on an ‘open-mic’ night (which encompasses more than just 
live music), if a problem had occurred because of customers purchasing alcohol 
for consumption on the premises becoming louder and less aware of causing noise 
nuisance later in the evening. Another example might be a condition restricting 
access to a dance floor at certain times, where the presence of customers in close 
proximity who had been consuming alcohol on the premises had led to serious 
disorder. In the first instance it is for the licensing authority to satisfy itself that a 
particular condition is appropriate and lawful in each case. 

 
 
 

Page 382



42 

 

23.8 Incidental music 
 

The performance of live music or playing of recorded music is not regulated 
entertainment under the 2003 Act if it is ‘incidental’ to another activity “which is not 
itself a description of entertainment falling within paragraph 2” of Schedule 1 to the 
2003 Act. 16.58 The incidental music exemption can apply to an indoor sporting 
event or a performance of a play or dance for which no licence is required, as it 
takes place between 08.00 and 23.00 on the same day and before an audience 
which does not exceed the relevant limit. This is because such an activity is no 
longer a description of entertainment within the meaning of paragraph 2 of 
Schedule 1 to the 2003 Act. This means that, while a performance of live music or 
the playing of recorded music cannot be incidental to a boxing or wrestling 
entertainment, such music may be within the scope of the incidental music 
exemption for an indoor sporting event or performance of a play or dance for which 
no licence is required. 

 
Whether or not music is “incidental” to another activity will depend on the facts of 
each case. In considering whether or not live or recorded music is incidental, one 
relevant factor could be whether, against a background of the other activities 
already taking place, the addition of music will create the potential to undermine 
the promotion of one or more of the four licensing objectives of the 2003 Act. Other 
factors might include some or all of the following: 

 Is the music the main, or one of the main, reasons for people attending the 
premises and being charged? 

 Is the music advertised as the main attraction? 

 Does the volume or the music disrupt or predominate over other activities, or 
could it be described as ‘background’ music. 

 
Conversely, factors which would not normally be relevant in themselves include: 

 The number of musicians, e.g. an orchestra providing incidental music at a large 
exhibition; 

 Whether musicians are paid; 

 Whether the performance is pre-arranged; and 

 Whether a charge is made for admission to the premises. 
 
In any disputed case, it will be for the licensing authority initially and, ultimately, for 
the courts to consider whether music is “incidental” in the individual circumstances 
of any case. 

 
23.9 Removing licence conditions 
 

On a review of a premises licence or club premises certificate, section 177A(3) of 
the 2003 Act permits a licensing authority to lift the suspension and give renewed 
effect to an existing condition relating to music. Similarly, under section 177A(4), a 
licensing authority may add a condition relating to music as if music were regulated 
entertainment, and as if that premises licence or club premises certificate licensed 
the music. In both instances the condition should include a statement that Section 
177A does not apply to the condition. 

 

Page 383



43 

 

An application for a review in relation to relevant premises can be made by a 
licensing authority, any responsible authority or any other person. Applications for 
review must still be relevant to one or more of the licensing objectives and meet a 
number of further requirements. 

 
23.10 Busking 
 

Busking or street performance is the practice of performing in public spaces for 
money.  Performances are not limited to music or singing and can take the form of 
a wide range of activities that people find entertaining. 

 
Busking is generally not licensable under the 2003 Act as 

 It often occurs in a place that is not a premises made available (at least in part) 
for the purposes of providing entertainment. 

 The entertainment is usually incidental to another activity, such as shopping or 
sightseeing, as there are few circumstances in which anyone would go out 
specifically to watch buskers; and 

 Any unamplified live music is not licensable between 08.00 and 23.00. 
 
 
23.11 Incidental Film 
 

An exhibition of a film within the meaning of paragraph 15 of Schedule 1 to the 
2003 Act is not regulated entertainment if it is ‘incidental’ to another activity “which 
is not itself a description of entertainment falling within paragraph 2” of Schedule 1 
to the 2003 Act.  

 
The incidental film exemption can apply to an indoor sporting event or a 
performance of a play or dance for which no licence is required as it takes place 
between 08.00 and 23.00 on the same day before an audience which does not 
exceed the relevant limit. Such activities would no longer be a description of 
entertainment within the meaning of paragraph 2 of Schedule 1 to the 2003 Act 

 
This means that, while any exhibition of moving pictures cannot be incidental to a 
boxing or wrestling entertainment, such film displays may be within the scope of 
the incidental film exemption for an indoor sporting event or performance of a play 
or dance for which no licence is required. 

 
Whether or not an exhibition of moving pictures is “incidental” to another activity 
will depend on the facts of each case. In considering whether or not film is 
incidental, one relevant factor could be whether, against a background of the other 
activities already taking place, the addition of an exhibition of moving images will 
create the potential to undermine the promotion of one or more of the four licensing 
objectives of the 2003 Act. This would mean that if the BBFC or the relevant 
licensing authority has given an age rating to a film, video, or music video, then to 
qualify for the “incidental film” licensing exemption, the admission of children to the 
premises will need to be restricted in accordance with the appropriate age rating. 
But that is one aspect of one relevant factor. Other factors to consider in assessing 
whether film is incidental might include some or all of the following: 

Page 384



44 

 

 Is the film the main, or one of the main, reasons for people attending the 
premises and being charged?  

 Is the film advertised as the main attraction? 

 Does the screening of the film predominate over other activities, or could it be 
described as ‘background’ images? 

 Does the appearance of moving pictures within another entertainment activity, 
for which no licence is required (e.g. a performance of a play or dance), 
undermine the promotion of the licensing objectives? 

 
23.12 Entertainment activity provided as part of childcare 
 

Entertainment activity that is provided as part of childcare will generally not be 
licensable. This includes entertainment activity in a nursery or private home. In 
addition, paragraph 5 of Schedule 1 to the 2003 Act includes a licensing exemption 
for an exhibition of a film where the main purpose is to provide education. 
Education will generally include all forms of pre-school child and day care. 
Furthermore, an exhibition of a film, or the playing of live or recorded music, will 
generally be incidental to the activity of childcare and so the incidental music and 
film exemption in paragraph 7 of Schedule 1 will also apply. This will generally be 
the case for any entertainment activity organised as part of wraparound childcare, 
including breakfast clubs, after school clubs or holiday clubs linked to the child’s 
school or based in the local community. 

 
23.13 Child Performers 
 
  Child performance legislation requires that a licence must be obtained from a 

child’s home local authority before a child can take part in certain types of 
performance and activities. A licence may be required whether or not any payment 
is made for the child to perform. The deregulation of entertainment licensing does 
not alter the regulations on when children can take part in performances. For further 
information on the licence for Child Performers contact the Education Welfare 
Officer of the Council. 

 

24. Administration 
 
 The council’s licensing team administer all aspects of the Licensing Act 2003, 

including applications, representations and requests for assistance and advice.  
The council’s website has detailed information on all of the services it offers for 
licensees, applicants, complainants and all other enquiries. Application information 
and forms can be downloaded from our website.  The licensing teams can be 
contacted by any of the following means:- 

 
 

Licensing Section 
Caerphilly County Borough Council  
Ty Penallta  
Tredomen Park, 
Ystrad Mynach  

Page 385



45 

 

Hengoed  
CF82 7PG 
E-mail:        licensing@caerphilly.gov.uk 
Tel:             01443  866750 
Web:           www.Caerphilly.gov.uk/licensing  

 

25. Application procedures 
 
25.1 Prospective applicants are strongly recommended to seek pre-application advice. 

Advice on the application process will be given, but at no stage will the Licensing 
Authority complete the application form on behalf of an applicant. The council’s 
website has detailed information on all of the services it offers for licensees, 
applicants, complainants and all other enquiries.  In addition the website can be 
used to search pending applications and is available at Click Here 

   
25.2 In accordance with the Provision of Services Regulations 2009, electronic 

application facilities for premises licences are available and may be found on 
GOV.UK or Click Here. Electronic applications for other categories of licence and 
authorisations are also available on these sites. Applications made in electronic 
form or via GOV.UK will be sent to the responsible authorities by the licensing 
authority.  If the applicant submits their application in writing, they will remain 
responsible for copying it to the responsible authorities. 

 
25.3 Applications for all licences and authorisations available under the 2003 Act must 

be made on the relevant form prescribed under secondary regulations.  
Applications will not be progressed until the form has been completed in full and 
received, together with the relevant fee(s) and all other required information, by the 
Licensing Authority and the relevant responsible authorities. 

 
25.4 Where electronic applications are made, the application will be taken to be ‘given’ 

when the applicant has submitted a complete application form and submitted the 
fee. 

 

25.5 The Responsible Authorities are: 
 

Responsible Authority Contact details 

Licensing Authority   Licensing Section 

Caerphilly County Borough Council 

Ty Penallta, Tredomen Park,  

Ystrad Mynach,  

Hengoed,  

CF82 7PG 

01443 866750 

Licensing@caerphilly.gov.uk 

Environmental Health 
(Statutory function for 
minimising or preventing the 

Team Leader Pollution Control 

Caerphilly County Borough Council 

Ty Penallta 

Page 386

mailto:licensing@caerphilly.gov.uk
http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/licensing
http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/licensing
http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/licensing
mailto:Licensing@caerphilly.gov.uk


46 

 

Responsible Authority Contact details 

risk of pollution of the 
environment or of harm to 
human health.) 

Tredomen Park 

Ystrad Mynach 

Hengoed 

CF82 7PG 

enviroservices@caerphilly.gov.uk 

Environmental Health Authority 

(Enforcing Authority within the 

meaning given by section 18 of 

the Health and Safety etc Act 

1974 for the area in which the 

premises are situated) 

Senior Environmental Health Officer (Food and Health 
and Safety) 
Caerphilly County Borough Council 
Ty Penallta 
Tredomen Park 
Ystrad Mynach 
Hengoed 
CF82 7PG 
foodhealthandsafety@caerphilly.gov.uk 

Health and Safety Executive (for 
HSE enforced and Council 
owned properties only CCBC) 

Health and Safety Executive 
Government Buildings 
Phase 1 
Ty Glas Road 
Llanishen 
Cardiff 
CF14 5SH 

Weights and Measures 

Authority (Function of Trading 

Standards) 

Senior Trading Standards Officer (Community Protection 
Section) 
Caerphilly County Borough Council 
Ty Penallta, Tredomen Park, Ystrad Mynach, Hengoed, 
CF82 7PG 

tradingstandards@caerphilly.gov.uk 

Child Protection (Body which 
represents those who are 
responsible for or interested in 
matters relating to the 
protection of children from 
harm and is competent to 
advise on such matters.) 

Child Protection Co-ordinator, 
Caerphilly County Borough Council 
Ty Penallta, Tredomen Park,  
Ystrad Mynach,  
Hengoed, 
CF82 7PG 
01443 864744 

 

Planning Authority Chief Planning Officer 
Planning Division 
Caerphilly County Borough Council 
Ty Dyffryn 
Dyffryn Industrial Estate 
Ystrad Mynach 
CF82 7FP 

E-mail: planning@caerphilly.gov.uk 

Page 387

mailto:enviroservices@caerphilly.gov.uk
mailto:foodhealthandsafety@caerphilly.gov.uk
mailto:tradingstandards@caerphilly.gov.uk
mailto:planning@caerphilly.gov.uk


47 

 

Responsible Authority Contact details 

Heddlu Gwent Police The Chief Officer of Police 
FAO The Licensing Officer 
Heddlu Gwent Police 
Divisional Headquarters 
Blackwood Police Station 
Blackwood Road 
Pontllanfraith 
Blackwood 
NP12 2XA 
Tel: 01633 838111 
WestLPALicensingTeam@gwent.pnn.police.uk 

South Wales Fire & Rescue Service South Wales Fire & Rescue Service,  
Forest View Business Park, 
Llantrisant, Pontyclun  
CF72 8LX. 
01443 232713 
safety-east@southwales-fire.gov.uk  
 

 

Public Health Dr G Richardson, Executive Director of Public Health – 
Alcohol Licensing Lead 
Aneurin Bevan Gwent Public Health Team 
Victoria House 
136-140 Corporation Road 
Newport 
NP19 0BH 
Email: publichealth.aneurinbevan@wales.nhs.uk 

Home Office 

(Immigration Enforcement) 

Home Office Alcohol Licensing Team, 
Lunar House,  
40 Wellesley Road 
 Croydon  
CR9 2BY. 
alcohol@homeoffice.gsi.gov.uk 

 

 

25.6 The steps for consideration of licensing application, a licensing variation and a club 
premises certificate are: 

 
a) If no representations are made to an application, the Authority must grant it in 

full. Please see our website for further information www.caerphilly.gov.uk  
 
b) When an application is made, and relevant representation are made to the 

Authority it must hold a hearing of the Licensing Sub-Committee (unless those 
who have made representations agree in advance that this is unnecessary).  

 

Page 388

mailto:WestLPALicensingTeam@gwent.pnn.police.uk
mailto:safety-east@southwales-fire.gov.uk
mailto:publichealth.aneurinbevan@wales.nhs.uk
mailto:alcohol@homeoffice.gsi.gov.uk
http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/


48 

 

c) The Licensing Sub-Committee will then consider the evidence provided by 
applicants and by those making representations, the legislation and 
accompanying Guidance, the Statement of Licensing Policy and any other 
relevant data. 

 
d) The Licensing Sub-Committee will determine the application and will take any 

steps it considers appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives. 
 

e) Conditions on the licence, additional to those voluntarily offered by the applicant, 
may be considered.  Appropriate conditions will focus on matters which are 
within the control of individual licensees and which also relate to the premises 
or places being used for licensable activities and the impact of those activities 
in the vicinity. If situations arise where the licensing objectives are compromised 
but cannot be dealt with by the use of appropriate conditions the Licensing 
Authority will consider whether it is appropriate for a licence to be issued or for 
the premises to continue in operation. 

 
25.7 Conditions on a licence: 

 Must be appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives; 

 Must be precise and enforceable; 

 Must be unambiguous and clear in what they intend to achieve; 

 Should not duplicate other statutory requirements or other duties or 
responsibilities placed on the employer by other legislation; 

 Must be tailored to the individual type, location and characteristics of the 
premises and events concerned; 

 Should not be standardised and may be unlawful when it cannot be 
demonstrated that they are appropriate for the promotion of the licensing 
objectives in an individual case; 

 Should not replicate offences set out in the 2003 Act or other legislation; 

 Should be proportionate, justifiable and capable of being met; 

 Cannot seek to manage the behaviour of customers once they are beyond the 
direct management of the licence holder and their staff, but may impact on the 
behaviour of customers in the immediate vicinity of the premises or as they enter 
or leave; and  

 Should be written in a prescriptive format. 
 

25.8 Individuals applying for a personal licence must be entitled to work in the UK.  The 
Immigration Act 2016 amended the Licensing Act 2003 with effect from 6 April 2017 
so that an application made on or after that date by someone who is not entitled to 
work in the UK must be rejected.  Licences must not be issued to people who are 
illegally present in the UK, who are not permitted to work, or who are permitted to 
work but are subject  to a condition that prohibits them from doing work relating to 
the carrying on of a licensable activity. In order to discharge this duty, the Authority 
must be satisfied that an applicant has the right to work in the UK, to demonstrate 
that the applicant has permission to be in the UK and that they are permitted to 
undertake work in a licensable activity.  This also applies to individuals who apply 
for premises licences.  The purpose of this is to prevent illegal working in the UK. 

 

Page 389



49 

 

25.9 A person is also disqualified from holding a licence if they are subject to a condition 
on their permission to be in the UK preventing them from holding a licence, for 
example if they are subject to an immigration restriction that does not permit them to 
work. 

 

26. Operating schedule 

 

26.1 All new and variation applications should incorporate an ‘operating schedule’ which 
outlines how the premises will be operated. This should include details of how the 
applicant will promote the four licensing objectives and reduce any potential negative 
impact from the operation of their business on the local community, depending on the 
type of premises, location and profile of customers. The proposals contained in the 
operating schedule will form the main body of the conditions to be applied to the 
licence, together with any applicable mandatory conditions, any conditions agreed 
with responsible authorities during the application process and any conditions 
imposed by a licensing sub-committee where representations have been made. 

 
26.2 In completing an operating schedule, applicants are expected to have regard to this 

statement of licensing policy and to demonstrate suitable knowledge of their local 
area when describing the steps that they propose to take in order to promote the 
Licensing Objectives. 

 
26.3 The Licensing Authority will provide general advice on the drafting of operating 

schedules and applicants are strongly recommended to discuss their operating 
schedules with the Licensing Authority and other Responsible Authorities prior to 
submitting them. 

 
26.4 The complexity and detail required in the operating schedule will depend upon the 

nature and use of the premises concerned. For premises such as a public house 
where regulated entertainment is not provided, only a relatively simple document may 
be required. However for an operating schedule accompanying an application for a 
major entertainment venue or event, it will be expected that issues such as public 
safety and  the prevention of crime and disorder will be addressed in detail 

 
26.5 The operating schedule must be set out on the prescribed form and include a 

statement of the following:-  
 

 Full details of the licensable activities to be carried on at and the intended use 
of the premises; 

 The times during which the licensable activities will take place; 

 Any other times when the premises are to be open to the public; 

 Where the licence is only required for a limited period, that period; 

 Where the licensable activities include the supply of alcohol, the name and 
address of the individual to be specified as the designated premises supervisor; 

 Whether alcohol will be supplied for consumption on or off the premises or both; 

 The steps which the applicant proposes to promote the Licensing Objectives. 
 

Page 390



50 

 

26.6 For some premises, it is possible that no measures will appropriate to promote one 
or more of the Licensing Objectives, for example, because they are adequately 
covered by other existing legislation. It is however important that all operating 
schedules should be: 

 

 Precise and enforceable 

 Be unambiguous  

 Not to duplicate other statutory provisions 

 Be clear in what they intend to achieve, and 

 Be appropriate, proportionate and justifiable.  
 

26.7 To assist applicants the authority has provided a Code of good practice / Model pool 
of conditions for licensed premises, the current code can be found in Appendix A of 
this policy. It should be noted the code does not form any part of this policy and the 
guidance and examples of control measures are simply given to assist applicants in 
preparing operating schedules and the on-going running of a licensed premises. The 
code is not exhaustive and is not to be regarded in any way as standard conditions 
or mandatory requirements. 

 

27. Conditions 

 

27.1 The Licensing Act 2003, as amended, imposes a number of mandatory conditions on 
licences.  The council has the power to impose additional conditions if they consider 
that they are appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives. 

   
27.2 Conditions attached to licences or certificates will be tailored to the individual style 

and characteristics of the particular premises, activities and/or events provided at the 
premises.  The policy does not provide for any standard, general or blanket 
conditions, and will not impose disproportionate and burdensome requirements. 

   
27.3 Applicants may offer conditions in the operating schedule as part of their application; 

the council may remove or reword any of these conditions if they are considered to 
be unclear, ambiguous or unenforceable, with the agreement of the applicant.  This 
will ensure that all parties fully understand their responsibilities to promote the 
licensing objectives.   

 
27.4 The council recognise that they can only impose conditions were relevant 

representations are received and it is considered appropriate for the promotion of the 
licensing objectives.  Where a responsible authority gives evidence that it is 
appropriate to impose specific conditions the request will be considered by the council 
who may suggest the wording of the condition to ensure that it is clear, relevant and 
enforceable. 

 
27.5 When attaching conditions, the council will also be aware of the need to avoid 

measures that might deter live music, dancing or theatre by imposing costs of a 
substantial nature, that are not in proportion to the risks. 

 

Page 391



51 

 

28. Applications where representations are received 

 

28.1 When an application is made for the grant, variation or review of a premises licence 
or club premises certificate, representations about the application can be made by 
responsible authorities or other persons. However the Licensing Authority will usually 
give greater weight to representations that are made by people who can demonstrate 
that they would be directly affected by the carrying on of licensable activities at the 
premises concerned. 

 
28.2 Representations must be made to the Licensing Authority within the statutory period 

of 28 days beginning on the day after the relevant application is received by the 
Licensing Authority. Representations must be made in writing. 

 
28.3 Representations can be made either be in support of an application or to express 

objections to an application being granted. However the Licensing Authority can only 
accept “relevant representations.” A representation is “relevant” if it relates to the likely 
effect of the grant of the licence on the promotion of at least one of the Licensing 
Objectives 

 
28.4 An example of a representation that would not be relevant would be a representation 

from a local business person about the commercial damage that competition from a 
new licensed premise would do to their own business. On the other hand, a 
representation by a business person that nuisance caused by new premises would 
deter customers from entering the local area, and the steps proposed by the applicant 
to prevent that nuisance were inadequate, would be a relevant representation. 

 
28.5 Representations should relate to the impact of licensable activities carried on from 

premises on the Licensing Objectives. 
 
28.6 For representations in relation to variations to be relevant, they should be confined to 

the subject matter of the variation. 
 
28.7 Whilst the Licensing Authority expects representations to be evidence based, there is 

no requirement for a Responsible Authority or other person to produce a recorded 
history of problems at premises to support their representations, and it is recognised 
that in fact this would not be possible for new premises. 

 
28.8 Responsible authorities are a group of public bodies that must be fully notified of 

applications and that are entitled to make representations to the Licensing Authority 
in relation to the application for the grant, variation or review of a premises licence or 
club premises certificate. A full list of contact details for the responsible authorities is 
provided on the Licensing Authority’s website. 

 
28.9 Whilst all responsible authorities may make representations regarding applications 

for licences and club premises certificates and full variation applications, it is the 
responsibility of each Responsible Authority to determine when they have appropriate 
grounds to do so. 

 

Page 392



52 

 

28.10 The Licensing Authority recognises that every Responsible Authority can make 
representations relating to any of the four Licensing Objectives. However the 
Licensing Authority would normally expect representations about the promotion of 
individual Licensing Objectives to come from the most relevant Responsible Authority 
with expertise in that particular area. For example the Licensing Authority would 
expect representations about the prevention of crime and disorder to come primarily 
from the police and representations about the prevention of public nuisance to come 
primarily from environmental health. 

 
28.11 The Licensing Authority recognises that the police should be its main source or advice 

on matters relating to the promotion of the crime and disorder licensing objective, but 
also may be able to make relevant representations with regards to the other Licensing 
Objectives if they have evidence to support such representations. 

 
28.12 The Licensing Authority will accept all reasonable and proportionate representations 

made by the police unless it has evidence that do so would not be appropriate for the 
promotion of the Licensing Objectives. However the Licensing Authority will still 
expect any police representations to be evidence based and able to withstand 
scrutiny at a hearing. 

 
28.13 The Licensing Authority recognises the input of Caerphilly County Borough Council 

Children’s Services, Trading Standards and Local Health Board in relation to the 
licensing objective of the protection of children from harm. 

 
28.14 The Licensing Authority recognises that, although public health is not a licensing 

objective, health bodies may hold information which other responsible authorities do 
not, but which would assist the Licensing Authority in exercising its functions. 

 
28.15 For example, drunkenness can lead to accidents and injuries from violence, resulting 

in attendances at emergency departments and the use of ambulance services. Some 
of these incidents will be reported to the police, but many will not. Such information 
might be relevant to the public safety objective and in some cases the crime and 
disorder objective. 

 
28.16 As a result of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011, the Licensing 

Authority is also now a Responsible Authority and can therefore make representations 
if it deems it appropriate to do so. 

 
28.17 However the Licensing Authority will not normally act as a Responsible Authority on 

behalf of other parties (for example, local residents, local councillors or community 
groups) although there are occasions where the authority may decide to do so. 

 
28.18 Such parties can make relevant representations to the Licensing Authority in their 

own right, and the Licensing Authority expects them to make representations 
themselves where they are reasonably able to do so. 

 
28.19 The Licensing Authority also expects that other responsible authorities should 

intervene where the basis for the intervention falls within the remit of that other 
Responsible Authority. Each Responsible Authority has equal standing under the 

Page 393



53 

 

2003 Act and may act independently without waiting for representations from any 
other Responsible Authority. 

 
28.20 In cases where a Licensing Authority is also acting as Responsible Authority in 

relation to the same process, the Licensing Authority will seek to achieve a separation 
of responsibilities within the authority to ensure procedural fairness and eliminate 
conflicts of interest. This will be achieved by allocating the different responsibilities to 
different licensing officers or other officers within the local authority to ensure a proper 
separation of responsibilities. 

 
28.21 Relevant representations about applications can also be made by any other person, 

regardless of their geographical position in relation to the relevant premises. However 
the Licensing Authority will usually give greater weight to representations that are 
made by people who can demonstrate that they would be directly affected by the 
carrying on of licensable activities at the premises concerned. 

 
28.22 The Licensing Authority will also reject as invalid, any representations from other 

persons that are deemed to be frivolous or vexatious. A representation might be 
considered to be vexatious if it appears to be intended to cause aggravation or 
annoyance, whether to a competitor or other person, without reasonable cause. 
Frivolous representations are essentially categorised by a lack of seriousness. 
Frivolous representations would concern issues which, at most, are minor and in 
relation to which no remedial steps would be warranted or proportionate. 

 
28.23 Decisions as to the validity of representations will normally be made by officers of the 

Licensing Authority. In borderline cases, the benefit of the doubt about any aspect of 
a representation will be given to the person making that representation. The 
subsequent hearing would then provide an opportunity for the person or body making 
the representation to amplify and clarify it. 

 
28.24 The Licensing Authority will accept petitions, but there are some important factors to 

consider before organising a petition: 

 We ask that the organiser of the petition identify himself or herself as a central 
point of contact. We may need to make contact in order to verify certain matters 
if we are unable to do this it could invalidate the petition. 

 Each page of the petition should contain information as to the purpose of the 
petition so that all persons know what they are signing. 

 Full names and addresses must be supplied 

 All signatories must be made aware that a copy of the petition will be supplied 
to the applicant and a copy will be contained within the committee papers, so 
their personal details will become public knowledge. 

 
 We will not write to each signatory separately, but instead assume that the organiser 

will advise each signatory of the hearing date and the final outcome of the application.  
It is expected that the organiser will represent the signatories at the hearing and to 
speak for them. When making a decision, th Licensing Authority will give appropriate 
weight to a petition. Those wishing to make representations should appreciate that 
the quality of the representations we receive is an important consideration when 
making a decision. 

Page 394



54 

 

 
28.25 Any person who is aggrieved by a rejection of their representations on either of these 

grounds may lodge a complaint through the authority’s corporate complaints 
procedure. A person may also challenge such a decision by way of judicial review. 

 
28.26 Where a notice of a hearing is given to an applicant, the Licensing Authority is 

required to provide the applicant with copies of the relevant representations that have 
been made. 

   
28.27 The Licensing Authority will normally provide copies of the relevant representations 

to the applicant in full and without redaction. However in exceptional circumstances, 
where a person satisfies the Licensing Authority that they have genuine reasons to 
fear intimidation or violence if their personal details, such as name and address, are 
divulged to the applicant, the copies of the representations may be redacted 
accordingly. 

 

28.28 In such circumstances the Licensing Authority will still provide some details to the 
applicant (such as street name or general location within a street), so that the 
applicant can fully prepare their response to any particular representation. 

 
28.29 Alternatively persons may wish to contact the relevant Responsible Authority or their 

local Councillor with details of how they consider that the Licensing Objectives are 
being undermined so that the Responsible Authority can make representations on 
their behalf if appropriate and justified. 

 
28.30 Further guidance on making representations is provided on the Licensing Authority’s 

website. 
 

29.  Exercise and delegation of functions 

 

29.1 The Licensing Act 2003 requires local authorities to act as the Licensing Authority and 
to set up a Licensing Committee to be responsible for all matters relating to the 
Licensing Act 2003.  The Licensing Committee further delegate to Licensing Sub 
Committees (Panels), or by one or more officers acting under delegated authority. 

 
29.2 It is considered that many of the functions will be largely administrative in nature with 

no perceived areas of contention. In the interests of efficiency and cost effectiveness 
these will, for the most part, be carried out by officers. The Licensing Authority, when 
acting as a Responsible Authority commenting on Licence applications, will have 
separate roles for officers.  One member of staff will be required to administer the 
application and another member of staff will act as the Responsible Authority making 
comments on the application. 

 

29.3 The Schedule below sets out the presumed delegation of functions and decisions.  
Notwithstanding this presumption of delegation, the Council reserves the right to refer 
any matter to the Licensing Committee or sub-committee. 

 

Page 395



55 

 

 

29.4 Schedule of delegation of licensing functions and decisions 

 

Matter to be dealt with Licensing 

Committee 

Licensing Sub-

Committee 

(panels) 

Officers 

Application for personal 

licence 

 If a police 

objection 

If no objection made 

Application for a 

personal licence with 

unspent convictions 

 All cases  

Application for premises 

licence/club premises 

certificate 

 If a relevant 

representation 

made and not 

withdrawn 

If no relevant 

representation made 

or representation 

withdrawn 

Application for 

provisional statement 

 If a relevant 

representation 

made and not 

withdrawn 

If no relevant 

representation made 

or representation 

withdrawn 

Application to vary 

premises licence/club 

premises certificate 

 If a relevant 

representation 

made and not 

withdrawn 

If no relevant 

representation made 

or representation 

withdrawn 

Application to vary 

designated premises 

supervisor 

 If a police 

objection 

All other cases 

Application for a minor 

variation 

  All cases 

Application to vary a 

licence on a community 

premises to include 

alternative licence 

condition 

 

 If police 

objection 

All other cases 

Request to be removed 

as designated premises 

supervisor 

  All cases 

Application for transfer of 

premises licence 

 If a police 

objection 

All other cases 

Application for interim 

authorities 

 If a police 

objection 

All other cases 

Page 396



56 

 

Matter to be dealt with Licensing 

Committee 

Licensing Sub-

Committee 

(panels) 

Officers 

Application to review 

premises licence/club 

premises certificate 

 All cases  

Decision on whether a 

complaint is irrelevant 

frivolous vexatious etc. 

  All cases 

Determination of a police 

or environmental health 

objection to a temporary 

event notice 

 In all cases if not 

withdrawn. 

 

Suspension of licences 

following non-payment of 

annual fees 

  All Cases 

 

30.  Reviews of licences 

 

30.1 The Council can only review a licence where it is alleged by a “responsible authority", 
or other person that the licensing objectives are being breached. Responsible 
authorities will aim to give licence holders early warning of any concerns identified at 
the premises. Only responsible authorities or other persons (e.g. local residents, local 
organisations and councillors) can apply for the review of a licence; and determine its 
outcome at a hearing where an evidential basis for allegations made will be submitted. 
It views particularly seriously applications for the review of any premises licence which 
involves the: 

 

 use of licensed premises for the sale and distribution of  controlled drugs and 
the laundering of the proceeds of drugs crimes; 

 use of licensed premises for the sale and distribution of illegal firearms; 

 evasion of copyright in respect of pirated films and music; 

 underage purchase and consumption of alcohol; 

 use of licensed premises for prostitution or the sale of unlawful pornography; 

 use of licensed premises for unlawful gaming; 

 use of licensed premises as a base for organised criminal activity; 

 use of licensed premises for the organisation of racist, homophobic or sexual 
abuse or attacks; 

 use of licensed premises for the sale of smuggled tobacco or goods; 

 use of licensed premises for the storage or sale of stolen goods; 

 the police being frequently called to attend to incidents of disorder; 

 prolonged and/or repeated instances of public nuisance; 

 serious risk to public safety have been identified and the management is unable 
or unwilling to correct; 

Page 397



57 

 

 Serious risk to children. 
 

30.2 The Licensing Sub-committee will consider all evidence provided at the hearing and 
apply appropriate weight to that evidence when making their decision.   

 
30.3 The licensing sub-committee will consider all of the sanctions available to it provided 

for in the Act and guidance, including taking no action if appropriate.  In cases where 
a licensing objective is seriously undermined, that revocation of the licence, even in 
the first instance, will be considered where appropriate to ensure the licensing 
objectives are promoted. 

 
30.4 In cases where a licensing objective is seriously undermined, the revocation of the 

licence, even in the first instance, will be seriously considered where appropriate to 
ensure the licensing objectives are promoted. 

 

31.  Cumulative Impact Assessment 

31.1 Under the Licensing Act 2003, Licensing Authorities have the power to introduce a 
cumulative impact policy where there is evidence showing that a significant number of 
licensed premises concentrated in one area has led to an increase in; Crime and 
disorder, Public nuisance or to both. Where adopted, a Cumulative Impact Policy 
creates a rebuttable presumption that applications for new premises licences, or club 
premises certificates or variations, that are likely to add to the existing cumulative 
impact will normally be refused. 

31.2 The Statutory Guidance sets out the steps to be followed when considering whether 
to adopt a special policy within the Policy these include - 
a) Identify concern about crime and disorder; public safety; public nuisance; or 

protection of children from harm 
b) Consider whether there is good evidence that crime and disorder or nuisance are 

occurring, or whether there are activities which pose a threat to public safety or 
the protection of children from harm. 

c) If such problems are occurring, identify whether these problems are being 
caused by the customers of licensed premises, or that the risk of cumulative 
impact is imminent. 

d) Identify the boundaries of the area where problems are occurring 
e) Consult with those specified by Section 5(3) of the Licensing Act and subject to 

the outcome of that consultation, include and publish details of any special policy 
in the licensing policy statement. 

31.3 In April 2018, Section 141 of the Policing and Crime Act 2018 introduced a new Section 
5A to the Licensing Act 2003 relating to Cumulative Impact Assessments (CIA).  Before 
an Impact assessment area can be introduced the Authority must give reasons why 
they are considering a CIA, what part(s) they are considering to be a CIA and whether 
it considers the CIA applies to all licences or those of a particular kind.  As such, the 
Authority must conduct a thorough assessment and if a CIA is introduced it must be 
reviewed at least every 3 years.   

Page 398



58 

 

31.4 There are currently no CIA areas within Caerphilly County Borough Council. If 
evidence was provided about a negative impact on the licensing objectives, the 
formulation of a special policy would be carefully considered have due regard to the 
guidance provided in Section 182 of the Act.  

31.5 The licensing authority recognises there are a number of existing measures available 
that are relevant to tackling unlawful and anti-social behaviour associated with licensed 
premises, including: 

 Planning controls 

 Positive measures to create a safe and clean environment in partnership with 
local businesses, transport operators and other departments of the local authority 

 The provision of CCTV surveillance, taxi ranks, provision of public conveniences 
open late at night, street cleaning and litter patrols 

 Powers of local authorities to designate parts of the local authority area as places 
where alcohol may not be consumed publicly. 

 The confiscation of alcohol from adults and children in designated areas 

 Police enforcement of the general law concerning disorder and antisocial 
behaviour, including the issue of fixed penalty notices 

 Prosecution for the offence of selling alcohol to a person who is drunk (or allowing 
such a sale) – Police powers to close down instantly for up to 24 hours 
(extendable to 48 hours) any licensed premises or temporary event on grounds 
of disorder, the likelihood of disorder, or noise emanating from the premises 
causing a disturbance. 

 Robust conditions on the licence promoting the four licensing objectives. 

 The power of the police, or other responsible authorities or any person to seek a 
review of the licence or certificate. 

 Regular Responsible Authority meetings, for parties to comment on, and 
providing an action plan, when dealing with problematic premises and areas. 

   

32. Early morning restriction orders 

 

32.1 An Early Morning Restriction Order (EMRO) restricts the time within which alcohol 
can be supplied. Alcohol supply can be prohibited between 0000-0600 and applies to 
Premises Licences, Club Premises Certificates and Temporary Event Notices. There 
are no exceptions save that which authorise supply of alcohol to residents with 
overnight accommodation via minibars and room service.  

 

32.2 An EMRO is a powerful tool as it can prevent licensed premises in a specified  area 
from supplying alcohol during the times at which the EMRO applies.  Prior to any 
determination to recommend to full council that an EMRO is proposed, it should be 
satisfied that it has sufficient evidence that such a measure would be appropriate for 
the promotion of the licensing objectives. 

 

32.2 There are currently no EMRO’s within Caerphilly County Borough Council.  Any 
requests for an EMRO will be considered on the basis of evidence (guidance indicates 

Page 399



59 

 

the types of evidence that may be relevant) however, the licensing authority will also 
consider evidence from local partners, responsible authorities, local Community Safety 
Partnerships or other party that they consider relevant in their determinations as to 
whether an EMRO would be an appropriate means of promoting the licensing 
objectives. 

 

33. Hearings 

 

33.1 Applications for licences and certificates will be determined following consultation with 
relevant responsible authorities.  Where no representations are received, they will be 
issued administratively by the Licensing Team, however, contentious applications 
must be referred to the Council’s Licensing Sub-Committee (panel) for determination, 
unless it is agreed by all parties that a hearing is not necessary. 

 

33.2 The period of notice of a hearing that must be given to all relevant parties, and the 
information which may be disclosed, varies depending on the type of application, 
subject to regulations. A Licensing Sub-Committee (panel) of three Elected 
Members will determine a contentious application and will either grant a licence, 
grant a licence with amendments or refuse an application. Any party can appeal 
against the Council’s decision to a Magistrates’ Court 
 

33.3 At any time during the period of a licence, any responsible authority or other person 
can ask for the review of a licence or certificate. All review applications will be 
determined by the Licensing Sub-Committee.  

 
 

34.  Appeals 

 

34.1 Entitlements to appeal for parties aggrieved by decisions of the Council are set out in 
Schedule 5 of the Act. Other than in the case of personal licences, an appeal has to 
be made to the local Magistrates’ Court. In the case of personal licences, the appeal 
must be made to the Magistrates’ Court for the area in which the licensing authority 
which has considered the application (or any part of it) is situated. 

 

34.2 An appeal has to be instigated by giving notice of the appeal by the appellant to  
The Clerk to the Justices,  
Newport Magistrates' Court 
Usk Way 
Newport 
Gwent 
NP20 2GE 
01633 261300 

 
 Within a period of 21 days beginning with the day on which the appellant was notified 

by the Council of the decision appealed against. 
 

Page 400



60 

 

34.3 On determining an appeal, the Court may: 
 

 dismiss the appeal 

 substitute any other decision which could have been made by the Council or 

 remit the case to the Council to dispose of it in accordance with the direction of 
the Court. 

 

 The Court may make such order as to costs as it thinks fit. 
 
34.4 In anticipation of such appeals, the Council will give comprehensive reasons for its 

decisions. On making findings of fact in its reasons, the Council will ensure that they 
address the standard of proof and the burden of proof that they have adopted. The 
Council will also address the extent to which decisions has been made with regard to 
its statement of licensing policy and the Guidance issued by the Secretary of State 
under section 182 Implementing the determination of the Magistrates’ Courts 

 
34.5 Where appropriate, the Licensing Authority will provide applicants and objectors etc. 

with information concerning their rights of appeal. 
 
34.6 Where appropriate, the Licensing Authority will provide applicants and objectors etc. 

with information concerning their rights of appeal. 
 

35. Implementing the determination of the Magistrates’ Court 

 

35.1 As soon as the determination of the Magistrates’ Courts has been promulgated, the 
Council will not delay its implementation and necessary action will be taken forthwith 
unless ordered by a higher court to suspend such action [for example, as a result of 
an on-going Judicial Review]. The Act provides for no further appeal against the 
determination of the Magistrates’ Courts. 

 

36. Enforcement 

 

36.1 The Licensing Authority has established joint enforcement protocols with the police 
and other enforcing authorities. These protocols will provide for the targeting of 
agreed problem and high-risk premises, but with a lighter touch being applied to low-
risk premises, which are shown to be well run. 

 
36.2 The Licensing Authority intends that enforcement visits will be made to licensed 

premises as appropriate, to ensure that any conditions imposed as part of the licence 
are being complied with. These visits may be either proactive planned inspections 
based on the risk presented by the premises, history of non-compliance etc., or 
reactive visits as a result of complaints. 

 

36.3 In general, action will only be taken in accordance with agreed enforcement principles 
and in line with the Council’s own enforcement policy.  To this end the key principles 

Page 401



61 

 

of consistency, transparency and proportionality will be maintained.   For more 
information see the Council’s Public Protection Enforcement Policy. 

36.4 In general, action will only be taken in accordance with agreed enforcement principles 
and in line with the Council’s own enforcement policy.  To this end the key principles 
of consistency, transparency and proportionality will be maintained. 

 

37. Fees Generally 

 

37.1 All fees are currently set by statute and the council is obliged to charge the fees as 
detailed in the Fees Regulations. 

 
37.2 The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2010 have provisions to give 

councils to set their fees locally, however at this time the relevant sections have not 
been commenced. When commenced the councils will calculate fees to recover the 
costs of the service and then consult on their implementation before asking the 
Licensing Committee to approve any change. 

 

38. Annual Fees for Premises Licences and Club Premises Certificates 

 

38.1 The Licensing Act 2003 and regulations made under the Act set out requirements 
for annual fees and require that the fee is paid on the due date which is every year 
on the anniversary of the original grant of the licence. The fee is currently set by 
regulations, however amendments made by the Police Reform and Social 
Responsibility Act 2010 will when commenced give the council the ability to set fees 
locally to recover costs associated with the administration and compliance of the 
Act. 

 

39.  Licence suspension for non-payment of annual fee 

 

39.1 Amendments made to the Licensing Act 2003 by the Police Reform and Social 
Responsibility Act 2010 give councils the power to suspend premises licences and 
club premises certificates where the annual fee required by regulations is not paid. 

   
39.2 The council will suspend any licence or certificate where the required fee is not paid 

by the ‘due date’, which is annually on the anniversary of the date that the licence 
was first granted.  The council will follow the below procedure:- 

   
39.3 Upon notification/discovery that an annual fee is not paid, the council will give notice 

to the licence/certificate holder, in writing,  

 that the licence/certificate will be suspended 14 days from the date of the notice.   

 It will also state that the suspension will not become effective if the fee is paid 
prior to the suspension date.   

 If an administration error is claimed, the suspension date may be 21 days from 
the due date; or the date of suspension on the 14 day notice, whichever is later.    

Page 402

https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/My-Council/Strategies,-plans-and-policies/Environmental-health/Public-Protection-Enforcement-Policy


62 

 

 A copy of the notice will also be served on the designated premise 
supervisor/premises manager if they are not the premises licence holder. 

   

39.4 If the fee is not paid by the date specified on the notice the licence/certificate will be 
deemed suspended.  The licence/certificate holder and DPS/Manager will be 
immediately notified of the suspension becoming effective, and informed that the 
premises may no longer offer any licensable activities until such time as the fee is 
paid and the suspension lifted.  When the full payment is made the council will 
immediately lift the suspension, and confirm this in writing. 

 

39.5 Where a licence/certificate is suspended and licensable activities are provided the 
council will consider prosecuting the provider for offences under section 136 of the 
Licensing Act 2003. 

 

40. Late night levies 

 

40.1 A Late Night Levy (LNL) is an optional power, introduced by the Police Reform and 
Social Responsibility Act which allows Licensing Authorities (LAs) to raise a 
contribution towards the costs of policing the night time economy (NTE) by charging 
a levy to holders of Premises Licences and Club Premises Certificates authorised to 
sell alcohol. A LNL must apply across the whole borough and also applies to all on- 
and off-licences. TENs are not included. 

 

40.2 The levy is payable by the holders of any premises licence or club premises certificate 
which authorise the sale or supply of alcohol on any days during a specific period 
(referred to as the late night supply period) beginning at or after midnight and ending 
at or before 6am. 

 

40.3 The licensing authority is expected to consider the need for a levy with the chief officer 
of police and the police and crime commissioner for the police area in which it is 
proposed the levy will be introduced. Local residents can use their existing rights to 
make representations and other channels of communication to call for the 
implementation of a levy in their area. The decision to introduce a Late Night Levy sits 
with the Council. The Authority will consider this approach if at any point it becomes 
appropriate and necessary and will conduct a full consultation before the provision is 
considered. 

 

  

Page 403



63 

 

 

 

 

 

41. Further Information 

 

 Further information about the Licensing Act 2003 and the Council’s licensing policy 

can be obtained from: 

 

The Licensing Section 

Caerphilly County Borough Council  

Ty Penallta, 

Tredomen Park, Ystrad Mynach 

Hengoed 

CF82 7PG 

Tel: 01443 866750    

  

E-mail licensing@caerphilly.gov.uk   

 Website: www.caerphilly.gov.uk   

 

Page 404

tel:01443
mailto:licensing@caerphilly.gov.uk
http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/


 

APPENDIX 2 

 
LICENSING ACT 2003 

POOLS OF CONDITIONS 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 

1. This pool of conditions covers a wide range of topics that may be of 
concern to applicants for premises licences and Responsible Authorities 
who may be considering making representations on applications.  Other 
Persons and local residents or local businesses may also seek to propose 
conditions in respect of applications or as a means of addressing concern 
raised by the review process.  
 

2. Applicants for club premise certificates may adapt any of the conditions 
listed but should replace any reference to premise licence or premises 
licence holder with club premise certificate.  
 

3. Where a condition contains an instruction to insert any fact, the information 
must be supplied by the applicant.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 405



 

AD ADVERTISING 

AD01 The premises licence holder shall take all reasonable precautions and 

exercise all due diligence to ensure that no licensable activity shall be 

advertised in a manner which contravenes the general law or cause a 

nuisance to the general public. 

 

AD02 In respect of promoted events, that is, any events involving the conduct 

of licensable activities at the premises that are organised by persons 

other than the premises licence holder or those under his direct control, 

the premises licence holder shall ensure that a register is maintained in 

a bound book kept for that purpose.  The register shall be kept at the 

premises and shall be produced by the designated premises supervisor 

(or his nominated deputy in his absence) to an authorised officer of the 

Licensing Authority or a constable upon request.  The register shall 

record the following: 

(i) Date and time of event and brief description of it; 
(ii) Name of the promoter(s), that is, the person(s) responsible for 

organising the event; 
(iii) Where the promoter is a company, its registered number; 
(iv) The proper address of the promoter; 
(v) Contact telephone number for promoter 

 
CA CAPACITY, CONTROL AND MANAGEMENT OF CUSTOMERS 
 
CA01 The total capacity for the event shall be limited to (insert number) 

persons.  This limit includes performers, guests, staff and officials. 
 
CA02 There shall be no security passes for admission other than those 

issued to persons working on the site and to statutory authorities. 
 
CA03 Measures must be put in place to ensure that the capacity is not 

exceeded at any time. 
 
CA04 All documentation pertaining to the proposed figure must be kept on 

the premises and must be available immediately on request to any 
authorised officer of the Licensing Authority or a constable. 

 
CA05 Admission shall be by ticket only.  When presented for admission, the 

ticket shall be retained by the organisers. 
 
CA06 Admission to the event shall be through the approved entrances.  The 

entrances shall be manned by stewards who shall allow only persons 
with tickets or security passes into the concert area. 

 
CA07 Documented procedures must be implemented to ensure overcrowding 

(such as that which may cause injury through crushing) does not occur 
in any part of the premises. 

 

Page 406



 

CA08 The licence holder shall determine the occupant capacity of the 
premises on the basis of documented risk assessment(s). 

(i)  The risk assessment(s) must take into account all relevant factors 
including space, means of access and aggress, toilet provision, load-
bearing capacity of floors, ventilation, etc and must be reviewed 
regularly, and if circumstances change; 

(ii)  Where necessary separate occupancy levels must be set for 
different parts of the premises; 

(iii)  The premises licence holder shall ensure that they consult the Public 
Health Services of Caerphilly County Council and any other relevant 
authority (for example the Fire Rescue Service regarding emergency 
evacuation limitations) as to the occupancy figure.  Confirmation of 
the consultation and any outcomes shall form an integral part of the 
risk assessment on which the capacity figure is based; 

(iv)  The capacity figure proposed by the premises licence holder shall 
be notified to the Licensing Authority in writing prior to the 
commencement of the licence; 

(v)  Measures must be put in place to ensure that the capacity is not 
exceeded at any time; 

(vi)  All documentation pertaining to the proposed figure must be kept on 
the premises and must be available immediately on request to any 
authorised officer of the Licensing Authority or a constable; 

(vii)  The premises licence holder shall regularly review, update and 
amend any risk assessments particularly following any changes to 
the layout or operation of the venue.  Such reviews etc shall be fully 
documented and form an integral part of the risk assessment. 

 
CA09 Where necessary separate occupancy levels must be set for different 

parts of the premises.  The proposed capacity figure must be notified to 
the Licensing Authority within (insert period) of the date of (insert either 
date of hearing or date of issue of licence). 

 
CA10  There shall be no entry or re-entry to the premises after (insert 

terminal hour for entry) hours.  Appropriate signage shall be clearly 
displayed at each exit from the premises advising patrons that re-entry 
to the premises after (insert terminal re-entry time) hours on any 
morning is prohibited and that this prohibition also applies to people 
wishing to leave the premises to smoke. 

 
CA11 The occupancy shall be restricted to (insert number) persons in the 

premises.  (limits may also be appropriate for different rooms or floors 
of premises)I. The occupancy figure includes staff, performers and 
public.  The Premises Licence Holder shall ensure that there are 
appropriate management controls to ensure that the occupancy figure 
is not exceeded at any time.  Appropriate controls shall be put in place 
to ensure that the occupancy of the premises/specified areas are not 
exceeded at any time.  

 
CA12 Manual and automatic electronic number control systems shall be 

installed, used and maintained at the premises at all times the 
premises is open to the public. 

 

Page 407



 

CA13 The premises licence holder shall support any taxi marshalling initiative 
that operates in the environs of the premises.  This may include any 
fair and proportionate financial support from the premises licence 
holder. 

 
CA14 The premises will operate in line with the (insert name of policy e.g. 

Health and Safety, fire risk assessment and date submitted to the 
Licensing Authority) or any amended version in operation from time to 
time.  The premises licence holder shall give to the Licensing Authority 
not less than seven days notice of any proposed amendment to the 
aforesaid policy (including its deletion or its replacement) and shall 
provide to the Licensing Authority a copy of any amended policy prior 
to the change being implemented in the premises.  A copy of the policy 
current at the time shall be provided to an authorised officer of the 
Licensing Authority or a constable upon request.  

 
 
CC CCTV 

CC01 CCTV shall be in use at the premises. 

(i)  Where a CCTV system is to be installed, extended or replaced, it 
shall be to an appropriate standard as agreed with the Licensing 
Authority in consultation with the Police.  Where a CCTV system is 
to be installed, it shall be fully operational by (insert date).  Where 
existing CCTV systems are to be replaced or extended the 
replacement or extension to the system shall be concluded by (insert 
date) and the system be fully operational on that date; 

(ii)  The CCTV equipment shall be maintained in good working order and 
continually record when licensable activity takes place and for a 
period of two hours afterwards; 

(iii)  The premises licence holder shall ensure images from the CCTV are 
retained for a period of 31 days.  This image retention period may be 
reviewed as appropriate by the Licensing Authority; 

(iv)  The correct time and date will be generated onto both the recording 
and the real time image screen; 

(v)  If the CCTV equipment (including any mobile units in use at the 
premises) breaks down the Premises Licence Holder shall ensure 
the designated premises supervisor, or in his/her absence other 
responsible person, verbally informs the Licensing Authority and the 
Police as soon as is reasonably practicable.  This information shall 
be contemporaneously recorded in the incident report register and 
shall include the time, date and means this was done and to whom 
the information was reported.  Equipment failures shall be repaired 
or replaced as soon as is reasonably practicable and without undue 
delay.  The Licensing Authority and the Police shall be informed 
when faults are rectified; 

(vi)  The premise licence holder shall ensure that there are trained 
members of staff available during licensable hours to be able to 
reproduce and download CCTV images into a removable format at 
the request of any authorised officer of the Licensing Authority or a 
constable; 

Page 408



 

(vii) There shall be clear signage indicating that CCTV equipment is in 
use and recording at the premises during (insert hours) hours. 

 

CC02 A minimum of (insert number) head mounted mobile cameras (robo-

cams) shall be in use at the premises from (insert commencement 

hours) hours until closing on each day that the premises are open to 

the public.  One such camera shall be permanently located at the 

entrance and in each (insert specified areas where appropriate). 

 

CC03 The CCTV system shall include all external areas of the premises. 

 

CC04 A plan of the premises shall be annotated to show the location of all 

CCTV cameras within the premises, such a plan to be submitted to the 

Licensing Authority by the (insert date). Such a plan to be regularly 

updated in the event of any changes to the location of such cameras. 

 

CC05 CCTV cameras shall monitor all areas used by premise patrons 

including any external smoking area to monitor numbers and prevent 

crime and disorder. 

 

CC06 The CCTV covering any dedicated smoking area shall be fully installed 

and operational before the smoking area can be used. 

 

 
CE CINEMATOGRAPHIC / FILM EXHIBITIONS 
 
CE01 Careful consideration should be given as the circumstances in which 

these conditions may be pertinent i.e. main use cinema or video juke 
boxes in pubs and clubs.  
No film shall be exhibited unless – 
(i) it has received a ‘U’, ‘PG’, ‘12A’, ‘15’ or ‘18’ certificate of the British 

Board of Film Classifications; or 
(ii) it is a current newsreel, which has not been submitted to the British 

Board of Film Classification; 
(iii) no film classified as R18 may be exhibited in these premises. 

   
CE02 No person apparently under the age of eighteen years shall be 

admitted to any exhibition at which there is to be shown any film, which 
has received, a ‘18’ certificate from the British Board of Film 
Classification.  In such circumstances a “Challenge 25” policy should 
be adhered to and valid proof of age required before admittance. 

 
CE03 No person apparently under the age of fifteen years shall be admitted to 

any exhibition at which there is to be shown any film which has received 
a ‘15’ certificate from the British Board of Film Classification. 

 
CE04 No person apparently under the age of twelve years shall be admitted to 

any exhibition at which there is to be shown any film, which has received 
a ‘12A’ certificate from the British Board of Film Classification unless 
accompanied by an adult. 

 

Page 409



 

CE05 A representation or written statement of the terms of any certificate given 
by the British Board of Film Classification shall be shown on the screen 
immediately before the showing of any film to which it relates and the 
representation or statement shall be shown for long enough and in a 
form large enough for it to be read from any seat in the auditorium. 

 
CE06 There shall be prominently exhibited at each public entrance whenever 

the premises are open to the public a notice indicating in tabular form 
and in clear bold letters and figures – 

(i) The title of each film to be shown on that day, other than trailers 
and films of less than five minutes duration; 

(ii) The approximate times of commencement of each such film’ 
 (iii)  Whether each such film has received a ‘U’, ‘PG’, ‘12A’, ‘15’ or ‘18’ 

certificate from the British Board of Film Classification, and 
(iii) The effect of such ‘U’, ‘PG’, ‘12A’ or ‘18’ certificates in relation to 

the admission of persons under the age of eighteen years. 
 
CE07 The notice shall be not less than 36 inches in dimensions and shall be 

in the form specified hereunder, the distinguishing initial letters ‘U’, 
‘PG’, ‘12A’, ‘15’ and ‘18’ being not less than 1½ inches in height. 

 
CATEGORY ‘U’: Passed for universal exhibition 
CATEGORY ‘PG’: Passed for universal exhibition but parents are 

advised that the film contains some scenes which 
may be unsuitable for young children. 

CATEGORY ‘12A’: Passed as suitable only for exhibition to persons of 
twelve years and over.  Children under 12 must be 
accompanied by an adult. 

CATEGORY ‘15’: Passed as suitable only for exhibition to persons of 
fifteen years and over. 

CATEGORY ‘18’: Passed as suitable only for exhibition to adults.  
When a programme includes an ‘18’ film no persons 
under eighteen years can be admitted. 

 
CE08 The nature of any certificate received in respect of a film from the British 

Board of Film Classification shall be clearly indicated by the figure ‘U’, 
‘PG’, ‘12A’, ‘15’ or ‘18’ in any advertisement of the film displayed at the 
premises. 

 
CE09 No advertisement displayed at the premises of a film to be exhibited at 

the premises shall depict as a scene or incident in the film any scene or 
incident which is not included in the film as certified by the British Board 
of Film Classification or approved for exhibition by the Licensing 
Authority, as the case may be. 

 
CE10 Where the Licensing Authority has given notice in writing to the licensee 

of the premises objecting to an advertisement on the ground that, if 
displayed, it would offend against good taste or decency or be likely to 
encourage or incite to crime or to lead to disorder or to be offensive to 
public feeling that advertisement shall not be displayed at the premises 
except with the consent in writing of the Licensing Authority. 

 

Page 410



 

CE11 Where the Licensing Authority has given notice in writing to the licensee 
of the premises prohibiting the exhibition of a film on the ground that it 
contains matter which, if exhibited, would offend against good taste or 
decency or would be likely to encourage or incite to crime or to lead to 
disorder or to be offensive to public feeling, that film shall not be exhibited 
in the premises except with the consent in writing of the Licensing 
Authority. 

 
CE12 If the Licensing Authority request the licensee to exhibit to them any film 

shown or proposed to be shown by him, he shall do so at such time and 
to such persons as the Licensing Authority may direct. 

 
CE13 No persons shall be permitted to enter or continue within the licensed 

premises in a state of intoxication.  All persons within the premises 
whose conduct is deemed by the licensee to be conductive to any breach 
of the peace, tumult or disorder shall be forthwith removed there from.  
The licensee shall be responsible for the maintenance of good order and 
decent behaviour in the licensed premises, and he shall by himself and 
his servants assist to the utmost in the capture and expulsion of any 
offender. 

 
CE14 There shall be fixed on each floor of the hall a special white signal light, 

to the approval of the Chief Constable, which shall be operated by a 
switch in the operator’s box, and by a switch or switches fitted in an 
approved position in the hall.  This light shall be used as a warning to 
attendants that an emergency exists and upon receiving the signal, 
attendants will take steps forthwith to control the movements of the 
audience and ensure the orderly and safe clearance of the hall.  

 
Conditions to be complied with when showing ‘RESTRICTED’ (18)’ films 
 

CE15 No films in the ‘RESTRICTED (18)’ category may be exhibited except in 
a cinema operating as a club in accordance with the conditions set out 
below. 

 
CE16 No club showing films in the ‘RESTRICTED (18)’ category may operate 

in a multi-screen complex whilst persons under the age of 18 are being 
admitted to any performance given in that complex. 

 
CE17 An exception may be made to the above condition only if the cinema 

club and all facilities adjacent thereto, including foyers, lavatories and 
refreshment areas, are wholly segregated and accessible only through 
a separate entrance and box office. 

 
CE18 All registers of members and visitors books of their guests shall be 

available for immediate inspection by the Licensing Authority during any 
performance, or at any other reasonable time. 

 
CE19 Tickets shall in no circumstances be sold to persons other than 
members. 
 

Page 411



 

CE20 Front of house advertising for films in the ‘RESTRICTED (18)’ category 
will specify the category in which the film has been passed for exhibition 
but will include no pictorial material or other information about the names 
of performers or the plot.  Newspaper advertisements for an exhibition 
will be limited to the inclusion of the titles of such films in the film listings 
column together with the category in which the film has been passed for 
exhibition.  

  
CE21 No persons under 18 years of age shall be employed in any capacity at 

licensed premises which are operating as cinema clubs showing films in 
the ‘RESTRICTED (18)’ category. 

 
CE22 Except with the prior consent of the Licensing Authority in writing, no 

intoxicating drinks shall be consumed, supplied or sold on the premises. 
 
CE23 Membership rules for club cinemas shall include the following: 

(i) only members and their guests shall attend exhibitions of moving 
pictures classified in the ‘RESTRICTED (18)’ category; 

(ii) Membership shall be open to persons of both sexes of not less 
than 18 years of age.  Applications for membership, including both 
name and address, shall be in writing, signed by the applicant, 
and if deemed necessary such applications shall provide 
satisfactory references and proof of 
age;
  

(iii) No person shall be admitted to membership until the expiration of 
at least 24 hours after such written application has been approved 
by the licensed proprietors; 

(iv) Members shall be entitled on any one day to bring not more than 
one guest to accompany the member and the name of the guest 
shall be entered in the visitor’s book and countersigned by the 
member; 

(v) Tickets shall be sold only to members on the production of a 
membership card, and members shall, if required, sign an 
acknowledgement for the ticket or tickets issued; 

(vi) Membership cards shall be personal to the member and shall not 
be transferable to any other person; 

(vii) Neither membership tickets nor guest tickets shall be transferable; 
No member shall introduce as a guest any person under the age 
of 18 or any person whose application for membership has been 
refused; 

(viii) Proof of identity, or of age, or of any particulars of any guest shall 
be produced by any member or guest if demanded by the 
proprietors; 

(ix) An annual subscription shall be fixed for the club and shall run for 
12 months from the date of registration; 

(x) A subscription may not entitle the club member to attend other 
clubs under the same management unless the prior consent of 
the Licensing authority has been obtained. 

(xi) On admission a member shall be bound by the rules of the club 
and by any byelaws and regulations made there-under. 

 

Page 412



 

CE24 For the purposes of these conditions ‘film’ means any exhibition of 
moving pictures produced otherwise than by the simultaneous reception 
and exhibition of television programmes broadcast by the British 
Broadcasting Corporation or the Independent Broadcasting Authority or 
programmes included in a cable programme service which is, or does 
not require to be, licensed under Section 4 of the Cable and 
Broadcasting Act 1984. 

 
 
CL CEILINGS 
 
CL01 All ceilings and ornamental plasterwork in those parts of the premises 

to which the public are admitted shall be inspected at least once in 
every five years by a qualified person appointed by, or on behalf of the 
occupier of the premises free of expense to the Licensing Authority, 
and a certificate concerning the conditions of such ceilings and 
plasterwork shall, after each inspection, be forwarded to the Licensing 
Authority.  Such inspections shall be made in the presence of an 
authorised officer of the Licensing Authority. 

 
CL02 The certificate required to be submitted by the previous paragraph of 

these conditions shall be in the following form:- 
“I/We hereby certify that the ceilings and ornamental plasterwork over all 
parts of the premises to which the public have access at (insert name of 
premises) have been inspected on (insert date) and these inspections 
indicate that such ceilings and plasterwork, so far as can be ascertained 
by visual or other examination, appear to be in a safe condition on this 
date”. 
Signed………………………… 
Competent Technical Advisor(s) to the Licensee(s).
 Date………………………. 
I/We hereby certify that I/We were present at the inspection referred to 
in this certificate and that the inspection was thoroughly carried out. 
Signed………………………… 
Technical Advisor(s) to the Licensing Authority .
 Date………………………. 
CL03 
It shall be competent for the Licensing Authority in any instance to 
require the provision of a certificate as the safe condition of the aforesaid 
ceilings and plasterwork at such lesser intervals than five years as the 
Licensing Authority deem necessary. 

 
CV     CHILDREN AND VULNERABLE PERSONS 
 
CV01 All children shall vacate the premises by (insert time) hours. 
 
CV02 No person under sixteen years of age shall be in the bar of the licensed 

premises during the permitted hours unless one of the following 
applies: 
(i) He is the child of the holder of the premises licence; 
(ii) He resides in the premises, but is not employed there; 

Page 413



 

(iii) He is in the bar solely for the purpose of passing to or from some 
part of the premises, which is not a bar, and to or from which there 
is no other convenient means of access or egress; 

(iv) The bar is in railway refreshment rooms or other premises 
constructed, fitted and intended to be used bona fide for any purpose 
to which the holding of the licence is ancillary. 
In this condition “bar” includes any place exclusively or mainly used 
for the consumption of intoxicating liquor.  But an area is not a bar 
when it is usual for it to be, and it is, set apart for the service of table 
meals and intoxicating liquor is only sold or supplied to persons as 
an ancillary to their table meals; 

(v) He is in the bar in the company of a person who is aged 18 years or 
over. 

 
CV03 All open fireplaces or stoves must be protected when in use so as to 

prevent injury to vulnerable members of the public such as children, 
such as by the use of suitable fireguards. 

 
CV04 Children must be accompanied by a responsible adult. 
 
CV05 Intoxicating liquor will only be sold and supplied to customers who are 

engaging in a sit down table meal, as an ancillary to that meal. 
 
CV06 If the recipient of a delivery of alcohol or the collection or delivery of a 

takeaway meal which includes alcohol, appears under 25 years of age, 
recognised photographic identification will be requested before any 
intoxicating liquor is handed over.  Acceptable proof of age shall 
include identification bearing the customers photograph, date of birth 
and integral holographic mark or security measure.  Suitable means of 
identification would include PASS approved proof of age card, 
photo=card driving licence and passport. 

 
CV07 The premises licence holder shall ensure that suitable policies are 

implemented to ensure the safety of vulnerable persons, such as 
disabled persons, on the premises whilst the licensable activity is 
taking place. 

 
CV08 The premises licence holder shall ensure that suitable measures are 

implemented to ensure the safety if disabled persons.  Regard should 
be made to any particular aspect of the premises layout or nature of 
activities that may pose particular hazards for disabled persons. 

 
CV09 People with disabilities may be permitted, to sit in the auditorium in 

wheelchairs, other than petrol driven chairs, subject to the following 
conditions: 
(i) A section of the auditorium approved in writing by the Licensing 

Authority shall be set aside for the accommodation of 
 wheelchairs; 

(ii) The section of the auditorium so set aside shall be easy and direct 
access to the open air through an exit door additional to any exit 
door provided for use by other members of the audience; 

Page 414



 

(iii) Where a person with disabilities requires the assistance of a 
helper, that helper shall be seated close at hand and be able to 
push the wheelchair, with its occupant, out into the open air in 
case of emergency, without difficulty; 

(iv) Petrol driven wheelchairs shall not be permitted on the premises. 
 

CV10 The premise licence holder shall ensure that all open fireplaces or stoves 
must be protected when in use so as to prevent injury to vulnerable 
members of the public such as children, such as by the use of suitable 
fireguards. 

 
CV11 The premises shall not be permitted to be used for any adult 

entertainment or services, activities, other entertainment or matters 
ancillary to the use of the premises that may give rise to concern in 
respect of children, which prohibited uses include, among other things, 
nudity or semi-nudity films for restricted age groups or any relevant 
entertainment (with the meaning of the third schedule to the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 except where that is 
expressly permitted under a licence or waiver granted or given under 
that legislation. 

 
CV12 There shall be no events for persons under 18 years of age 
 
CV13 It shall be the responsibility of the premises licence holder, to ensure that 

an appointed person shall be in charge of the premises when regulated 
entertainment is taking place to ensure the safety of disabled persons 
on the premises. 

 
CV14 A till prompt system shall be installed to assist staff by reminding them 

to challenge for ID when a sale is made. 
 
CV15 Documented delegation of authorisations to sell alcohol shall be 

maintained at the premises and shall be available on request by an 
authorised officer of the Licensing Authority or a constable.  

 
 
DA     DRUG ACTION 
 
DA01 Where there is reasonable suspicion that drugs, defined as Class A, B 

or C controlled substances under the Misuse of Drugs Act, or weapons 
are being carried, the premises licence holder shall ensure that the 
outer clothing, pockets and bags of those entering the premises are 
searched by door security personnel.  In any event where controlled 
substances or weapons are found, the premises licence holder shall 
ensure that the designated premises supervisor or nominated person 
shall immediately inform the Police. 

 
 

DA02 The premises licence holder shall ensure that a clearly visible notice will 
be placed on the premises advising those attending, that the Police will 
be informed if anyone is found in possession of controlled substances or 
weapons. 

Page 415



 

 
DA03 The premises licence holder shall ensure that documented security 

arrangements are implemented at the premises to discourage the sale 
and consumption of controlled substances.  Security arrangements shall 
include having a member of staff regularly check toilet areas, the date 
and times of all checks to be recorded in a bound book kept for that 
purpose and to be produced upon request to an authorised officer of the 
Licensing Authority or a constable.  Signage shall also be placed in the 
toilet areas advising patrons that checks are conducted regularly.  

 
DA04 The premises licence shall ensure that, with regard to controlled 

substances, harm reduction information is displayed within the venue 
and that there are suitably experienced members of staff, or outreach 
workers from a local drugs agency, dedicated to providing harm 
reduction information and to dealing with drug related incidents or 
emergencies appropriately. 

 
DA05 The premises licence shall ensure that rest facilities are provided when 

required, to the satisfaction of the Licensing Authority, which are cooler, 
quieter and preferably separate from the main dance area(s).  These 
‘chill out’ areas should offer adequate seating. 

 
 
DC DOOR CONTROL / STEWARDING 
 
DC01 Door supervisors who have been approved by the Security Industry 

Authority or any accreditation scheme recognised by the Licensing 
Authority, shall be used to vet customers and maintain public order.  
The vetting process must include implementation of the premises’ proof 
of age policy.  All door supervisors must ensure that identification 
bearing the customers photograph, date of birth and integral 
holographic mark or security measure is produced before allowing 
entry and where it is not, entry shall be refused.  Suitable means of 
identification would include PASS approved proof of age card, photo-
card driving licences and passports. 

 
DC02 There shall be a minimum of (insert number) door supervisors, who 

have been accredited by the Security Industry Authority or any 
accreditation scheme recognised by the Licensing Authority, on duty 
from (insert hours) hours on each trading day and who shall remain on 
duty until the premises closes. 

 
DC03 [A]  The premises licence holder shall ensure that the following details 

for each door supervisor, are contemporaneously entered into a bound 
register kept for that purpose: 
(i)  Full name; 
(ii) SIA Certificate number and or badge number, or registration 

number of any accreditation scheme recognised by the Licensing 
Authority (including expiry date of that registration or 
accreditation);The time they began their duty; 

(iii) The time they completed their duty. 

Page 416



 

(iv) This register is to be kept at the premises at all times and shall be 
so maintained as to enable an authorised officer of the Licensing 
Authority or a constable to establish the particulars of all door 
stewards engaged at the premises during the period of not less 
than 31 days prior to the request and shall be open to inspection 
by authorised officers of the Licensing Authority or a constable 
upon request.  

 
[B]  The premises licence holder shall ensure that the following details 
for each door supervisor are entered into a bound register kept for that 
purpose to include the following details: 
(i) Name 
(ii) Date of birth 
(iii) Address 
(iv) Contact telephone numbers 
(v) SIA Certificate number, or registration number of any 

accreditation scheme recognised by the Licensing Authority 
(vi) The full details of any agency through which they have been 

allocated to work at the premises if appropriate 
These details should be easily accessible to any authorised officer of the 
Licensing Authority or a constable. 

 
DC04 The premise licence holder shall ensure that all door supervisors on duty 

at the premises wear a current identification badge, issued by the 
Security Industry Authority or any accreditation scheme recognised by 
the Licensing Authority, in a conspicuous position to the front of their 
upper body. 

 
DC05 The premise licence holder shall require the Designated Premises 

Supervisor, or in his/her absence other responsible person, to keep an 
“Incident Report Register” in a bound book, in which full details of all 
incidents are recorded.  This shall be completed as soon as possible and 
in any case no later than the close of business on the day of the incident.  
The time and date when the report was completed, and by whom, is to 
form part of the entry.  The register is to be kept on the premises at all 
times and shall be produced to an authorised officer of the Licensing 
Authority or a constable when required. 

 
DC06 The premise licence holder shall require the designated premises 

supervisor, or in his/her absence other responsible person to identify by 
name, those persons performing duty as door security personnel to an 
authorised officer of the Licensing Authority or a constable. 

 
DC07 The Door Stewards shall be responsible for preventing the admission 

and ensuring the departure from the premises of persons who are drunk 
and disorderly in such a manner as not to cause further disorder. 

 
DC08 Door Stewards shall prevent access to the premises of any excluded 

individual (subject to Court bans or bans imposed by the licence holder). 
 
DC09 Where queuing is allowed outside of a premises door steward(s) shall 
maintain an orderly queue of patrons. 

Page 417



 

 
DC10 Where there is provided in any building regulated entertainment for 

children, or regulated entertainment at which the majority of the persons 
attending are children, then, if the number of children attending the 
regulated entertainment exceeds one hundred, it shall be the duty of the 
person providing the entertainment to station and keep stationed, 
wherever necessary, a sufficient number of adult attendants, properly 
instructed as to their duties, to prevent more children or other persons 
being admitted to the premises, or any part thereof, than the premises 
or part can properly accommodate, and to control the movement of the 
children and other persons admitted while entering and leaving the 
building or any part thereof, and to take all reasonable precautions for 
the safety of the children.  

 
DC11 In pursuit of the proper co-ordination of stewarding of the site and 

provision of the required level of assistance in the event of an emergency 
situation arising, the premises licence holder shall ensure that a suitably 
competent person from amongst the door supervisors/security staff is 
attached to the emergency services team at all appropriate times as a 
liaison point for stewards and security staff. 

 
DC12 The minimum number of door supervisors provided at venues, holding 

regulated entertainment for less than 500 persons, shall be based on a 
risk assessment.  

 
DC13 The minimum number of door supervisors provided at venues, holding 

regulated entertainment for more than 500 persons, shall be based on a 
risk assessment.  The risk assessment shall follow the 
recommendations as laid out in the Health and Safety Executive’s Event 
Safety Guide or any other similar guidance recognised by the Licensing 
Authority. 

 
DC14 The premise licence holder shall ensure that appropriate measures are 

employed at the premises to verify the ages of customers obtaining 
alcohol.  Any measures that are to be used shall be approved by the 
Licensing Authority in consultation with the Police. 

 
DC15 Please note that this condition is directed specifically at problem 

premises.  Door supervisors shall be provided at the premises to a ratio 
of 1:85 patrons.  Where the premises incorporates a dedicated smoking 
area within its cartilage a minimum of (insert number) door supervisors 
shall permanently monitor the smoking area during (insert appropriate 
hours). 

 
DC16 A minimum of (insert number) door supervisors shall be permanently 

stationed at each entrance/exit [excluding fire exits] to the premises. 
 
DC17 Door Supervisors shall be on duty at the premises on each trading day 

from (insert commencement hours) until (insert terminal hours). 
 

Page 418



 

DC18 All door supervisors shall be capable of communicating instantly with 
one another by way of radio or other simultaneous system of 
communication. 

 
DC19 Please note that this condition is directed specifically at problem 

premises.  All door supervisors shall wear distinctive clothing or insignia 
to clearly identify them as door supervisors.  Door supervisors on duty 
at the front door shall wear some form of ‘high visibility’ clothing (such as 
a jacket or waistcoat). 

 
DC20 When licensable activities occur on a Sunday before a Bank Holiday, 

SIA registered door staff shall be employed during all  
trading hours. 

 
EL ELECTRICAL FITINGS AND INSTALLATIONS 
 
EL01 Temporary electrical wiring and distribution systems shall not be 

provided without notification to the Licensing Authority at least 10 days 
before the commencement of works and a prior inspection by a suitably 
qualified electrician.  A record shall be kept by the premises holder. 

 
EL02 The fixed electrical wiring installation and any portable electrical 

appliances should be inspected and tested by a competent person at 
the appropriate frequency specified in the Regulations for the Electrical 
Equipment of Buildings issued by the Institution of Electrical Engineers 
(BS 7671 or any British Standard replacing or amending the same) for 
that type of premises and equipment.  Records of this inspection shall 
be maintained by the licence holder and made available at the 
premises for inspection by any authorised officer of the Licensing 
Authority or a constable. 

 
EL03 All temporary electrical wiring and distribution systems shall comply 

with the recommendations of British Standard No. 7671 or where 
applicable British Standard No. 7909 or any British Standard replacing 
or amending the same. 

 
EL04 The premise licence holder shall ensure that a Residual Current Device 

protection, sensitive to tripping currents of not more than 30 milli-amps, 
are fitted to all power circuits supplying sockets that may be used by 
entertainers / members of the public for plugging in electrical 
equipment.  These should be regularly tested to ensure they are still 
functioning as required. 

 
EL05 With regard to premises with outdoor areas, a Residual Current Device 

protection sensitive to tripping currents of not more than 30 milli-amps, 
must be fitted to power circuits supplying outdoor sockets and also 
indoor sockets that might be expected, with the use of plug-in 
extension leads, to power outdoor circuits. 

 
EL06 Proper means of access for maintenance of all electrical fittings or 

apparatus shall be provided. 
 

Page 419



 

EL07 Electrical installation in areas used by members of the public shall be 
subject to the following: 
(i) Any alterations made to electrical installations, including the use of 

temporary wiring and distribution systems, shall comply with the 
relevant edition of the Regulations for the Electrical Equipment of 
Buildings issued by the Institution of Electrical Engineers (BS 7671 
or any British Standard replacing or amending the same). 

(ii) All electrical equipment and installations shall be subject to regular 
visual checks to ensure that they are safe and in good working order, 
as well as formal routine tests by a competent person as advised in 
the aforementioned BS 7671 guidance. 

(iii) A Residual Current Device protection sensitive to tripping currents 
of not more than 30 milli-amps, must be fitted to power circuits 
supplying outdoor sockets and also indoor sockets that might be 
expected, with the use of plug-in extension leads, to power outdoor 
circuits. 

 
 
EX EXTERNAL AREAS 
 
EX01 The (insert name of area i.e. beer garden, upper patio, etc) shall only 

be open to customers (insert days) from (insert commencement time) 
until 22:00 hours.  Adequate notices shall be displayed in appropriate 
locations to ensure that this information is brought to the attention of 
patrons.  

 
EX02 All outside areas must be closed and cleared of customers by 22:00 

hours.  Adequate notices shall be displayed to inform patrons of this 
requirement. 

 
EX03 The premises licence holder shall investigate and propose measures to 

enclose the garden area to a sufficient height to prevent patrons or 
members of the public accessing or egressing the garden areas over 
the existing boundary within 3 months of the date of the hearing (i.e. 
insert date).  Such proposals to be implemented subject to the 
applicants’ best endeavours to obtain planning permission.  It is 
anticipated that the works to be completed within one year of the date 
of the hearing (i.e. by (insert date)). 

 
EX04 A risk assessment shall be conducted and regularly reviewed to assess 

the numbers of persons that the outside area can safely accommodate.  
The premises licence holder shall ensure that there are measures in 
place to monitor the external area to ensure that a safe occupancy 
figure is not exceeded. 

 
 
FA FIRST AID 
 
FA01 For events where it is anticipated that more than 100 persons will be in 

attendance or where an activity is taking place that is likely to give rise 
to personal injury (e.g. indoor sporting events/use of special 
effects/etc.), the premises licence holder shall ensure that first aid 

Page 420



 

provision is available at all times that licensable activity is taking place 
and shall have a suitably qualified first-aider on the premises during 
that period. 

 
FA02 The minimum standard of first aid provision for events of more than 

500 persons shall be in accordance with a risk assessment.  The risk 
assessment shall take into account the recommendations of the Health 
and Safety Executive’s Event Safety Guide or any other guidance 
recognised by the Licensing Authority. 

 
FA03 The premises licence holder shall provide medical facilities, which are 

adequate for the purpose by the Ambulance Service.  Details of the 
organisation of these services shall be provided to the Licensing 
Authority not less than 14 days prior to an event.  The medical facilities 
shall include: 
(i) Sufficient means of communication between the first aid post(s) 

and the main control point on the site and/or stewards, and an 
adequate standby point for ambulances; 

(ii) Adequate medical facilities within the pit area/backstage area; 
(iii) A facility within the concert area serving as the main medical facility 

provided by the approved contractor for medical facilities. 
Persons wearing distinctive dress shall staff the first aid post(s), and the 
first aiders on site shall be available to offer assistance through the whole 
site. 

 
FA04 Individual toilet units, not available for general public use shall be sited 

adjacent to the first aid post(s). 
 
FA05 The premises licence holder shall notify the Great Western Ambulance 

NHS Trust (or equivalent) of the first-aid operating on site, prior to the 
event and of the on site telephone contact point for the said agency.  
The Great Western Ambulance NHS Trust shall certify to the 
satisfaction of the Licensing Authority that adequate arrangements 
have been made with the first-aid agency operating on the site to deal 
with emergencies. 

 
FA06 Adequate medical facilities shall be available on site from the time 

when it is first occupied by the public to the time when it is vacated.  
The level of provision shall be as advised by the Ambulance Service 
and the time at which the provision ceases shall be subject to the 
agreement of the Licensing Authority. 

 
 
FE FIRE FIGHTING EQUIMENT AND FIRE PRECAUTIONS 

Please note that there are no conditions in this section as potential 
conditions have been superseded by the Regulatory Reform Order 
relating to Fire Safety. 

 
GS GENERAL SAFETY AND EVACUATION 
 
GS01 All doors and fastenings shall at all times be kept in proper working 

order. 

Page 421



 

 
GS02 Any door not usable by the public to be marked “PRIVATE”, notices 

bearing the words “NO EXIT” or “NO WAY OUT” shall not be used. 
 
GS03 A door or gate shall not open immediately upon a step or steps.  A 

landing having a width of not less than 900 mm shall be provided 
between the door and gate and the step or steps. 

 
GS04 Barriers for checking or controlling admission shall not be used without 

permission of the Licensing Authority. 
 
GS05 Temporary barriers, other than rope barriers of a type approved by the 

Licensing Authority, shall not be provided.  Rope barriers approved by 
the Licensing Authority shall be fitted with automatic catches or slip 
connections and shall be arranged so as not to trail on the floor when 
parted, and the fittings shall not project into the gangway or exit way. 

 
GS06 Curtains shall not be hung across gangways or over staircases; where 

hung over doorways or across corridors they shall draw easily from the 
centre and slide freely and shall be clear of the floor.  All hangings, 
curtains and temporary decorations shall be maintained in a flame 
retardant condition. 

 
GS07 All curtains, hangings and temporary decorations are arranged so as not 

to cause any obstruction. 
 

GS08 Any temporary decorations are not used without prior notification to the 
Licensing Authority. 

 
GS09 Stairways, corridors or gangways shall not be used as cloakrooms and 

no pegs for hanging hats, cloaks or other articles shall be fitted therein.  
All escape routes shall be kept free of any obstruction.  Where 
cloakrooms are provided, they shall be so situated that the persons 
using them shall not interfere with the free use of any exit route. 

 
GS10 The public shall be permitted to leave by all exit and entrance doors after 

each performance, entrances being considered and treated as exits for 
all purposes, provided that they are not revolving doors or fitted with 
turnstiles. 

 
GS11 Adequate means of escape shall be provided from all dressing rooms. 

 
GS12 Gangways shall be of adequate width for the number of persons served, 

and in no case shall be less than 1.1 m wide. 
 

GS13 There shall be no projection, which would diminish the clear width of the 
gangway. 

 
GS14 No person shall be permitted to sit or stand in any gangway, unless by 

express permission of the Licensing Authority who shall stipulate the 
space allowed for standing and the number of persons permitted to 
stand. 

Page 422



 

 
GS15 Emergency exits will be kept clear of obstructions at any time when 

licensable activities are taking place. 
 

GS16 A continuous handrail shall be securely fixed on each side of all 
staircases, steps and landings at a height of not less than 840 mm nor 
more than 1 metre, measured vertically from the pitch line, except that 
only one such handrail need be provided to such staircases, flights of 
steps or landings which are less than 1 m wide.  Where a staircase is 
1.8 metres or more in width, a central handrail shall, in addition, be 
provided, properly supported and secured to the steps. 

 
GS17 The premises licence holder shall provide training for all staff to ensure 

that they are familiar with all means of ingress and egress and the 
appropriate procedures in case of any emergencies that require an 
immediate evacuation of the premises.  A record of the training shall be 
maintained and shall be available upon request by an authorised officer 
of the Licensing Authority or a constable. 

  
GS18 Paper decorations, not being decorations the whole surface of which is 

directly affixed to walls or ceilings, shall not be permitted. 
 

GS19 Predetermined arrangements shall be made for alerting staff in the event 
of any emergency.  These arrangements shall be of such a nature not to 
alarm the public. 

 
GS20 All employees or persons involved in the organisation and control of 

events shall have allotted to them specified duties to be performed in the 
event of fire, panic or other emergency.  Such duties shall aim at the 
avoidance of panic and the safe evacuation of the premises where 
necessary rather than the extinction of fire. 

 
GS21 All exit doors shall be easily opened without the use of key, card, code 

or similar means. 
 

GS22 Doors of such exits are to be regularly checked to ensure that the doors 
function satisfactorily and a record of the check is kept in a log book for 
that purpose. 

 
GS23 Arrangements must be in place to ensure that all parts of the premises 

that members of the public may use, whether this be regularly or only 
in case of emergency are suitably illuminated during times of use (this 
includes internal and external areas, for example such as corridors, 
lobbies, emergency exits, car parks etc.) 

 
GS24 Where the premises is part of a shared property and members of the 

public may require access through areas not under the direct control of 
the premises licence holder (such as escape routes), the premises 
licence holder must ensure that he has liaised with the appropriate 
persons and has in place such arrangements as are necessary to ensure 
that the safety of members of the public is not compromised by the use 

Page 423



 

of these shared areas and that none of the other licensing conditions 
may be breached. 

 
GS25 Where the premises, or parts of the premises may be hired out by third 

parties or be used by events promoters, the premises licence holder 
must ensure that there are appropriate arrangements in place that will 
ensure that as far as is possible, the third party is aware of the licensing 
conditions and has in place their own arrangements which will ensure 
that the licensing objectives are not compromised. 

 
GS26 All traffic routes used by members of the public (including entrance ways, 

gangways, lobbies, corridors, passages and exit routes and all steps and 
stairways) should have: 
(i) Nosings of the treads of steps in a contrasting colour to the 

remainder of the tread.  The nosings shall show up clearly under 
emergency lighting conditions; 

(ii) Any changes in level clearly visible to members of the public, such 
as by using contrasting colours or additional lighting; 

(iii) Mats more than 1 cm thick sunk to floor level unless of rubber with 
wide bevelled edges. 

 
A continuous handrail securely fixed on each side of all staircases, steps 
and landings which are less than 1 m wide.  Where a staircase is 1.8 
metres or more in width, a central handrail shall, in addition, be provided, 
properly supported and secured to the steps. 

 
GS27 Heavy Fittings.  Heavy fittings such as projectors, stage lights, etc., must 

have not less than two independent means of suspension e.g. clamp and 
chain. 

 
GS28 Smoking Area.  If patrons are to be allowed to use the area for smoking 

then the following conditions must apply: 
(i) The area must be adequately monitored by door staff and CCTV to 

ensure that patrons do not cause a nuisance, patrons do not obstruct 
access to adjoining premises and risk of crime and disorder in this 
area is adequately controlled; 

(ii) If there is a risk that patrons may acquire illegal items such as drugs 
or weapons whilst in this area then they must be searched before 
being allowed to re-enter the premises; 

(iii) Patrons must not be allowed to take drinks to the smoking area; 
(iv) The area must be provided with suitable ashtrays/bins, the use of 
 which is monitored by door staff; 

 The area must be regularly swept to remove cigarette ends; 
(v) Adequate arrangements must be made to prevent overcrowding or 

disorder on the (insert location), particularly if patrons exiting 
towards the smoking area whilst others are queuing for entrance 
in/on the (insert location). 
 

GS29 All gangways, passages, staircases and exit ways must at all times be 
kept entirely free from chairs or any other obstructions and from any 
article of substance which may cause a person to slip, tip or fall. 

 

Page 424



 

GS30 Barriers for checking or controlling admission shall not be used save in 
accordance with a documented policy that includes the following: 
(i) Risk assessments; 
(ii) Details of type to include design, construction materials, size – e.g. 

height 
(iii) Precise location of all elements of the barrier 

 
Said document having been provided to the Licensing Authority, to be kept with 
the licence records. 

  
GS31 The floors of all gangways, lobbies, corridors, passages and other exit 

routes and the tread of all steps and stairways shall be non-slippery and 
flat.  The nosings of the treads of steps, changes of level and stairways 
shall be of a contrasting colour to the remainder of the tread.  The 
nosings shall show up clearly under emergency lighting conditions.  
(premises may be exempt from this requirement where the premises is 
a listed building or similar). 

 
 
GB GLASS / BOTTLES 
 
GB01 The Licensee shall ensure that any bottles or glasses are removed 

from persons leaving the premises. 
 
GB02 No bottles containing beverages of any kind whether opened or sealed 

shall be given to customers on the premises for consumption by those 
persons on the premises whether at the bar or by staff service away 
from the bar. 

 
GB03 The contents of any bottled beverage shall be decanted into a plastic / 

PTE / glass before service to any customer. 
 
GB04 The premises licence holder shall ensure that all drinking glasses used 

within the premises are of toughened or safety glass to the appropriate 
safety standard, in that they shall not produce sharp shards when 
broken. 

 
GB05 No customer carrying open or sealed beverage containers shall be 

admitted to the premises at such times as they are open to the public. 
 
GB06 Bottles containing wine may only be sold in connection with a table 

meal to customers who are seated in an area of the consumption of 
food that is away from the main bar. 

 
GB07 Items of glass-wear (such as glasses, bottles, etc) shall not be 

permitted in the outdoor area/dance-floor area *[*delete as 
appropriate]. 

 
GB08 Glazing.  Windows and mirrors must be of safety glass or adequately 

protected from breakage, particularly when they are in safety critical 
locations.  They must also be marked to make their presence obvious. 

 

Page 425



 

GB09 All beverages (including alcoholic and non alcoholic drinks) shall only be 
dispensed in polycarbonate, plastic or non-glass containers. 

 
GB10 The contents of all glass bottles shall be decanted by bar staff into 

polycarbonate, plastic or non-glass containers.  All glass bottles are to 
be retained behind the bar for safe disposal. 

 
GB11 The premises licence holder shall ensure that any bottles or glasses are 
removed from persons leaving the premises. 

 
 
HF LATE NIGHT REFRESHMENT [HOT FOOD] 
 
HF01 It shall not be lawful to make any charge for or in connection with the 

entertainment of persons in the refreshment house during the hours of 
late opening, whether for the supply of food or drink, for admission, for 
service of any description or for any other matter, except any 
reasonable charge for use of cloakroom or toilet facilities unless: 
(i) A tariff or charges made in the refreshment house is during those 

hours kept displayed in such position and in such manner that it 
can be conveniently read by person frequenting the refreshment 
house and can be so ready by any such person before entering; 
and 

(ii) The charge is specified for the matter in question in the tariff; and  
(iii) The charge is no more than that stated in the tariff 

 
HF02 It shall not be lawful to seek to obtain custom for the refreshment house 

by means of personal solicitation outside or in the vicinity of the 
refreshment house. 

 
 
NP NOISE PRECAUTIONS 
 
NP01 Whilst it is recognised that short-term exposure is unlikely to cause 

long term hearing damage, it is recognised that it may cause short-term 
health problems such as tinnitus, acoustic trauma or temporary 
threshold shift if the noise levels are excessive. 
The premises licence holder shall ensure that: 
(i) The speakers are not placed in positions where members of the 

public can stand within close proximity to them. 
(ii) Consumer-friendly signs that give advice about hearing protection 

shall be appropriately displayed. Earplugs are either available free 
of charge or that they are available for purchase by patrons. 

 
NP02 Amplified music shall not be played at a level that will cause 

unreasonable disturbance to the occupants of any properties in the 
vicinity. 

 
NP03 Except for access and egress all doors and windows shall be kept 

closed during periods of entertainment associated with the Premises 
Licence. 

 

Page 426



 

NP04 No speakers for amplification of music shall be placed on the outside of 
the premises or on the outside of any building forming a part of the 
premises. 

 
NP05 Alarms shall be fitted to (Specify location of external windows/fire doors) 

to alert staff when (they are) (it is) opened without authorisation. 
 

NP06 No music or speech shall be relayed via external speakers other than for 
events where the prior approval of the licensing authority has been 
obtained. 

 
NP07 The specification, location and orientation of all permanently fixed 

speakers shall be agreed with an authorised officer of the Licensing 
Authority. 

 
NP08 No repositioning or replacement of speakers or any amplification 

equipment shall be carried out without consultation with and the 
agreement of an authorised officer of the Licensing Authority. 

 
NP09 Noise from music and associated sources shall not be audible in noise 

sensitive premises (between the hours of 23.00 and 07.00 the next day) 
(at any time). 

 
NP10 In order to improve the sound attenuation of the premises the (doors(s)) 

(window(s)) at (specify) shall be fitted with (double) (secondary) glazing 
to the satisfaction of the Licensing Authority by (insert date). 

 
NP11 (Doors) (Windows) (Openings) (Ventilators) (Airbricks (fans)) in the 

external fabric of the premises shall be acoustically (sealed) (treated) to 
the satisfaction of the Licensing Authority by (insert date).  

 
NP12 A (sound trap lobby/acoustic door/automatic door closer) shall be 

installed at (describe the location) to the satisfaction of the Licensing 
Authority by (insert date). 

 
NP13 Noise limiting devices 

If officers of the Caerphilly County Borough Council witness noise at a 
level that causes unreasonable disturbance to the occupants of any 
properties in the vicinity then a noise-limiting device shall be used in 
relation to all sound amplification equipment used in conjunction with the 
premises. 

 
NP14 A noise limiting device shall be used in relation to all sound amplification 

equipment used in conjunction with the premises licence. 
 

NP15 The noise limiting device shall be installed and set at a level approved 
by the Licensing Authority (in consultation with the Pollution Control 
Section of the Caerphilly County Borough Council) within 1 month of 
notification, for its requirement, from either the Licensing Authority or the 
Pollution Control Section of the Caerphilly County Borough Council. 

 

Page 427



 

NP16 The noise limiting device can only be reset with the authority of an officer 
of the Caerphilly County Borough Council. 

 
NP17 The noise limiting device shall be reset by an officer of the Caerphilly 

County Borough Council, if deemed necessary. 
 

NP18 The noise limiting device shall be properly secured so that it can not be 
tampered with. 

 
NP19 Monitoring 

The manager, licence holder or other competent person shall carry out 
observations in the vicinity of the properties at (insert location), on at 
least (insert time period e.g. hourly) intervals between (insert start time) 
and (insert finish time) whilst the Premises Licence is being exercised in 
order to establish whether there is a noise breakout from the premises.  
If the observation reveals noise breakout at a level likely to cause 
disturbance to the occupants of properties in the vicinity then the volume 
of music shall be reduced to a level that does not cause disturbance.  A 
record of such observations shall be kept in a book for that purpose, 
such a book shall be completed immediately after the observation 
detailing the time, location and duration of the observation, the level of 
noise breakout and any action taken to reduce noise breakout.  Such 
book to be made available at all times upon request to an authorised 
officer of the Licensing Authority or a constable. 

 
NP20 Sound Insulation Works 

A detailed scheme of sound insulation works shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Licensing Authority.  The approved details 
shall be implemented in full prior to the commencement of the premises 
licence. 

 
NP21 A report shall be submitted detailing and recommending a scheme of 

sound insulation works for the separating structure between the licensed 
premises and the (adjacent) residential use (above).  The report shall 
consider:  the potential for noise breakout from the building and the 
volume and nature of the music likely to be desired by the premises.  The 
report shall be approved in writing by Caerphilly County Borough 
Council.  All recommended works shall be completed prior to the 
commencement of the premises licence. 

 
NP22 A report shall be submitted detailing the potential for noise from (specify) 

(amplified music) (refrigeration) (ventilation) (air conditioning plant) 
(other) at the premises from affecting neighbouring noise sensitive 
properties at (insert address).  If the assessment indicates that noise 
from the premises is likely to affect neighbouring noise sensitive 
properties then the report shall include a detailed scheme of noise 
mitigation to show that nuisance will not be caused to the occupiers of 
neighbouring noise sensitive properties from the licensed premises. 

  
NP23 The report shall be approved in writing by Caerphilly County Borough 

Council and all recommended works completed prior to the 
commencement of the premises licence. 

Page 428



 

 
NP24 All entrances are lobbied with 2 separate self-closing doors. 

 
NP25 All internal speakers are attached to independent wall linings and not to 

the ceiling. 
 

NP26 All speakers are mounted on speaker brackets that incorporate isolating 
rubber mounts. 

 
NP27 Any bass bins are installed within acoustic enclosures that isolate the 

speaker from the building structure. 
 

NP28 The premises licence holder shall take all reasonable steps to ensure 
that patrons using any outside areas (such as terraces and beer 
gardens) do so in a quiet and orderly fashion. 

 
NP29 Noise from premises shall not result in exceedances of the following 

noise levels expressed as [x minute LAeq] at [stated location]. 
 

Frequency Range From a hours to b hours  From y hours to z hours 
(Whole range)  x dBA   y dBA 
(63Hz octave band) x dB   y dB 
(125 Hz octave band) x dB   y dB 

 
NP30 Sound Insulation Works 

A detailed scheme of sound insulation works shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the council through an authorised officer of the 
Pollution Control Team.  The approved works shall be provided in full 
prior to commencement of any regulated entertainment should the 
Premises Licence be granted. 

 
NP31 A report shall be submitted detailing and recommending a scheme of 

sound insulation works for the partition between the licensed premises 
and adjacent residential usage.  The report shall also consider the noise 
leakage from the building and also consider the volume and nature of 
the music likely to be desired by the premises.  The report shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the council through an 
authorised officer of the Pollution Control Team and all recommended 
works carried out in full prior to the commencement of any regulated 
entertainment should the Premises Licence be granted. 

 
Guidance 
 
The noise assessment shall be carried out by a suitably qualified acoustic 
consultant/engineer and shall take into account the provisions of PPG 24 
Planning Policy Guidance: Planning and Noise, BS4142: 1997.  ‘Method of  
rating industrial noise affecting mixed residential and industrial areas’ and BS 
8233: 1999 ‘Sound Insulation and Noise Insulation for Buildings – Code of 
Practice’. 
 
The recommended design criteria for dwellings are as follows: 

Page 429



 

Daytime (07.00 – 23.00) LAeq (16 hours) 35 dB & Noise Rating Curve NR35 in 
all rooms.  Nightime (23.00 – 07.00) LAeq (8 hours) 30 dB & Noise Rating Curve 
NR20 to NR25 in bedrooms. 

   
(i) NP32 A report shall be submitted detailing the potential for noise from 

(insert – amplified music, refrigeration, heating, ventilation and air 
conditioning plant etc) at the premises from affecting neighbouring noise 
sensitive properties at (insert). 

(ii) If the assessment indicates that noise from the premises is likely to affect 
neighbouring noise sensitive properties then it shall include a detailed 
scheme of noise mitigation measures to show that nuisance will not be 
caused to the occupiers of neighbouring noise sensitive properties by noise 
from the licensed premises. 

(iii) The report shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the council 
through an authorised officer of the Pollution Control Team and all 
recommended works carried out in full prior to the commencement of any 
regulated entertainment should the Premises Licence be granted. 

 
 
Guidance 
The noise assessment shall be carried out by a suitably qualified acoustic 
consultant/engineer and shall take into account the provisions of PPG 24 
Planning Policy Guidance: Planning and Noise, BS4142: 1997.   ‘Method of  
rating industrial noise affecting mixed residential and industrial areas’ and BS 
8233: 1999 ‘Sound Insulation and Noise Insulation for Buildings – Code of 
Practice’. 
 
The recommended design criteria for dwellings are as follows: 
Daytime (07.00 – 23.00) LAeq (16 hours) 35 dB & Noise Rating Curve NR35 in 
all rooms.  Nightime (23.00 – 07.00) LAeq (8 hours) 30 dB & Noise Rating Curve 
NR20 to NR25 in bedrooms. 

 
NP33 In order to improve the sound attenuation of the premises the 

[doors/windows] at [specify] shall be fitted with [double/secondary] 
glazing to the satisfaction of an authorised officer of the Pollution Control 
Team. 

  
NP34 [Openings/specify] in the external fabric of the premises must be 

acoustically sealed to the satisfaction of an authorised officer of the 
Pollution Control Team. 

 
NP35 A [sound trap lobby / acoustic door / automatic door closer] shall be 

installed at [describe the location] to the satisfaction of an authorised 
officer of the Pollution Control Team. 

  
NP36 Noise Limiting Device 

Limiter required from commencement of Premises Licence – this 
condition may be required where representations are submitted or if the 
licence is being reviewed. 

(i) A noise limiting device shall be used in relation to all sound 
amplification equipment used in conjunction with the Premises 
Licence. 

Page 430



 

(ii) The noise limiting device shall be installed and set at a level 
approved by the council through its authorised environmental 
health officer prior to the opening of the premises in conjunction 
with the premises licence. 

(iii) The noise limiting device shall be properly secured so that it can 
not be tampered with. 

(iv) The noise limiting device shall only be reset with the authority of 
the council through an authorised officer of the Pollution Control 
Team. 

If deemed necessary, the noise limiting device shall be reset to a level 
approved by the council through an authorised officer of the Pollution 
Control Team within 14 days of notification.  

 
NP37 (Condition regarding limiter only triggered if nuisance witnessed) 
 

(i) If officers of the council witness noise at a level that causes 
unreasonable disturbance to the occupants of any properties in the 
vicinity then a noise limiting device shall be used in relation to all 
sound amplification equipment used in conjunction with the 
Premises Licence. 

(ii) The noise limiting device shall be installed and set at a level approved 
by the council through an authorised officer of the Pollution Control 
Team within 1 month of notification, for its requirement, from the 
Licensing Authority. 

(iii) The noise limiting device shall be properly secured so that it can not 
be tampered with. 

(iv) The noise limiting device shall only be reset with the authority of the 
council through an authorised officer of the Pollution Control Team. 

(v) If deemed necessary, the noise limiting device shall be reset to a 
level approved by the council through an authorised officer of the 
Pollution Control Team within 14 days of notification.  

 
NP38 (Limiter already set) 
 

(i) A noise limiting device shall be used in relation to all sound 
amplification equipment used in conjunction with the Premises 
Licence. 

(ii) The noise limiting device shall be kept at the settings approved by 
the council through an authorised officer of the Pollution Control 
Team on (Date). 

(iii) The noise limiting device shall be properly secured so that it can 
not be tampered with. 

(iv) The noise limiting device shall only be reset with the authority of 
the council through an authorised officer of the Pollution Control 
Team. 

(v) If deemed necessary, the noise limiting device shall be reset to a 
level approved by the council through an authorised officer of the 
Pollution Control Team within 14 days of notification. 

 
 
 
 

Page 431



 

NP39 Monitoring  
 

(i) The manager, licensee or other competent person shall carry out 
observations in the vicinity of the properties at [insert], on at least 
[insert] intervals between [insert] and [insert] whilst live music, 
karaoke or DJ’s playing recorded music is taking place to establish 
whether there is a noise breakout from the premises. 

(ii) If the observation reveals noise breakout at a level likely to cause 
disturbance to the occupants of properties in the vicinity then the 
volume of music shall be reduced to a level that does not cause 
disturbance. 

  
NP40 A record of such observations shall be kept in a book for that purpose, 

such a book shall be completed immediately after the observation 
detailing the time, location and duration of the observation, the level of 
noise breakout and any action taken to reduce noise breakout. 

 
(i) Such book to be made available at all times upon request to a police 

officer or an officer of the local authority. 
 

NP41 One off Events 
 

The organiser shall appoint a suitably qualified and experienced noise 
control consultant approved by the council through an authorised officer 
of the Pollution Control Team no later than (insert) weeks prior to the 
event.  The noise control consultant shall liaise between all parties 
including the promoter and sound engineer and the Licensing Authority 
etc on all matters relating to noise control prior to and during the event.  
The consultant must be experienced in noise propagation and control, 
particularly from music events. 

 
NP42 The control limits set at the mixer position shall be adequate to ensure 

that Music Noise Level (MNL) shall not exceed LAeq (15 mins) of (insert) 
over a 15 minute period at the nearest noise sensitive premises 
throughout the duration of the event. 

 
NP43 A noise propagation test shall be undertaken at a time to be agreed prior 

to the start of the event in order to set appropriate control limits at the 
sound mixer position.  The sound system shall be configured and 
operated in a similar manner as intended for the event. 

 
NP44 The organiser shall ensure that the promoter, sound supplier and all 

individual sound engineers are informed of the sound control limits. 
 

NP45 A logging noise level meter shall remain at the mixing desk so that the 
noise consultant and sound engineers can ensure that the 
predetermined noise levels are not exceeded.  The results of the 
monitoring shall be provided to the Licensing Authority within 10 working 
days following the event. 

 

Page 432



 

NP46 During the events the noise consultant shall monitor noise levels at 
(insert) and at any other sites deemed necessary by the council during 
the event. 

 
NP47 The consultant shall be able to contact the mixer desk and advise the 

sound engineer accordingly to ensure that the Licensing Authority can 
contact the consultant and sound engineer throughout the events and 
during the sound checks.  The results of the monitoring shall be provided 
to the Licensing Authority within 10 working days following the event. 

 
NP48 The exact times of all sound checks and performances shall be 

submitted to, and approved by the Licensing Authority no later than 10 
working days before the events.  (In order to prevent disturbance to the 
occupiers of (insert) no sound checks shall be carried out before (insert 
hours). 

 
NP49 Details of the time, date and duration of set up and dismantling of the 

stage and other associated noise generating activities (refuse disposal, 
provision and emptying of toilets, generators, etc.) outside the times of 
the performances shall be submitted to, and approved by the Licensing 
Authority no later than 10 working days before the events.   

 
NP50 All local residents likely to be affected by noise from the event shall be 

informed in writing as to: 
(i) The exact times of all performances and sound checks. 
(ii) A contact name and telephone number should they wish to make 

a complaint of noise. 
 

NP51 The occupiers of premises, detailed below, shall be informed in writing, 
no later than 10 days before the event of the exact times that the event 
will operate and a contact name and telephone number should they wish 
to make a complaint of noise (insert addresses). 

 
NP52 Whilst the event is being held, the licensee, event organiser or other 

competent person shall carry out observations in the immediate area 
around the event, to assess the level of noise.  Should such observations 
confirm that noise is disturbing to the occupiers of premises in the 
vicinity, then appropriate steps shall be taken to control noise levels in 
order to prevent disturbance to local residents. 

 
NP53 Orientation of speakers be such that all sound is directed away from 

residential properties and towards (insert). 
 

NP54 Customer Noise 
Except for access and egress all doors and windows shall be kept closed 
after (insert) hours. 

 

NP55 Clear notices displayed at all points where customers leave the 
building must instruct them to respect the needs of local residents and 
leave the premises and the area quietly. 

 

Page 433



 

NP56 The (garden/patio) must not be used by customers after the hours of 
(insert). 

 
NP57 The car park must be securely locked to prevent access to customers 

cars between (insert) and (insert) providing the locking of the car park 
does not effect any means of escape or any evacuation plan. 

 
NP58 There shall be no consumption of beverages purchased from the 

premises outside of the premises. 
 

NP59 There shall be no consumption of beverages in any outside 
areas/specific after (insert) hours. 

 
NP60 Any outdoor areas to (the front/rear of) the premises must not be used 

by customers or staff after 22.00 hours. 
 

NP61 The premises supervisor, manager or other competent person shall 
manage any outdoor area to ensure that customers do not behave in a 
noisy, rowdy or offensive manner. 

 
NP62 Clear notices must be displayed at prominent points in all outdoor areas 

(informing them as to the requirements of points (insert and insert i.e. no 
drinks, hours of use, above and) requesting that they respect the needs 
of local residents and behave in a quiet and orderly manner. 

 
NP63 A clear notice shall be displayed at any exit to the premises to instruct 

customers to respect the needs of local residents and leave the premises 
and the area quietly. 

 
NP64 There shall be no consumption of beverages purchased from the 

premises in open containers outside at the front of the premises. 
 

NP65 No inflatable play equipment shall be used without the agreement of the 
Licensing Authority with respect to its hours of use and other conditions 
as may be appropriate. 

 
NP66 Noise from plant and equipment  

Noise from any ventilation, refrigeration or air conditioning plant or 
equipment shall not cause nuisance to the occupants of any properties 
in the vicinity. 
 
Recommendation: 
a) The rating level of any noise from any fixed plant shall not exceed 

the background noise level by more than 0dB at the nearest noise 
sensitive property as determined by BS 4142: 1997 Method of 
rating industrial noise affecting mixed residential and industrial 
areas at any time. 

b) Anti vibration mounts should be used to isolate plant from fixed 
structures and a flexible connector used to connect the flue to the 
fan if there is a potential to transmit vibration to any noise sensitive 
property.  Any systems will also need regular maintenance so as to 
reduce mechanical noise. 

Page 434



 

 
Guidance on the above can be gained at ‘Guidance on the Control of Odour 
& Noise from Commercial Kitchen Exhaust System’ published electronically 
by Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs.  Product Code 
PB10527. 

 
NP67 Signage.  Signs shall be prominently displayed at the premises 

requesting that patrons respect local residents and leave the premises 
quietly. 

 

OA OPEN AIR REGULATED ENTERTAINMENT 
 
Unique conditions will be attached to an open air event to meet the 
specific requirements of the Licensing Authority or its Responsible 
Authorities dependent on the site, the type of entertainment to be held 
and the anticipated audience. 
 

PP PERFORMANCE OF PLAYS – ONLY APPLICABLE IF AUDIENCE IN 
EXCESS OF 500 PEOPLE 

 
PP01 All scenery which expression includes all cloths, draperies, gauze 

cloths, hangings, curtains, fabric decorations and all floral decorations, 
and all properties of whatsoever kind on the stage shall be non-
flammable and shall be available for test by officers of the Fire 
Authority. 

 
PP02 Scenery (except that in use for the current production) shall only be 

kept in an appropriate scene and property store. 
 
PP03 Ropes attached to counterweights shall be tested by a competent 

person appointed by the premises licence holder at such intervals as 
may be necessary to guard against failure, and in any event not less 
than once every twelve months. 

 
PP04 Where smoking is essential to the action of the performance, such 

additional precautions as may be required by the Licensing Authority 
shall be strictly observed. 

 
PP05 The safety curtain to the proscenium opening shall be lowered and 

raised in the presence of each audience. 
 
PP06 In the event of the safety curtain being out of order, the licensee shall 

immediately notify the Chief Fire Officer. 
 
PP07 Whenever the safety curtain is lowered, sufficient lights shall be 

immediately lighted to give good general illumination of the auditorium. 
 
PP08 No scenery or apparatus of whatsoever kind shall at any time during 

the performance cross the plane of descent of the safety curtain, or in 
any circumstances interfere with its descent. 

 

Page 435



 

PP09 Except with the consent of the Licensing Authority scenery or 
properties shall not be placed on the auditorium side of the safety 
curtain. 

 
 

PS PREMISES – SECURITY 
 
PS01 Outdoor lighting shall be positioned, so far as is reasonably practicable, 

so as to limit its intrusion into residential accommodation in the vicinity 
of the licensed premises whilst maintaining an adequate level of lighting 
for the safe access and egress of customers and persons employed at 
the premises. 

 
PS02 The premises licence holder shall ensure that the car park of the 

premises shall be illuminated at all appropriate times but that outdoor 
lighting shall be positioned, so far as is reasonably practicable, so as to 
limit its intrusion into residential accommodation in the vicinity of the 
licensed premises whilst maintaining an adequate level of lighting for the 
safe access and egress of customers and persons employed at the 
premises. 

 
PS03 The premises licence holder shall ensure that the barrier to the car park 

shall be properly secured at all appropriate times, providing that securing 
of the barrier does not effect any means of escape or any evacuation 
plan. 

 
PS04 The premises holder shall ensure that the burglar alarm shall be 

maintained and implemented at the premises. 
 
PS05 The premises holder shall ensure that the premises are a member of any 

locally operating Pub Watch Scheme. 
 
PS06 The premises licence holder shall ensure that signage is appropriately 

displayed in the premises advising all customers not to leave any 
belongings unattended. 

 
PS07 The premises licence holder shall ensure that a documented search 

policy is implemented at the premises.  Any searches shall only be 
conducted by same sex.  Staff training is to be given in the correct 
procedures and records are to be kept in a bound book.  All 
documentation shall be produced to an authorised officer of the 
Licensing Authority or a constable upon request. 

 
PS08 Drugs and weapons seized will be placed in a locked receptacle set 

aside for this purpose.  The means for securing or unlocking the 
receptacle will be retained by the premises licence holder or the 
designated premises supervisor or in their absence any other 
responsible person.  A record shall be made of the seizure, the time, 
date and by whom, and to whom the items were handed on to in a bound 
book specifically kept for that purpose.  Such a book to be produced to 
an authorised officer of the Licensing Authority or a constable upon 

Page 436



 

request.  The premises licence holder shall make suitable arrangements 
with the Police for the collection of any seized items. 

 
PS09 This condition is aimed at problematic premises 

Hand held metal detecting scanners shall be in use at the premises 
during all trading hours, other metal detecting scanners may be used 
such as fixed metal detectors at all entrances.  Detectors shall be 
operated by door supervisors or by suitably trained staff when no door 
supervisors are on duty, and such detectors shall be operative when any 
licensable activity is taking place.  Fixed detectors shall be installed to 
the satisfaction of the Licensing Authority and the Police. 

 
PS10 An incident report logbook shall be held at the premises at all times and 

shall be produced to an authorised officer of the Licensing Authority or a 
constable immediately upon request.  It shall contain the details of 
persons involved, incident description, time and date, actions taken and 
final outcome of the situation. 

 
PS11 Spirits shall be located (insert location), and all other alcoholic 

beverages to be located on display in such a position that it is not 
obscured from the constant view of the cashier / staff by other fixtures.  
(If this is reasonably practical because of refrigeration or other 
limitations, the Licensing Authority shall be consulted regarding other 
suitable locations in the premises). 

 
PS12 The requirement for the presence of a security officer shall be subject to 

consultation and review with the Licensing Authority and the Police.  On 
those occasions when security staff are deemed to be required they shall 
be at the premises between the hours of (insert hours) hours daily. 

 
PS13 The need for security guards shall be assessed by the licence holder / 

designated premises supervisor on a regular basis and security guards 
shall be employed when and where the assessment requires.  However, 
as a minimum, one dedicated SIA registered (or other accredited 
scheme recognised by the Licensing Authority) security guard shall be 
employed at the premises. 

 
PS14 The premises licence holder shall provide contact details for any security 

personnel employed at the premises to an authorised officer of the 
Licensing Authority or a constable upon request. 

 
 

PW POLICE LISASON, PUB WATCH OR SIMILAR SCHEMES 
 
PW01 The premises licence holder shall ensure participation in any Pub Watch 

or similar scheme operating in the locality of the licensed premises. 
 
PW02 Subject to reasonable notice being given which save in an emergency 

shall be not less than seven days, the premises licence holder shall 
ensure attendance at any meeting convened by the Police to discuss 
any matters relating to the premises. 

 

Page 437



 

 

RL RADIO LINKS 
 
RL01 The premises shall be incorporated into Storenet, or Pub Watch, or 

similar scheme operating within Caerphilly County Borough Council  
 
RL02 The radio equipment shall be kept in working order at all times. 
 
RL03 The radio equipment shall be made available to and be monitored by 

the designated premises supervisor or a responsible member of staff at 
all times that the premises are open to the public. 

 
RL04 Any Police instruction / direction received via the radio scheme shall be 

complied with whenever given. 
 
RL05 All instances of crime or disorder are reported via the radio equipment 

by the designated premises supervisor or a responsible member of 
staff to an agreed Police contact point. 

 
 

SA CONTROLS FOR SALE OF ALCOHOL 
 
SA01 All staff to be trained in the prevention of underage sales to a level 

commensurate with their duties.  All such training to be updated as 
necessary, for instances when legislation changes, and should include 
training on how to deal with difficult customers.  The training should be 
clearly documented and signed and dated by both the trainer and the 
member of staff receiving it.  The documentation shall be available for 
inspection on request by an authorised officer of the Licensing 
Authority or a constable. 

 
SA02  (a) An approved proof of age scheme shall be adopted, implemented 

and advertised within the premise such as ‘Challenge 25’ whereby 
an accepted form of photographic identification shall be requested 
before any alcohol is sold to any person who appears to be under 
25 years of age.  Acceptable proof of age shall include identification 
bearing the customers photograph, date of birth and integral 
holographic mark or security measure.  Suitable means of 
identification would include PASS approved proof of age card, 
photo-card driving licence and passport. 

(b) Publicity materials notifying customers of the operation of the 
Challenge 25 scheme shall be displayed at the premises, including 
a Challenge 25 sign of at least A5 size at the entrance to the 
premises and where practicable at each point of sale. 

 
SA03 The premises licence holder shall required the designated premises 

supervisor, or in his / her absence other responsible person, to keep an 
‘incident / refusals’ logbook in a bound book in which full details of all 
incidents are recorded.  This shall include details of any refused sales 
and shall give details of the persons involved, incident description, time 
and date, actions taken and final outcome of the situation.  This shall 
be completed as soon as possible and in any case no later than the 

Page 438



 

close of business on the day of the incident.  The time and date when 
the report was completed, and by whom, is to form part of the entry.  
The logbook is to be kept on the premises at all times and shall be 
produced to an authorised officer of the Licensing Authority or a 
constable when required. 

 
SA04 The premises shall be cleared of customers within 30 minutes of the 

last supply of alcohol on any day.  
 
SA05 Intoxicating liquor will only be sold and supplied to customers who are 

engaging in a sit down table meal, as an ancillary to that meal. 
 
SA06 All staff with a responsibility for supplying or selling alcohol shall be 

vigilant in preventing adults buying alcohol on behalf of persons who 
are under 18 and will refuse such sales where they suspect that this 
may be about to occur. 

 
SA07 All staff with a responsibility for supplying or selling alcohol shall be 

vigilant in preventing adults buying alcohol on behalf of persons who 
are under 18 and will refuse such sales where they suspect that this 
may be about to occur, subject to the exemptions under Section 149 
(5) of the Licensing Act 2003 which allows beer, cider or wine to be 
purchased for an individual aged 16 or 17, providing the beer, cider or 
wine is for consumption with a table meal and that a person aged 18 or 
over is accompanying the individual.   

 
 

SE PROVISIONS RELATING TO ADULT ENTERTAINMENT 
 
SE01 Striptease or adult types of entertainment will only take place in 

designated areas approved by the Licensing Authority.  Arrangements 
for access to the dressing room shall be approved by the Licensing 
Authority and shall be maintained at all times whilst striptease is taking 
place and immediately thereafter. 

 
SE02 Whilst striptease entertainment is taking place, no person aged under 

the age of 18 will be allowed on that part of the licensed premises where 
the striptease entertainment is taking place and such part must not be 
visible from other parts of the premises.  A clear notice shall be displayed 
at each entrance to the premises in a prominent position so that it can 
be easily read by persons entering the premises on the following terms:- 
‘No person under 18 years will be admitted’. 

 
SE03 Dancers not performing must not be in a stated of undress in any area 

in which the public have access. 
 
SE04 Dancers shall only perform on the stage area or to seated customers. 
 
SE05 Performers shall be aged not less than 18 years. 
 

Page 439



 

SE06 The premises licence holder must not permit the display outside of the 
premises of photographs or other images which indicate and suggest 
that striptease or similar dancing takes place on the premises. 

 
SE07 There shall be at least (insert number) registered door supervisor(s) on 

the premises when the striptease entertainment is taking place. 
 
SE08 There shall be no physical contact between customer and the performer 

before, during or after the performance other than the placing of money 
or tokens into the hands of the dancer, or by the placing of notes by the 
customer in a garter worn by the performer for that purpose. 

 
SE09 The premises licence holder, performer and any person concerned in 

the organisation or management of the entertainment shall not 
encourage, or permit encouragement of the audience to throw money at 
or otherwise give gratuities to the performers (other than in accordance 
with SE08 above).  

 
SE10 The performer shall at all times wear, for females, a g-string and males 

appropriate clothing to cover their genitalia adequately and the clothing 
shall not be transparent or removed. 

 
SE11 No performer shall at any time reveal any part of their genitalia or anus. 
 
SE12 No sex act shall take place. 
 
SE13  The area proposed for striptease shall: 

(a) Be in a position where the performance cannot be seen from the 
street. 

(b) Be in a designated area of the premises with segregation from the 
audience. 

(c) Be in a position where the performers will have direct access to the 
dressing room without passing through or in close proximity of the 
audience. 

 
SE14 The entertainment shall be given only by performers / entertainers and 

the audience shall not be permitted to participate. 
 

SE15 Persons appearing on stage shall go directly between the dressing room 
and designated performance area without passing through or in close 
proximity to the audience. 

 
SE16 Striptease / exotic / adult entertainment dancers (including table side / 

lap / pole dancers) must immediately dress at the conclusion of each 
performance. 

 
SE17 Entertainment provided by topless (only) dancers to customers seated 

at tables may only take part in those parts of the premises approved by 
the Licensing Authority.  No audience participation shall be permitted. 

 
SE18 Should a customer attempt to touch a dancer, the dancer must withdraw 

and report the matter to her / his manager / supervisor. 

Page 440



 

 
SE19 No telephone number, address or information leading to any further 

meeting may be passed from customer to dancer or vice versa. 
 

SE20 No dancer may perform if they are intoxicated. 
 

SE21 No member of the public shall be admitted or allowed to remain in the 
dance area if they appear to be intoxicated. 

 
SE22 All members of the public shall remain seated in the dance area other 

than when they arrive, depart, visit the toilet or go to the bar. 
 

SE23 Signs must be displayed at the entrance to the dance area stating: 
‘Any customer attempting to make physical contact with a dancer will be 
asked to leave’, 
Signs must be sufficient in size, legible and positioned so as to be read 
by all customers entering the dance area. 

 
SE24 No dancer shall perform any sexually explicit or lewd act. 

 
SE25 Whilst dancing takes place not less than (insert agreed number) of Door 

Supervisors registered Security Industry Authority or other accredited 
scheme recognised by the Licensing Authority shall be employed in the 
part of the premises used for dancing unless alternative arrangements 
are approved by the Licensing Authority. 

 
SE26 CCTV shall be installed to cover all areas where dancing will take place.  

All cameras shall continually record whilst the premises are open to the 
public. 

 
SE27 Striptease entertainment or any exotic entertainment involving full nudity 

shall not be permitted at the premises. 
 

SE28 The premises shall not be permitted to be used for any adult 
entertainment or services, activities, other entertainment or matters 
ancillary to the use of the premises that may give rise to concern in 
respect of children which prohibited uses include, among other things, 
nudity or semi-nudity, films for restricted age groups or any relevant 
entertainment (with the meaning of the third schedule to the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982) except where that is 
expressly permitted under a licence or waiver granted or given under 
that legislation. 

 
 

Conditions to be complied with when showing ‘RESTRICTED (18)’ Films 
No films in the ‘RESTRICTED (18)’ category may be exhibited in a cinema 
operating as a club in accordance with conditions CE16 – CE25 
 
SF SANITARY FACILITIES 
 
SF01 Adequate sanitary accommodation shall be provided at the premises in 

accordance with either the District Surveyors Technical Standards for 

Page 441



 

places of entertainment or the BS6465 standard for sanitary provisions 
or any British Standard replacing or amending the same. 

 
SF02 In respect of temporary sanitary facilities the premises licence holder 

shall ensure that the servicing of sanitary accommodation takes place 
on a continuous basis throughout the event to ensure the sanitary 
accommodation is kept in a usable condition at all times when the 
public require it to be available. 

 
SF03 In respect of temporary sanitary facilities the premises licence holder 

shall ensure that the removal of sewage takes place hygienically and 
appropriately at the conclusion of the event or as required. 

 
 
ST SEATING 
 
ST01 In any part of the premises which is regularly used for a closely-seated 

audience all seats shall be securely fastened to the floor.  In premises 
not so regularly used chairs, if provided, shall be securely fastened 
together in lengths of not less than four nor more than twelve chairs 
whenever more than 200 persons are to be accommodated.  There shall 
be a space of not less than twelve inches between the back of one seat 
and the front of the one behind, measured in perpendiculars, provided 
that in premises erected before 4 October 2948; the space shall be not 
less than may be allowed by the Licensing Authority.  Except with the 
consent of the Licensing Authority, no seat shall be more than 4 metres 
from a gangway.  Any upholstered seating and furniture which is either 
purchased, provided or replaced during the period of the licence shall 
meet the current British Standard.  All upholstered seating and furniture 
shall be properly maintained and be in good condition. 

 
 
SM SMOKING AREAS 
 
SM01 Dedicated smoking areas within the curtilage of premises. 

The smoking area shall be permanently monitored by a minimum of 
(insert number) SIA or other accredited scheme recognised by the 
Licensing Authority registered door staff during (insert hours) hours.  The 
amount of people in this area will not exceed (insert occupancy number) 
persons;  this shall be monitored with (insert method of monitoring 
occupancy number) from a position (insert positions from which 
monitoring is to take place).  The numbers and location shall be 
permanently monitored by a SIA or other accredited scheme recognised 
by the Licensing Authority registered (or other accredited scheme 
recognised by the Licensing Authority) door staff located at (insert 
location from which door staff can conduct this duty. 

 
SM02 This condition is aimed at problematic premises where there are external 

smoking areas which may be viewed as areas of potential concern 
Where smoking areas within curtilages of premises abut areas to which 
the public have access then the following condition will be deemed as 
appropriate. 

Page 442



 

(a) A safety netting, mesh or screen (of a gauge that satisfies the 
requirements for the 50% rule for enclosed space walling under 
smoking legislation), shall be fitted and maintained in order to 
prevent objects being passed from the outside into the smoking 
area. 

(b) Intoxicating liquor shall not be permitted into the access walkways 
leading to and within the smoking area. 

(c) Any bottle or bin stores located near an external smoking facility 
shall be enclosed and secured. 

(d) There shall be no furniture in the outside areas, with the exception 
of the appropriate wall mounted receptacles for tobacco waste 
materials. 

(e) Public access areas outside of the smoking area shall have PIR 
lights operated and maintained in order to draw attention to persons 
moving around outside the smoking area. 

(f) Calculations regarding the smoking area shall be deemed as 
forming a part of the premises licence: 

(g) The smoking area shall be thoroughly cleaned, provided with 
adequate lighting and painted so as to clearly designated this area 
as the smoking area. 

(h) The floor of the smoking area shall be level. 
(i) An adequate number of wall-mounted ashtrays shall be provided in 

the smoking area. 
(j) Staff shall be instructed to clean the smoking area and adjacent 

pavements of smoking-related litter before and after each period of 
use. 

 
SX SPECIAL EFFECTS, NOVEL AND ONE OFF PROMOTIONS 
 
SX01 (a) All special effects, equipment and mechanical installations shall be 

selected, arranged, stored and used so as to minimise any risk to 
the safety of the audience, performance and staff.  This must be on 
the basis of a written risk assessment. 

(b) ‘Special effects’ include: 
Dry ice machines, cryogenic fog machines, smoke machines and 
any other type of fog generators, pyrotechnics including fireworks, 
explosives and other highly flammable substances, real flame, 
firearms, motor vehicles, strobe lighting, lasers, foam, any other 
unusual or novel effect. 

(b) Furthermore written permission must be sought from the licensing 
authority before using any of the above – for the first time and after 
any significant changes have been made to the venue, usage of 
the effect or the equipment itself. 

 
SX02 No outdoor fireworks or other pyrotechnics shall be used other than with 
the prior consent of an officer of the Pollution Control Team. 
 
SX03 A documented risk assessment of promotional or one-off ‘entertainment’ 

events shall be conducted by the management of the venue and such 
risk assessment shall be available upon request by an authorised officer 
of the council or the Police.  Promotional or one-off events shall be 

Page 443



 

notified to the Licensing Authority and the Police at least one month prior 
to the proposed event. 

 
SX04 Use of premises by third parties.  Where the premises, or parts of the 

premises may be hired out by third parties or be used by events 
promoters, the premises licence holder must ensure that there are 
appropriate procedures in place that will ensure that as far as possible, 
the third party is aware of the licensing conditions and has in place their 
own procedures / arrangements which will ensure that the licensing 
objectives are not compromised. 

 
SX05 Except where expressly permitted no lasers, smoke producing effects, 

light shows (strobe lights) or pyrotechnics shall be used at any time when 
licensable activity is taking place. 

 
SX06 Except where expressly permitted, explosives or highly flammable 

substances shall not be brought on to or used in the premises at any 
time when any licensable activity is taking place. 

 
SX07 Acts and performances.  No act or performance where there may be a 

risk of injury from fire; falling objects or people; impact; moving 
equipment; animals or any other source should take place within the 
venue unless it is done safely and without risk to the public.  Control 
measures must be decided on the basis of a written risk assessment, 
which must be submitted to the Licensing Authority at least 14 days 
before the event.  Written permission of the Licensing Authority must be 
given before the act or performance can go ahead. 

 
SX08 Unless the express consent of the Licensing Authority is obtained and 

subject to any conditions attached to such consent, no person shall give 
at the premises (otherwise than as provided by Section 5 of the 
Hypnotism Act 1952) any exhibition, demonstration or performance of 
hypnotism, mesmerism or any similar act or process which produces or 
is intended to produce in any person any form of induced sleep or trance 
in which the susceptibility of the mind of that person to suggestion or 
direction in increased or intended to be increased. 

 
 
TL TELEPHONE 
 
TL01 The premises licence holder shall ensure the designated premises 

supervisor, or nominated deputy in their absence, provides unhampered 
use of a telephone on the premises for use in an emergency, while 
licensable activity entertainment is taking place, in premises that do not 
have the benefit of a permanent phone installation then a mobile phone 
must be available. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 444



 

TR TRAINING 
 
TR01 The premises licence holder shall provide training for all staff to ensure 

that they are familiar with all means of ingress and egress and the 
appropriate procedures in case of any emergencies that require an 
immediate evacuation of the premises.  A record of the training shall be 
maintained and shall be available upon request by authorised members 
of the Licensing Authority or a constable. 

 
TR02 All staff are to be trained with respect to underage sales, such training 

to be updated as necessary when legislation changes and should 
include training in how to refuse sales to difficult customers. 

 
TR03 A record of all staff training shall be maintained at the premises and 

made immediately available upon request to an authorised office of the 
council or the Police.  The documentation relating to training should 
extend back to a period of three years and should specify the time, date 
and details of the persons both providing the training and receiving the 
training. 

  
 
VN VENTILATION 
 
VN01 All parts of the licensed premises used by members of the public shall 

be effectively and suitably ventilated by a sufficient quantity of fresh or 
purified air.  The air within the premises shall be maintained at a 
reasonable and comfortable temperature immediately before and during 
their use by patrons.  Guidance on this should be sought from Guide B 
‘Heating, Ventilation, Air conditioning and Refrigeration’ issued by the 
CIBSE (Chartered Institute for Building Services Engineers) or any 
document replacing the same. 

 
 
WM WASTE MANAGEMENT / ODOURS 
 
WM01 No accumulation of combustible rubbish, dirt, surplus material or stored 

goods shall be permitted to remain in any part of the premises except in 
an appropriate place and of such quantities so as not to cause a 
nuisance, obstruction or other safety hazard. 

 
WM02 The premises licence holder shall ensure that adequate measures are 

in place to prevent the escape of odours from the premises.  This 
includes odour from food preparation and refuse storage. 

 
WM03 The licence holder shall ensure that adequate measures are in place to 

remove litter or waste arising from their customers and to prevent such 
litter from accumulating in the immediate vicinity of their premises. In 
particular, where necessary the premises licence holder shall ensure 
that adequate measures are in place to provide customers with sufficient 
receptacles for the depositing of waste materials such as food 
wrappings, drinks containers, smoking related litter, etc. 

 

Page 445



 

WM04 The premises licence holder shall ensure that a sufficient number of 
suitable receptacles are located in appropriate locations for the 
depositing of waste materials such as food wrappings, drinks containers, 
smoking related litter, etc. by customers. 

 
WM05 The premises licence holder, premises supervisor or event manager, 

shall ensure that measures shall be put in place to remove litter or waste 
arising from customers and to prevent such litter from accumulating in 
the immediate vicinity of the premises or neighbouring premises. 

 
WM06 An adequate number of waste receptacles for use by patrons shall be 

provided in positions agreed with the Licensing Authority and it shall be 
the responsibility of the licensee to empty and dispose of the collected 
refuse at a frequency to be agreed with the Licensing Authority. 

  
WM07 Activities relating to the on site disposal (including placing into external 

receptacles) and collection of refuse, bottles and recyclable materials 
shall only take place between (insert hours and days as necessary). 

 
WM08 The collection of refuse, bottles and recyclable materials shall only take 

place (insert hours and days as necessary). 
 

WM09 Activities relating to deliveries shall only take place between (insert hours 
and days as necessary). 

 

WM10 Odour from any flue used for the dispersal of cooking smells serving 
the building shall not cause nuisance to the occupants of any 
properties in the vicinity. 
Recommendation:   
It is recommended that any flues for the dispersal of cooking smells shall 

 either: 
(a) Terminates at least 1 metre above the ridge height of any building 

  in the vicinity, with no obstruction of upward movement of air or; 
(b) Have a method of odour control such as activated carbon filters, 

electrostatic precipitation or inline oxidation. 
Guidance on the above can be gained at ‘Guidance on the Control of Odour & 
Noise from Commercial Kitchen Exhaust System’ Published electronically by 
Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, Product Code PB10527.  
Link to DEFRA guidance 

 
WM11 The premises licence holder shall ensure that all packaging provided 

with takeaway food is marked in some way as to show its point of origin. 
 

WM12 Foul water arising from the operation of the premises shall be disposed 
of in an appropriate manner. 

 
WM13 Where a premises i.e. mobile unit is regularly removed from site the 

premises licence holder shall ensure that site is properly cleaned and 
that any accumulations of surface grease are properly cleansed and 
removed from the site. 

 

Page 446

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidance-on-the-control-of-odour-and-noise-from-commercial-kitchen-exhaust


 
COUNCIL – 17TH NOVEMBER 2020 

 
SUBJECT:  FREEDOM OF BOROUGH – ROYAL BRITISH LEGION 
 
REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR FOR EDUCATION AND 

CORPORATE SERVICES 
 

 
1. The report sought a decision on whether the Cabinet wishes to recommend that 

Council admit as Honorary Freemen of the Borough the Royal British Legion in 
recognition of their 100 Year Anniversary on 15th May 2021 and to honour the 
charitable work of the organisation supporting ex-service men and women and their 
families.  
 

2. It was noted that under Section 249 (5) of the Local Government Act 1972 a Borough 
Council can grant the Freedom of the Borough to "persons of distinction and persons 
who have, in the opinion of the Council, rendered eminent services to the Borough".  
In order to grant the Freedom of the Borough, a resolution must be passed by not 
less than two thirds of the members voting at a meeting of the Council specially 
convened for the purpose. 
 

3. Cabinet noted the considerable work undertaken by the Royal British Legion to 
support Service and ex-Service personnel and their families and drew particular 
attention to the current pandemic and its restrictions, and the alternative fundraising 
suggestions and activities being undertaken by the Royal British Legion on respect of 
the Poppy Appeal. 

 
4. The recommendation of the attached report was considered and Cabinet 

unanimously recommend to Council that. 
 

(i) In pursuance of Section 249 (as amended) of the Local Government Act 1972 the 
Council confers upon the Royal British Legion in 2021, the Freedom of the 
County Borough of Caerphilly. 
 

 
Author:  Charlotte Evans, Committee Services Officer – evansca1@caerphilly.gov.uk 
 
Appendices: Report to Cabinet 28th October 2020 – Agenda Item 6. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 447

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 13



Gadewir y dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol

Page 448



 
 

CABINET – 28TH OCTOBER 2020 

 
SUBJECT: FREEDOM OF BOROUGH – ROYAL BRITISH LEGION 
 
REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR EDUCATION AND CORPORATE 

SERVICES 

 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT  
 
1.1 This report is to seek a decision on whether the Cabinet wishes to recommend that 

Council admit as Honorary Freeman of the Borough the Royal British Legion in 
recognition of their 100th Year Anniversary on 15th May 2021 and to honour the 
charitable work of the organisation supporting ex-service men and women and their 
families.    

 
 

2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 Under Section 249(5) of the Local Government Act 1972 a Borough Council can 

grant the Freedom of the Borough to "persons of distinction and persons who have, 
in the opinion of the Council, rendered eminent services to the Borough". In order to 
grant the Freedom of the Borough, a resolution must be passed by not less than two 
thirds of the members voting at a meeting of the Council specially convened for the 
purpose 

 
 
3. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 Cabinet are asked to recommend to Council the following: 
 
3.2 In pursuance of Section 249 (as amended) of the Local Government Act 1972 the 

Council confers upon the Royal British Legion in 2021, the Freedom of the County 
Borough of Caerphilly. 

 
 
4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 To give public recognition to the recipient as an expression of the high esteem in 

which they are held by Caerphilly County Borough Council and the people of the 
County Borough on the occasion of the 100th Anniversary of the Royal British 
Legion. 

 
5. THE REPORT 
 
5.1 The tradition of Boroughs conferring the Freedom goes back to ancient times when 

Page 449



the Royal Charter Boroughs were almost, if not entirely, self governing. Originally, 
such conferment conveyed special privileges of various kinds upon the recipient that 
could involve the right to vote, property and local taxation benefits. 

 
5.2 Over the years, and especially since the passing of the Reform Act 1983 and the 

Municipal Corporations Act 1835, successive Acts of Parliament have sought 
amongst other things severely to curtail the extent of the privileges so that, today, the 
conferment is purely honorary. Today’s Freemen have no special rights. 

 
5.3 However, the tradition is maintained as a means whereby public recognition may be 

given to the recipients as an expression of the high esteem in which, they are held by 
the Council and people of the Borough. 

 
5.4 Council agreed at the meeting dated 29th January 2008 to award Freedom of the 

Borough and Cabinet subsequently agreed the nomination criteria at the meeting 
dated 3rd March 2009. These criteria are set out below: 

 
  Nomination criteria 
 

(a) Nominations must show that the nominee is a ‘person/s of distinction and/or a 
person/s who has rendered eminent services to the County Borough’. 

 
(b) In keeping with special nature of the award conferment should be strictly limited to 
those who have made a very significant contribution to the locality either on the 
national or international scene. It should be noted that the Council already has an 
annual award scheme for the Voluntary Sector Achievement Awards, (which also 
encompasses the Mayoral Civic Awards) to recognise those who have made an 
important contribution to the local community especially in a voluntary capacity. 

 
Nomination procedure 

 
(a) Nominations may be received from councillors, officers, MPs, outside 
organisations in the borough, and members of the public who are on the Electoral 
Register; 

 
(b) Nominations must be made using the Nomination for Honorary Freedom of the 
County Borough form (appendix 1) and they must set out the reason why the Honour 
should be conferred; 

 
(c) Nominations must be submitted to the Cabinet via the Chief Executive, who will 
consult the leaders of the opposition groups to ensure there is sufficient support 
before, any nomination can be considered by the Cabinet. All discussions with the 
leaders of the opposition groups and potential recipients are to remain confidential at 
all times; 

 
(d) Cabinet will make a recommendation to the council if it considers that the 
Honorary Freeman of the County Borough would be an appropriate honour to confer; 

 
(e) The Full Council then has to make a separate decision at a specially convened 
council meeting to confer the Honorary Freedom of the County Borough; 

 
(f) The actual ceremony itself will take place at a later date, with the mutual 
agreement of the recipients, when invited guests as well as the council members will 
be present; 

 

Page 450



(g) The award will take the form of the presentation of a suitably worded scroll and 
casket and a declaration by the honoured person will be made followed by a 
reception. 

 
5.5 Councillor Andrew Whitcombe the former Armed Forces Champion submitted the 

attached nomination form (appendix 1), which has been endorsed by the current 
Armed Forces Champion Councillor Alan Higgs. The nomination specifically outlines 
the reasons for consideration of the Royal British Legion on the occasion of the 100th 
Anniversary which will be achieved on 21st May 2021. 

 

5.6 Conclusion   

Cabinet are asked to consider the nomination against the criteria outlined in this 
report as set out in 5.4 and make a recommendation to Council. 
 

6. ASSUMPTIONS 

6.1 The recommendation as set out in this report assumes that Members will wish to 
recognise and support conferring the Freedom of the Borough upon the Royal British 
Legion upon the occasion of their 100th Anniversary.      

 
7.  LINKS TO RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES 
 
7.1      Council has previously agreed the procedure and criteria for nominations for Freedom 

of the Borough which is a Civic and Ceremonial function. 
 
7.2 Corporate Plan 2018-2023.   

 
The procedure and criteria for nominations for Freedom of the Borough which is a 
Civic and Ceremonial function. 
 

8. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS 
 
8.1 By conferring the Freedom of the Borough, Caerphilly County Borough Council gives 

an opportunity to recognise the achievements and work of individuals and 
organisations within its community. The Wellbeing of Future Generations Act asks 
public bodies to work towards achieving a Wales of cohesive communities. 
Therefore, by recognising the charitable work of the Royal British Legion the Council 
can publicly thank the RBL and also the wide range of people in the county borough 
who raise funds every year to support the RBL. 

 
9. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1  There are no equalities implications in this report. 
 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 The Local Government, Planning and Land Act 1980 provides that the Authority may 

spend such reasonable sum as they think fit for the purpose of presenting an address 
or a casket containing an address to any person admitted to be an honorary freeman. 

 
10.2 The ceremonial presentation and reception for each nominee shall be funded from 

the Mayoral office funds in consultation with the Chief Executive and Leader of the 

Page 451



Council. 
 
11. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 There are no personnel implications. 
  
 
12. CONSULTATIONS 
 
12.1 There are no consultation responses not included within this report. 
 
 
13. STATUTORY POWER  
 
13.1 The Local Government Act 1972, (as amended) and The Local Government, 

Planning and Land Act 1980. 
 
 
Author: Catherine Forbes-Thompson, Scrutiny Manager, forbecl@caerphilly.gov.uk

  
 
Consultees: Christina Harrhy Chief Executive, 

Richard Edmunds, Corporate Director Education and Corporate Services, 
Robert Tranter Head of legal and Monitoring Officer 
Lisa Lane Deputy Monitoring Officer and Head of Democratic Services 
Cllr P Marsden, Council Leader 
Cllr C Mann, Plaid Cymru Group Leader 
Cllr G Simmonds, Independents Group Leader 
 

Background Papers: 
 
Council report 29th January 2008. 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1 Nomination Form Freedom of the Borough, Royal British Legion 
 
  

Page 452



 
 

NOMINATION FORM FOR FREEDOM OF THE COUNTY BOROUGH 
 
 

Please send the following information to the email or post to the address at the bottom of the 
page: 
 
About the person you wish to nominate 
 
Name of person suggested by you:  
Royal British Legion (To be received by Anthony Metcalfe Area Manager RBL in Wales) 
 
Their address (please include postcode): 
The Royal British Legion, 18/19 High Street, Cardiff, CF10 1PT  
 
Please tell us why you think they should receive recognition, giving as much details 
as possible, but keeping the statement to a maximum of 250 words: 
 
I formally request that, on behalf of the people of Caerphilly County Borough and elected 
members of the council, we procced to recognise and acknowledge the incredible work of 
the Royal British Legion on the 100th anniversary of its formation. Formed on 15 May 1921, 
bringing together four national organisations of ex-Servicemen that had established 
themselves after the First World War: 
 
Over six million men had served in the war. Of those who came back, 1.75 million had 
suffered some kind of disability and half of these were permanently disabled. Then there 
were those who depended on those who had gone to war – the wives and children, widows, 
and orphans, as well as the parents who had lost sons in the war, on whom they were often 
financially dependent. 
 
The Legion was established to care for those who had suffered as a result of service during 
the First World War. And they have been helping the Armed Forces community and their 
families ever since.  
 
The Legion provide lifelong support to serving members of the Royal Navy, British Army, 
Royal Air Force, veterans and their families. Their wide ranging activities include support 
through debt and emergency situations, employment, dementia care and supporting the 
towns and villages of the borough for remembrance parades and services. 
 
The Royal British Legion have continued to support the people of Caerphilly Borough and 
has been an active member of the Armed Forces Forum and are at the forefront of the care 
offered to the Armed Forces Community. 
 
Do they do this activity as part of an organisation or charity? 
 
YES 
 
If yes, what it is the name of this organisation or charity?  

Appendix 1 

Page 453



Royal British Legion 
 
If yes, when did they begin this work?  
 
This will be the 100 year anniversary. 
 
Your name (please print):  
 
Councillor Andrew Whitcombe, Former Armed Forces Champion 
Councillor Alan Higgs, Armed Forces Champion 
 
Your address (please print) 
C/o Regional Armed Forces Covenant Liaison Officer, Policy Unit, Ty Penalta, Tredomen, 
CF82 7PG 
 
Your email address: 
 
AndrewWhitcombe@caerphilly.gov.uk 
AlanHiggs@caerphilly.gov.uk 
 
 
What connection do you have with this person? 
Former Armed Forces Champion & Current Armed Forces Champion 
 
Signature ___________________________ 
 
Date _______________________________ 
 
Please return to: 
 
Christina Harrhy 
Chief Executive 
Caerphilly County Borough Council 
Penallta House,  
Tredomen Park, 
Ystrad Mynach,  
Hengoed,  
CF82 7PG 
 

Page 454

mailto:AndrewWhitcombe@caerphilly.gov.uk

	Agenda
	7 Cynhaliwyd Cyngor Arbennig ar 10 Medi 2020.
	8 Cynhaliwyd y Cyngor ar 6 Hydref 2020.
	10 Uwchgynllun Ardal Adfywio Blaenau’r Cymoedd.
	Atodiad 1
	Atodiad 2
	Atodiad 3
	Uwchgynllun Blaenau’r Cymoedd.
	Index
	Section 1: Introduction
	Section 2:The Study Area
	Section 3: The Context
	Section 4: The Vision for the Heads of the Valleys Regeneration Area
	Section 5: The Development Strategy
	Section 6: The Masterplan Framework
	Section 7: Delivering and Implementing Change
	Appendix 1 – A Foundation for Success Objectives
	Appendix 2 Well-being of Future Generations
	Appendix 3 - Assessment of Site-Specifc Proposals against the National Well-Being Goals and the CCBC Well-Being Objectives
	Appendix 4: Sectoral Analysis
	Appendix 5: Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation (2019)


	11 Adolygiad Perfformiad Arolygiaeth Gofal Cymru.
	Atodiad
	Atodiad 1

	12 Ddeddf Trwyddedu 2003 -  Ddatganiad y Polisi Trwyddedu.
	Licensing Act 2003 – Statement of Licensing Policy Appendix
	Licensing Act 2003 – Statement of Licensing Policy Appendix 1
	Licensing Act 2003 – Statement of Licensing Policy Appendix 2

	13 Rhyddid y Fwrdeistref - y Lleng Brydeinig Frenhinol.
	Atodiad 1




